Pollution-induced Immunomodulation in *Biomphalaria glabrata*; Implications for its

Relationship with Obligate Parasite Schistosoma mansoni

A thesis submitted for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

By

Adam Lynch

Institute for the Environment, Health and Societies, Brunel University,

London

2015

Table of Contents

DECLARATION	i
ABSTRACT	.ii
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	iii
LIST OF FIGURES	iv
LIST OF TABLES	. v
Chapter 1: Introduction	.1
1.1: Schistosomiasis	.2
1.1.1: Trematodes; parasites of man and molluscs	.3
1.1.2: Species and distribution of Schistosomes	.5
1.1.3: Evolutionary history of S.mansoni	.8
1.1.4: Schistosoma life-cycle	.9
1.1.5: Biology of snail stages	11
1.1.5.1: Miracidia; contact and penetration	12
1.1.5.1.1: Epithelial cells	13
1.1.5.1.2: Papilla	13
1.1.5.1.3: Adhesive glands	13
1.1.5.1.4: Penetration gland	13
1.1.5.2: Inside the snail	14
1.1.5.2.1: Development to mother sporocyst	14
1.1.5.2.2: The mother sporocyst	15
1.1.5.2.3: Development of daughter sporocysts	16
1.1.5.2.4: Cercariae; development and release	16
1.2: Biomphalaria	17
1.2.1: Biomphalaria glabrata	17
1.2.1.1: Evolutionary history and distribution	18
1.2.1.2: BBO2	21
1.2.1.3: Biology	21
1.2.1.3.1: Reproduction	22
1.2.1.3.2: Respiration	23
1.2.2: <i>Biomphalaria</i> immune system	25
1.2.2.1: Overview of the invertebrate/molluscan immune system	26
1.2.2.2: Hemocytes of <i>B.glabrata</i>	29
1.2.2.3: Interaction with S.mansoni	32
1.3: Does pollution affect the <i>B.glabrata</i> - <i>S.mansoni</i> relationship?	35
1.3.1: Transmission country pollution	37

1.3.1.2: Ecotoxicology; pollutants in the environment	41
1.3.1.2.1: Aquatic ecotoxicology	43
1.3.1.2.2: Immunotoxicology	47
1.3.1.2.2.1: Immunotoxicology in Invertebrates	49
1.3.1.2.2.2: Immunotoxicology in molluses	50
1.3.1.2.2.3: Immunotoxicology in commercial mollusc species	51
1.3.1.2.2.4: Parasitism and immunotoxicology in molluscs	53
1.3.1.2.2.5: Molluscs and parasites as indicators of ecosystem health and beyond	54
1.4: The hypothesis	56
1.4.1: The importance of method development in testing the hypothesis	56
Chapter 2: Experimental Organisms; Husbandry and Biology	60
2.1: Biomphalaria Husbandry	61
2.1.1: Diet	61
2.1.2: Photoperiod	62
2.1.2.1: Photoperiod for infected snails	62
2.1.3: Pests	63
2.1.4: Water	63
2.1.5: Density	64
2.2: Biomphalaria cell culture	65
2.2.1: Biomphalaria cell buffers	66
2.2.2: Hemolymph collection	67
2.2.2.1: Pooling	69
2.2.2.2: Incubation with test chemicals	72
2.3: Parasite culture	73
2.3.1: Safety considerations	73
2.3.2: Mouse stage and egg collection	74
2.3.3: Egg extraction and hatching	75
2.3.4: Miracidia collection	76
2.3.4.1: Lighting	76
2.3.4.2: Construction of the flask	77
2.3.4.3: Chemical gradient	78
2.3.4.4: Pressure gradient	79
2.3.4.5: Addition of sample	79
2.3.4.6: Miracidia harvesting and transformation	80
2.3.4.7: Findings	80
2.3.5: Miracidia transformation media	81
2.3.6: Infecting snails; background	82
2.3.6.1: Number of miracidia	83

2.3.6.2: Age of snails	
2.3.6.3: Snail infection protocol	
2.3.6.4: Shedding	85
2.4: Alternative model: Marisa cornuarietis	
2.4.1: Aim	
2.4.2: Distribution	
2.4.3: Biology	90
2.4.3.1: Immunology	91
2.4.4: Use in ecotoxicology	92
2.4.5: Husbandry	94
2.4.5.1: Water temperature	94
2.4.5.2: Light	95
2.4.5.3: Density	96
2.4.5.4: Food	96
Chapter 3: Assay Validation	97
3.1: Test chemicals	
3.1.1: 17β-estradiol (E2)	
3.1.2: Bisphenol A (BPA)	
3.1.3: <i>p'p</i> -Dichlorodiphenyldichloroethylene (DDE)	
3.1.4: Effluent extract	99
3.2: Doses	
3.3: Statistical Approaches; Methodology and Rationale	
3.3.1: The dose-response relationship	
3.3.1.1: How to investigate dose-response relationships	
3.3.2: Beyond simple linear regression	
3.3.3: R2 and over-fitting	
3.3.4: Adjusting variable data	
3.3.5: Ambiguous instances	
3.3.6: Where is it acceptable to deviate from the ideals?	
3.3.7: ANOVA and multiple comparisons	
3.4: Validation experiments	110
3.4.1: Dose-range effects of test chemicals on hemocyte viability	110
3.4.2: Inhibitor dose-response for <i>in vitro</i> assays	112
Chapter 4: Encapsulations	114
4.1: Introduction	115
4.2: Materials and methods	116
4.2.1: Husbandry of test species	116
4.2.2: Fixing of sporocysts	116

4.2.3: Development of chamber slides	118
4.2.4: Surface coating	
4.2.5: Staining parasites	121
4.2.6: Hemolymph and incubation	
4.2.7: Analysis; quantifying encapsulation and statistical analysis	
4.3: Results	
4.4: Discussion	
4.5: Conclusion	130
Chapter 5: Phagocytosis	131
5.1: Introduction	
5.2: Materials and methods	133
5.2.1: Experimental species and husbandry	134
5.2.2: Antigens	134
5.2.2.1: Latex beads	134
5.2.2.2: Bioparticles	135
5.2.2.3: Yeast	135
5.2.3: Exposing hemocytes to antigens; background	136
5.2.3.1: Exposing hemocytes to antigens; my method	136
5.2.4: Imaging flow cytometery	137
5.2.4.1: IFC; pre-acquisition	137
5.2.4.2: IFC; Post-acquisition	137
5.2.5: IFC; masking	139
5.2.6: In vitro phagocytosis assays	142
5.2.6.1: B.glabrata	143
5.2.6.1.1: Variation in hemocyte phagocytosis rates	143
5.2.6.1.2: In vitro exposure of hemocytes to study chemicals	143
5.2.6.1.3: Bioparticle; in vitro phagocytosis assay	143
5.2.6.1.4: MTT; in vitro phagocytosis assay	143
5.2.6.2: M.cornuarietis	146
5.2.6.2.1: Inhibitor dose-response; in vitro phagocytosis	146
5.2.6.2.2: Effluent exposure assay; in vitro phagocytosis	147
5.2.7: Statistical analysis	147
5.3: Results	148
5.3.1: B.glabrata; in vitro phagocytosis assays	148
5.3.1.1: Precision and accuracy	148
5.3.1.2: Bioparticle; in vitro phagocytosis assay	149
5.3.1.3: In vitro exposure of hemocytes to study chemicals	150
5.3.2: M.cornuarietis	153

5.3.2.1: Inhibitor dose-response; in vitro phagocytosis	156
5.3.2.2: Effluent exposure assay; in vitro phagocytosis	157
5.3.2.3: MTT; in vitro phagocytosis assay	158
5.4: Discussion	159
Chapter 6: Cell Motility; developing of a low-cost assay with wider applications	167
6.1: Introduction	168
6.2: Materials and methods	170
6.2.1: Construction and Calibration of the microscope system	170
6.2.1.2: Microscopes	171
6.2.1.3: Lighting	171
6.2.1.4: Heating	171
6.2.1.5: Resolution	172
6.2.1.6: Magnification and Horizontal field of view	172
6.2.2: Software	173
6.2.2.1: Image capture	173
6.2.2.2: Image preparation and analysis	174
6.2.3: Assays	175
6.2.3.1: Cell tracking	175
6.2.3.2: Scratch assay	176
6.2.3.3: Artemia development	176
6.2.3.4: Test chemical assays	176
6.2.4: Statistical analysis	177
6.3: Results	177
6.3.1: Microscope Functional Parameters	177
6.3.1.1: Heating stability	177
6.3.1.2: Field of view and magnification	178
6.3.1.3: Pixel resolution	181
6.3.1.4: Spatial resolution	182
6.3.1.5: Comparison with a conventional microscope	182
6.3.1.6: Lighting	182
6.3.2: Assays and applications	183
6.3.2.1: Cell velocity	183
6.3.2.2: Scratch Assay	184
6.3.2.3: Artemia development	185
6.3.2.4: Study chemical testing	186
6.4: Discussion	187
Chapter 7: In vivo Effluent-Exposure Study	193
7.1: Introduction	194

7.1.1: Aims	
7.2: Materials and Methods	
7.2.1: Exposure Methods	
7.2.2: Pilot Study to Determine Optimal Exposure Conditions	
7.2.3: Primary Study	
7.2.3.1: Exposure of <i>B. glabrata</i> to an effluent extract	
7.2.3.1.1: Effluent Collection and Stock Preparation	
7.2.3.1.2: Solid phase extraction; disk conditioning and effluent extraction	
7.2.3.1.3: Solid phase extraction; disk elution and stock creation	
7.2.3.1.4: Chemical Composition of Samples	
7.2.4: Exposure Setup	
7.2.5: Experimental Endpoints	
7.2.5.1: Histology	
7.2.6: Statistical Analysis	
7.3: Results	
7.3.1: Pilot Study	
7.3.2: Primary Study	
7.3.2.1: Size; post-exposure, pre-infection	
7.3.2.2: Mortality	
7.3.2.3: Shedding	
7.3.2.4: Motility	
7.3.2.5: MTT	
7.3.2.6: Histology	
7.4: Discussion	
Chapter 8: General Discussion	
8.1: Conclusion	
REFERENCES	

DECLARATION

The work submitted in this thesis was conducted between 2011 and 2014 at Brunel University London. This work was carried out independently and has not been submitted for any other degree.

Abstract

Aquatic pollution from urban and industrial effluents represents a growing area of concern. The number and volume of xenobiotic chemicals in aquatic ecosystems is alarmingly high, due in part to increasing globalization and the associated demands. Invertebrates, in particular molluscs, represent species of great commercial importance and can therefore fail to be considered in terms of their significance in the transmission of human disease. Schistosoma mansoni is a trematode parasite transmitted to humans by aquatic snails of the genus Biomphalaria. S.mansoni infects up to 200 million people globally and transmission primarily occurs in developing countries with poor infrastructure, factors which also happen to be associated with high levels of aquatic pollution. Despite the medical importance of S.mansoni and its occurrence in potentially polluted environments, very few attempts have been made to study this parasite-host relationship in the context of ecotoxicology. In this thesis I have applied both adapted and novel approaches in order to combine the fields of parasitology and ecotoxicology toward a better understanding of the effects of globally-prevalent xenobiotic chemicals on the S.mansoni-B.glabrata relationship. In vitro assays, with various end-points, were performed based on exposure of hemocytes, the primary immune effector cells of molluscs, while whole snails were developmentally exposed to an effluent extract and subsequently infected as part of an *in* vivo study. Taken together, my results suggest that the immunocompetance of B.glabrata hemocytes is broadly reduced in the presence of DDE, BPA, E2 and an effluent extract; chemicals that occur at high levels in transmission countries. Reduction in the key hemocyte functions of motility, phagocytosis and encapsulation, caused by exposure to these chemicals, appears to be exacerbated by subsequent S.mansoni infection which results in an opportunity for increased parasite shedding. My hope is that this broad work will serve as a reference and facilitate more focused studies, particularly of a molecular and epidemiological nature, into what is an understudied and potentially very important topic with the potential for human health implications.

List of Figures

Figure 1.1: Representation of the typical life-cycle stages of animals in the class <i>Trematoda</i> 4
Figure 1.2: Global distribution of the five human-infective <i>Schistosoma</i> species of medical significance
Figure 1.3: The life cycle of the three most prevalent human-infective <i>Schistosoma</i> species; <i>S.mansoni, S.haematobium</i> and <i>S.japonicum</i> 10
Figure 1.4: A closer look at the physiology of the Intra-molluscan stages of <i>S.mansoni</i> development
Figure 1.5: Phylogenetic relationships within and between the African and American species of the genus <i>Biomphalaria</i>
Figure 1.6: Geographic distribution of the phylogenetic relationships among the five clades of the species <i>Biomphalaria glabrata</i> 20
Figure 1.7: Anatomical diagram showing the basic body plan of <i>B.glabrata</i> 22
Figure 1.8: Anatomical diagram of the respiratory process of <i>B.glabrata</i> and the proposed role of water-flow
Figure 1.9: A comparison between the respiratory pigments of snails from the genus <i>Biomphalaria</i> and those from another, more typical, gastropod25
Figure 1.10: Comparison between the two main functional states in which immunocompetent hemocytes of <i>Biomphalaria glabrata</i> are typically observed <i>in vitro</i> . 30
Figure 1.11: Pollutant classes and levels present in freshwater bodies of <i>S.mansoni</i> transmission countries
Figure 1.12: Pollutant classes and levels present in aquatic molluscs from <i>S.mansoni</i> transmission countries 40

Figure 1.13: Representation of the effect that the focus of a study has on its level of mechanistic/ecological relevance 59
Figure 2.1: Photograph of <i>B.glabrata</i> hemocytes attacking and encapsulating a piece of foreign debris
Figure 2.2: Diagrammatic example of the process by which my technical and experimental units were generated
Figure 2.3: Photographs of my miracidia collection device
Figure 2.4: Demonstration of the chemical gradient formed between the miracidia collection chamber and the main flask 79
Figure 2.5: Miracidia developing into mother sporocysts in DMEM media
Figure 2.6: Photograph of pipette tip demonstrating my method for catching precise numbers of miracidia
Figure 2.7: Photograph of my method for cercariae quantification
Figure 2.8: The global distribution of endemic and invasive <i>M.cornuarietis</i>
Figure 2.9: Illustration of <i>Marisa cornuarietis</i> 91
Figure 3.1: Hypothetical examples of strong linear regression relationships seen in dose- response assays
Figure 3.2: Over-fitting demonstrated by the best-fit regression model for a hypothetical data set
Figure 3.3: Dose-response assays used to determine whether significant toxicity occurred to hemocytes across my chosen dose range for each test chemical
Figure 3.4: Dose-response relationships between the metabolic inhibitor NaN ₃ and different endpoints of hemocyte health
Figure 4.1: Development process for my purpose-built chamber-slide for use in the <i>in</i> vitro encapsulation assay

Figure 4.2: Photographic examples of sporocyst encapsulation index from two different studies
Figure 4.3: Example of fluorescence microscopy used in the scoring index of my encapsulation assays
Figure 4.4: Regression relationships between log dose (X axis) of test chemicals against encapsulation response toward <i>S. mansoni</i> sporocysts by <i>B. glabrata</i> hemocytes exposed <i>in vitro</i> (Y axis)
Figure 4.5: Dunnett's multiple comparisons between mean value of hemocyte encapsulation index (X) at each test chemical and dose (Y)
Figure 5.1: Identifying properly focused hemocytes using a frequency histogram generated with ImageStream gradient Root Mean Squared (RMS) data
Figure 5.2: Identifying single cells using a scatter-plot based on ImageStream aspect ratio and area data from the 'focused' hemocyte population
Figure 5.3: Identifying hemocyte images containing a fluorescent latex bead using a frequency histogram generated with fluorescent intensity data based on the 'single cell' population
Figure 5.4: Example of the process of developing a custom mask in order to restrict the analysis to the cell image only and exclude external objects
Figure 5.5: Frequency histogram based on the bead+ population gated into regions of images containing internalization positive (+) and negative (-) cells, according to the custom mask
Figure 5.6: Example of a situation in which the custom mask correctly identifies an internalized bead while excluding a non-internalized one
Figure 5.7: Frequency histogram based on the internalization positive population showing the quantity of hemocytes which contain specific numbers of beads
Figure 5.8: Example images of the setup for the MTT assay, adapted for studying phagocytosis in <i>B.glabrata</i>

Figure 5.10: Level of phagocytosis as represented by the percentage of fluorescence positive cells from hemocytes incubated with or without the inhibitor cytochalasin B **150**

Figure 5.16: Regression relationships between log dose (X axis) of effluent extract against phagocytosis of yeast by *Marisa* hemocytes exposed *in vitro* (Y)......158

Figure 6.1: Different images of the microscope system	
---	--

Figure 6.6: Comparison of MDA-MB-231 cell images between my system and a	
conventional optical microscope	180

Figure 6.7: Comparison of digital microscope pixel resolutions between 640x480 and 1280x960
Figure 6.8: Screenshot of the Autokams interface showing the result of illumination from the in-built LEDs alone
Figure 6.9: Mean velocity (\pm SE) in μ m/min of the 4 cell types184
Figure 6.10: Screenshot of Autokams interface showing individual scratch assays simultaneously recorded on each camera
Figure 6.11: Screenshot of Autokams which demonstrates the ability of the microscope system to image distinct samples in different manners simultaneously
Figure 6.12: Regression relationships between log dose (X axis) of test chemicals against <i>B. glabrata</i> hemocyte motility exposed <i>in vitro</i> (Y) 187
Figure 7.1: Photograph of pilot experiment setup with beakers grouped according to volume (but not water change frequency)
Figure 7.2: The process of priming and conditioning a C18 disk and extracting an effluent sample through it
Figure 7.3: The process of eluting the bound effluent chemicals from the C18 SPE disk
Figure 7.4: Photographs of the effluent extraction process
Figure 7.5: Photograph of the main study setup for adult snail exposure to the effluent extract
Figure 7.6: Experimental setup for infected (and uninfected) snails after the period of effluent exposure
Figure 7.7: Linear regression model of the relationship between snail density and size 211
Figure 7.8: Linear regression analysis of the relationship between log effluent extract concentration and snail shell length (mm)

Figure 7.9: Linear regression model of the relationship between log effluent concentration and the mean number of cercariae shed per snail
Figure 7.10: Visual representation of the multiple regression model built to predict <i>B.glabrata</i> hemocyte motility (mean velocity μ m/min) based on the snails' <i>S.mansoni</i> infection status (positive or negative) and effluent concentration (0, 0.1, 1, 10x - log ₁₀)215
Figure 7.11: Visual representation of the multiple regression model built to predict <i>B.glabrata</i> hemocyte phagocytosis ability (measured as mean absorbance at 570nm) based on the snails' <i>S.mansoni</i> infection status (positive or negative) and effluent concentration (0, 0.1, 1, 10x - log ₁₀)
Figure 7.12: Histology images from snail 1, 0x
Figure 7.13: Histology images from snail 2, 0.1x218
Figure 7.14: Histology images from snail 3, 1x219
Figure 7.15: Histology images from snail 4, 10x220
Figure 7.16: Histology images from snail 5, 0x
Figure 7.17: Histology images from snail 6, 0.1x221
Figure 7.18: Histology images from snail 7, 1x221
Figure 7.19: Histology images from snail 8, 10x222
Figure 7.20: Comparison of digestive gland sections from snail 5 (0x) and snail 8 (10x) showing the extent of toxic damage
Figure 7.21: Histology images from snail 9, 0x
Figure 7.22: Histology images from snail 10, 0.1x224
Figure 7.23: Histology images from snail 11, 1x

Figure 7.24: Histology images from snail 12, 10)x
---	----

List of Tables

Table 1.1: Medically important human-infective species of the genus <i>Schistosoma</i>
Table 1.2: An example of some of the different populations and compositions of <i>B.glabrata</i> hemocytes reported in the scientific literature
Table 1.3: An example of selected studies which focused on the effects of various xenobiotics on the outcome of infectious diseases in different aquatic species
Table 1.4: Compilation of various studies on the immunotoxic effects of different pollutants on commercial mollusc species 52
Table 1.5: A meta-analysis of reported associations between anthropomorphic environmental impacts and parasite abundance. 55
Table 2.1: Composition of buffers used in <i>B.glabrata</i> hemocyte <i>in vitro</i> culture and manipulation 67
Table 2.2: Relationship between snail water temperature and mean number of days to first cercarial shedding
Table 3.1: Studies which have reported some of the high-levels of my chosen test- chemicals in freshwater-bodies of <i>S.mansoni</i> transmission countries
Table 3.2: A hypothetical example to demonstrate the difference in adjusted R^2 valueswhen analysing individual data points or mean values for Y107
Table 4.1: Some examples of semi-quantitative scoring definitions of encapsulation index from various studies. 122
Table 5.1: Proposed interaction between a test chemical and hemocyte function and the expected outcome this would indicate from the MTT assay
Table 5.2: Performance of the custom mask based on observed (result from custom mask)vs expected (result from visual observation) values for phagocytosis classification 149

Table 5.3: Criteria used for differentiation of objects based on their different Channel 2 and Channel 5 intensities 154
Table 7.1: Example of the calculations for the total volume of final effluent required in order to obtain the desired volume of extract for use in the <i>in vivo</i> study
Table 7.2: Experimental groups for the pilot study based on density and water change frequency 200
Table 7.3: Examples of different variables from studies which have exposed <i>B. glabrata in vivo</i> under both static and static-renewal conditions
Table 7.4: Summary of mean size (mm), weight (g) and % mortality according to snail density (water volume in ml) and water change frequency
Table 7.5: Summary statistics from multiple regression analysis model built to predict mortality, based on the snails' <i>S.mansoni</i> infection status (positive or negative) and the concentration of effluent extract (0, 0.1, 1, $10x - \log_{10}$) to which it was exposed <i>in vivo</i> . 214
Table 7.6: Summary statistics from multiple regression analysis model built to predict motility (measured as mean velocity μ m/min) of hemocyte cells taken from <i>B.glabrata</i> , based on the snails' <i>S.mansoni</i> infection status (positive or negative) and the concentration of effluent extract (0, 0.1, 1, 10x - log ₁₀) to which it was exposed <i>in vivo</i>
Table 7.7: Summary statistics from multiple regression analysis model built to predict phagocytosis (measured as mean absorbance) ability of hemocyte cells taken from

B.glabrata, based on the snails' *S.mansoni* infection status (positive or negative) and the concentration of effluent extract $(0, 0.1, 1, 10x - log_{10})$ to which it was exposed *in vivo*. 216

Table 7.8: Summary notes for each sectioned snail based on histological evaluation227

Table 7.9: Number of daughter sporocysts, cercariae and a combined total number of	
parasites for each snail/dose	. 228

Acknowledgments

Firstly, I would like to thank my primary supervisor Dr. Edwin Routledge for guiding me through my PhD and for allowing me the freedom to explore some unusual and rewarding ideas along the way. Ed trusted me enough to afford me the space to be creative with my approach and to pursue some very rewarding ideas that I otherwise might not have, while always maintaining a pro-active and approachable guiding presence to ensure that I was going in the right direction. I'm also extremely grateful to Ed for always making himself available, despite his considerable work and family responsibilities. There were many occasions where Ed returned substantial pieces of work, having been carefully marked, within a day and often over weekends.

I would also like to thank my second supervisor Prof. Sue Jobling for her help in forming the project and her input and ideas along the way. This opportunity would not have existed if Sue and Ed had not identified an important research gap and successfully obtained funding from NERC, to who I am also grateful.

I am very grateful to Nuha Mansour and Quentin Bickle of LSHTM for their help in providing parasite material and for the use of their lab space. After the initial sources of parasite material fell through, Quentin and Nuha agreed, without any obligation or affiliation, to provide parasite material, lab space and the time to teach me techniques involved in *S.mansoni* culture.

I would also like to thank my examiners Jo Bridger and Alex Ford for their time and input in helping me bring this thesis up to a higher standard following the *Viva*.

Additional thanks are owed to Alice, Nicky and the team in the animal unit (Julie, Amy, Neil and Steve) for their time and endless patience in helping me with numerous issues along the way.

I must also thank everyone from room 136 (in particular Liz L, Tara and Graham) for their advice and/or entertainment along the way, as well as Chris, Liz N, Erin, Lourdes, Luigi, Prof. John Sumpter and the rest of our institute past and present.

Finally, I owe a great deal of thanks to my parents for their constant support throughout this process and all those which came before it and that lead me to this opportunity.

Chapter 1: Introduction

1.1. Schistosomiasis

Schistosomiasis, also known as bilharzia, is a term used to refer to human infection by any of five major species of trematode worm belonging to the genus *schistosoma*. It is a tropical disease endemic to the developing world and is considered the second most important human parasitic disease after malaria, with more than 200 million people infected across 78 countries. This figure refers to those with active/current schistosome infections while a similar number are thought to be in a post-infection stage and continue to have residual morbidity, which therefore would bring the global number of people affected by some form of schistosomiasis closer to 400 million (Colley *et al.*, 2014). Pathology associated with the parasite is estimated to cause up to 200,000 deaths every year and cost economies between 1.7 and 4.5 million disability-adjusted life years (DALYs), a measurement which takes into account lost productivity rather than just mortality (Baeza Garcia *et al.*, 2010; Mohamed *et al.*, 2012).

Despite the seriousness of the disease, schistosomiasis is still considered to be a 'neglected tropical disease', a disease which occurs in low-income regions and receives significantly less research and treatment than comparatively less serious diseases occurring in developed countries. Reasons for neglect are not certain, but are possibly due to the lack of public awareness since these diseases tend to have long incubation periods and are usually chronic conditions rather than acute. Schistosomiasis can cause acute illness, but its main public health impact is due to chronic infections which lead to increased risk of anaemia, growth stunting and cognitive impairment in children and also the exacerbation of co-infections like HIV. Depending on the species, the liver, intestine, spleen, lungs and urogenital system are affected causing serious health problems, most notably bladder cancer, in later life (Knopp *et al.*, 2012).

There is currently no vaccine against schistosomiasis and in the past 10 years resistance to the main anti-schistosome drug 'Praziquantel' has been observed, while very few potential replacements have emerged (Bayne, 2009). Therefore, it seems that schistosomiasis will continue to be a serious health problem in certain parts of the world while drug and vaccine research continues and new approaches to tackle the disease are developed.

Clearly, a detailed understanding of the organism which causes this costly disease, and those which transmit it, is crucial in any efforts to combat it. This is made more important by the complex and intimate interactions that this trematode parasite has with its hosts, both human, and equally importantly but often over-looked, nonhuman.

1.1.1. Trematodes; parasites of man and molluscs

Trematodes, commonly referred to as flukes, are a class within the 'flatworm' phylum of Platyhelminthes to which the genus *Schistosoma* belongs. Trematodes are typically divided into two sub-classes based on reproductive strategy; the *Aspidogastrea* and the much larger sub-class, the *Digenea*.

There are approximately 18,000 nominal species of digenic trematode, nearly all of which are primary parasites of molluscs and most of which are obligate gastropod parasites. Digeans typically exhibit considerable host specificity. In a coevolutionary context there are no parasites which are so inextricably linked to a single group of hosts as digenetic trematodes are to snails and other molluscs (Esch *et al.*, 2001; Loker, 2010).

The trematode undergoes a complex developmental process within the mollusc/primary host, including extensive proliferation *via* several asexual cycles (Figure 1.1) typically lasting several weeks, to eventually produce embryos that release large numbers of the next free-living stage, the cercariae, which are directly infective to the secondary host (Loker, 2010). The free-living larval stages of Digeneans show a variety of behavioural adaptations which help them to locate and invade their secondary hosts. After responding to environmental cues during the phases of dispersal and microhabitat-selection, they often use host-chemical signals for short-range orientation, identification of the host species and for invasion and transformation processes (Haberl *et al.*, 2000). Sexually mature adult worms live in a vertebrate host and, in the case of diecious species they mate, then release eggs into the aquatic environment. The first free-living larval stage, the miracidia, hatches from the egg then locates and infects a compatible mollusc and the life cycle continues (Morley, 2010).



Figure 1.1. Representation of the typical life-cycle stages of animals in the class Trematoda. *Shaded blue background represents the aquatic environment; dashed ovals represent trematode stages which are present in water and independent of a host; solid white boxes represent an animal host; arrows indicate the direction of the life cycle progression.* Figure recreated from Cambridge University Pathology Department. Available: http://www.path.cam.ac.uk/~schisto/general_parasitology/Digenean.lifecycle.gif

Trematodes display considerable variation in final hosts (e.g. fish, frogs, birds, crustaceans, mammals), but the molluscan intermediate stage is consistent among all species. It is therefore surprising that most focus tends to be on the final, typically vertebrate, host.

The prevalence of trematodes in molluscan hosts will vary from habitat to habitat but typically anywhere between 4% and 65% of molluscs are infected in any one locality and it is not uncommon for the majority of the weight of a field-collected mollusc to consist of trematode tissue (Esch *et al.*, 2001; Lefcort *et al.*, 2002; Morley, 2006).

Due to the nature and intensity of the relationship, trematodes have a major impact on a mollusc's physiology and immunology. Trematodes deploy a range of strategies to avoid detection and elimination by the immune system of the host at each stage of development (Morley, 2006). The severity of an infection is dependent on the parasite species and there are large differences in compatibility, even within species. Mortality rates in infected molluscs are often high due to tissue damage which occurs upon infection or upon release of the cercariae, both of which are extremely traumatic events and far in excess of what any vertebrate host would experience. Death may also occur as a result of nutrients being diverted from the host to the parasite. Molluscs which survive infection are typically castrated by the parasite to increase the availability of nutrients (Morley, 2006).

There are more than 40 species of trematode which can utilise humans as a definitive host, these include: The Oriental lung fluke *Paragonimus westermani*, the liver flukes *Clonorchis sinensis*, *Fasciola hepatica* and *Opisthorchis viverrini* and the intestinal flukes *Fasciolopsis buski*, *Heterophyes heterophyes*, and *Metagonimus yokogawai* (Healy, 1970). These human-infective trematodes have in common the fact that they are acquired accidentally/indirectly from contaminated food, with one exception. Certain species of the genus *Schistosoma* are *directly* infective to humans *via* freshwater, and this is perhaps the reason that from a human health perspective, they are the most significant and best studied trematodes.

1.1.2. Species and distribution of Schistosomes

Transmission of human Schistosomes (Schistosomiasis) has been reported for 78 countries in total, of these it is endemic to 52, where transmission is moderate to high level (WHO, 2015).

Schistosomiasis predominantly occurs in tropical and sub-tropical areas, but the disease is also seen relatively frequently in travel clinics in Europe and North America among migrants and returning travellers who become infected after swimming in lakes (Knopp *et al.*, 2012).

There are two major types of Schistosomiasis in humans; intestinal and urogenital, caused by five main species (Table 1.1).

Table 1.1. Medically important human-infective species of the genus *Schistosoma*. *The adults of these species inhabit the veins of either the intestine or bladder of the human host. Other human-infective species exist but are so rarely contracted as to not warrant particular attention from a medical perspective*. Table adapted from: WHO.int, (2015). Available: http://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs115/en/.

Form of disease	Species	Geographical distribution
Intestinal	S.mansoni	Africa, the Middle East, the
		Caribbean, Brazil, Venezuela
		and Suriname
	S.japonicum	China, Indonesia, the
		Philippines
	S.mekongi	Several districts of Cambodia
		and the Lao People's
		Democratic Republic
	S. intercalatum	Rainforest areas of Central
		Africa
Urogenital	S.haematobium	Africa and the Middle East

Schistosoma haematobium, Schistosoma mansoni, and Schistosoma japonicum are considered to be the three main species of interest/concern. *S.haematobium* and *S.mansoni* both occur in Africa and the Middle East, whereas only *S.mansoni* is also present in the Americas. *S.japonicum* is localised to Asia, primarily the Philippines and China. The remaining species are much more localised, with *S. intercalatum* occurring mainly in rainforest areas of Central Africa and *S.mekongi* more or less confined exclusively to the Mekong river basin (Colley *et al.*, 2014; Figure 1.2).

85% of all infections occur on the African continent, where infection is so common that historically the haematuria (blood in urine) associated with *S.haematobium* was considered the male equivalent of menstruation (Rutherford, 2000).

Schistosoma mansoni is the most widespread species and infects more than 100 million people living in sub-Saharan Africa, the Caribbean, and South America (Negrão-Corrêa *et al.*, 2012).

In Brazil, infection with *S.mansoni* remains one of the most important public health problems. The parasite infects as many as 6.8 million people across 9 states, with almost 43 million people at risk despite a higher degree of economic development when compared with other transmission countries, as well as more than 30 years of control programs (Barboza *et al.*, 2012; Souza *et al.*, 2012).

Although often considered primarily a rural problem, Schistosomiasis today is found even in urban regions; for example, a survey of children living in a neighbourhood of the Brazilian city of Salvador found that 30% were infected despite most having never left the city (Souza *et al.*, 2012).



Figure 1.2. Global distribution of the five human-infective *Schistosoma* species of medical significance. *Shading represents areas where human infection is known to occur, with Schistosoma mansoni transmission foci in green; Schistosoma haematobium in pink; Schistosoma japonicum in lilac; S. intercalatum in dark red; S.mekongi in dark green and areas where both S.mansoni and S.haematobium occur together represented as dashed/orange*. Figure reproduced and adapted from Gryseels *et al.*, (2006) and Colley *et al.*, (2014).

Due to its significant distribution and medical importance I shall, for the remainder of this thesis, focus primarily on *S.mansoni*. Generally speaking, however, much of the information regarding the life-cycle is also applicable to the other species of human Schistosome.

1.1.3. Evolutionary history of S.mansoni

Unlike their snail hosts, Schistosomes have no calcareous or hard body parts, meaning that they have left no fossil record. Therefore, it is relatively difficult to accurately identify when the genus originated (Morgan, *et al.*, 2001).

Early reports suggested Africa as the origin for the genus *Schistosoma*, but molecular phylogenetic studies suggest that the genus originated in Asia and migrated to Africa around 15 million years ago *via* mammalian migration, well after the fragmentation of the Gondwana supercontinent (Morgan *et al.*, 2001; Beer *et al.*, 2010). After reaching Africa, the descendants underwent considerable radiation and *S.mansoni* likely evolved in east Africa around 300-400 thousand years ago following the arrival of *Biomphalaria* from South America, as evidenced by the substantial genetic diversity of the parasite specimens in this region (Morgan *et al.*, 2005).

S.mansoni is thought to have subsequently colonized South America as recently as 200-500 years ago with the transport of African slaves and was able to prosper due to the presence of an extremely susceptible host in *B.glabrata* (Morgan *et al.*, 2001; Morgan *et al.*, 2005). Only seven haplotypes have been found in South America and all are closely related and have West African affinities (Morgan *et al.*, 2005).

S. mansoni is thought to be very effective in colonizing new areas and can do so without significant loss in genetic diversity, examples of this ability exist even in modern times. In the 1980's, following the construction of two dams and the associated appearance of vector snails, an *S.mansoni* outbreak occurred in an area of Northwest Senegal which had previously been free of reported transmissions (Picquet *et al.*, 1996). Within a few years' infection rates in the local population were as high as 91% (Picquet *et al.*, 1996).

A recent genetic study of the parasites from this region of Senegal showed a high level of diversity at both the nuclear and mitochondrial level, indicating the simultaneous emergence of parasites from several sources, something which the species is able to achieve and that enhances its ability to cope with selective pressures such as environmental conditions or even drug treatments (Van den Broeck *et al.*, 2015).

1.1.4. Schistosoma life-cycle

Once eggs are released into freshwater in the faeces or urine of the infected human host, or in some cases that of certain domestic or wild animals which can act as reservoir hosts, a free-living miracidium hatches from each egg (Zahoor *et al.*, 2010, Figure 1.3). Almost immediately after hatching, the parasites use the hair-like cilia surrounding the body to beat in unison and propel them forward at considerable speed in search of a suitable host snail and guided by a chemo-orientation response to glycoconjugates emitted from the snail's mucous surface layer (Haberl *et al.*, 1995). The same glycoconjugates are also thought to stimulate the parasite's behaviour after contact with the snail (Kalbe *et al.*, 2004).

After penetrating the snail, the parasite undergoes morphological and physiological changes, such as the shedding of the ciliated plates and transforms into a relatively immobile sack-like structure known as a primary or 'mother' sporocyst (Negrão-Corrêa et al., 2012). Accompanying these changes are the release of a variety of molecules from the parasite surface, these are referred to as excretory-secretory products or ESPs (Lodes and Yoshino 1990). ESPs generally consist of antioxidant enzymes, protease inhibitors, cysteine proteases and glycolytic enzymes (Lodes and Yoshino, 1990; Connors et al., 1991; Zelck and Von Janowsky, 2004; Guillou et al., 2007; Humphries and Yoshino, 2008 and Wu et al., 2009). These parasite-derived molecules can influence the behaviour of the host snails' defence cells to allow the parasites' survival. After 2-3 weeks, through asexual reproduction, the mother sporocysts generate secondary or 'daughter' sporocysts which steadily migrate through the host tissue. Eventually, between 4 and 6 weeks after infection, the second free-living 'cercarial' stage is liberated from the daughter sporocysts and out of the snail into the aquatic environment and in search of the final host. Like the miracidial stage, cercariae are non-feeding and rely on glycogen stores for energy and consequently they have a limited period of infectivity of between 8-12 hours. Unlike miracidia, individual cercariae are sexually differentiated.



Figure 1.3. The life cycle of the three most prevalent human-infective *Schistosoma* species; *S.mansoni, S.haematobium* and *S.japonicum. Stage 1 occurs in both the human host and in the aquatic environment; stages 2-5 occur in the aquatic environment and/or a snail intermediate host; the three snails represent the different species which act as intermediate host for each of the three Schistosoma species; stages 6-7 occur exclusively inside the human host.* Figure reproduced and adapted from (Pearson, 2013). Available:

http://www.merckmanuals.com/media/professional/figures/INF schistosoma life cycle.gif

Recognition and attachment to the human host is stimulated by heat and the presence of the amino acid L-arganine. After attachment, the parasite loses its tail and releases enzymes from its penetration glands allowing it to pass through the skin (Haas *et al.*, 2002). Inside the host the parasite once again undergoes profound structural changes, including the development of a multi-laminate plasma membrane, and is now referred to as a Schistosomula. After a period of time the Schistosomula migrates through the blood stream to the lungs and subsequently to the liver to mature (Wakelin, 1996).

Adult male and female worms inhabit either the vasculature of the urinary plexus or the mesenteric venules surrounding the large intestine, depending on the species, where they mate and remain together *in copula* producing hundreds of eggs every day and living between 3-10 years, but possibly as many as 40 (Taft *et al.*, 2009; Colley *et al.*, 2014). Eggs are either shed into the environment through faeces or urine allowing the cycle to continue. However, some eggs are not shed and instead remain within the host, this is the aspect of the life-cycle which produces the most serious pathology (from a human perspective). Retained eggs provoke an inflammatory reaction which can develop into a large granuloma, leading to hepatosplenamegoly and other serious, possibly fatal, conditions.

Because of their lack of immediate medical or veterinary significance, the life-cycle stages of digenetic trematodes occurring inside molluscs typically receive considerably less attention than do stages occurring in vertebrate hosts, when in reality alterations at any point in the cycle will ultimately be of equal importance (Wiley, 1992). Of all the people infected with Schistosomes each share the fact that they contacted freshwater harbouring infected snails, indeed, Schistosomes are obligatory parasites of freshwater snails, without which, no person could become infected and it is for this reason that the Schistosome-snail interaction is a biomedically relevant target for research (Bayne, 2009).

To place subsequent chapters of this thesis into context and to serve as a reference, it is important to provide a more detailed explanation of the 'intra-molluscan' or 'snail' stages of development, on which much of the focus will be.

1.1.5. Biology of snail stages

Upon penetration of the snail intermediate host, the free-living miracidia undergo dramatic morphological and physiological changes resulting in the mass-replication and release of the human-infective cercariae stage (Wu *et al.*, 2009).



Figure 1.4. A closer look at the physiology of the Intra-molluscan stages of *S.mansoni* development. *The stages of the life cycle not infective to humans and which occur within the snail host, B.glabrata, are referred to as intra-molluscan; these include the miracidia, which begins this stage of the life cycle by penetrating the snail. After penetration the miracidia transforms into a mother sporocyst. Inside each mother sporocyst multiple daughter sporocysts develop via asexual reproduction.* Adapted from Farrar *et al.*, (2014) and http://enconv.org/docs/index-23430.html

1.1.5.1. Miracidia; contact and penetration

The miracidium is the first free-living stage of the *S.mansoni* life-cycle and leaves the egg fully formed. Glycogen stores provide the parasite with a 12-hour energy source and since it has no means of feeding it must find an appropriate host before these reserves run out. While it may live for up to 48 hours, it will lose the ability to penetrate the snail much earlier (Toledo and Fried, 2014).

Upon locating a suitable host using chemical trails emitted by the snail, the miracidia will begin to probe the soft tissue, typically the tentacles, head-foot or mantle and will begin the process of attachment and penetration using specialised cellular structures (Toledo and Fried, 2014).

1.1.5.1.1. Epithelial cells

Most of the outer surface of the miracidium is covered with hair-like cilia, all of a similar length, arising from twenty-one flattened epidermal cells (also known as plates) which are arranged in four tiers (Figure 1.4). The cilia of the anterior tier are more rigid and numerous (Wajdi, 1966).

1.1.5.1.2. Papilla

The papilla are cone-shaped structures located at epithelial cell junctions. They are free of the cilia which cover the rest of the body and are considered part of the penetration apparatus, due to the presence of pores which discharge enzymes (Wajdi, 1966).

1.1.5.1.3. Adhesive glands

The apical and lateral adhesive glands, previously also called penetration glands, are single-cells which are slender with a bulb-like posterior and have a distinct pore, they are thought to be functionally analogous to the suckers of the adult worms (Wajdi, 1966; Kinoti, 1971). These glands secrete a mucus-like substance which allows the miracidium to remain attached to the snail tissue and possibly also secrete a lubricant to aid entry into the host during the penetration process (Wajdi, 1966).

1.1.5.1.4. Penetration gland

The penetration gland is a flask-shaped structure originally believed to be a primitive mouth/gut, but this theory has been discounted due to the lack of a lumen or any ability to ingest, rather it appears to secrete digestive enzymes to aid with host penetration (Wajdi, 1966).

1.1.5.2. Inside the snail

Penetration of *B.glabrata* by *S.mansoni* miracidia occurs with equal success regardless of the susceptibility status of the host, but once inside the differences in susceptibility may become apparent (Rizk *et al.*, 2011).

As well as cilia, the surface of the miracidia is also covered in an array of glycotopes which differ starkly between individual parasites and between different stages of the same parasite (Peterson *et al.*, 2009; Prasanphanich *et al.*, 2013). These glycotopes are perhaps the primary promotor of the host defence response, although in certain circumstances some glycotopes, such as *S.mansoni* polymorphic mucins (*Sm*PoMucs), are thought to resemble those displayed on *B.glabrata* immune-cells and therefore benefit the parasite by serving as a form of molecular mimicry (Knight *et al.*, 2014; Mickum *et al.*, 2014; Adema and Loker, 2015). The heterogeneity of these glycotopes is believed to be at least partly responsible for the parasites compatibility with the host. Indeed, if the parasite is incompatible with the host it will be quickly detected and often faces swift encapsulation and death at the miracidial stage or soon after (Rizk *et al.*, 2011).

1.1.5.2.1. Development to mother sporocyst

If the parasite proves to be compatible and avoids the snail immune response it will begin transformation into the mother sporocyst at, or near to, the penetration site, following shedding of the ciliated plates, which are readily phagocytosed by the snail immune cells (Farrar *et al.*, 2014). After shedding plates, the expansion of the miracidial inter-epidermal ridges occurs and cells inside the parasite begin to secrete cytoplasmic and lipid membranes which spread over the surface to form a 'syncytial tegument' (Peterson *et al.*, 2009; Bayne, 2010). The whole process of transformation occurs over about 48-hours post-penetration, but sporocysts may be identifiable after only a few hours (Meuleman *et al.*, 1978). Amongst other factors, heat shock protein 70 (Hsp 70) is thought to play an important role in the transformation of the miracidia into sporocysts, as displayed by the ability to induce miracidial transformation *via* bombardment of Hsp70-coated particles (Heyers *et al.*, 2003).

The stage between shedding the plates and final transformation to mother sporocyst is perhaps the most vulnerable time for the parasite and is often when encapsulation and death occurs, not least since the mimicry glycotopes are initially lost with the shedding of the plates (Peterson *et al.*, 2009). Despite the initial loss of the plates and potentially also the *Sm*PoMuc 'smoke-screen', the parasite may still be granted a degree of protection due to the release of excretory-secretory products (ESPs) which, like *Sm*PoMucs, serve as a trigger for the immune response in resistant snails, but have also been shown to interfere with a range of internal defensive capabilities in susceptible animals (Wu *et al.*, 2009; Coustau et al., 2016).

1.1.5.2.2. The mother sporocyst

Even in compatible hosts, only a small number of miracidia typically develop into mother sporocysts (Cook *et al.*, 2009). At around 96-hours post-penetration the mother sporocyst is an elongated sac-like structure filled with germinal cells and small vacuoles, which have budded from the epithelial lining, and is ~200 μ m in length, about the same size as the miracidia (Wajdi, 1966; Cook *et al.*, 2009). Like the miracidia, it has no digestive system, but unlike the miracidia it is able to absorb nutrients directly across its thin syncytial cytoplasmic outer-surface (Wakelin, 1996). By the end of the first week the parasite has grown considerably and the proliferation of germinal tissue is extensive enough to fill the whole body cavity and in some cases the sporocysts can be seen by eye as tumour-like bulges in the snail tissue (Wajdi, 1966).

As well as allowing nutrient absorption and osmoregulation, the tegumental surface of the sporocyst also forms the parasites primary defence against the host immune response (Johnston and Yoshino, 1996). Much like the miracidia, the sporocyst makes use of various glycotopes designed to make the parasite essentially invisible.

The germinal cells inside the sporocyst continue to grow and divide to form secondgeneration or 'daughter' sporocysts. The daughter sporocyst embryos are enveloped by a basic epithelial layer derived from the mother, under which somatic cells expand, which eventually degenerates to expose a new tagumental surface layer (Meuleman *et al.*, 1980).

1.1.5.2.3. Development of daughter sporocysts

After around 8-15 days' post-penetration, the mother sporocyst uses muscular contractions, facilitated by exogenous serotonin, to allow the emergence of hundreds of daughter sporocysts, which begin to migrate toward the snails' digestive gland and gonads (Delgado *et al.*, 2012; Farrar *et al.*, 2014). Inside the daughter sporocysts further germinal cells develop, much as they did inside the mother sporocyst.

At this stage of development, the daughter sporocysts begin to release a factor known as schistosomin from their teloglial cells (De Jong-Brink *et al.*, 2001b). Schistosomin is thought to be responsible for the interruption of the hosts endocrine system by halting reproduction and growth and diverting resources toward parasite development (De Jong-Brink *et al.*, 2001b).

1.1.5.2.4. Cercariae; development and release

After around 2 weeks residing in the digestive gland-gonads, the final intramolluscan stage has formed. The 'cercariae' develop in a similar manner to the daughter sporocysts, with somatic cells developing inside a daughter sporocystderived epithelial layer (Meuleman and Holzmann, 1975). The asexual reproductive process from mother to daughter, and to the final stage, means many thousands of cercariae can be produced from a single miracidium (Cook *et al.*, 2009). Once fully developed, the cercariae emerge in minutes from the daughter sporocyst, head first, and propelled by lashing of the tail, after which the sporocyst wall quickly heals (Wajdi, 1966; Hansen, 1975). At this stage, daughter sporocysts are also capable of halting cercarial production to instead produce additional generations of daughter sporocysts (Jourdane *et al.*, 1980).

Once outside the daughter sporocyst, free cercariae again make use of molecular masking to avoid destruction and are carried by the snails' circulatory system to several vascularized peripheral locations, particularly the edge of the mantle and the pseudobranch (Hansen, 1975; De Jong-Brink *et al.*, 2001b).

Upon reaching a suitably exposed location, the cercariae wait for temperature and light cues which signal mid-day, at which point they burst out of the snail and into

the aquatic environment (Toledo and Fried, 2014). Many thousands of cercariae can emerge from the snail at one time to go in search of the final host.

Having looked at *S.mansoni*, and focusing on the often over-looked snail stage of its life-cycle, it is equally important that we understand the biology of the snail host as this is one of the most decisive stages in determining the death or survival of the parasite and the extent of subsequent transmission to humans (Soomro, 2005).

1.2. Biomphalaria

Most intermediate hosts of human *Schistosoma* parasites belong to three genera of gastropods: *Biomphalaria, Bulinus* and *Oncomelania*.

Pulmonate snails of the genus *Biomphalaria* are the most common freshwater intermediate Schistosome host snail prevailing in developing countries, a fact that is responsible for the wide distribution and subsequent medical importance of the parasite (Bakry, 2009).

1.2.1. Biomphalaria glabrata

Biomphalaria glabrata snails are important intermediate hosts in the transmission of *S.mansoni* in the New World and more recently also in Egypt due to exotic introduction into canals, possibly as early as 1981, and there is evidence that it is hybridizing with the native *B.alexandrina* (Kristensen *et al.*, 1999; Humphries and Yoshino, 2006). As *B.glabrata* has proven such an excellent host for *S.mansoni*, it is likely that its presence would only favour increased transmission in these areas (Morgan *et al.*, 2001).

When infected African slaves were first brought to Brazil they were placed around coastal areas which were also inhabited by very susceptible host snails (*B. glabrata*) (Morgan *et al.*, 2001). Since the time of these original introductions, massive anthropogenic changes, such as damming, to the same environments, have enabled the spread of *B. glabrata* and other indigenous *Biomphalaria* species (Morgan *et al.*, 2001).
Biomphalaria glabrata is of interest in terms of transmission dynamics, but increasingly it is used as a model for the study of the complex host-parasite interaction and innate immune response (Baeza *et al.*, 2010).

Considering the growing body of literature on its biology, especially its immune system and response to infection, and the progress of the assembly of the genome which has been sequenced and is, as of late 2015, undergoing annotation (Coustau *et al.*, 2015), coupled with the lack of existing models for molluscs, *B. glabrata* is now emerging as a candidate model species (Guillou *et al.*, 2007). As well as improving its status as a model organism, our ever-increasing understanding of the genetic processes underpinning the parasite-host relationship will likely increase and improve the tools available to researchers looking toward control solutions and even cures (Knight *et al.*, 2014; Giannelli *et al.*, 2015).

1.2.1.1. Evolutionary history and distribution

Biomphalaria glabrata was first described by the American naturalist Thomas Say, under the name *Planorbis glabratus*, based on a shell given to the Academy of Natural Sciences of Philadelphia in 1818 which was allegedly discovered in the US state of South Carolina (Paraense, 2001). Since no subsequent snails could be found in South Carolina it is thought that the shell was actually from Guadeloupe, since the person who donated the original sample also spent considerable time there and it is a location we now know to be part of the species natural distribution (Paraense, 2001).

Regarding its evolutionary history, *B. glabrata* was originally believed to have first appeared 100 million years ago on the super-continent of Gondwana and that the present species in Africa and South America are a result of the continental split which occurred 70 million years ago (Davis, 1980).

Using modern genetics tools, DeJong *et al.*, (2001a) definitively demonstrated that the South American species are basal and the African species were derived from them (Figure 1.5). This suggests that the genus originated in South America after the continents had separated and that a proto-*Biomphalaria glabrata* subsequently made the transatlantic crossing, possibly in the feathers or stomach of a bird. The case is further strengthened by the finding that the African species of *Biomphalaria* have only a quarter of the mitochondrial genetic diversity of *B. glabrata* (DeJong *et al.*, 2001a). Based on African fossil records, this is thought to have occurred between 2-5 million years ago (Morgan *et al.*, 2001).



Figure 1.5. Phylogenetic relationships within and between the African and American species of the genus *Biomphalaria*. *This tree is based on combined mitochondrial and nuclear sequence data collected by Dejong et al., (2001a).* Figure recreated from Dejong *et al., (2001a).*

Within *B.glabrata*, five differentiated clades can be identified and are referred to by their geographic origin, these are: the Greater Antilles, the Lesser Antilles, Venezuela and two clades in Brazil which are geographically overlapping (Dejong *et al.*, 2003; Figure 1.6). The different Brazilian clades likely arose as a result of habitat fragmentation but, based on the overlapping distributions, parapatric speciation is also possible (Dejong *et al.*, 2003). The divergence of lineages within these American clades probably occurred around 740,000 years ago.



Figure 1.6. Geographic distribution of the phylogenetic relationships among the five clades of the species *Biomphalaria glabrata*. *The current distribution of B.glabrata is represented by shading and diagonal lines indicate the areas from which snails were collected for use in mitochondrial and nuclear sequencing*. Figure reproduced from Toledo and Fried, (2010), data based on the work of Dejong *et al.*, (2003).

In South America the native distribution of *B.glabrata* extends from southern Brazil, through French Guiana, Suriname and Venezuela (Pointer *et al.*, 2005). The snail also extends throughout the Lesser Antillies in Martinique, Guadeloupe, Dominica, Antigua, Saint Martin, Saint Kitts and the Greater Antillies in Puerto Rico, Haiti and the Dominican Republic (Pointier *et al.*, 2005).

B.glabrata is also now resident in Egypt having been introduced around 1981 (Pointer *et al.*, 2005). Snails must be in, or close to, a source of still or slow-moving freshwater. As a result of these requirements they are often found in ponds, swamps, ditches, streams, reservoirs and even sewage dump sites (Jurberg *et al.*, 1997; Freitas, 1976).

1.2.1.2. BBO2

While natural populations of *B.glabrata* are known to be polymorphic in their degree of resistance to *S.mansoni*, laboratory studies typically rely on specific snail strains which have been inbred and maintained for certain traits (Ataev and Coustau, 1999; Giannelli *et al.*, 2015).

One of the most widely used experimental strains of *B.glabrata* is known as BBO2.

BBO2 snails are a susceptible field isolate which were originally collected in 2002 by Omar dos Santos Carvalho from the district of Barreiro in the Brazilian city of Belo Horizonte. BBO2 signifies '*Biomphalaria*, Barreiro, 2002' (Adema *et al.*, 2006).

These snails were found inhabiting a small stream in a metropolitan area, on a ranch where flowers were grown (http://biology.unm.edu/Biomphalaria-Genome/BB02STRAIN.html).

BB02 has since been distributed throughout the world by various research departments and is being seen as a model organism among molluscs as *Drosophila melanogaster* is for insects and *Caenorhabditis elegans* for nematodes (Knight *et al.*, 2002).

1.2.1.3. Biology

As the genus *Biomphalaria* has many traits which make it distinct among molluscs, so *Biomphalaria glabrata* has traits which differ from others in the genus. Some of these differences are of considerable importance as they relate to its success as a vector of *S.mansoni*, both in terms of compatibility but also in its ability to colonize new areas and survive. The effectiveness of the snail as a vector provides its primary

interest among researchers and much of this interest is focused on molecular level compatibility. While molecular parasite-host compatibility is fundamentally important, it is also necessary to understand the general biology of the species to understand where and how these differences actually occur.



Figure 1.7. Anatomical diagram showing the basic body plan of *B.glabrata*. *Major organs and functional structures are labelled and their approximate location indicated by straight lines*. Figure reproduced and adapted from Malek, (1985).

1.2.1.3.1. Reproduction

B. glabrata is a simultaneous hermaphrodite, capable of both self and crossfertilization, the latter method typically being preferred (Eveland and Haseeb, 2011). The reproductive tract is subdivided into three parts: hermaphroditic, male and female (Jarne *et al.*, 2011). There is little preference between mating roles and an individual snail will change from male to female (or *vice versa*) in about 45% of its cross-fertilization events (Vernon and Taylor, 1996).

Oocytes are produced in the ovotestis and are subsequently transported *via* the spermoviduct to the carrefour (pouch), where fertilization occurs (Eveland and Haseeb, 2011). Glactogenic perivitelline fluid is synthesised and secreted by the albumen gland to surround each egg cell as protection and nutrition for the developing embryo (Bai *et al.*, 1996).

A mature snail can lay as many as 10,000 eggs in a year and these eggs are laid in masses surrounded by a thick double-walled gelatinous membrane. The masses are gelatinous to protect against short periods of desiccation and consist of around 30-40 eggs firmly adhered to any item which is smooth and suitably submerged, including the shells of other snails (Eveland and Haseeb, 2011). Mature snails are capable of laying one mass per day (Pimentel, 1957).

Embryos go through a series of complex developmental stages beginning with the blastulae 0–15 hours after the first egg cleavage, followed by the gastrulae (24–39 h), the trocophore (48–87 h) and finally the veliger beginning at around 96–111 hours (Camey and Verdonk, 1969).

Snails will hatch after 6-8 days and will reach reproductive maturity by 4-7 weeks (WHO, 1995).

1.2.1.3.2. Respiration

Respiration in *B.glabrata* is usually attributed to actions within the mantle cavity, the tegument and the pseudogill (Paraense, 1972).

If the snail is unable to surface it can switch from aerial to aquatic respiration and remain submerged for up to 92 days, in the opposite situation it is able to survive for up to 16-hours, without the dissolved oxygen provided by water (Jurberg 1992; Jurberg *et al.*, 1997).

Distinguishing the exact contribution of a particular structure to the respiratory process has proven difficult for numerous reasons. There is no histological difference between aquatic and aerial-related respiratory epithelia; *B.glabrata* fills its mantle cavity with air *via* a pneumostoma, something which is characteristic of aerial respiration, yet it also performs gas exchanges when submerged, which is indicative of aquatic respiration (Jurberg *et al.*, 1997). Furthermore, the air-bubble inside the mantle, which serves as a flotation aide and oxygen store, along with circulating water, is thought to act like a physical gill (Jurberg *et al.*, 1997). Essentially, *B.glabrata* is able to perform a kind of aquatic respiration, but while it has the morphophysiological properties needed to perform the functions of a typical physical gill this has proven difficult to demonstrate experimentally.

The mantle of *B.glabrata* contains three chambers related to respiration: the air chamber and the water inflow and outflow chambers (Jurberg *et al.*, 1997; Figure 1.8). The intra-mantle water flow is also believed to help with the removal of waste and acts as an internal structural support for the shell, allowing the snail to descend to greater depths without the shell succumbing to pressure fractures (Jurberg *et al.*, 1997).



Figure 1.8. Anatomical diagram of the respiratory process of *B.glabrata* and the proposed role of water-flow. WOC = Water outflow chamber, WIC = Water inflow chamber, ac = air chamber, c = crack, pg = pseudogill, rtc = rectal cristae, dlc = dorsolateral cristae, rv = renal vein, pv = pulmonary vein, rt = renal tube. Arrows indicate direction of water flow. Reproduced and adapted from Jurberg, Cunha and Rodrigues, (1997).

The respiratory pigment in most invertebrates, including the vast majority of gastropods, is hemocyanin. This protein is synthesized and secreted by rhogocytes (pore cells) and gives the hemolymph a distinctive blue colour (Kokkinopoulou *et al.*, 2014). Interestingly, there is one family of gastropods, the *Planorbidae*, which includes *B.glabrata*, in which the hemolymph is red in colour. Unusually for invertebrates the rhogocytes of the *Planorbidae* instead produce hemoglobin. The pigment performs much the same oxygen-carrying task as in vertebrates but is not bound to a cell (Lieb *et al.*, 2006).

The divergence in respiratory pigment in this family is thought to be an adaptation to the hypoxic pond habitats of many species, since hemoglobin has a greater oxygen affinity than hemocyanin (Moeller *et al.*, 2011). Since other gastropods, such as the

Lymnaeidae, occupy the same habitats, it is thought that hemoglobin is also advantageous to *B.glabrata* in allowing an increased diving potential (Lieb *et al.*, 2006; Figure 1.9).

The hemolymph has been found to contain trace quantities of molecules morphologically similar to hemocynin, which perhaps demonstrates the evolutionary divergence (Lieb *et al.*, 2006).



Figure 1.9. A comparison between the respiratory pigments of snails from the genus *Biomphalaria* and those from another, more typical, gastropod. *A) Haemoglobin from B.glabrata, B) Hemocyanin from the Keyhole limpet (Megathura crenulata).* Picture A reproduced and adapted from Lieb *et al.*, (2006) and picture B reproduced and adapted from Becker *et al.*, (2014).

1.2.2. Biomphalaria immune system

To fully understand the ways in which *S.mansoni* transmission can be determined by *B.glabrata* we must first understand what is perhaps the most important aspect of the relationship; the immune system of the vector. An overview of general invertebrate immunology and specifically of molluscs, is fundamental when putting into context the capabilities which *B.glabrata* has to influence transmission, especially since many of these are different to those which more familiar mammalian hosts possess. A mechanistic knowledge of what is a significant potential barrier to the parasites development toward human infection helps us to appreciate the possible influence of internal and external factors.

1.2.2.1. Overview of the invertebrate/molluscan immune system

For multicellular organisms at least, it is possible to distinguish two categories of immune response: the innate (or 'non-specific') and the adaptive (or 'specific). Recent research has suggested that this distinction is not as clear as once thought, for example: *B.glabrata* is capable of shifting and enhancing its anti-schistosome immune response, from cellular to primarily humoral, after repeated parasite exposure (Schmid-Hempel, 2007; Pinaud *et al.*, 2016).

Invertebrates only possess the innate response, whereas vertebrates possess both. The innate system is often also referred to as 'basic' immunity and while there are valid reasons for this term, it does not mean that this type of immunity is *inferior*, or has been superseded, since invertebrates still make up 95% of all the animal species on earth (Rinkevich, 1999; Canesi *et al.*, 2002; Cooper, 2006).

The study of innate immunity continues to be of extreme importance, not only because it is a component of the human immune response, but also because invertebrate species of medical importance rely on innate immunity to ensure their own survival. Furthermore, the economic importance of invertebrates both as pests and also as food continues to drive research in innate immunity processes (Canesi *et al.*, 2002).

The fundamental principle of the invertebrate immune system is based on the ability to distinguish between 'self' and 'non-self' (foreign) objects. Recognition of a foreign object clearly provides the basis of an immune system and the ability to recognize its own tissue prevents an organism from attacking itself. Consequences of the failure of the latter process are revealed as autoimmune diseases, which are well known in humans (e.g. Chron's disease), but also occur in invertebrates (Schmid-Hempel, 2007).

Aside from the most primitive species, in which organs and functions are difficult to differentiate (e.g. sponges), invertebrates have an open circulatory system in which a fluid termed 'hemolymph' is contained in the body cavity or 'hemocel' and directly bathes the organs (Galloway and Depledge, 2001; Ottaviani, 2011). The hemolymph, which is similar in function to vertebrate plasma, generally contains immune components which include antimicrobial peptides, agglutinins and lysosomal enzymes. These components serve to enhance opsonization by facilitating bacterial

aggregation and immobilization and/or display cytolytic activities (Labreuche *et al.*, 2006). Free-floating in the hemolymph are the principle effectors of the invertebrate immune response, referred to collectively as 'hemocytes' (Labreuche *et al.*, 2006). These cells are in many respects analogous to vertebrate macrophages and are essential in the killing and clearance of any objects recognized as foreign, by a number of means (Fryer and Adema, 1993). As with macrophages, a vital function of hemocytes is the process of phagocytosis of any foreign particles which are small enough (De Vico and Carella, 2012). The phagocytic process is a sequence of distinct stages: attraction (chemotaxis), attachment, engulfment and digestion; a process that has been highly conserved throughout evolution due to its effectiveness (Bayne and Fryer, 1994; Fournier *et al.*, 2000).

In more complex invertebrates such as the arthropods, annelids and molluscs, phagocytosis of larger objects, or large numbers of smaller ones, is supplemented by 'encapsulation', a process which could be considered analogous to granuloma formation in vertebrates (Galloway and Depledge, 2001).

The process of encapsulation has been described as "frustrated phagocytosis" (Bayne and Fryer, 1994). This is an apt description because the process of encapsulation is essentially the same as phagocytosis, indeed hemocytes will still attempt to phagocytose large objects but instead of succeeding they end up forming a multi-layered sheath of cells around the intruder (Pech *et al.*, 1995).

The directed migration of cells toward specific stimuli (i.e. chemotaxis) is a central component of the immunological/inflammatory reaction throughout the animal kingdom. Invertebrates also respond to infection or injury by enhancing the motility of immunocompetent cells. Hemocytes from many invertebrate species have been shown to migrate non-randomly toward bacteria and other exogenous material (Raftos *et al.*, 1998).

The molluscs represent one of the most diverse and species-rich phyla of the animal kingdom. With more than 130,000 known species they are second only to the arthropods in number (Gruner, 1993; Gruner *et al.*, 1993). Of the seven extant molluscan classes, the gastropods make up more than 80% of total species, with bivalves constituting the major part of the remaining species at around 15% (Oehlmann and Schulte-Oehlmann, 2002).

Despite our familiarity with terrestrial molluscs they are primarily aquatic animals, six of the seven classes within the phylum are entirely aquatic and the majority of the species in the remaining class, the gastropods, are also aquatic (Oehlmann and Schulte-Oehlmann, 2002). Of the aquatic molluscs, most are marine but again, gastropods, along with bivalves, appear to show the most diversity with several species inhabiting freshwater environments (Oehlmann and Schulte-Oehlmann, 2002).

Molluscs have a coelomatic cavity, which makes it possible to distinguish welldefined cellular and humoral components within the immune system. Molluscan hemocytes may be found freely circulating in the hemolymph or may be 'fixed' in internal tissue such as the digestive gland (Ottaviani, 2006; Loker, 2010).

Molluscs, like other invertebrates, are able to discriminate between self and non-self, this has been demonstrated by transplant studies on freshwater species which will accept an autograft (of native/self-tissue) while rejecting, and eliciting an immune response against, a xenograft (foreign tissue) (Ottaviani, 2004).

Molluscan hemocytes are composed of different subpopulations, however the precise classification of these remains controversial (Blaise *et al.*, 2002; Ottaviani, 2011). It can at least be said that the majority of mollusc species appear to have two types of principle hemocyte and these are distinguishable based on either their granularity or their ability to spread (Humphries and Yoshino, 2003; Ottaviani, 2006; Yoshino and Coustau, 2011). 'Spreading' refers to the behaviour of certain hemocytes *in vitro*. When placed on an artificial surface the cells typically spread out, forming conspicuous projections known as filopodia (Noda and Loker, 1989). Spreading cells are thought to represent the majority of hemocytes and are also thought to be the main cells involved in phagocytosis and encapsulation, since both processes require attachment and, in the case of encapsulation, spreading over the surface of the foreign object (Noda and Loker, 1989). In addition to phagocytosis and encapsulation, the molluscan hemocytes also release cytotoxic reactive oxygen and nitrogen intermediates which are directly responsible for the death of the captured organism (Walker, 2006).

Hemocytes in molluscs are also involved in wound healing, nerve repair, shell formation and repair (certain species), tissue remodelling and the movement of metabolites and nutrients (Noda and Loker, 1989).

1.2.2.2. Hemocytes of *B.glabrata*

Much of the information surrounding the circulatory/immunological system of *B.glabrata* remains controversial since studies have often failed to form a broad consensus and investigatory methods typically differ considerably.

The site of hemocyte origin is often reported as being the 'amebocyte producing organ' (APO), which is believed to act in a similar manner to the bone marrow of vertebrates (Barbosa *et al.*, 2006). The presence of high levels of cellular mitosis and hyperplasia at this site, as well as its apparent ability to induce a degree of resistance when transplanted into susceptible snails, is said to offer support to this theory (Souza and Andrade, 2006). However, through a series of histologic, morphometric and ultrastructural studies, Barbosa *et al.*, (2006) were unable to find significant evidence to support the APO as the central organ for hemocyte production.

Others suggest a 'multicentric' origin, with hemocytes being produced at various sites throughout the body in a manner similar to the formation of blood cells from endothelial lines in the early evolutionary stages of other animals (Souza and Andrade, 2006). This theory suggests that an APO is unnecessary, since hemocytes can be formed at different sites throughout the body (Souza and Andrade, 2006).

Unlike some other molluscs, the hemocyte population of *B.glabrata* appear to represent morphological and biochemical heterogeneity, which makes their classification extremely difficult and this is compounded by the fact that they also lack structures such as secretory granules which are normally used to aide classification (Delgado *et al.*, 2001; Barçante *et al.*, 2012). The hemocytes of *B.glabrata* therefore either represent a single type of cell at different stages of maturity, or several different sub-populations (Delgado *et al.*, 2001).

While many hemocytes freely circulate in the hemolymph others, termed 'fixed' hemocytes, are spread throughout the connective tissue and are known to internalize and store foreign material, as well as migrating to infected and/or damaged sites

(Matricon-Gondran and Letocart, 1999). Historically, it has been assumed that freecirculating and fixed hemocytes only differ based on their location (and that they could presumably switch roles). However, it has also been suggested that free and fixed hemocytes are in-fact functionally independent and form two separate components (Borges *et al.*, 2006). If this is the case then, due to the way hemolymph is collected, the majority of hemocytes that have been studied thus far would be of the circulating kind. Nevertheless, circulating cells have themselves been shown to contain several sub-populations, depending on the study.

The majority of studies have settled on the statement that, as with other mollusc species, *Biomphalaria glabrata* hemocytes are composed of *at least* two distinct populations (Table 1.2). These are identified by either their propensity to spread, or otherwise remain rounded, on contact with an artificial surface (e.g. glass) *in vitro* or by their degree of cellular granularity. When classifying based on granularity, the two populations have been termed 'hyalinocytes' (smaller cells with a non-granular appearance) and 'granulocytes' (larger, granular cells). When classified based on spreading ability they are often simply referred to as 'spread' or 'round' (Figure 1.10). Alternative classifications have been reported and in these cases the cells are usually named according to their size.

Figure 1.10. Comparison between the two main functional states in which immunocompetent hemocytes of *Biomphalaria glabrata* are typically observed *in vitro*. *A*) *Rounded hemocytes B*) *Spread hemocytes on glass*. Pictures taken at 400x.



The next most common classification is of 3 hemocyte types, usually termed small, medium and large (Matricon-Gondran and Letocart, 1999; Martins-Souza *et al.*, 2009; Table 1.2). Delgado *et al.*, (2001) reported 4 hemocyte types, these included hyalinocytes, 2 types of granulocyte and a newly reported 'erythrocyte' type which was thought to resemble the biconcave shape of the mammalian RBC. The largest number of cell types was reported by Cavalcanti *et al.*, (2012) who describe 5 cell types; granulocytes, 3 types of hyalinocyte and blast-like cells which had a very large, centrally-located, nucleus (Table 1.2).

Table 1.2. An example of some of the different populations and compositions of *B.glabrata*

 hemocytes reported in the scientific literature. Various studies report different numbers of uniquely

 distinguishable hemocyte populations within B. glabrata.

Number	Name	Most numerous cell	Reference
of cell		type	
types			
3	small, medium and large	Medium	Martins-Souza <i>et al.</i> , 2009.
2	Granulocyte, hyalinocytes	Granulocyte	Harris, 1975.
2	Granulocyte, hyalinocytes	Hyalinocytes	Bakry <i>et al.</i> , 2012b.
2	small and large haemocytes	Large	Barçante et al., 2012.
4	Granulocyte (types 1 and 2), hyalinocytes (type 3), erythrocyte type	Type 1 and 2 granulocytes (differs by snail strain)	Delgado <i>et al.</i> , 2001.
2	Granulocyte, hyalinocytes	Granulocyte	Barracco <i>et al.</i> , 1993.
3	small, medium and large	Medium and large almost equal	Matricon-Gondran and Letocart, 1999.
5	Blast-like, Granulocyte, hyalinocytes (types 1, 2 and 3)	Type I hyalinocytes	Cavalcanti et al., 2012.

Similar disagreement exists regarding the proportions of circulating cells that the different populations make up (Table 1.2).

Granulocytes were found to be the most common type of cell by Harris (1975) and Barraco *et al.* (1993). Delgado *et al.*, (2001) also reported granulocytes as the main cell type but in their classification there were two types and the ratio differed according to snail strain. Both Cavalcanti *et al.*, (2012) and Bakry *et al.*, (2012) identified hyalinocytes as the most abundant cell type. Medium and large hemocytes have also been reported as the most populous circulating cell type (Matricon-Gondran and Letocart, 1999; Martins-Souza *et al.*, 2009; Barçante *et al.*, 2012). Due to the disagreement and difficulty in hemocyte classification many researchers prefer to pool the cells and treat them as a single type or to separate them based on their ability to spread.

1.2.2.3. Interaction with S.mansoni

Self/non-self discrimination in *B.glabrata* is achieved through pattern recognition receptors (PRRs) on the surface of hemocytes which recognise foreign structures referred to as pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) (Janeway 1989; Janeway and Medzhitov, 2002; Yoshino and Coustau, 2011). Some of the most important and well-studied PRRs are fibrogen-related proteins (FREPs) (Coustau *et al.*, 2016). FREPs are complex pattern recognition proteins and are particularly important due to their interaction with certain PAMPs, particularly the highly polymorphic mucins (*Sm*PoMucs) (Prasanphanich *et al.*, 2013; Coustau *et al.*, 2016).

Upon penetration of the host, proteins are secreted from the lateral and apical penetration glands of the miricidia and an array of larval proteins known as excretory-secretory proteins (ESPs) are released during the subsequent transformation to the primary sporocyst stage (Yoshino and Coustau, 2011). It is during this period that the proteins released serve as chemical signals to the host PRRs 'announcing' the parasite's presence, to which the host response is initiated (Yoshino and Coustau, 2011; Barçante *et al.*, 2012). As mentioned in sections 1.1.5.2 and 1.1.5.2.1, while these ESP proteins serve as PAMPs, depending on the genetic compatibility between parasite and host, they may also act in favour of the

parasite by interfering (diverting, overwhelming or neutralizing) the immune response induced by the PRRs.

The ciliated plates shed by the transforming miracidia are rapidly phagocytosed by hemocytes (Bayne, 2009). The parasite itself, being too large to be phagocytosed, is instead encapsulated. This is the point at which we notice a difference between strains of *B.glabrata*. While some *B.glabrata* strains are susceptible to *S.mansoni*, allowing parasite development and reproduction, others are resistant and able to suppress the infection (Basch, 1976; Loker and Bayne, 1986; Humphries and Yoshino, 2006). Hemocytes from either resistant or susceptible snails will encapsulate sporocysts however, sporocysts within capsules formed by susceptible hemocytes remain viable while those encapsulated by resistant hemocytes are usually, but not always, killed (Borges et al., 1998; Goodall et al., 2004). As a result, we know that parasite death is not due simply to suffocation or starvation (Bayne et al., 2001). Killing of the parasite is widely believed to be due to the release of a variety of reactive oxygen species. Superoxide dismutase gene expression and enzyme activity have been shown to be higher in resistant strains and consequently hemocytes from resistant snails produce higher levels of H_2O_2 than do susceptible snails, H₂O₂ is known to be particularly toxic to *S. mansoni* (Bender *et al.*, 2005; Loker, 2010).

Other theories exist as to where exactly the difference between a successful and unsuccessful infection lies. It has been suggested that the parasite itself is actually the determining party i.e. that the success or failure of an *S. mansoni* infection does not depend on the snail susceptibility or resistance type, but depends on the genetically 'matched' or 'mismatched' status of the host and parasite (Théron and Coustau, 2005; Bayne, 2009). The number of infecting miracidia is also thought to play an important role in the success of an infection. During experimental infections, when snails from both strains were infected with 10 miracidia the rates of successful infection for the resistant and susceptible strains were 30% and 62% respectively, but when the number of miracidia was increased to 30 both strains showed infection rates of approximately 65% (Théron and Coustau, 2005). It would appear that infection outcome is determined by a combination of host and parasite phenotype.

Both susceptible and resistant snail strains show normal and comparable reactions to other pathogens, however, one of the differences between *S. mansoni* and other intruders is its ability to actively deceive the immune system of compatible hosts. Both miracidia and sporocyst stages have been shown to present 'snail-like' antigens in a process known as 'molecular mimicry' by which the parasite is recognised as 'self' and not attacked (Yoshino and Coustau, 2011). Larval ESPs are also thought to be able to manipulate the hosts response by interfering with hemocyte functions such as motility and cell spreading (Noda and Loker, 1989; Lodes and Yoshino, 1990), phagocytosis (Noda and Loker, 1989; Connors and Yoshino, 1990; Nunez *et al.*, 1997), ROS production (Connors and Yoshino, 1990) and encapsulation responses (Loker *et al.*, 1992; Humphries and Yoshino, 2003).

While the exact conditions determining the success or failure of an infection remain to be established, it is clear that *S.mansoni* possesses a mechanism that, given a compatible snail, can manipulate the host genome and subsequently influence some of the processes which take place, toward a more hospitable environment (Knight *et al.*, 2014).

While many studies have investigated the *B. glabrata* interaction with *S.mansoni* from a genetic perspective, the majority have tended to focus on genes known to be related to infection. Recently, Coustau *et al.*, (2015) applied a non-targeted approach to survey a broader range of genes for potential immune function. This resulted in the discovery of 31 novel immune-associated transcripts which correspond to various functional groups (Coustau *et al.*, 2015). This kind of work continues to increase the number of targets for investigation toward a better understanding of the molecular mechanisms which underlie the relationship and its success or failure.

Most studies on host-parasite interactions take place under artificial lab conditions, however this is a situation far removed from natural ecological systems where a host of external factors can influence the relationship (Thieltges *et al.*, 2008). It is therefore easy to infer that infection levels could go up or down following a change in these conditions (Thieltges *et al.*, 2008).

An interesting example of the stark nature with which external factors can influence the parasite-host relationship is given by experiments on the effect of heat-shock on *B.glabrata* (Ittiprasert and Knight, 2012; Knight *et al.*, 2015; Coustau *et al.*, 2016). Researchers found that a significant difference existed between susceptible and resistant snails regarding their level of HSP expression following parasite exposure and/or heat-shock, with the former displaying considerably elevated levels of expression when compared to the latter (Ittiprasert and Knight, 2012). Even more significant was the discovery that exposure of juvenile resistant-type snails to a mild heat shock (32°C for 4 hours) resulted in a loss of resistance to *S.mansoni* infection, this alteration in resistance was also found to remain present in the progeny of generations which had previously been raised at the elevated temperature, even when these offspring snails were themselves always maintained at a normal temperature (Ittiprasert and Knight, 2012).

These results are particularly interesting given that, despite their name, many environmental stressors, aside from just heat, are capable of significantly influencing the expression of HSPs, and we are therefore led to the possible conclusion that the *B.glabrata-S.mansoni* relationship is potentially more malleable under field conditions than may have previously been thought (Mahmood *et al.*, 2014). Something which is rarely considered is the impact that change in natural conditions/habitats might have on this parasite-host relationship. Furthermore, what impact might such alterations at this stage have on human infection? And what are the types of changes most likely to occur in today's world?

1.3. Does pollution affect the *B.glabrata* - *S.mansoni* relationship?

The immune systems of aquatic invertebrates and in particular molluscs, face some unique challenges. Due to the lack of an exoskeleton, as is present in arthropods, molluscs are in direct contact with the ambient environment (water). Therefore, pathogens, but also anything else in the environment (e.g. chemicals), can be taken up not only from the diet but also from the water *via* the integument and respiratory organs (Oehlmann and Schulte-Oehlmann, 2002). This is further compounded by the slow or sessile habits of molluscs and allows more time for exposure to take place.

Because Schistosome-transmitting snails occur in very particular ecological circumstances that are subject to rapid change in an increasingly human-dominated world, one of the greatest challenges is therefore to try to understand how snails will be affected by anthropogenic changes to the environment such as climate change, increased pollution of aquatic habitats, the introduction of exotic and invasive species, construction of dams and irrigation systems and increases in human population density (Loker, 2005; Monde *et al.*, 2015).

Many of the aquatic habitats in which Schistosome-transmitting snails occur have become incredibly polluted and anecdotal reports suggest that it is often necessary to remove inorganic refuse to get to the water to find snails, which are nonetheless there and even thriving (Loker, 2005). Indeed, *Biomphalaria* snails are able to tolerate poor water quality, in part because they breathe air, and will happily use plastic refuse as shelter and as a place to lay eggs. As early as 1993 pollution had been suggested as a possible cause for a change in distribution of schistosomiasis along the Nile (Abdel Wahab *et al.*, 1993). Along the course of the river there has been a substantial decrease in the prevalence of *S.haematobium* and a subsequent rise in that of *S.mansoni* and this has coincided with an increase in pollution, particularly in the canals of the delta (Loker 2005; Abou-El-Naga, 2013).

In combination with the introduction of exotic strains, as has already happened in Eqypt (Kristensen *et al.*, 1999), which are more susceptible to infection and may be more tolerant to pollution, there is the potential for increased transmission. The uncertainties regarding where and when these new situations will arise, with respect to snails, is further compounded by the impact of global climate change (Martens *et al.*, 1997; Sutherst, 2004) and the construction of massive water development projects, such as dams, that increase vector-snail habitats across huge areas (Loker, 2005). Indeed, the Aswan Dam in Egypt created excellent habitats for the local vector snails and accordingly human infection rates rose significantly (Heyneman, 1979). Construction of other large impoundments throughout Africa (e.g. Paperna in 1969) has substantially increased Schistosome transmission, resulting in increased human disease (Lafferty and Kuris, 2005; Gryseels *et al.*, 1994).

The possibilities for pollution to influence parasite-host relationships are numerous and complex, for example; chemicals may not necessarily be immunosuppressant in nature and/or may be equally, or more, toxic to the parasites thus reducing rates of exposure for some hosts. Similarly, densities of both hosts and parasites could be affected by contaminants if the contaminants affect the densities of their predators or competitors. Additionally, if contaminants reduce food resources, hosts might have less energy to invest in immunity. Alternatively, if contaminants reduce the densities of species that prey on hosts, hosts might forage more freely thus having greater energy to invest in immunity. There are also several ways that contaminants can alter the parasite diluting effect of biodiversity. For instance, if a contaminant reduces densities of incompetent hosts, per capita parasite attack rates may be increased for the remaining hosts. This change in density might then increase parasite prevalence and thus the need to invest in immunity. A final scenario could be based on the fact that some chemicals such as xenoestrogens may cause snails to exhibit increased oviposition, thus increasing the number of hosts available for infection. (Martin *et al.*, 2010; Iqbal and Sinha, 2011).

In contrast to marine bivalves, the effects of environmental pollutants on immunological defence mechanisms have been poorly investigated in aquatic gastropod molluscs, something that is quite surprising given their significance as vectors (Russo and Lagadic, 2004).

The studies which have investigated the effects of toxic pollutants on *S.mansoni* have almost exclusivley focused on the free-living stages of the parasite, typically the cercariae, and amongst the vast array of potential pollutants heavy metals seem to be disproportionately studied (Morley *et al.*, 2001; Soliman, 2009). Consequently, little is known about the effects of toxic pollutants on the intra-molluscan stages of the parasite up to and including cercarial maturation and emergence (Morley *et al.*, 2003). On-top of this, relatively little has been recorded regarding the levels and composition of pollutants within the water of transmission habitats, but what we do know leads us to believe that such habitats are likely subject to considerable contamination.

1.3.1. Transmission country pollution

Up to 90% of wastewater in developing countries flows untreated into rivers, lakes and coastal zones (Corcoran *et al.*, 2010; World Water Assessment Programme, 2012).

In schistosomiasis endemic countries, industrial waste water and sewage containing various heavy metals, toxins, and endocrine disrupting compounds, are routinely dumped untreated directly into rivers (Iqbal and Sinha, 2011).

In Latin America, home to *B.glabrata* and *S.mansoni*, only about 15 percent of collected wastewater passes through treatment plants (with varying levels of actual treatment). In Venezuela, for example, 97 percent of the country's sewage is discharged raw into the environment (Corcoran *et al.*, 2010).

In Brazil, the main transmission country for *S.mansoni* in South America, 71.5% of municipalities did not treat their sewage in 2008 (IBGE 2008). Incidentally, the regions with the lowest percentage of sewage capture and treatment (the northern and north-eastern) also appear to be among the most heavily infected with *S.mansoni* (Colley *et al.*, 2014). While this does not necessarily imply a connection between sanitation and infection, and is likely due in part to the fact that much of the rest of the country is covered by dense rainforest, it does seem to suggest that *B.glabrata/S.mansoni* have a considerable risk of being exposed to aquatic pollution in these areas.

The composition of wastewater in developing countries is changing due in part to the rapidly increasing production and consumption of pharmaceutical and cosmetic products (Arnold *et al.*, 2013). Figure 1.11 shows that there is typically a higher degree of variation in contaminants in the more developed transmission countries (e.g. Brazil, China and Indonesia) and also of hormones, possibly indicating higher levels of pharmaceutical use. For example, in Brazil studies on freshwater supplying Sao Luis have found considerable levels of the industrial chemical BPA, between 1.11 and 3.61 µg per Litre (Melo and Brito, 2013).









Of course, the problem of pollution in the environment is a much broader issue than in relation to *B.glabrata/S.mansoni* alone. The types and routes of pollutants into global ecosystems are almost innumerable and thus tend to be tackled individually or in classes. Due to the impossible task of considering all forms of environmental pollution and their subsequent effects, as well as the considerable importance posed by Schistosomiais, it seems that the relative potential for aquatic pollutants to alter transmission of this disease is a worthy area, especially of study given the extremely small amount of existing information.

While it is not feasible to tackle a much broader problem relating to environmental pollution, it is still important to understand the general area within which we are working and this is an area of study known as ecotoxicology. Furthermore, by broadening our understanding of the field, as we have already done for Schistosomiasis, its causative organisms and their biology, we can see exactly how and where the concept of *B.glabrata/S.mansoni* habitat pollution affecting the potential for transmission fits with the wider existing knowledge. This, combined with our understanding of Schistosomiasis, will help lead us to the ultimate aim which is the formulation and understanding of a hypothesis based on these ideas.

1.3.1.2. Ecotoxicology; pollutants in the environment

A range of anthropogenic activities including industrial emissions, sewage disposal, biocide application and industrial accidents are introducing large quantities of 'foreign' chemicals into the environment. A considerable body of evidence has accrued demonstrating that these so called 'xenobiotics' can severely impact ecosystems even at low doses and this can occur in the short, medium and long term. The general consensus is that many of these chemicals may directly, or indirectly, cause detrimental effects to the main physiological systems of many different species (Boudou and Ribeyre, 1997; Fournier *et al.*, 2000). Some of the best known examples include the biomagnification of pharmaceutical products and pesticides such as *p*,*p*-DDE and diclofenac, which have been shown to cause egg-shell thinning in gulls and dramatic declines in vulture population respectively (Connon *et al.*, 2012).

Although naturally occurring chemicals like phytoestrogens can also be considered xenobiotics if introduced to foreign ecosystems, researchers tend to draw a distinction between these chemicals and those which are synthetic. With most inorganic chemicals it is desirable that they do not exist in the environment at all, however typically we must concede that some of these chemicals will inevitably remain and thus the task is to monitor them and ensure that they do not reach a harmful level. We are then left with the obvious question of what warrants 'harmful'? And for which species? This is something which continues to be an important area of research (Walker, 2012). Of central importance is the relationship between the quantity of chemical to which an organism is exposed and the nature and degree of subsequent harm, for example, determining selectivity ratios between beneficial organisms and non-beneficial organisms when applying pesticides (Walker, 2012).

The discipline of 'ecotoxicology', a hybrid of approaches from ecology and toxicology, was born as a result of these growing concerns and a need to study the effects (Relyea and Hoverman, 2006). Since contaminants can affect different levels of biological organization, ecotoxicological studies may focus on toxic effects at a smaller scale than suggested by the 'ecology' aspect, such as individual animals, physiological mechanisms within cells and even DNA responses (Preston, 2002).

Of all ecosystems, it is those that are primarily aquatic that are subject to the most diverse range of chemical contaminants since the routes by which foreign chemicals can enter them are so numerous. Indeed, Pritchard *et al.*, (1993) refer to the waters of our planet as the ultimate sink for chemical pollutants. Chemicals can enter aquatic ecosystems directly from municipal and industrial wastewater effluents and indirectly from airborne deposition, as well as runoff from urban and agricultural areas (Connon *et al.*, 2012). Furthermore, contaminants in water are easily dispersed *via* the movement of the water and by food-chain transfer (Gagnaire *et al.*, 2006). Consequently, there is an increasing interest in toxicology related to effects on the aquatic environment, not least because it constitutes 70% of the surface of the globe, is necessary for all life and is a valuable source of commerce (e.g. fishing, petrochemicals, minerals, energy), (Mothersill and Austin, 2003).

The effects of pollutant chemicals in the aquatic environment at large quantities (e.g. oil spills) are readily observable and draw much attention from the public. However, subtle or delayed effects of considerably smaller quantities of compounds are more difficult to determine but may potentially be equally damaging over time (Mothersill and Austin, 2003). With the advance of analytical techniques like gas chromatography, thin-layer chromatography and atomic absorption allowing us to study in more detail, it has become clear that acute toxicity is not the only concern and that low-level exposure can lead to accumulation of certain chemicals resulting in wide ranging effects (Pritchard, 1993; Walker, 2012).

Within the field of ecotoxicology the studying of aquatic xenobiotics, their differing concentrations, dispersion modelling, combinations and the relative sensitivity of a species, communities or ecosystems, and the intensity, timing and mechanisms of exposure are all part of the aims of aquatic toxicology (Connon *et al.*, 2012).

1.3.1.2.1. Aquatic ecotoxicology

Depending on the objectives/scope of an investigation, studies can be performed under standardized conditions in laboratories using cell systems (*in vitro*), whole organisms (*in vivo*), small-scale artificial communities (mesocosms) or in field studies, where resident organisms are sampled and assessed.

From the view of the aquatic toxicologist, the problem of predicting adverse effects is made more difficult by the fact that chemical contaminants in the environment seldom occur in isolation, but are present as a complex mixture. Consequently, cause and effect relationships are often difficult to establish (Lowe, 1995). *In vitro* tests help with such dilemmas as they are capable of high throughput applications, allowing the fast screening of many different chemicals, individually and as mixtures, something that would be impossible on a much larger scale. Chemicals of interest can then be selected and used for *in vivo* testing allowing the *in vitro* tests to be linked with effects at the population level (Connon *et al.*, 2012).

In vivo bioassays are tests in which whole living organisms are exposed to samples (water, sediment) spiked with a chemical, or extract, of interest. Standardized bioassays rely on measuring responses in model species (e.g. Zebra fish) which may

not be representative of all species, but, allow for the quantification of chemicalcaused toxic effects that are separated from environmental confounders. Such bioassays routinely form the basis of legal limits when testing products or water discharge quality (Connon *et al.*, 2012). The response which is being measured is often referred to as a 'biomarker' which is defined as a biological response that can be measured at the level of the whole organism, in tissue samples, body fluids and even at the genetic level, to signal exposure to, or adverse effects of, anthropogenic chemicals (Galloway and Depledge, 2001; Walker, 2012).

The development of toxicogenomics and the associated ability to perform highthroughput screening has significantly enhanced the ability to identify important molecular events associated with toxicity (Beyer *et al.*, 2014). Toxicogenomics is the application of 'omics' approaches toward identifying the effect of toxic chemicals at the genetic level, this includes the measurement of genomic changes (i.e. epigenetics), the transcription of genetic information to mRNA (transcriptomics), the translation of mRNA to protein synthesis (proteomics) and metabolic activities and their related products (metabolomics), (Beyer *et al.*, 2014).

Studies in aquatic toxicology are often based on freshwater ecosystems. As they are typically easier to study, being more constrained geographically, with clearly identifiable upstream and downstream areas and there are often clear point sources of contamination. In situations where point sources are not obvious, it is generally possible to identify which human activities are likely to be affecting a given body of water (Blanar *et al.*, 2009).

In urban areas sewage effluents are the main source of anthropogenic chemicals discharged into the freshwater environment (Magdeburg *et al.*, 2012). Domestic wastes are discharged mainly into sewage systems and industrial wastes are discharged either into the sewage system or directly into surface waters. The 'quality' (defined as the nature and concentration of chemicals present) of the sewage that is discharged into surface waters depends on the quality of the raw sewage received by the sewage works and also the level of treatment that the sewage is subjected to within the works (Walker, 2012). Even with the best practices in sewage treatment such waste waters commonly contain complex mixtures of thousands of synthetic chemicals and their biotransformation products, including

flame retardants (e.g. PBDEs), plasticizers (e.g. BPA, phthalates) and pharmaceuticals (e.g. EE2, carbamazepine) (Magdeburg *et al.*, 2012). As well as chemicals contained within sewage effluents, other chemicals such as pesticides have the potential to enter aquatic habitats from direct application, terrestrial runoff or wind-borne drift (Relyea and Hoverman, 2006).

The potential of some of the many substances found in sewage and in the receiving environment to disrupt physiological processes in wildlife, even at low (ng/L) levels, has raised concerns about the effects of such contamination on animal and human health (Hoeger *et al.*, 2004). One of the best studied examples of this is that of endocrine disrupting chemicals (EDCs).

For many years, toxicologists had relied on the presumption that higher doses of a chemical cause greater harm than low doses. While true of many chemicals, numerous studies have shown that EDCs often contradict this rule and display non-monotonic dose responses, whereby effects are seen at very low and very high doses, but less so in the middle of the range (Schug *et al.*, 2011). Welshons *et al.*, (2003) suggest a possible explanation in that hormones like 17ß-estradiol work at extremely low concentration levels, far beneath the levels at which all hormone receptors would be bound. Once all receptors are bound, further increases in the natural hormone can't increase the response of the system, at least *via* the interaction of the hormone and its receptor. The responses seen at high levels may then be due to more acute toxicity (Welshons *et al.*, 2003).

Endocrine disrupting chemicals (EDCs) include both natural and synthetic steroid estrogens, as well as xenoestrogens (those which happen to mimic the structure of endogenous estrogen), such as alkylphenols and alkylphenol ethoxylates, PCBs, dioxins and various pesticides. These chemicals act by selectively binding to hormone receptors to generate (agonists) or block (antagonists) hormone-mediated responses, as well as interfering with hormone synthesis, metabolism and excretion (Jobling and Tyler, 2003). There is now considerable evidence from both laboratory and field studies to indicate that EDC exposure is at least partly responsible for disruption in the reproduction and development of certain species (Canesi *et al.*, 2005).

In wildlife species, unlike humans (where findings typically provoke controversy), it is clear that there exist examples of male and female reproductive digenesis and thyroid hormone disruption in certain groups, most notably fish. Probably the most well documented examples of endocrine disruption in fish come from studies of Wild Roach (*Rutilus rutilus*) and Gudgeon (*Gobio gobio*), living in British rivers, where the presence of vitellogenin (VTG), an oestrogen–dependent, and normally female-specific protein, in the blood of male fish as well as intersexuality (the presence of ovotestis) are widespread (Jobling and Tyler, 2003). In most cases, observations have been associated with exposure to effluent from sewage treatment works (STWs), where steroidal oestrogens play a major role in causing ED (Desbrow *et al.*, 1998).

A considerable body of work also points to very clear evidence of feminisation of secondary sexual characteristics, altered sex hormone concentrations and intersex in amphibians (Desbrow *et al.*, 1998; Hayes *et al.*, 2002; Bögi *et al.*, 2003; Mosconi *et al.*, 2005).

In contrast, little is known about the fundamental endocrinology of many invertebrate species and so there is currently limited capacity to study endocrine disruption or its potential in these groups (EEA, 2012). It is believed that endocrine-signalling mechanisms exist in invertebrates as oestrogen receptor orthologous and have been reported in certain molluscs, although their exact function remains to be determined (Canesi *et al.*, 2007b; Keay *et al.*, 2009; Baker *et al.*, 2011; Benstead *et al.*, 2011; Gust *et al.*, 2013b).

It is interesting to note that many EDCs are also implicated in disruption of normal immune functioning in various species. The interactions between the immune and endocrine systems means that endocrine disruption and immunotoxicity can, and do, occur simultaneously (Gagné *et al.*, 2008; Jobling and Tyler, 2003).

Endocrine disrupting chemicals are by no means the only class which can have significant effects on the immune systems of numerous aquatic animals across a range of species, classes and phyla. While there is significant interaction between the endocrine and immune systems and alterations in the immune system can be a consequence of endocrine disruption, EDCs can be directly toxic to the immune system as can a whole host of different chemicals from several classes, not least pesticides, which, in the case of invertebrates, are often designed for this very purpose.

1.3.1.2.2. Immunotoxicology

Many of the chemicals introduced into the environment as a result of industrial or agricultural activity have been implicated in ecotoxicological effects mediated via immunotoxic mechanisms and there is a growing body of evidence to suggest that such contaminants can adversely affect immune function in both humans and wildlife (Galloway and Depledge, 2001).

Immunotoxicity refers to the fact that the immune function of many organisms can, like that of other physiological/homeostatic systems, be altered by exposure to sublethal concentrations of environmental contaminants, potentially leading to enhanced susceptibility to, and progression of, infectious diseases and cancerous disorders (Blaise *et al.*, 2002). The situation is further complicated as in reality immunosuppression may not be the only response xenobiotics can induce, immune stimulation, increase in disease resistance, decrease in disease virulence and auto-immunity are also potential outcomes in exposed organisms (Gagnaire *et al.*, 2007).

As in all immunotoxicological studies, alterations in the response of selected immune parameters, which will be discussed later, cannot be rated as indicative of overall immune competence without specific evidence of increased probability of infection (Hoeger *et al.*, 2004), (Table 1.3).

Over the past decades, the emergence of infectious diseases related to anthropogenic chemical contamination has been reported in many aquatic species and disease outbreaks are, on the whole, also believed to have increased (Harvell *et al.*, 1999). Some examples of such findings across various classes can be seen in Table 1.3.

Table 1.3. An example of selected studies which focused on the effects of various xenobiotics on the outcome of infectious diseases in different aquatic species.

Species	Pollutant	Outcome	Reference
Phocoena phocoena	РСВ	Increase in fatal	Gagnaire et al.,
(harbour porpoise)		infectious diseases	(2007)
Rana sylvatica	Pesticides	Increase in trematode	Kiesecker,
(Wood frog, tadpoles)		infections and associated	(2002)
		morphological	
		deformities of limbs.	
Various oysters species	Selenium	Decrease in prevalence of	Wilson <i>et al.</i> ,
along the Gulf of Mexico		pathogen P.marinus	(1992)
Mytilus trossulus	Untreated sewage	Increase in prevalence of	Moles and Hale,
(Mussel)		trematodes	(2003)
Clarias gariepinus	Untreated sewage	Decreased nematode	Madanire-Moyo
(African Catfish		prevalence	and Barson,
			(2010)

The precise mechanisms through which different chemicals can cause alterations in immune function vary according to the type of chemical, the affected species and often also the nature of the pathogens which naturally infect it.

For example, Khan (1990) showed that oil pollution led to an overall increase in the intensity of gill-ciliate infections in fish. The proposed mechanism by which oil increased susceptibility was through toxicity to the fish's ability to produce mucus, a first line in protection against gill parasites (Khan 1990; Lafferty, 1999).

Probably the best documented mechanism of pollutant effects on the immune system is direct toxicity to its components. Isolating immune cells, exposing them to particular contaminants, and quantifying survival and function has been an effective way to demonstrate direct toxicity of contaminants (Martin *et al.*, 2010). Apart from simply being a substitute for vertebrates, aquatic invertebrates are an integral part of all aquatic biomes and biotypes and the effects of toxicants upon them could alter the structure and functioning of aquatic ecosystems (Rickwood and Galloway, 2004). For example, several studies have investigated risks to birds feeding on invertebrates exposed to sewage effluent from trickling filters. These have indicated that invertebrates living on, and emerging from, such locations have the potential to bioaccumulate/bioconcentrate certain pharmaceutical EDCs. This is a potential problem further up the food chain since studies on adult male starlings (*Sturnus vulgaris*) experimentally exposed to environmentally relevant levels of various EDCs displayed altered immune function and changed development that affected behaviours such as singing; reduced growth and depressed immunocompetence were also observed in the nestlings (Shore *et al.*, 2014).

1.3.1.2.2.1. Immunotoxicology in Invertebrates

Invertebrate models are necessary in many areas of biomedical research, but it seems that they often go unheeded in ecotoxicology, despite constituting 95% of animal species and being key components of all ecosystems (Berger, 2010; Pinder *et al.*, 1999; Galloway and Depledge, 2001). When invertebrates like *Daphnia pulex* are used in research there is a tendency to extrapolate responses to other species and phyla. This approach fails to take account of the diversity of physiological functions that render different phyla vulnerable to different types of toxicants at different stages in their lifecycles. Clearly, a stronger scientific basis for ecotoxicology depends upon understanding the range of susceptibility to pollutants that occurs among invertebrate species (Galloway and Depledge, 2001).

In recent years more studies have begun to focus on other invertebrate phyla, for use in immonotoxicological studies, although valid and interesting results have arisen the scope remains relatively restricted, particularly to bivalve molluscs when considering aquatic studies (Oehlmann and Schulte-Oehlmann, 2002). Canesi *et al.*, (2004) showed that the human sex hormone estradiol (E2), which is present in waters receiving domestic effluent, induced rapid changes in *Mytilus galloprovincialis* cell shape, lysosomal membrane destabilization and release of hydrolytic enzymes *in vitro*. Low-level exposure to PCP (a pesticide residue and common contaminant of aquatic environments) altered transcription of genes involved in cellular metabolic activities including the up-regulation of hormonal genes in bloodworms (*Chironomus riparius* larvae) (Morales *et al.*, 2014). In contrast to the complexity of the vertebrate immune system, the comparatively simpler structure of the invertebrate immune system makes it a potentially more sensitive, but also more accessible, means of monitoring the effects of environmental contaminants and the complex interactions which ultimately underpin host resistance and disease transmission (Galloway and Depledge, 2001). In order to understand the effects that any chemical pollutants might have on immune function and disease resistance we must first understand and identify the components of the invertebrate immune system that may serve as biomarkers.

1.3.1.2.2.2. Immunotoxicology in molluscs

Under normal conditions the immune system of molluscs maintains an efficient protection against various pathogens, as demonstrated by the great size and diversity of the phylum. However, its efficiency may be weakened by external factors, including the rapid rise of anthropogenic chemical contaminants in water, this is something which normal evolutionary adaptation has not had sufficient time to address (Auffret *et al.*, 2002).

Compared with vertebrates and some other invertebrate groups like arthropods, molluscs exhibit only a limited ability to excrete pollutants directly via their kidneys or other excretory organs, to metabolise organic chemicals and to physiologically inactivate them. As a consequence of this, and due to their relatively immobile life strategies and direct exposure to water, molluscs often attain higher bioconcentration factors for many toxicants than do other groups (Oehlmann and Schulte-Oehlmann, 2002). For this reason, it has been suggested that environmental pollutants may exhibit negative impacts on mollusc immune systems at lower concentrations than may be the case for other invertebrates or vertebrates. Indeed, a substantial body of data has emerged to support this view (Oehlmann and Schulte-Oehlmann, 2002).

For these reasons certain molluscs have been used as indicator species. These species, which are typically amongst the first to experience detectable signs of environmental changes, like pollution, act as an early warning for the rest of the ecosystem.

There are a number of other reasons that molluscs have been used in immunotoxicological studies. Unlike vertebrates, molluscs are a non-controversial organism for use in research and compared to other invertebrates they tend to be relatively large and easy to handle and culture (Oehlmann and Schulte-oehlmann, 2002). Another reason for the interest in using molluscs in ecotoxicology research is that they represent a very commercially valuable group. Edible species of mollusc (e.g. mussels, scallops and oysters) are particularly well studied due to their economic importance around the world and because of their potential susceptibility to pollutants and/or disease (Gagnaire *et al.*, 2003).

1.3.1.2.2.3. Immunotoxicology in commercial mollusc species

Bivalves constantly filter large volumes of water and thus are at an increased risk of bioaccumulating environmental contaminants within their tissues (Gagnaire *et al.*, 2003). Table 1.4 summarizes some of the many studies which have investigated the relationship between innate immunity in bivalves and certain environmental pollutants. Research on commercially valuable species of gastropod mollusc has reported xenobiotic-induced negative impacts on their immune systems resulting in increased disease susceptibility (Gopalakrishnan *et al.*, 2011).

Global demand for seafood, including molluscs, continues to grow (FAO, 2009). However, disease continues to be a major financial constraint to growth of mollusc culture (Jones, 2011). The productivity of oyster aquaculture in the United States is often seriously diminished by the pathogens *Perkinsus marinus* and *Haplosporidium nelsoni* (Goedken and De Guise, 2004).

The European flat oyster, *Ostrea edulis*, has been severely attacked for two decades by the intra-hemocytic parasite, *Bonamia ostreae* (Auffret *et al.*, 2002).

Many of the major diseases of commercial mollusc species are parasites and many of their habitats are often highly polluted. Therefore, investigation into the ways that contamination can impact the mollusc immune response against parasites is needed. **Table 1.4.** Compilation of various studies on the immunotoxic effects of different pollutants oncommercial mollusc species. The classes of xenobiotics included in these studies include metals,pharmaceuticals, industrial bi-products and natural hormones. Table adapted from Girón-pérez, (2010).

Species	Xenobiotic	Effect on immune response	Reference
Ostrea edullis	Cadmium	Hemocyte count↑, cell membrane potential↓	Auffret et al., (2002)
Ostrea edullis	Cadmium/copper	Phagocytic activity↓	Auffret et al., (2002)
Crassostrea virginica	Cadmium	Methalothionein [↑] , ROS [↑]	Butler <i>et al.</i> , (2000)
Mytilus galloprovincialis	Cadmium and copper	Hemocyte viability↓, phagocytosis↓	Gomez-Mandikute et al., (2003)
Elliptio complanata	Copper	Hemocyte count↓, superoxide anion↓	Gagne <i>et al.</i> , (2008)
Mytilus edulis	Copper	Phagocytosis↑	Parry et al., (2004)
Mytilus galloprovincialis	Nonylphenol, monoethoxilate, carboxylate, 17α- ethynylestradiol	Lysosomal enzyme release↑, Phagocytosis↑↓	Gagne <i>et al.</i> , (2008)
Corbicula fluminea	17β-estradiol	Phagocytosis↓	Canesi <i>et al.</i> , (2007)
Elliptio complanata	Benzafibrinate, gembibrizol, trimetophin	Phagocytosis↓	Gagne <i>et al.</i> , (2006)
Elliptio complanata	Novobiocin, morphin	Phagocytosis↑	Gagne <i>et al.</i> , (2006)
Elliptio complanata	Zulfamethazole, novobiocin, gemfibricil, benzafibrate, carbamazepine	Esterase activity↓	Gagne <i>et al.</i> , (2006)
Elliptio complanata	Oxytetracycline, novobiocine, naproxen	Cell adherence↓	Gagne <i>et al.</i> , (2006)
Elliptio complanata	Gemfibrozil, bezafibrate	Cell adherence↑	Gagne <i>et al.</i> , (2006)
Elliptio complanata	Novobiocine, sulfapyridine	Lipoperoxidation↑	Gagne <i>et al.</i> , (2006)
Elliptio complanata	Coprostanol, naproxen	Lipoperoxidation↓	Gagne <i>et al.</i> , (2006)
Crassostrea gigas	Benzo[a]pyrene, phenanthrene	Granulocyte %↑, Cell viability↑, Esterase, Lysosome-positive cells↓	Gagnaire <i>et al.</i> , (2006)
Mytilus galloprovincialis	Benzo[a]pyrene	Hemocyte viability↓	Gomez-Mandikute et al., (2003)
Chamelea gallina	Benzo[a]pyrene	Lysozyme activity↓, Phagocytosis↓, cell adherence↓	Matozzo <i>et al.</i> , (2009)
Cerastodema edule	Phenanthrene	Hemocyte viability↓, phagocytic cells↓, superoxide generation↓	Wootton <i>et al.</i> , (2003)
Pecten maximus	Phenanthrene	Hemocyte count↑, cell membrane stability↓, phagocytosis↓	Hannam <i>et al.</i> , (2010)
Crassostrea gigas	PCB 77	Lysosome-positive cells↓	Gagnaire <i>et al.</i> , (2006)
Crassostrea gigas	2,4D	Cell viability↓	Gagnaire <i>et al.</i> , (2006)
Crassostrea gigas	Paroxon	% Esterase and lysosome-positive cells↓	Gagnaire <i>et al.</i> , (2006)
Crassostrea gigas	Chlorothalonil	ROS-positive cells↑, cell viability↑, granulocyte %↑	Gagnaire <i>et al.</i> , (2007)
Crassostrea gigas	Atrazine, glyphosate, alachlor, methalaclor, fosethyl-aluminium, terbuthilazine, diuron, carbaryl	Phagocytosis↓, cell viability↓, ROS↑, genes related to immune- response↓, susceptability to bacterial challenge↑	Gomez-Mandikute et al., (2003)

1.3.1.2.2.4. Parasitism and immunotoxicology in molluscs

The overall impacts that anthropogenic pollution has on the organisms that live in the affected areas are as yet poorly understood, but disease emergence is known to be more common in urban areas than all other habitat types. Much of the association between urban areas and increased disease emergence is related to the higher availability of vector breeding sites, climate moderation, or high densities of some hosts, but some suggest that it may also be attributable to variation in host immune functions (Martin *et al.*, 2010).

The parasitic lifestyle is widespread in the animal and plant kingdoms. It is widely accepted that more than a half of all existing animal species are temporarily or permanently parasitic and parasitic organisms can be found in nearly every environment, ranging from the poles to the tropics. (Pietrock and Marcogliese, 2003).

Current research on the effect of pollutants on parasite-host interactions has focused on amphibians due to the global amphibian decline. The observation that pesticides can have both positive and negative effects on this relationship supports similar findings in other phyla (Relyea and Hoverman, 2006).

The effects of pollution on parasitism in molluscs are variable and may be positive or negative. An increase in parasitism may be considered likely if the pollutant inhibits the immune system of the host rather than the parasite. For example, Auffret and Oubella, (1997) exposed *C. gigas* oysters to xenobiotics which had been identified in a polluted estuary. In response to some chemicals they observed changes in hemocyte aggregation behaviour and speculated that the aggregation activity of these cells may be altered by stress induced from the environmental contamination. Nodule formation has also been shown to be affected in molluscs as a consequence of pollutant exposure (De Vico and Carella, 2012). Since the aggregation and nodule formation behaviours are important in the mollusc response to parasites this could implicate pollution can also negatively affect parasitism if parasites are more susceptible to the particular pollutant than their hosts (Sures, 2006).
1.3.1.2.2.5. Molluscs and parasites as indicators of ecosystem health and beyond

Virtually all free-living organisms are hosts to a variety of parasites. A healthy ecosystem therefore cannot be considered disease free; the presence/absence of parasites reveals much about the ecology, such as interactions in the food web, biodiversity and environmental stresses (Madanire-Moyo and Barson, 2010). For these reasons, several authors have advocated the inclusion of parasites in biological monitoring studies since their presence or absence can be used to make conclusions about the impact of certain pollutants on a habitat (Table 1.5), (Blanar *et al.*, 2009).

Molluscs have been successfully used to obtain information on the quality of terrestrial, marine and freshwater ecosystems and to quantify the exposure to, and effects of, contaminants in their environment. This is particularly true for the two most diverse classes of molluscs, gastropods and bivalves (Oehlmann and Schulte-Oehlmann, 2002). Indeed, it is suggested that due to the important roles molluscs play in ecosystem function a pollutant that affects a mollusc population will also likely exhibit a negative impact for the entire ecosystem (Markert *et al.*, 2003; Martin *et al.*, 2010). By extension, since parasites play an important role in mollusc populations one would logically infer that disruption of this relationship might have broad ecological repercussions.

Historically, parasitism has been primarily studied in molluscs of commercial interest, such as marine bivalves and there are relatively few investigations examining the interaction between ecotoxicology and parasitology, particularly in freshwater ecosystems (Minguez *et al.*, 2009). This is surprising considering the fact that the relationship between aquatic molluscs and their parasites is of significant importance to man and not only for commercial purposes. Molluscs act as vectors for numerous medically important parasites and diseases. In fact, some 350 snail species are estimated to be of possible medical or veterinary significance (Oehlmann and Schulte-Oehlmann, 2002; WHO, 1995).

Net effect on abundance of parasite species					
	Positive	Neutral	Negative	P *	
Impact type					
Heavy metals	2	0	13	< 0.05	
Disturbance	3	0	15	< 0.05	
Acid precipitation	1	2	3	NS	
Sewage-sludge	3	7	6	NS	
Industrial effluent	15	6	22	NS	
Crude oil	6	1	5	NS	
Pulp-mill effluent	14	3	9	NS	
Thermal effluent	9	1	5	NS	
Eutrophication	11	0	1	< 0.05	
Parasite group					
Digenea	13	1	31	< 0.05	
Acanthocephala	5	2	11	NS	
Cestoda	6	4	11	NS	
Monogenea	12	5	9	NS	
Nematoda	7	2	4	NS	
Ciliophora	11	0	0	< 0.05	
Other groups	10	6	13	NS	

Table 1.5. A meta-analysis of reported associations between anthropomorphic environmental impacts and parasite abundance. Adapted from Lafferty (1997).

**P* is based on the two-tailed sign test with Bonferroni correction. Comparisons were drawn from the literature

1.4. The hypothesis

Schistosomiasis research and that of ecotoxicology over-lap, due primarily to the snail vector which inhabits waters known to contain many anthropogenic xenobioticchemicals. As we have seen from the preceding review of the literature, a host of environmental contaminants have been shown to impact the immune systems of many species of aquatic animal and in many cases this can be related to increased susceptibility and prevalence of infectious diseases, including parasites (Table 1.3). While there is a considerable body of data to demonstrate such effects in aquatic molluscs, the majority have focused on species of commercial interest and consequently there is a considerable gap in knowledge as to which chemicals may affect the mollusc vector of *S.mansoni* and the ways in which such effects might alter its relationship with the parasite.

The aim of this thesis was to test the hypothesis that the host-parasite relationship is affected by pollution. More specifically, I aimed to test this hypothesis using the host-parasite model of *Biomphalaria glabrata* and *Schistosoma mansoni*, due to the lack of previous research on these organisms in an ecotoxicological context. For the purpose of my studies 'pollution' took the form of several known environmental contaminants, selected based primarily on their prevalence and diversity of chemical class, described in Chapter 3.

1.4.1. The importance of method development in testing the hypothesis

The already considerable challenges in the field of ecotoxicology are even greater in tropical countries since most of these countries are in a developing status, with relatively scarce financial resources and a lack of infrastructure for advanced pollution control and research (Kwok *et al.*, 2007). Furthermore, despite having substantially higher biodiversity, it is well known that tropical/sub-tropical ecosystems are less studied than temperate ecosystems (Krull and Barros, 2012). This is also one of the ironies of schistosomiasis research; much of the necessary background information and literature, and many of the new tools and techniques, are far more readily available in developed countries that are far from endemic areas (Loker, 2005).

Ecotoxicology as a discipline is still relatively young and therefore we have much scope to develop new approaches and techniques even as individuals, something which is less common in older, more saturated fields such as cancer research. Therefore, this thesis will devote considerable attention to method development and validation. The various approaches described in the preceding chapters were borne out of the need to adapt or create techniques in an area of research that remains relatively niche. Nevertheless, the outputs of this research, on the whole, are transferable to many other aspects of biological science.

In his 2005 paper titled 'Research on the Molluscan Intermediate Hosts for Schistosomiasis: What are the Priorities?' Eric Loker suggests that it is necessary to "turn inward" and gain a greater appreciation of the basic biology of snails, trematode larval stages and their interactions, and that for this, a modern toolkit is required (Loker, 2005). Loker goes on to say that "with respect to controlling schistosomiasis at the level of the molluscan host, the true enemy is not the snail that is hosting the parasite, but the schistosome sporocysts that colonize the snail" (Loker, 2005). Indeed, much attention is focused on combating the disease at the human stage when in reality, impacts to any stage of the parasite will have a similar ultimate outcome since, by definition, the life cycle is cyclical - each point relies on the previous.

More investigations are currently needed on the mechanisms behind the effects of man-made changes on host-parasite interactions and particularly in those species of medical, rather than just commercial, importance (Budria and Candolin, 2014).

The following chapters will attempt to shed further light on the effects that 'pollution' has on the relationship between *S.mansoni* and *B.glabrata*. Focus will be on the key immune functions of *B.glabrata* and their response to selected contaminants, with the aim of establishing which, if any, aspects of the snail immune system are being affected, as well as the possible mechanisms by which this might happen. As the main effector of the snails' immune response to the parasite (and other pathogens) hemocytes will be used as the main units of interest/exposure in a series of *in vitro* experiments. Hemocyte parameters identified as being important in the snails' response to intra-molluscan stages of the parasite (and therefore to transmission) are part of an interconnected chain of events which often occur in

unison. While part of the same process, these parameters will be separated into functional categories so as to investigate the response in more detail at a cellular level. For the most part, the methods used will be novel adaptations of existing techniques, which were needed in order to answer my specific questions and in other cases I will describe in greater detail those methods that are sufficiently novel (and/or have wider applications) to warrant further description.

In order to investigate the hypothesis in a more 'environmentally relevant' context, I also performed an *in vivo* developmental exposure experiment on live snails. Here I attempt to link exposure to contaminants directly to potential alterations in parasite transmission by infecting exposed and unexposed snails and quantifying the rates of the human infective stage (cercariae) that are ultimately produced.

While molecular work would be extremely useful in helping address the hypothesis, the basis for any such work (i.e. the effect of pollutant chemicals on the immune system of *B.glabrata* and the interaction between *B.glabrata/S.mansoni* in the presence of such chemicals) has not previously been established and existing methods from which to base such research are missing. Significant effort was therefore devoted to developing and adapting methods for this purpose.

It is extremely difficult for any work to prove/disprove a hypothesis when based on information gathered from a single focus of study and therefore, as demonstrated by Figure 1.13, detailed investigation into mechanistic aspects (e.g. 'omics') may have limited value when considering ecosystem-level implications. The work that follows is a beginning to what promises to be a very broad topic.



Figure 1.13. Representation of the effect that the focus of a study has on its level of mechanistic/ecological relevance. *This diagram represents a concept in ecotoxicology whereby the wider the shape becomes, the higher the level of ecosystem organisation at which the results can be extrapolated. Divisions/sections of the shape represent levels of ecological hierarchy, the width of the section indicates its comparative size and the direction of an arrow represents an increase in the information provided for a particular goal.* Redrawn and adapted from Snape *et al.*, (2004).

Chapter 2: Experimental

Organisms; Husbandry and Biology

The aim of this chapter is to describe 'general' methods used throughout the rest of the thesis, including basic husbandry of test species, associated considerations, and specific cell culture techniques.

The ways in which *B.glabrata* differs from some of the more commonly encountered model species used in ecotoxicology will be described in order to elucidate why, in certain cases, 'standard' approaches (i.e. to cell lines) will not work, due to the unique biology of molluscs.

2.1. Biomphalaria Husbandry

The majority of departments working with *B.glabrata* are only concerned with culturing snails as a means of producing cercariae to maintain the parasite life cycle for work on adult worms. In my research, snails were needed to support the growth and development of snail stages of *S.mansoni* and also to collect healthy hemocytes for *in vitro* assays.

Proper husbandry of snails is critical to ensure the reduction of confounding factors which may influence experiments. A range of environmental factors, described in the following sections, have previously been reported to affect the number and function of hemocytes taken from laboratory-reared molluscs (Lacoste *et al.*, 2002; Gagnaire *et al.*, 2006; Yu *et al.*, 2009).

2.1.1. Diet

Wild *B.glabrata* snails feed on a large variety of items, the majority is vegetation but the snails will eat most organic material from which they can extract nutrition, including decaying animals, algae and mud. A large number of foods have been reportedly used in the laboratory. Although romaine lettuce is probably the most common, it is rarely used alone due to its poor nutritional value. Indeed, snails with a supplemented diet are known to grow as much as 4 times larger and lay 7 times as many eggs (Eveland and Haseeb, 2011; Tucker *et al.*, 2013).

Among the reported supplemented diets are mud, algae, grass, shoots from wheat and barley, dog food, chicken food, powdered milk and thyroid/endocrine gland extract (Eveland and Haseeb, 2011; Tucker *et al.*, 2013). Many of these are relatively convoluted preparations, often using very precise ratios. For my studies I preferred to rely solely on commercial fish flakes (TetraMin®). Fish flakes have the advantage of being cheap, easy to use, extremely nutritious and edible to hatchlings (Tucker *et al.*, 2013). The flakes had previously been tested in our laboratory for estrogenic activity and were free of know estrogenic chemicals which may affect physiological responses in animals.

One disadvantage of using fish flakes was their propensity to rapidly decay and pollute the water. For this reason, snails were kept in a flow-through water system to prevent water stagnation and were cleaned regularly. Feeding occurred 3 times a week. At each feeding event the quantity of food was limited to the amount that the snails could consume within a single day.

2.1.2. Photoperiod

Snails were maintained in a 12-hour light/dark cycle typical of most laboratories. Very little is known about the optimum photo period for *B.glabrata* in captivity, and therefore attempts to recreate its natural conditions are usually preferred.

2.1.2.1. Photoperiod for infected snails

Snails infected with *S.mansoni* are usually kept in constant darkness during the period of parasite development. This is achieved by placing a dark blanket over the tanks. This process is necessary to prevent the premature release of infective cercariae for health and experimental concerns, since light is used by the parasites as a cue to shed from the snails, something which is presumably an evolved mechanism to ensure maximum likelihood of infecting its diurnal final host. While snails will still shed some cercariae in the dark, the level is much reduced (Tucker *et al.*, 2013).

There is little evidence to suggest that maintenance of infected snails in constant dark (or light) has any negative effects on the snail or parasite (Tucker *et al.*, 2013). It has been reported that the snails require a minimum of 8-hours light for breeding.

However, infected snails are typically castrated by the parasite, so optimum breeding is difficult to determine for covered/infected snails (Webbe and James, 1971).

2.1.3. Pests

Aside from *S.mansoni*, *B.glabrata* is naturally subject to many other invertebrate pests including ostracods, oligochaetes, certain types of bacteria and even other trematode species (Eveland and Haseeb, 2011). In practice, it is impossible to ensure complete removal of unwanted invertebrates during routine maintenance of snails and attempting to do so could cause more harm than good, since many similarly sized organisms are symbiotes beneficial to snail survival.

Perhaps the most persistent pests in the laboratory are rotifers. Rotifers are not thought to affect snails directly, but do indicate poor general conditions (Eveland and Haseeb, 2011). Rotifers are of considerable concern when maintaining and studying infected snails. At least one species of rotifer is known to emit a chemical which can partially suppress cercarial release and even paralyze shed parasites (Lewis *et al.*, 1986).

I was able to maintain a minimal level of biological contamination by regular cleaning and the use of flow-through tank systems. For the majority of work, rotifers (if they are present) do not appear to cause obvious problems. When raising snails for infection studies I took extra precautions, such as bathing egg masses (which would become the experimental snails) in 70% ethanol for 5 seconds followed by a distilled water rinse. This was repeated 3 times and does not appear to have any detrimental effects on subsequent snail development.

2.1.4. Water

According to the literature, the optimum water temperature for normal maintenance of *B.glabrata* is between 24-28°C (Stirewalt, 1954; Chernin and Schork, 1959; Sturrock and Sturrock, 1972).

Submersible aquarium heaters were found to be suitable for individual tanks, but for larger-scale maintenance it was easier to use a specially designated room that could

be kept at a precise temperature, or have circulated water supplied pre-heated, as in our laboratory.

Higher temperatures (up to 30°C) are sometimes used to accelerate the growth of snails and/or their parasites, but this often results in increased host mortality (Eveland and Haseeb, 2011; Tucker *et al.*, 2013). Snails will survive for extended periods at temperatures as low as 20°C but growth is substantially reduced and parasitized snails will display decreased cercarial shedding and can even lose the infection entirely (Stirewalt, 1954; Tucker *et al.*, 2013).

As with most metazoan aquatic organisms, snails rarely survive beyond a day in chlorinated tap water, but removal of chloramines usually makes this water acceptable (Eveland and Haseeb, 2011). Tap water is often left to 'age' by letting it stand for around a day, which is believed to allow harmful components, like chlorine, to evaporate off. Another method includes the addition of tap water conditioners which bind and neutralize toxic substances. For larger-scale maintenance and with flow-through systems like ours, it is best to have the water treated using a filtration system such as reverse osmosis (RO). RO water is reconstituted with minerals and salts to prevent the snails developing fragile shells. Small fish such as guppies are sometimes kept in the recirculation tank to help condition the water by encouraging the growth of beneficial bacteria from their waste and to eat some of the larger snail pests (Ulmer, 1970).

Precise pH levels are rarely considered when rearing snails and there is little information on optimum levels. However, it is known that *B.glabrata* can tolerate a wide pH range (4.9-8.9) without adverse effects (Chernin and Schork 1959; Webbe and James 1971; Eveland and Haseeb, 2011).

2.1.5. Density

As with most aquatic species, *B.glabrata* displays density dependent growth. A number of studies have attempted to determine the density for optimum growth and fecundity. Within the genus *Biomphalaria*, considerable differences have been found between species, with *B.straminea* apparently being able to live comfortably in twice the density of *B.glabrata* (Barbosa *et al.*, 1992).

For uninfected *B.glabrata* with a shell diameter greater than 5mm it is typically reported that a density of no more than 10 snails per litre is optimal (Thomas and Benjamin, 1974; Tucker *et al.*, 2013).

Regarding the optimal density for growth, Thomas and Benjamin (1974) have suggested that under certain circumstances a positive feedback effect of higher density can occur due to increased facilitation of metabolites, ions, food, increased tactile/visual stimulation between individuals and increased mating behaviour. In contrast, they also found that negative feedback can occur in static conditions when the density is higher than optimal, as a result of greater food competition and greater accumulation of toxic waste.

Regardless of the optimal density, practical considerations will always be a factor in the laboratory and it is sometimes necessary to make concessions due to space and/or safety. Tucker *et al.*, (2013) suggest that infected snails should be kept at higher densities as the presence of large volumes of potentially infected water could pose an unacceptable risk.

In our laboratory, stock snails are routinely kept at densities lower than 10 snails per litre. When performing an *in vivo* study optimal density is more precisely assessed according to the specific conditions and experimental requirements (section 7.3.1).

2.2. Biomphalaria cell culture

The importance of hemocytes as immune effectors in molluscs has led to a considerable body of literature regarding their *in vitro* culture and manipulation. These techniques have significantly contributed to my knowledge of their functions under various conditions (Boulo *et al.*, 1991; Yoshino *et al.*, 2013).

As with mammals, established cell lines exist for many insects. In contrast, only a single cell line for molluscs exists, it was derived from *B.glabrata* embryos and is known as 'Bge' (Hansen, 1976; Yoshino *et al.*, 2013).

While Bge cells share some of the same characteristics as hemocytes (i.e. the ability to encapsulate sporocysts *in vitro*), they are not ontologically related (Yoshino and Coustau, 2011). Since Bge cells cannot be used as reliable substitutes for hemocytes,

and hemocytes cannot be cultured long-term, it was necessary to obtain primary hemocytes directly from the snail for my research.

Molluscan hemocytes are a notoriously difficult cell type to manipulate *in vitro*, therefore, a number of different methods have been developed to support the short-term survival and normal physiological function of hemocytes outside of the snail. *B.glabrata* hemocytes have a great propensity to clump to each other, often irreversibly, and also adhere readily to many types of substrate including collection vessels (Fryer and Adema 1993). Another aspect of hemocytes which hinders their manipulation is the fact that processes such as centrifugation often kill the cells or cause them to form a pellet from which they cannot be separated. This is in contrast to many mammalian cells lines which can be centrifuged at high speeds to form a pellet, but can still be readily separated and retain normal function afterwards (Fryer and Adema 1993). These factors present obstacles to the separation of hemocytes from hemolymph. This being said, a number of techniques have been specially developed for working with hemocytes and although the methods are often more time consuming and delicate, they do permit the use of hemocytes for *in vitro* experiments.

2.2.1. Biomphalaria cell buffers

By far the most widely used buffer for working with *B.glabrata* cells is Chernin's balanced salt solution ('CBSS'; Chernin, 1963). CBSS was first developed to support the *in vitro* culture of *B.glabrata* heart explants and was designed to mimic the salt composition, osmolarity and pH of the hemolymph (Table 2.1).

Hemocytes behave normally in CBSS and display phagocytosis and encapsulation even in the absence of hemolymph (Bayne, 1980). CBSS was the primary buffer used here for *in vitro* maintenance and manipulation of hemocytes and was also used as a carrier for chemicals or other materials which hemocytes were exposed to (Section 2.2.2.2).

Because hemocytes often cannot be separated after centrifugation, Fryer and Adema (1993) used buffers originally developed for another snail species (*lymnaea stagnalis*) to encourage *B.glabrata* hemocytes to reversibly detach from the culture

vessel, changing from a flattened shape with filopodial projections to a rounded cell. The buffers, which contain different chelating agents (α -CE; EDTA, α -CC; caffeine) that can maximize either detachment or survival, are able to round-up cells which have spread on glass and also to reduce clumping after low speed centrifugation. The buffers proved useful in my work and the reported reduction in phagocytosis caused by the buffers was of little concern, since in my studies the immune responses *in vitro* were completed before the addition of the buffer and hemocytes were not used after they had been detached other than to fix/analyse.

Table 2.1. Composition of buffers used in *B.glabrata* hemocyte *in vitro* culture and manipulation. *Of the three buffers described, CBSS is intended for normal hemocyte culture, while* α -*CE and* α -*CC were formulated for the purpose of manipulation.* Table adapted from Fryer and Adema (1993).

Chemical	CBSS: standard	α-CE : Haemocyte anti-	α-CC: Haemocyte anti-
	snail cell buffer	clumping buffer	clumping buffer (preferential
		(optimum cell retrieval)	for phagocytosis studies)
	(g/L)	(g/L)	(g/L)
NaCl	2.8	1.7	1.7
KCL	0.15	-	-
Na ₂ HPO ₄	0.7	-	-
NaHCO ³	0.05	-	-
CaCl ₂	0.53	-	-
MgSO ₄	0.45	-	-
Glucose	1	3.6	3.6
Trehalose	1	-	-
Na ₃ C ₆ H5O ₇	-		
(sodium		1.5	1.5
citrate)			
Citric acid	-	0.96	0.96
EDTA	-	0.58	-
Caffeine	-	-	4.85

2.2.2 Hemolymph collection

Many studies working with mollusc hemolymph do not consider sterility since it is essentially aseptic and long term culture is not possible as cells only survive for 2-3 days outside the animal. These factors combined reduce the likelihood of problematic bacterial infection (Yoshino *et al.*, 2013). Nevertheless, it is still prudent

to collect sterile hemolymph where possible, in order to avoid any influence that bacteria may potentially exert, especially for immunological assays.

The following section describes a protocol, adapted from Fryer and Bayne (1995) which was used to obtain sterile hemolymph for my experiments.

Snails were collected and the shells dried with paper towel and then carefully swabbed using cotton buds soaked in 70% ethanol, taking particular care to clean inside the shell whorl. After air drying on paper towel for 1-2 minutes inside a laminar flow cabinet, snails were then placed in an autoclaved beaker containing sterile filtered water (maximum of 18 snails per 100ml) plus 2% antibioticantimycotic solution (10,000 units/ml penicillin, 10 mg/ml streptomycin and 25 ptg/ml amphotericin B; Sigma-Aldrich, UK) and left for 45 minutes at 27°C. After this time, snails were carefully removed from the beaker using sterile forceps and placed on a fresh paper towel inside the cabinet to dry for 1-2 minutes. The shells were again dried with paper towel, swabbed with 70% ethanol and the snail placed in an autoclaved glass petri dish. After the ethanol had evaporated (within 30 seconds) the hemolymph was extracted with a sterile scalpel according to the 'headfoot puncture protocol' described by Connors and Yoshino (1990). Hemolymph was allowed to collect for only a short period of time (< 5 minutes) to avoid cells adhering to the dish. Hemolyph was then extracted from the dish using a sterile p200 pipette and added to a falcon tube through a 70µm cell strainer (Falcon® Cell Strainer; Fisher Scientific Co., UK) to prevent shell debris or cell clumps passing into the sample. Since the collection process can take a reasonable amount of time (depending on the number of snails being sampled) the tubes were held on ice to prevent clumping prior to the assay.

This process enabled the collection of hemolymph that was free of visible contamination and debris. Debris is commonly found in hemolymph samples (e.g. shell fragments, clothing fibres, pollen) and these compromise studies since hemocytes will naturally attempt to encapsulate such foreign objects (Figure 2.1). An alternative reported method is to pool the hemolymph and allow it to rest for 5-10 minutes. The heavier debris will settle to the bottom while cells can be extracted from the upper column/supernatant. However, this method results in considerable aggregation between cells, requires very delicate pipetting to avoid collecting the settled debris and reduces the final cell yield. Therefore, passage through a 70µm filter was used since individual hemocytes will pass through while larger objects (which will not be hemocytes or will be clumped cells) are retained.



Figure 2.1. Photograph of *B.glabrata* hemocytes attacking and encapsulating a piece of foreign debris. *This image demonstrates the propensity of these hemocytes to clump around objects of foreign nature or even shell fragments*. Image taken at 400x, arrow indicates the debris.

2.2.2.1. Pooling

Variation in the response of snail hemocytes from different individuals and even between different cells from the same individual, is relatively high compared to other types of cells (Cuenot, 1914; Ashton-Alcox and Ford, 1998; Ford and Paillard, 2007). In *B.glabrata*, responses between individual snails can sometimes show considerable, and often unexplainable, variation. For example, the majority of cells from one animal may spread readily on contact with glass while the majority of cells from another remain rounded (Connors and Yoshino, 2012). Such variation introduces problems when undertaking immunocompetence assays (Oehlmann and Schulte-Oehlmann 2002).

One of the most commonly reported solutions to this problem is through the technique of pooling. Pooling involves mixing hemolymph samples from several

animals and splitting the sample into sub-samples on which tests are carried out (Figure 2.2). This method is used as it removes the inter-individual variation between snails and is reported in a large number of studies (Amen *et al.*, 1992; Bakry *et al.*, 2012b).

Pooling of hemocytes from a number of individuals has the potential to reduce biological variability by measuring the average of a population instead of the response of each individual. This is why it is an appealing option for those working with highly variable animals (Lee, 2008). However, the problem that often arises with this approach is one of pseudoreplication, and to understand this we must consider what our experimental units are i.e. the units upon which statistical analysis is based.

A typical definition of the experimental unit is "the smallest division of the experimental material that could, in principle, receive any of the treatments used in the study" (Cox and Reid, 2000; Langton, 2012). Many researchers suggest that by pooling from several animals the pool itself becomes the experimental unit rather than the individual snails and that sub-samples of the pool do not constitute true biological/statistical replication but rather technical replication. This is because the cells come from the same population (the pool) and are subject to similar conditions. The aim of statistical analysis is to make conclusions based on a population, this requires a representative sample of individuals (snails) from a population to be taken. The effect of pooling is to average out the biological variance which we are interested in and this leads to false estimations of significance. However, this kind of sub-sampling is still useful in that it helps improve the precision of each measurement by reducing the effect of sampling error or noise (Langton, 2012).

By this definition, any work based on a cell line could be considered pseudoreplication since all the cells originally came from the same animal and are therefore related. However, this is often not considered for a number of reasons, not least practicality.

When a group of cells from individual animals are pooled (as is often the case in molluscan hemocyte work), one could argue that each cell is, in theory, capable of being randomly assigned to any one treatment. Therefore, it is the cell which constitutes the experimental unit and not the pool.

Another approach is to treat the experimental unit as the smallest unit upon which a measurement can be made, rather than the smallest unit to which a treatment can be applied (Robinson *et al.*, 2006). In theory, this definition removes the issue of pseudoreplication if using an assay capable of performing single-cell analysis, since the measurable 'population' could now include all the cells in the pool. Single-cell measurements which can be made by instruments (such as imaging flow cytometers or comet assays) can help to reveal information which is potentially obscured when averaging a population of cells (Gordon *et al.*, 2007; Shanbhag and Rao, 2003).

In reality, there is no fixed definition of the experimental unit. Some authors have stated that pseudoreplication is a 'biological issue' and that what constitutes a true replicate depends more on the biology of the species of interest and the questions that are being asked rather than an entirely statistical approach (Ruxton and Colegrave, 2011). In some circumstances pooling is unavoidable. For example, individual cell yields may be too low to study and this is often the case with smaller snails.

One compromise that is commonly used in hemocyte immunocompetance assays, (and an approach that I have typically used), is to make separate pools of hemocytes (Fryer and Adema, 1993). For example, three independent pools of hemocytes could be prepared, each consisting of cells from different animals (Figure 2.2). This approach helps to provide enough hemolymph, reduces the effects of unresponsive snails and provides sufficient biological replicates by most definitions (Kendziorski *et al.*, 2005). In this example the experimental unit would be each separate pool (n =3; Figure 2.2).



Figure 2.2. Diagrammatic example of the process by which my technical and experimental units were generated. *Hemolymph from individual snails was pooled, mixed and then allocated to a specific treatment to form a single experimental unit. This was repeated on a different day, with different animals, to produce independent replication in the experimental unit. The three snails and converging arrows indicate the pooling of hemocytes from each snail into a tube, the following nine arrows indicate how samples from the pool were allocated to wells (with dose 1-3 representing different levels of a chemical treatment to be received by the above three wells), lines of the same colour (red, blue or green) show how wells contribute to three experimental units for each dose (n=3).*

One final aspect of the experimental design that is useful when applying these types of assay is to test the actual variation associated with pooling by calculating both the inter and intra-individual variation of test animals (Hegaret, 2003).

2.2.2.2. Incubation with test chemicals

Adding test chemicals directly to hemolymph may cause significant reductions in cell viability since these chemicals are typically purchased dissolved in some form of volatile solvent (e.g. ethanol). Even if the final percentage of solvent present in a sample of hemolymph were the same, it is likely to induce greater toxicity if added directly to hemolymph rather than diluted in a physiological buffer.

In my *in vitro* experiments, serial dilutions of test chemicals (discussed in Chapter 3, section 3.2) were made in CBSS from concentrated solvent stocks. In order to avoid

excessive manipulation of hemocytes, and the problems this causes (Section 2.2.1), the desired concentration of test chemical in the hemocyte sample was achieved by making a double strength (2x) stock in CBSS and mixing this with an equal volume of hemolymph. This resulted in a solution of 50% hemolymph and 50% CBSS/test chemical. Many of the original *in vitro* experiments concerning *B.glabrata* hemocytes maintained the cells in 100% CBSS with no observable detrimental effects (Section 2.2.1). The effect of the residual solvents was studied and is reported in Chapter 3, section 3.4.

2.3. Parasite culture

Several of my assays involved working with the snail-related stages of *S.mansoni* and it was therefore necessary to be able to harvest and culture the parasites. *In vitro* interaction assays between hemocytes and intra-molluscan stages of the parasite required the harvesting and hatching of eggs and the subsequent collection and transformation of miracidia as they would exist initially inside the snail.

2.3.1. Safety considerations

Only the cercarial stage of *S.mansoni* is infective to humans and it is designated as a category 2 human pathogen hazard according to the Health and Safety Executive Advisory Committee on Dangerous Pathogens. It was deemed good practice to treat any infected snails as potentially hazardous, especially since cercarial shedding time differs between individual snails. Category 2 pathogens are defined as having the potential to cause human disease but are unlikely to spread, and for which there currently exists effective prophylaxis (HSE, 2013).

My work with infected snails/cercariae was carried out in a licensed BSL-2 laboratory at the London School of Hygiene and Tropical medicine. Latex gloves were worn at all times when in the BSL-2 laboratory, as were long-sleeved coats since cercariae could potentially land on exposed skin if water were accidentally splashed. If infectious water is thought to have contacted skin then the affected area would be sprayed immediately with 70% ethanol to prevent an infection, since the parasite takes several minutes to penetrate skin (Tucker *et al.*, 2013). Handling of infected snails should be kept to a minimum and bare hands never used. Snails were removed with a sieve if cleaning tanks and the waste-water was disinfected with bleach before disposal. All material in contact with snails was washed in 70% ethanol, avoiding the use of toxic chemicals where the implements were to be re-used.

While work with the miracidial and sporocyst stages does not provide a direct hazard, and is not regulated, there does exist an extremely small risk. If miracidia were to somehow find their way into the aquaria of uninfected snails, a snail could then become infected and potentially produce thousands of cercariae with the potential to infect people without their knowledge. While the chain of events required for this to happen are extremely unlikely to occur, work with miracidia did not occur in any room containing uninfected snails and clothing was changed after working with miracidia, especially if proceeding to work near uninfected snails.

The first potential symptom of an infection would occur shortly after cercarial penetration of the skin, with very mild cutaneous lesions appearing at the site, but this typically will go unnoticed (Tucker *et al.*, 2013). 2-3 weeks' post-infection, a febrile response to the presence of larvae in the lungs may occur and a more acute response (known as Katayama fever) may manifest with the laying of the first eggs after around 5 weeks (Tucker *et al.*, 2013). Chronic Schistosomiasis takes several years to develop and can ultimately lead to liver failure and portal fibrosis (Tucker *et al.*, 2013). Despite these risks, *S.mansoni* is easily diagnosed by the presence of eggs in faeces and can be very effectively treated with a single dose of praziquantel (Tucker *et al.*, 2013). Praziquantal may also be taken prophylactically by someone who suspects that they may have been exposed to cercariae but before the first eggs are laid.

2.3.2. Mouse stage and egg collection

In the laboratory, mice (sometimes also rats or guinea pigs) are used as the final mammalian host in order to maintain the life cycle of the parasite as they support the development of adult worms and eggs in much the same manner as would an infected human.

To obtain parasites for my work the infection of mice was carried out under the United Kingdom Animal's Scientific Procedures Act 1986, with approval from the London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine Ethics committee.

Mice (purchased from Charles River, Margate, Kent, UK) were typically infected by subcutaneous injection of approximately 100 cercariae. The infection was allowed to mature for 7-8 weeks, at which point the animals were euthanized with intraperitoneal injections of Tiletamine/Zolazepam (800 mg/kg) and Xylazine (100 mg/kg). Euthanasia may be brought forward if the animals are visibly suffering from the infection.

Once the mice have been euthanized, the adult worms are collected by perfusion of the hepatic portal system and the eggs collected by removal of the liver.

2.3.3. Egg extraction and hatching

The mouse liver containing the parasite eggs can be stored at 4°C for 48 to 72 hours but recovery of viable miracidia will reduce steadily over time. Eggs were typically harvested on the same day that the liver was removed to ensure optimum yields.

The liver was first washed with a solution of 1.2% NaCl to remove excess tissue and then placed on a metal sieve with a 180 µm pore mesh. The sieve was placed on top of a conical measure flask. The tissue was manually homogenized using a porcelain pestle, with the addition of more NaCl solution to aide passage through the mesh. Once all the tissue had passed through the sieve the flask was topped up with 1.2% NaCl to a final volume of 200ml, at which point it was placed in a fridge at 4°C for 30 minutes. The combination of saline solution and low temperature prevents premature hatching of the eggs. After this settling period a tissue sediment was formed, the flask was removed and half of the supernatant was carefully poured off and discarded, ensuring minimal disturbance of the sediment. The flask was then topped up to 200ml with fresh 1.2% NaCl and returned to 4°C for a further 30 minutes. This process was repeated 2-3 times until the supernatant appeared clear at which point the majority of the solution was poured away (leaving the sediment undisturbed) and replaced with freshwater.

The contents of the flask were then poured into a large petri dish in a room with an ambient temperature of 27°C and a lamp placed directly above. After 30 minutes the miracidia will start to hatch with peak rates occurring after around 45 minutes. Miracidia were then collected for subsequent snail infection.

2.3.4. Miracidia collection

For routine collection of miracidia (i.e. for use in snail infection) the parasites were taken directly out of the hatching dish using a pipette. For *in vitro* work it was necessary to prepare a much cleaner sample. The homogenization process often yielded many small fragments of mouse liver and other organic particles. These particles were often smaller than the eggs and so could not be filtered out with the sieve. Such fragments do not influence snail infection but pose serious problems to other work. *In vitro* interaction assays between hemocytes and parasites will be disrupted by such tissue as the hemocytes will instead attack the foreign mouse tissue, leading to reduced numbers available for parasite encapsulation (Figure 2.1). Any attempt to perform molecular work or protein quantification would also be severely compromised by the presence of mouse tissue.

For these reasons an alternative protocol for miracidia collection was developed. The method was an adaptation of that described by Jurberg *et al.*, (2008). Their original method was intended as a means of performing more accurate diagnosis of *S.mansoni* infection based on human faecal samples, but they also alluded to its potential as a way of obtaining contaminant-free miracidia samples for immuno-histochemistry, molecular, and biochemical studies.

The new approach made use of the positive geo and phototaxic responses of miracidia, so the parasites were, in essence, separating *themselves* from any debris (Figure 2.3).

2.3.4.1. Lighting

In order to achieve a point-source of light a wooden box to house the hatching device was constructed. This box had a small hole in one side which exposed only the collection jar to light, thereby creating a preferential location for the parasites to move toward (Figure 2.3B). The inside of the box was painted black and a foam seal was attached around the hole to reduce the chances of light entering the main flask. While room lighting works sufficiently, I also used a swing-arm lamp to direct light to the collection jar from the side, so as not to shine light through the hole and into the box. A small amount of light inevitably entered the main flask as the collection jar was transparent. However, this was actually advantageous as it formed a phototaxic gradient without which the parasites might be unable to locate the main light source.

2.3.4.2. Construction of the flask

A 500ml glass side-arm flask was first adapted using non-toxic silicone aquarium glue to attach a p20 pipette tip to the side-arm exit (Figure 2.3A).



Figure 2.3. Photographs of my miracidia collection device. *A*) 500ml side-arm flask for collection of liver homogenate. The side-arm was adapted with the addition of a bottle cap and p20 pipette tip *B*) Wooden box constructed to house flask, the collection bottle can be seen attached and extruding so that light is only exposed to the collection jar where miracidia will pool themselves.

The use of a p20 tip serves as a 'funnel-trap' whereby miracidia can easily pass thought the wide end into the bottle, but are unlikely to be able to return into the main flask through the narrow end.

A hole was drilled through the lid of the collection jar and the side-arm passed through (Figure 2.3A). The glass jar was then able to be attached and removed with ease.

2.3.4.3. Chemical gradient

In order to further encourage the movement of miracidia, transformation media was added to the collection jar. The transformation media (Section 2.3.5) encourages miracidia to immediately cease movement and begin transformation into sporocysts, thus further reducing the likelihood of them escaping. If transformation of miracidia was not required (i.e. when wishing to infect snails) then the collection jar could be filled with normal fresh water, as with the main flask. In order to encourage a chemical gradient between the two chambers, the flask was placed at an angle of 15° and thus, coupled with the position of the side-arm, providing a geotaxic gradient for miracidia to follow.

Basic experiments were performed to test the extent and stability of the gradient by placing red food colouring in the collection jar and leaving it for 1 hour to determine how fluid traveled between the two chambers. Visual inspection showed a very fine 'trail' of liquid passing from the collection jar into the main flask (Figure 2.4). This appeared to be ideal as it would act as a chemotactic trail encouraging the miracidia toward the desired destination while not introducing sufficient media into the main flask as to encourage transformation before the parasites reached the collection area.



Figure 2.4. Demonstration of the chemical gradient formed between the miracidia collection chamber and the main flask. *Red dye was used to allow observation of the gradient, A) after 0 hours*B) after 1 hour. Arrows indicate the dye trail – the enlarged section shows the trail in more detail.

2.3.4.4. Pressure gradient

Achieving the correct pressure gradient between the two chambers was initially problematic. Attaching the chambers without adjustment meant that miracidia were unable to pass through the pipette tip as a result of high pressure in the collection jar and also the possibility of air bubbles blocking the tip exit. To amend this, I filled the main flask with water, then I attached the collection jar, which contained the media, and finally applied a bung to the top of the flask. A pre-compressed 10ml plastic syringe was passed through a hole in the bung and very gently the syringe was drawn up until I observed media passing into the main flask. This resulted in equalization of pressure between the chambers as shown by the movement of the red dye (Figure 2.4) and subsequent entry of the miracidia into the chamber.

2.3.4.5. Addition of sample

After the egg collection (Section 2.3.3), the egg/liver homogenate solution was poured into the main flask. Fresh water was added until the water level in the main flask was higher than the location of the side-arm. Angling the flask prevented any debris entering the collection chamber and helps establish the chemotaxis gradient (Section 2.3.4.3). The solution was left to settle for 30 minutes, after which the collection jar was exposed to light.

2.3.4.6. Miracidia harvesting and transformation

Given the need to collect miracidia for subsequent *in vitro* transformation, an added advantage of this system was the use of transformation media in the collection chamber which immobilized the miracidia and enabled maximum yield. In an ordinary system (i.e. for snail infection) miracidia are collected before they lose their energy reserves and ability to infect. Since the collection vessel contained transformation media I was able to leave it for extended periods of time as any miracidia that entered would immediately begin to transform without requiring intervention. This meant that slower hatching parasites also had the opportunity to enter the collection chamber, therefore minimal numbers were lost.

The collection jar was very carefully unscrewed from the side-arm once miracidia were no longer observed entering and a second unmodified lid attached. The contents were then transferred to well-plates and left to complete transformation into sporocysts.

2.3.4.7. Findings

Quantitative analysis of the numbers of parasites collected using this method compared to the basic method of miracidia collection was not undertaken. Miracidia numbers were always adequate for my purposes using this method and crucially, the amount of liver contamination was extremely low. Miracidia responded very well and after 30 minutes could be seen in large numbers streaming through the pipette tip and into the collection jar. Miracidia entering the collection jar became immobile almost instantly, and subsequently transformed into viable sporocysts.

After miracidia had been collected they were used immediately to infect snails (for the maintenance of the life cycle or *in vivo* studies) or were collected in transformation media for subsequent use in *in vitro* assays.

2.3.5. Miracidia transformation media

It is possible for the snail immune system to attack any intra-molluscan stage of the parasite, even in susceptible hosts, however the primary response is usually directed toward the early sporocyst (Delgado *et al.*, 2001; Goodall *et al.*, 2004; Loker, 2010). In order to achieve a more realistic *in vitro* representation of the snail immune response it was necessary to use sporocysts and this necessitated the *in vitro* transformation of collected miracidia.

Sporocysts are defined as miracidia that have shed their ciliated plates and exhibit muscular squirming (Mann *et al.*, 2010).

Sporocysts can be maintained *in vitro* for at least 14 days under basic conditions and potentially continuously, up to and including the production of cercariae, although this is considerably more difficult (Mann *et al.*, 2010). For my purposes I was interested in early sporocysts around 6-hours after first contact with the medium as the ciliated plates have mostly shed and the syncytial tegument is formed (Figure 2.5). At this time the parasite is most vulnerable to elimination by the snail immune system (Pan, 1996; Peterson *et al.*, 2009).

A number of different transformation media are reported in the literature but the most commonly used is simply the same CBSS used for hemocyte culture (Azzi *et al.*, 2009; Peterson *et al.*, 2009; Abou-El-Naga *et al.*, 2014). I was unable to achieve sufficient numbers of miracidia to transform into sporocysts using CBSS. Despite multiple tests using separate batches of CBSS, carried out at two different optimum pH values reported in the literature (7.2 and 7.4), it was not possible to achieve sufficient transformation, let alone > 90% rates reported for CBSS (Walker and Rollinson, 2008; Azzi *et al*, 2009). Since CBSS worked very well for supporting hemocyte culture and untransformed miracidia, it is likely that this was due to differences in the parasite strain used, rather than the composition of the media.

Adult worms are routinely cultured in Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium (DMEM; Sigma-Aldrich, UK) supplemented with 10% foetal bovine serum and 2mM L-glutamine (Mann, *et al.*, 2010). I found that miracidia readily transformed at rates close to 100% in DMEM (Figure 2.5). Moreover, removal of the bovine serum did not alter the effectiveness of DMEM, which further simplified the method and reduced the cost. Other media have been reported as transforming miracidia with

similar success, such as MEMSE-J (which is an amino-acid composition similar to DMEM) and also RMPI-1640 (which is widely used in mammalian cell culture) (Kawanaka *et al.*, 1983; Cook *et al.*, 2009; Mann *et al.*, 2010).



Figure 2.5. Miracidia developing into mother sporocysts in DMEM media. *A*) 10 hours after miracidia exposure *B*) 24 hour after miracidia exposures. Blue arrow indicates ciliated plate still attached and red arrow indicates a fully shed plate.

2.3.6. Infecting snails; background

For routine maintenance of the parasite life-cycle it is common to perform mass infections of snails. Mass infections involve pooling snails together in one beaker, followed by the addition of a large number of miracidia. The precise number of miracidia used depends on the desired number of infections per snail. This method has the advantage of being much less time consuming and is particularly useful for large scale infection. However, it is unsuitable for studies where precise control of the infection process is required. Mass infection cannot guarantee that each snail has equal opportunity to be infected by a specific number of miracidia. Indeed, some snails may not be infected while others may obtain heavy infections resulting in high mortality (Ismail *et al.*, 2014).

For the *in vivo* work, a precise method of infection was used to ensure that each snail had the potential to be infected by the same number of miracidia. However, it is unlikely that this actually occurrs in practice, due to uncontrollable genetic differences in compatibility between individual snails and parasites.

2.3.6.1. Number of miracidia

Several studies have attempted to estimate both the optimum age at which to infect snails and the optimum number of miracidia to use in order to achieve high infection rates with low mortality. Makanga (1981) found that miracidial doses of 0, 1, 2 and 4 resulted in mortality rates of 5, 10, 40 and 75% respectively. Blair and Webster (2007) failed to find a dose-dependent relationship between miracidia number and snail mortality, but reported that mortality increased in exposed snails even if they did not develop an infection. It has been suggested that combating infection places a physical cost on the snail (Blair and Webster, 2007; Humphries, 2010). Grassi *et al.*, (2001) found that the percentage of *B.glabrata* which developed an infection was consistent regardless of miracidia dose. Although there appears to be no definitive consensus regarding optimum number of miracidia, when individual snails are valuable (e.g. as experiments units or rare field isolates) it is generally considered good practice to use as few miracidia as possible.

For my experiments I chose to use 7 miracidia per snail in order to strike a balance between optimizing snail survival, while ensuring adequate infection rates. This number was approximately in the mid-range of those typically reported in the literature for experiments involving *S.mansoni* miracidial infections

2.3.6.2. Age of snails

In general, the age of the snail is correlated with shell diameter and therefore age and shell diameter are often used interchangeably to describe a snail (Borges *et al.*, 2006).

As with miracidial dose, there is considerable discrepancy between reports of the optimum size of snails for infection, but unlike miracidial dose it is widely, if not universally, accepted that a correlation exists between snail size/age and mortality rates upon infection (Eveland and Haseeb, 2011). Infection with *S.mansoni* causes higher mortality in *B.glabrata* than in uninfected snails, regardless of age, but it has been consistently found that very young and very old snails are more likely to die after infection than differently-aged individuals.

Meier and Meier-Brook (1981) reported a mortality rate of 77% in 1-week old *B.glabrata* snails upon *S.mansoni* infection. This percentage decreased with increasing snail age but so did the infection success rate. Sturrock and Sturrock (1970) reported a higher mortality rate in 2-week old infected snails, which then decreased with age until 44 weeks, at which point mortality returned to a level similar to that of the 2-week old snails. In general, infected snails display increased mortality rates compared to uninfected snails and these are highest in snails of ages where mortality rates would naturally be expected to be higher regardless of infection. That is, infection exacerbates the mortality-associated risks of age (Humphries, 2010).

For routine maintenance of the life-cycle snails of approximately 10mm in diameter were typically selected (which equates to about 4-6 weeks of age post-hatch) to ensure sufficient numbers of infected snails while preventing excessive mortality. In experimental studies I did not discriminate based on size, and infected young adults of a similar age regardless of any discrepancies in size.

2.3.6.3. Snail infection protocol

Some miracidia may sustain damage during the hatching process and these parasites will settle to the bottom shortly after hatching (Eveland and Haseeb 2011). Miracidia should not be collected after 3-hours post-hatching as their glycogen stores and ability to successfully infect will begin to decline (Eveland and Haseeb, 2011). For snail infections, miracidia were collected between 45 minutes and 2-hours after hatching to allow sub-optimal parasites to settle to the bottom, maximum hatch rates to occur and glycogen stores to remain sufficient.

Prior to infection, snail shells were individually cleaned using a paper towel to remove any undesired microorganisms and excess mucus which can trap miracidia. Snails were placed individually into wells of a 6-well plate. Miracidia were placed into a large glass petri dish in water approximately 5mm deep and collected individually using a Gilson p20 pipette (Figure 2.6).

The method used to catch miracidia proved to be very effective in terms of collecting precise numbers. The pipette was set to a volume of 100µl and the plunger

depressed, the tip was then placed into the water containing the miracidia. Parasites were observed using a dissecting microscope and as individuals passed by the tip of the pipette the plunger was released, which drew in individual miracidia with minimal water. Another advantage of this method was that numerous miracidia could be collected in one go without having to expel the sample. This was achieved by allowing air bubbles to form inside the tip between each miracidia that was caught. The air bubbles prevent the previous parasite from escaping when attempting to catch the next (Figure 2.6).



Figure 2.6. Photograph of pipette tip demonstrating my method for catching precise numbers of miracidia. *An air bubble, drawn in between each capture of a parasite, separates two columns of water, each containing a single parasite.*

In total, 7 miracidia were added to each well of the 6-well plate and freshwater was added until the well was full and the snail completely submerged. The plastic lid was applied and the plates left overnight at 27°C to ensure maximum opportunity for infection. The following day, snails were removed from the well plates and placed into larger communal tanks. These tanks were draped in a black cloth during the course of the infection to reduce premature shedding. Snails were fed normally and the tanks inspected daily to remove any dead.

2.3.6.4. Shedding

The time at which the first cercariae are shed can be quite variable between individual snails depending on numerous factors. Lemos and Andrade, (2001) found that *B.glabrata* exposed to 15 miracidia first began to shed on the 37th day postinfection, with peak shedding occurring between the 67th and 82nd day, after which the rates declined and shedding ceased at day 142 post-infection.

Temperature is perhaps the most important factor in determining parasite development speed and hence the date of the first cercarial release. Foster (1964) studied the effect of temperature on the time of fist cercarial shedding in *Biomphalaria pfeifferi* infected with *S.mansoni* and found a positive linear relationship between increasing temperature and time to first shedding (Table 2.2). While shedding was achieved earliest at the highest temperature (31.75°C), this came at the cost of increased mortality. Therefore, snails were maintained at 27°C, since this is closer to the natural mean daytime temperature at which the interaction between parasite and snail would naturally take place.

Table 2.2. Relationship between snail water temperature and mean number of days to first cercarial shedding. '*Temperature' refers to that of the water in which the infected snails are being kept and 'mean time to first shed' refers to the mean number of days until the first cercariae can be seen to emerge from the snail under microscopic investigation.* Table recreated and adapted from Foster, (1964).

Temperature (°C)	Mean time to first shed (days)
18	57
21	37
22.85	34
24.01	32
26.26	24.5
28.07	21.5
30.04	20
31.75	17.5

Snails can be observed for shedding daily, although there is little point in doing so before the third week post-infection. Alternatively, a specific day can be chosen based on knowledge of shedding dynamics, from which to plan a single large-scale shedding event. Assuming the snails are kept in the dark, then performing a largescale shedding is a quick way to achieve a reasonable estimation of infection rates while reducing the frequency with which infected snails are handled.

For my work, snails were prepared for shedding in a similar manner to when infecting with miracidia (2.3.6.3). Shells were cleaned, including removal of excess mucus to avoid cercariae becoming trapped and individual snails placed in wells of a 6-well plate. The wells were filled with an equal volume of fresh water and the lids replaced. The plates were put under a lamp for 45 minutes, ensuring an equal distribution of light intensity between wells when quantifying differences between individual snails. After 45 minutes the cercariae start to emerge en-masse and at this point I removed all the water in the well and transferred it to a 50ml Falcon tube (Fisher Scientific Co., UK). The snail was rinsed with the same water to ensure no cercariae remained attached to the shell. The 50ml tube was mixed gently and six 5µl samples were taken with a p20 pipette then dotted onto a petri dish (Figure 2.7). This volume was chosen as a representative sample since cercarial numbers from a single shedding event can be in the tens of thousands and could not reasonably all be counted. To each 5µl sample, an equal volume of iodine solution was added (4g potassium iodide and 2g iodine in 100 ml distilled water). The iodine serves two purposes; it stains the cercariae dark yellow-brown so they are easily visible in contrast to the dish, and secondly it fixes them to the dish, immobilising and killing them (Figure 2.7).



Figure 2.7. Photograph of my method for cercariae quantification. *Each yellow-brown dot is a 5µl sample of the water in which a snail was allowed to shed, mixed with an equal volume of iodine solution to immobilize the parasite and enhance contrast.*

The number of cercariae in each 5µl dot could then be counted and the process was repeated 3 times for each sample/snail. The number of cercariae in each dot was averaged and extrapolated for the total volume.

2.4. Alternative model: Marisa cornuarietis

In addition to *B.glabrata*, I also performed some basic studies using the hemocytes of another gastropod mollusc; *Marisa cornuarietis*. In recent years this species has gained attention due to its potential as a model organism for studying the effects of possible endocrine disruption in molluscs (Schulte-Oehlmann *et al.*, 1995; Lyssimachou *et al.*, 2009). Other elements of this specie's biology, such as its short generation time, transparent eggs, and large size make it a good candidate for toxicology and immunotoxicological studies (Sawasdee and Kohler, 2010).

2.4.1. Aim

The work conducted with *Marisa* was not intended to answer the overall thesis hypothesis, despite several overlapping aspects. Indeed, this particular work was borne out of the desire to apply the *in vitro* assays developed for *B.glabrata* to another species of mollusc in order to determine what, if any, differences in responses might occur between species.

The greater size of *M.cornuarietis* compared to other studied gastropod molluscs (such as *B.glabrata* and *Lymnaea stagnalis*) resulted in greater hemocyte yields and it was also much easier to handle. If *Marisa* hemocytes can be shown to have similar morphology, physiology and function to *B.glabrata*, then this species could be a useful model when assessing immune function in gastropods due to its practical advantages. *B.glabrata* display considerable variation between individuals in both hemolymph yield and hemocyte response and it is possible that *M. cornuarietis* may respond more predictably than *B.glabrata*. *B.glabrata* is by no means the perfect model mollusc species, but happens to be the most medically important. Nevertheless, *Marisa* is of medical importance to humans due to its role in ecological systems, as a biological control of vectors of disease, including *B.glabrata*.

If *M. cornuarietis* could be shown to be a more reliable test species than *B.glabrata* it may be useful in preliminary studies or for assay refinement, in the same way that techniques are often pioneered in rats and mice before use on humans. As both *B.glabrata* and *M. cornuarietis* are invertebrates, the latter offers no research advantages in terms of animal experimentation ethics, but could provide a means of establishing mollusc-based immunological assays in a less variable and labour intensive species than *B.glabrata*. There are currently no studies reporting the use of *M. cornuarietis* as a model mollusc for *in vitro* immunological studies so this work may help to form the beginnings of such research.

2.4.2. Distribution

Marisa cornuarietis is endemic to areas of central and Northern-South America in the countries of Bolivia, Brazil, French Guiana, Suriname, Guyana, Colombia and Venezuela. It also has a distribution in the Central American countries of Panama and Costa Rica and in Trinidad and Tobago (Pastorino and Darrigan, 2011; Figure 2.8). In general, its distribution is very similar to that of *B.glabrata* as are its habitats. These primarily include stagnant and slow running freshwater but not temporal water bodies as the eggs must remain submerged (Pastorino and Darrigan, 2011).

Marisa snails are natural competitors and predators of *B.glabrata*, feeding on their eggs, hatchlings and even on adults (Ruiz-tiben, 1969). For this reason, *M.cornuarietis* has received considerable attention as a means of biological control against *S.mansoni via* its negative impact on the parasites primary vector (Selck *et al.*, 2006). Populations of *B.glabrata* were successfully reduced in transmission areas of Puerto Rico after the introduction of *Marisa* (Jobin, 1970). This species has also been used for biological control in the context of invasive aquatic plants as its large size means it is capable of eating considerable amounts of vegetation (Robins, 1971).

Due to its use as a biological control agent and popularity as an aquarium species it also has established itself as an invasive species in some unusual locations far from its native areas. It was first discovered in North America in the state of Florida in 1957 and subsequently in Texas, California and Idaho (Rawlings *et al.*, 2007). The most recent report of *M.cornuarietis* as an invasive species comes from Spain where
the snail was found inhabiting a natural freshwater ecosystem in the north of the country (Arias and Torralba-burrial, 2014).



Figure 2.8. The global distribution of endemic and invasive *M.cornuarietis*. Areas with endemic distribution are shown in blue and invasive distribution shown in red.

2.4.3. Biology

Marisa, often referred to as the 'Giant ramshorn snail' is a gastropod genus belonging to the family *Ampullariidae* (the Apple snails). Despite being termed 'Ramshorn snails' they are not related to the *Planorbidae* (or 'true ramshorns') which include *Biomphalaria*. The genus *Marisa* contains two known species; *Marisa planogyra* and *Marisa cornuarietis*, the latter being the better studied of the two (Rawlings *et al.*, 2007).

These snails are among the largest freshwater gastropods, with shell diameters often exceeding 50mm (Selck *et al.*, 2006). The *Ampullariidae* possess both a clearly defined lung and a monopectinate gill, making them effectively amphibious (Schirling *et al.*, 2006). Unlike *Biomphalaria*, the *Ampullariidae* are gonochoristic,

with individuals being exclusively either male or female and they also have an operculum which acts as a protective lid covering the entrance to the shell.

Although laid underwater, the eggs of *Marisa* do not resemble those of Planorbids, in that they are laid in a large, gelatinous, mass not unlike frog spawn, which sticks to aquatic plants and consists of between 20 to 80 spherical eggs of around 5mm in diameter (Schirling *et al.*, 2006). The gelatinous material also serves as food for the developing snails, which will hatch after around 12 days at 26°C (Sawasdee and Kohler, 2009). Snails reach sexual maturity at around 6 months of age and females will usually first spawn after around 8 months (Janer *et al.*, 2006).

The hemolymph of *M.cornuarietis* is typical of most molluscs, in that its respiratory pigment is hemocynin and subsequently the hemolymph is pale blue in colour, unlike the red hemolymph of *B.glabrata* (Chapter 1, Figure 1.9).



Figure 2.9. Illustration of *Marisa cornuarietis*. Original image drawn by William Charles Linnaeus Martin (1844). Available: http://www.gbif.org/species/2292586 [Accessed: Jan 23rd 2015].

2.4.3.1. Immunology

M.cornuarietis is generally not considered to be of medical importance as a disease vector. Consequently, very few studies have investigated its immune system. It has been shown to support experimental infection with species such as *Angiostrongylus cantonensis*; a parasitic nematode which can cause potentially fatal eosinophilic meningitis in humans (Yousif and Lämmler, 1975).

Yousif and Lammler (1975) tested sixteen species of aquatic snails from four different families and found that all could support a transmissible infection, but that the rate and intensity of infection varied considerably. *M. cornuarietis* showed a significantly more vigorous immune response to *A. cantonensis* and gave rise to fewer viable larvae than did *B. glabrata* (Yousif and Lämmler, 1975). Since the level of compatibility of gastropods to infection with *A. cantonensis* shows such a wide degree of variation between species, it was suggested by Harris and Cheng (1975) as an ideal parasite-mollusc model for comparative studies on cellular responses which are not possible with other parasite species (e.g. *S. mansoni*) due to the limited number of species that can support an infection.

As a gastropods, histological studies have shown that the immune responses of *M*. *cornuarietis* to parasitic infection are similar to those of *B.glabrata*. The primary response to parasites is encapsulation, to varying degrees of intensity, with defence cells seen to flatten over the larvae (Yousif *et al.*, 1980). The cellular reactions against the larvae were found to increase with time and numerous larvae can be seen to have degenerated, with reactions around the degenerated larvae being stronger than around those still intact (Yousif *et al.*, 1980).

While no serious attempt has been made to classify the hemocytes of this snail, current research suggests two principle types of hemocyte and these usually follow the same fundamental classification as for *B.glabrata* i.e. cells which spread and those which don't (Yousif *et al.*, 1980).

M.cornuarietis is also thought to possess an amoebocyte-producing organ, based on the identification of a band-like region of cells which was enlarged and more active in infected snails (Yousif *et al.*, 1980).

2.4.4. Use in ecotoxicology

For a long time, invertebrates were believed to be too phylogenetically distant from humans to be of any use as models of human disease research. We now know that several species which are morphologically extremely different from one another can actually share relevant pathways determining the development of cancers and even dementia-like symptoms (Perkins *et al.*, 2013). Indeed, the fundamental pathways

determining reproduction, development, stress response and innate immunity are highly conserved among metazoans, allowing for a degree of extrapolation to higher species (Perkins *et al.*, 2013). Cell models, such as those relating to gastropod hemocytes and even neural cells, have facilitated our understanding of the fundamentals of more complex processes in mammals (Yoshino *et al.*, 2013). This has led to an increased desire to discover other 'model species' that could be used in preliminary studies, while reducing our reliance on vertebrates with their associated logistical, financial and ethical constraints (Guilhermino *et al.*, 2000).

Molluscs are an extremely diverse phylua and even individuals that appear morphologically similar may be more genetically dissimilar than any two vertebrates. As such, they offer considerable choice and challenge as possible model species.

A number of studies performed in the last two decades suggest that certain species of molluscs are adversely affected by compounds that act like endogenous vertebratetype sex steroids (Ketata *et al.*, 2008). If this is the case, it would enhance the profile of genera like *Marisa* as substitute model organisms for the study of feminization and intersex mechanisms relating to vertebrates. However, the endocrine system of molluscs differs in many aspects to those of vertebrates and sex-steroids, if produced, may not have the same function. Indeed, there is still much controversy in this area (Dietrich *et al.*, 2006; Ketata *et al.*, 2008; Scott, 2013).

Several studies have directly investigated the use of *M.cornuarietis* as a substitute to vertebrates, particularly the zebrafish (*Danio rerio*), in toxicology testing. The *Danio rerio* embryo toxicity test (DarT) is a well-established method for screening developmental, morphological and a range of other sub-lethal and lethal effects on developing fish (Hanisch *et al.*, 2010). The popularity of this method is due in part to the lighter regulation regarding embryos, their comparatively higher numbers and lower space requirements compared to adults (Hanisch *et al.*, 2010). Due to the superficial similarities between the eggs of *Marisa* and zebrafish (size, circularity and transparency) a test was developed to use the snail eggs/embryos as an alternative for toxicological testing (Schirling *et al.*, 2006). Endpoints included tentacle and eye formation, heart rate and hatching success. The *Marisa* embryo toxicity test (MariETT) has since been adopted by several groups and tested against

compounds including lithium, copper, atrazine and imidacloprid (Osterauer *et al.*, 2009; Sawasdee and Kohler, 2009; Sawasdee and Kohler, 2010). On the basis of lowest observed effect concentrations (LOECs), Sawasdee and Kohler (2009) reported that the MariETT was three orders of magnitude more sensitive to tested metals and at least one order more sensitive to biocides, than the *Danio rerio* embryo test.

In addition to the mechanisms already mentioned, many of the elements of the molluscan defence system are functionally very similar to those of mammals and indeed, both share an innate system, the function of which has been very well conserved thought evolutionary history (Ottaviani, 2004). For this reason, invertebrates such as *Marisa* could also be considered as an alternative to vertebrate immnuotoxicology testing.

It is also important to remember that substitution for mammals is not the only incentive for considering invertebrates as model organisms. Certain invertebrates can also be considered as alternatives, or models, in place of other invertebrates. For example, species such as *Biomphalaria glabrata* are of considerable research interest due to their medical importance, but have limitations in their use due to their often poor hemocyte yields and/or responsiveness.

2.4.5. Husbandry

Since *M.cornuarietis* is not currently a widely used test organism, relatively little has been established regarding its husbandry compared to *B.glabrata* (Forbes *et al.*, 2008). Due to the increase in interest regarding *Marisa*, at least two recent studies have attempted to investigate the optimal laboratory rearing conditions (Aufderheide *et al.*, 2006; Selck *et al.*, 2006).

2.4.5.1. Water temperature

In molluscs, it is well established that metabolism and growth increase with increasing temperature and Akerlund (1969) demonstrated this for *Marisa* over a range of 20-35°C.

35°C is typically considered to be too high for these snails in terms of increased mortality and stress and is quite far from their naturally experienced average temperature. Snails have been shown to grow at a significantly faster rate when increasing the temperature from 25°C to 28°C and 28°C is still within 'normal' limits (Aufderheide *et al.*, 2006). Aufderheide *et al.*, (2006) found no differences in egg size or numbers between snails grown in the range of 22-28°C, however at 22°C egg hatchability was reduced by 72% and those which hatched took 42% longer to do so. 22°C appears to be the lower limit of the acceptable range for a constant temperature as at this point developmental rates begin to slow significantly and mortality rates were almost twice as high and growth half as fast when compared to 25°C (Selck *et al.*, 2006).

Aufderheide *et al.*, (2006) concluded that $25^{\circ}C-28^{\circ}C$ lies centrally within the tolerance range of *M. cornuarietis*. In keeping with these findings we maintain our snails at 27°C which is conveniently also around the optimal temperature for *B.glabrata*, though not surprising due to their geographic overlap.

Within the optimal temperature range, snails are expected to reach a shell diameter of 20mm (the point at which sex can be visibly determined) at around 89-101 days post-hatch and 30mm at around 127-145 days (when sexual maturity is reached) (Aufderheide *et al.*, 2006).

2.4.5.2. Light

Compared to seasonal breeding species in which photoperiod is an extremely important signal for reproduction, the role of light reproduction in tropical species is less clear.

Aufderheide *et al.*, (2006) found that alterations in photoperiod had no influence on fecundity traits or egg-hatching but interestingly, juvenile snails grew significantly faster at 28°C than at 25°C when the 24-hour photoperiod was 12 hours of light and 12 hours of dark (12L:12D), but no difference was observed at 16L:8D.

My snails were kept under a 12h light; 12h dark cycle, which was optimal and also fits with that of *B.glabrata*, meaning the two species could be housed in the same room.

2.4.5.3. Density

Due to its large size, densities for *M. cornuarietis* should be kept lower than for most other aquatic gastropods. Just less than 1 snail per litre (0.8 per L) has been reported as optimal with densities of 2 snails per litre or higher causing a significant reduction in growth, frequency of egg laying and rate of hatching success (Aufderheide *et al.*, 2006). The mechanisms behind density dependence have not been investigated in *Marisa* but are likely to be similar to those for *B. glabrata*. My snails were kept in flow-through tanks with densities never exceeding 1 snail per litre.

2.4.5.4. Food

In the laboratory *Marisa* has been successfully fed a variety of foods including lettuce and algae, but snails are reported to have a preference for higher-protein diets (Hofkin *et al.*, 1991). Not only nutrient composition but also digestibility are important and for this reason we fed our snails the same TertraMin[®] as for *B.glabrata* (Selck *et al.*, 2006).

In my experience the optimal husbandry for *M.cornuarietis* very closely matches that of *B.glabrata*, probably because both are aquatic gastropod molluscs and share a very similar geographic distribution. This means that few, if any, additional requirements were necessary with respect to laboratory husbandry, which could potentially encourage departments that already culture *B.glabrata* to also investigate this species.

Chapter 3: Assay validation

3.1. Test chemicals

Given my hypothesis; that the host-parasite relationship is affected by immunomodulatory effects of pollution, I selected 3 representative compounds that are amongst the most commonly reported freshwater organic pollutants in *S.mansoni* transmission areas (Table 3.1), as well as throughout much of the world. In the interest of diversity, each of these compounds is from a different class of pollutant; an endogenous hormone, a plastics component and a pesticide. In addition to these compounds I also tested an extract of primary-treated urban effluent, which would serve as a more environmentally relevant mixture of compounds.

3.1.1. 17β-estradiol (E2)

Steroid estrogens can be categorized into two main groups: natural and synthetic. Major natural estrogens include estrone (E1), 17 β -estradiol (E2) and estriol (E3), which are endogenously produced by all vertebrates, including humans, and possibly in some insects (Mechoulam *et al.*, 2005; Limpiyakorn *et al.*, 2011). Synthetic estrogens, such as 17 α -ethinylestradiol (EE2), are typically analogues of natural estrogens like E2 and are created by pharmaceutical companies for purposes such as birth control (Limpiyakorn *et al.*, 2011). Both natural and synthetic estrogens are excreted in urine and faeces and distributed into the aquatic environment *via* sewage discharge, animal waste and soil run-off (Limpiyakorn *et al.*, 2011). 17 β - estradiol (E2) is the strongest, most active, and most widely distributed of the estrogens found in the environment and is therefore one of the more problematic pollutants, especially due to its endocrine disrupting effects in aquatic wildlife (Jobling *et al.*, 2005; Ruan *et al.*, 2014).

A third group of estrogenic chemicals are the so-called xenoestrogens; chemicals which are not created by the body, nor are they synthesised to have estrogenic activity, but, due to their structure, happen to possess estrogenic properties nonetheless (Fang *et al.*, 2001). The number of chemicals which act as xenoestrogens is considerable. Indeed, all the chemicals used in the following work are known xenoestrogens, despite being used for very different purposes.

3.1.2. Bisphenol A (BPA)

Perhaps the best know xenoestrogen, bisphenol-A (BPA), is an organic compound widely used as a monomer in synthesis of epoxy resins, polycarbonate plastics, polyacrylates and polyesters (Sharma *et al.*, 2009). Due to its diversity of uses, BPA is one of the most highly produced chemicals worldwide, with more than 3.6 million tonnes produced in 2011 (Rubin, 2011). BPA enters the aquatic environment primarily through wastewater effluent but is also known to leach from plastic products floating in the water (Kang *et al.*, 2007). BPA-induced endocrine disruption has been shown in many vertebrate classes including mammals, fish and amphibians (Canesi and Fabbri, 2015).

3.1.3. *p*'*p*-Dichlorodiphenyldichloroethylene (DDE)

One of the best known and earliest studied environmental contaminants is the organochloride pesticide DDT (dichlorodiphenyltrichloroethane). Due to its adverse environmental impact, DDT is now banned in most countries, although its use is still permitted in some areas for the control of malaria-vector mosquitos (Gerić *et al.*, 2012). Due to the persistent nature of DDT, its ability to biomagnify and its extensive use prior to the ban, DDT and its breakdown products are still present in aquatic systems around the globe (Gerić *et al.*, 2012). The primary metabolite of *o*,*p*-DDT is *p*'*p*-Dichlorodiphenyldichloroethylene (DDE), which typically persists much longer than the parent compound and is believed to be responsible for the majority of the negative effects associated with DDT exposure (Binelli *et al.*, 2008; Arrebola *et al.*, 2013).

3.1.4. Effluent extract

The term 'effluent' refers to the water that is discharged from a treatment plant into the aquatic environment. Effluent represents the main source of xenobiotic substances in most of the world's water bodies. Since effluent is a complex mixture of thousands of different chemicals, as would occur in the environment, it arguably represents the most environmentally relevant substance with which to test the effect of pollution in experiments; for this reason, an effluent extract was chosen as a test chemical along with E2, BPA and DDE.

The extract was made from a 1 litre, 24-hour composite sample of primary effluent, which was collected from a conventional activated-sludge plant in London. Primary effluent is sewage which has been removed of suspended and floating solids *via* gravitational sedimentation and represents the most basic form of treatment.

On the same day as the effluent sample was collected, solid phase extraction was performed using a C18 disk (47mm diameter, EmporeTM) to bind the organic chemicals. Chemicals bound to the disk were eluted with methanol, which was subsequently evaporated and replaced with 1 ml of absolute ethanol, resulting in a 1000x concentrated effluent stock. A more detailed explanation of the effluent extraction process can be seen in Chapter 7.

3.2. Doses

The nominal dose ranges selected for the *in vitro* assays covered a relatively broad spectrum of concentrations since levels found in the environment differ substantially by location and season. Also, the use of concentrations that are higher than those found in the environment might compensate for the lower uptake of cells *in vitro* compared to tissue concentrations in a whole animal, which are often considerably higher than environmental concentrations (Gadd, 2000; Groothuis *et al.*, 2015). To achieve concentrated stock solutions ethanol was used as a carrier solvent, with final concentrations not exceeding the maximum limit according to OECD guidelines (OECD, 2009). Control doses (i.e. those containing no test-chemical) contained a percentage of ethanol equal to that of the rest of the doses to account for possible solvent effects.

Table 3.1. Studies which have reported some of the high-levels of my chosen test-chemicals in freshwater-bodies of *S.mansoni* transmission countries. *These example were chosen to give an indication of the higher environmental levels that host snails could feasibly be exposed to.*

Chemical	High dose (µg/L)	Location	Reference
DDE	90	Saudi Arabia	(El-Saeid <i>et al.</i> , 2011)
E2	0.062	Brazil	(Moreira <i>et al.</i> , 2011)
BPA	3.61	Brazil	(Melo and Brito, 2013)

3.3. Statistical Approaches; Methodology and Rationale

Several of the experiments described in this thesis take the form of a dose-response, hence the need to discuss some of the pitfalls commonly encountered with this type of analysis, the ways they can be avoided, how to deal with more complex doseresponse relationships, situations where the correct decision is ambiguous and also times when it may be justifiable to deviate from the 'ideal'.

3.3.1. The dose-response relationship

It is typically asserted that an important consideration in judging whether an association between a chemical and a biological reaction is causal is the presence, or absence, of a dose–response relationship (Rosenbaum, 2003).

The dose–response relationship describes the change in an observable function or behaviour of an individual organism, or a population, induced by differing levels (doses) of exposure to a stressor, usually a chemical (Altshuler, 1981).

The analysis of variance (ANOVA) test has been heavily used for the analysis of biological, behavioural and psychological data since its inception nearly 100 years ago by the pioneering statistician Ronald Fisher (Fisher, 1925; Cottingham *et al.*, 2005). The popularity of this method probably stems from its relative simplicity and flexibility in terms of computation and interpretation, which means that it is one of

the first statistical methods taught to students and is widely availability in statistical software.

ANOVA is an appropriate statistical test in many situations, but is not ideal for use in dose-response assays. Despite this, its use as the primary means of analysis in such studies is still extremely common.

In reality ANOVA and regression, while often taught as being two entirely separate types of analysis, are in-fact almost exactly the same, the only real difference being how we treat the data (Field, 2013).

While ANOVA is effective at detecting the existence of a dose-induced response (discussed below), it cannot describe the actual shape or magnitude of the relationship because it does not consider the order of the doses; a vital component of the dose-response assay (Zhu *et al.*, 2005). This is because ANOVA tests assume that the independent variable is *categorical* i.e. not of a *continuous* and meaningful order. Increasing chemical dose however, is a *continuous* variable and the order of doses is extremely important (OECD, 2010).

The use of an ANOVA for this kind of data is not necessarily 'wrong' since it can be used effectively, if appropriately, in the context of these types of experiment but never to understand the actual dose-response relationship, which is often the main point of the experiment. The ANOVA does not provide information regarding the type of relationship, as a curve would, but indicates which doses differ from one another in the response they elicit. Despite this, it is often apparent that many studies 'shoehorn' dose-response data so that it will fit into an ANOVA. This process of turning a continuous variable into a categorical one is known as dichotomizing (Drummond and Vowler, 2012). An example might be classifying the dose into categories of 'low' or 'high' thus creating a 'cut-point' when in reality there is no true definition of high or low dose, since all the doses lie on a continuous spectrum, in the same way there is no definition of 'old' or 'young' since age is a continuous variable. By doing this, doses which differ by one nanogram could be classified as different when they are likely to be very similar (Sauerbrei and Royston, 2010). Dose-response relationships may not be linear but would certainly be expected to be smooth, something which is not possible to show when using categories.

3.3.1.1. How to investigate dose-response relationships

Regression-based tests answer the question of how the response variable is affected by changes to the independent variable(s) by building a model to attempt to describe the shape of the relationship between (X) dose and (Y) response – can we predict Y if we know the value of X? (Cottingham *et al.*, 2005).

The most basic models are those of simple linear regression when, for example, the relationship might be best described by a straight line running through all the data points. Such a model might be defined as y = a + bx where 'a' is the y intercept and 'b' the slope (Rumsey, 2007).

For many years, toxicologists relied on the presumption that increasing dose of a chemical will result in an overall linear response with the direction dependant on the type of chemical i.e. antagonist or agonist (Figure 3.1A and B). In the case of ecotoxicology, where the study chemical is a 'pollutant' which is expected to have a negative impact, this would typically mean that the higher the dose the greater the harm (Schug *et al.*, 2011). In reality such relationships are not likely to be perfectly linear and while described as such, they are more likely to take on the appearance of a smooth, consistent, curve which is known as monoticity (Figure 3.1C). This type of model is traditionally used by regulators to establish risk assessment profiles for chemicals, with risk being proportional to dose (Schug *et al.*, 2011).

These concepts hold true for many chemicals but more recently it has become widely accepted that deviations from monotonicity (non-monotonicity) not only occur, but are in fact common for certain classes of chemical (Davidson *et al.*, 2006).

In biological systems there are typically numerous factors/mechanisms acting at the same time to control a single response variable. This can mean that the exposure variable may act differently on individual mechanisms, which can result in a nonlinear relationship (Bhujel, 2008). Homeostatic mechanisms can often produce nonlinear dose-response relationships due to the fact that they are working to maintain normality. If a chemical disrupts a process causing the curve to go up or down the homeostatic mechanism attempts to counteract the effect, causing the curve to change direction (Beckon *et al.*, 2008; Myers *et al.*, 2009).



Figure 3.1. Hypothetical examples of strong linear regression relationships seen in dose-response assays. *A) Perfect positive linear relationship B) Perfect negative linear relationship C) A more realistic strongly positive relationship.* R = correlation coefficient.

Non-monotonic dose-response (NMDR) curves can take numerous shapes but are characterised by the fact that they do not follow a consistent increase or decrease over the tested range but instead may bend up and down. For example, an NMDR may show stimulatory responses at the beginning and the end of the dose range with a 'dip' in the middle (Colborn *et al.*, 1997; Lagarde *et al.*, 2015). These shapes are commonly referred to as 'U' or 'inverted U'.

The group of chemicals which have received by far the most attention regarding their tendency toward non-monotonic dose-responses are endocrine disruptors (Vandenberg *et al.*, 2012). EDCs are capable of eliciting bi-phasic dose-responses for many different endpoints, at many levels of organization, such as cell proliferation and organ development (Schug *et al.*, 2011). The existence of NMDR relationships puts into question the adequacy of the traditional testing paradigms and highlights the need to use appropriate models to adequately describe the relationship (Schug, *et al.*, 2011).

3.3.2. Beyond simple linear regression

Due to the more complex nature of the dose-response relationship invoked by certain chemicals, high-order models are often more appropriate in order to accurately model them (Smyth, 2002).

One major family of models used to describe NMDRs are the polynomials (Rumsey, 2007). A first-order polynomial model is a straight line, a second-order forms a parabola shape similar to the 'U' often seen in NMDR curves and third-order polynomials change direction twice, something also relatively common to NMDR curves (Rumsey, 2007). There are higher-order polynomial models but a rule of thumb sometimes used in biological models is that if the data can't be fit by the time the polynomial model reaches a third order then the relationship is ambiguous (Rumsey, 2007).

It is technically possible to fit a model perfectly to any data set, by simply joining the data points together the model would perfectly describe the data; this raises two important issues with complex regression models; (i) the value of R^2 as a definitive indicator of how well the model fits the data and (ii) computer modelling and overfitting.

3.3.3. R² and over-fitting

It is common practice to assess the fit of a model by simply looking at the value of R^2 . This value indicates how closely the curve fits the data, but may be misleading due to over-fitting. The purpose of regression analysis is to provide a realistic description of the true relationship between the two variables and also to extrapolate values for Y based on unknown values for X. R^2 does not tell us whether the relationship is 'realistic'; this can only be done by visual observation.

Due to the complex nature of some of the models required to describe certain kinds of data, including EDCs, curve-fitting software can be used to aid model selection. Such software has numerous pre-defined linear and nonlinear regression models and matches the data against each to find the best fit. The 'best' models are then ranked on the strength of the R^2 value alone, something which is often achieved by overfitting data using high-order polynomial models with excessive numbers of variables to force the curve through the points (Figure 3.2A). I used curve-fitting software (CurveExpert 2.2.0) to aid selection by looking at the graphs and choosing the most 'sensible' model which fits the data and could be reasonably expected, given the experimental design and hypothesis (Figure 3.2B). The final regression models and graphs were created in Graphpad Prism 6.0.



Figure 3.2. Over-fitting demonstrated by the best-fit regression model for a hypothetical data set. *Regression model according to A) software (CurveExpert Pro) and B) visual inspection.*

There are further ways to ensure that the potential for over-fitting is reduced. Before running the curve-fitter, the maximum number of variables to include in the model can be set, in my case this would typically be 3 i.e. a third-order polynomial, which is still feasible given that we are dealing with EDCs. The other step that can be taken is to only report the adjusted R^2 value rather than the standard R^2 . The adjusted R^2 equation penalizes the addition of extra variables to the model, which may be of very little relevance in explaining the true relationship but still inflate the R^2 value to an artificially high level. The adjusted R^2 value therefore represents a more conservative estimation and is especially useful when dealing with polynomials (Rumsey, 2007).

In his authoritative work entitled 'Statistical Power Analysis for the Behavioural Sciences', Cohen (1988) outlined a number of criteria for gauging small, medium and large effect sizes based on r^2 value:

r effects: small \geq .10, moderate \geq .30, large \geq .50

Throughout the thesis this criterion will be used as a means by which to describe the relative response of a regression relationship.

3.3.4. Adjusting variable data

A common method in dose-response studies is to apply a logarithmic transformation to the X (dose) values. Since doses are typically spaced in orders of magnitude, the data points are positively skewed with several data points at the beginning of the dose-range grouped much closer together than those at higher doses, making the graph difficult to interpret. The transformation results in equal spacing between data points to aide with visualization but has no influence on the best fit values or their standard errors or confidence intervals (Motulsky, 2003).

Another common practice is to perform analysis on the mean value of Y, that is to average the value of independent replicates of Y for each value of X and then to enter a single data point into the software for analysis. The result is that the sum-ofsquares will be much smaller, the points will be closer to the curve on average and the R² much higher than if all the replicates were analysed independently. Table 2.4 shows the difference in adjusted R² value from the same data set when the individual results are entered (adjusted R² = 0.5276) and when only the means are entered (adjusted R² = 0.8167). Often the data are only displayed graphically as single data points (the means) for simplicity, but the analysis should always be performed on all the independent replicates.

X	Y:A	Y:B	Y:C	Y:mean
				(A-C)
1	1.7	1.411	1.93	1.680
2	1.294	1.62	1.49	1.468
3	1.3	1.21	1.79	1.433
4	1.396	1.37	1.2	1.322
5	0.986	0.88	1.06	0.975
Adjusted	0.5276	I		0.8167
R ² :				

Table 3.2. A hypothetical example to demonstrate the difference in adjusted R^2 values when analysing individual data points or mean values for Y. *Analysing mean values results in an inflated Adjusted R2 value (0.8167) when compared to analysing data points individually (0.5276).*

Where regression models are used in my studies, each data point is derived from at least 3 independent replicates of the Y value with each one entered into the model individually and not averaged *a-priori*.

3.3.5. Ambiguous instances

Count data can be ambiguous in its definition and distinction between how it is classified as a variable and subsequently the way in which it is treated (Gotelli and Ellison, 2004). McDondald (2014) gives the following example: If a researcher were counting the number of bacterial colonies on a plate e.g. 87 on the first plate, 92 on the second etc., then each plate would have one data point and therefore be a measurement variable. If instead the aim was to count different coloured bacterial colonies on each plate e.g. 'red' and 'white' this would be a nominal/categorical variable since each colony has a separate data point with 2 possible categories of red or white. A further point of confusion that often appears in the literature stems from the fact that in the later example, where data are categorical, it is common to summarize the results as a percentage e.g. percentage of red colonies verses white colonies. While this is a perfectly reasonable way of displaying the data it is often treated as continuous due to the numerical value, even though the underlying data remains categorical.

3.3.6. Where is it acceptable to deviate from the ideals?

There are circumstances where it is justifiable to deviate from the preferred methods described above. Logistical constraints, properties of the study chemical and sample size are some examples. One of the most likely reasons that the ideal analysis may not be achievable is due to the variability and non-normal nature of the biological system and/or response being studied. Certain types of response are recorded as variables which do not suit standard dose-response analyses that assume a continuous response/dependent variable. Count data, for example, is often highly positively skewed due to larger numbers at low counts and therefore might violate the assumptions of preferred methods. Methods to optimize this type of data are often complex and not widely available in software packages and/or without expert

advice. An example of an appropriate model for count data may include zero-inflated Poisson, although some authors question the necessity of such approaches given their complexity (Allison and Allison, 2012). In situations where the data is highly positively skewed several authors state that dichotomizing becomes a valid option since the disadvantages of this method are outweighed by the problems caused by dealing with the data in a regression model (MacCallum *et al.*, 2002; Streiner, 2002). Another option for allowing such data to be used in dose-response analysis would be to perform a transformation to allow for normal distribution and some researchers prefer this approach over dichotomizing (MacCallum *et al.*, 2002; Crawley, 2005).

3.3.7. ANOVA and multiple comparisons

Despite the limitations of treating continuous data as categorical in dose-response studies (false precision and loss of information) and the advantages of regression/polynomials, several authors have pointed out the potential for using categorical variables for purposes of exploration and to yield important insights (Motulsky and Christopoulos, 2004; May and Bigelow, 2005).

While ANOVA-type analysis has been considered by some as a 'fall-back' when data fail to meet the criteria for regression, it has also been suggested that the relative advantages of both could be combined (Isnard, *et al.*, 2001; Motulsky and Christopoulos, 2004; Cottingham *et al.*, 2005; Berger, 2010).

If the initial ANOVA is significant then differences exist between the dose and the response, but where the difference lies is unknown (Hau and Schapiro, 2003). To find out where the differences lie it is possible to use a multiple comparisons test on group means as *post-hoc*. The preferred test in the context of dose-response is Dunnett's test which compares the response at each dose to the response of the control. Another relatively common multiple comparisons test is Tukey's HSD which compares every combination of dose and response.

Multiple comparisons are not without drawbacks. Testing multiple comparisons raises the probability of making a type 1 error since it is akin to 'fishing' for significance. In a similar manner to adjusted- R^2 in regression, multiple comparisons can be controlled for type 1 error by performing corrections on the p value (Souba

and Wilmore, 2001). Also like the adjusted R^2 , the corrections result in a loss of power. However, being more conservative is usually preferred.

The approach of performing regression when appropriate, followed by multiple comparisons tests is one that I have adopted for dose-response studies as it yields the most amount of useful information i.e. the shape of the relationship, the ability to extrapolate missing values and also the identification of doses which are significantly different. My approach was similar to that used by McMahon *et al.*, (2011).

3.4. Validation experiments

The following section outlines the assays which were performed in-order to help determine that the desired end-points were actually being measured as opposed to potential confounders.

3.4.1. Dose-range effects of test chemicals on hemocyte viability

Given that my studies are concerned with measuring alterations in hemocyte immune-responses and not direct cytotoxicity, it is important to test the effect of the chosen chemicals, across the chosen dose ranges, on hemocyte viability. Without establishing whether chemical doses result in reduced viability we cannot establish to what extent any subsequent observed reduction in immune-response is actually a result of cells failing to respond due to toxicity, as opposed to subtler and non-lethal changes in behaviour and function of cells, resulting in suppressed immune responses.

The aim of my work was not to determine the lethal levels of the chosen pollutants on hemocytes since, from an ecotoxicological perspective, this would have limited relevance as an organism or cell is unlikely to ever be exposed to such large quantities in a natural setting.

For each replicate, 100µl pooled hemolymph was collected as described in Chapter 2 and mixed with an equal volume of CBSS, containing the test chemical, then

transferred to wells of a 24-well plate. After incubation for 1-hour at 27°C, the majority of hemocytes had spread to form a monolayer. The supernatant was removed from the monolayer and replaced with $100\mu1 \alpha$ -CC and incubated for a further 10 minutes. After the final incubation an equal volume of 0.4% trypan blue was added to the well and the solution mixed. Immediately after mixing, a $10\mu1$ sample was taken and added to a hemocytometer where 100 cells were assessed for exclusion or incorporation of the dye. This process was repeated three times for each experimental replicate of each dose.



Figure 3.3. Dose-response assays used to determine whether significant toxicity occurred to hemocytes across my chosen dose range for each test chemical. *A*) *E2 B*) *Effluent extract C*) *BPA D*) *DDE, hemocyte viability measured as % of viable cells* (\pm *SEM of 3 independent replicates*) *according to Trypan blue exclusion.*

None of the test chemicals showed any meaningful relationship between increase in dose, within the measured range, and reduction in cell viability according to the trypan blue exclusion assay (Figure 3.3A-D). A very slight positive relationship appeared for BPA (Figure 3.4C) but there is no existing work which would suggest that this is anything more than natural variation. Indeed, viability testing proved to be the most variable of the assays which were performed. Molluscan hemocyte

populations are known to show very high degrees of difference in viability between individuals, in my study this variation could be a residual effect of having pooled cells from different snails, leading to a more heterogeneous population (Ashton-Alcox and Ford, 1998).

3.4.2. Inhibitor dose-response for in vitro assays

To determine if chemically-induced alterations in the immune-response of interest can reliably be measured, it was important to include compounds with established and reliable effects which are not due to direct cytotoxicity. Sodium azide (NaN₃) is known to be a potent cytochrome C inhibitor in many different cell-types from numerous species, including molluscan hemocytes (Goedken *et al.*, 2004). Inhibition of cytochrome C results in the inhibition of ATP-synthesis, ATP being the main source of energy for the majority of cellular functions (Sun *et al.*, 2010). Cellular functions dependent on ATP, and thus shown to be inhibited by sodium azide, include phagocytosis, motility and aggregation (Thomas *et al.*, 1992; Goedken *et al.*, 2004).

In studies involving molluscan hemocytes sodium azide, at concentrations of up to 2%, has been shown to considerably reduce phagocytosis without significant reduction in cell viability (Brousseau *et al.*, 2000; Sauvé *et al.*, 2002).

Figure 3.4 shows that the response of each immune-endpoint (Figure 3.4; A, B and C) is strongly suppressed with increasing doses of NaN₃, while hemocyte viability is minimally reduced across the same dose range (Figure 3.4; D). These results are in accordance with previous reports on the ability of NaN₃ to suppress hemocyte function at similar concentrations, without inducing significant loss in viability (Sauvé *et al.*, 2002; Goedken *et al.*, 2004). The importance of obtaining this type of preliminary data can be demonstrated using cell motility as an example. If we were to see a reduction in mean cell velocity with increasing dose of NaN₃, but did not know that NaN₃ was cytotoxic within the dose range used, then it could appear that reduction in mean velocity was due to sodium azide-induced inhibition, when in reality the decrease was as a result of the death of individual cells within the population.



Figure 3.4. Dose-response relationships between the metabolic inhibitor NaN₃ and different endpoints of hemocyte health. *A*) *encapsulation index; B*) *mean velocity; C*) *phagocytosis and D*) % *viability, plotted points represent the SEM of 3 independent replicates.*

These results give confidence in the ability to accurately measure the determined immune-responses using the selected assays and cells, furthermore, observed effects are unlikely to be confounded by cytotoxicity of the selected pollutants in the ranges used. More extensive examination of the methodology of these assays and their application to the test chemicals will be described in detail in their respective chapters.

Chapter 4: Encapsulation

4.1. Introduction

Once a miracidium has successfully penetrated a snail it may rapidly be subjected to strong tissue reactions from the host which ultimately determine the outcome of the infection (Mohammed *et al.*, 2011b). The degree of this response is dependent on several factors including the developmental and nutritional state of the host and perhaps most importantly, genetic compatibility between parasite and snail (Santos *et al.*, 2011). Also of varying, and in many cases undetermined, importance in influencing the outcome of the interaction are an innumerable assortment of environmental factors such as temperature, light, pH and the presence of xenobiotics; the latter of which is the subject of further investigate here (Santos *et al.*, 2011).

The scope of this study was restricted to the very first stages at which the hosts ability to respond is evident and consequently also the first signs of any potential disruption by external factors.

Hemocytes migrate toward the sporocyst immediately upon recognition of a nonself-object and noticeable encapsulation will occur within 3 hours, followed by the phagocytosis of particles such as the epidermal plates after around 7.5 hours (Jourdane and Cheng, 1987; Mohammed *et al.*, 2011). If the infection is prevented, the parasite will usually cease to develop at around 24 hours' post-penetration and death will occur within 72 hours (Mohammed *et al.*, 2011).

While mechanisms such as the release of reactive oxygen species primarily determine the ultimate fate of the parasite, it is clear is that they must first be preceded by encapsulation. Interestingly, the encapsulation process occurs in either resistant or susceptible strains (Meuleman *et al.*, 1987; Goodall *et al.*, 2004). Some parasites may be destroyed by susceptible strains, equally some may develop in resistant strains, but it is the comparatively low rates at which these events occur that marks the difference.

Determining the exact role of encapsulation is complicated since some parasites in susceptible strains remain unencapsulated and are able to develop while others, which are equally viable, become totally surrounded by hemocytes (Ruelas *et al.*, 2007). It appears that some parasites are able to develop regardless of encapsulation, but if destruction is to take place encapsulation must first occur.

In line with the establishment of various resistant and susceptible inbred stains of *B.glabrata* and the establishment of the Bge cell line, the development of *in vitro* techniques to manipulate the parasite-snail interaction has been of great importance in facilitating my understanding of the relationship between *B.glabrata* and *S.mansoni* (Yoshino and Coustau, 2011). The cell-mediated-cytotoxicity (CMC) assay first developed by Bayne *et al.*, (1980) used *in vitro* transformed sporocysts to interact with collected hemocytes to investigate the nature of the killing mechanism. The basic principles of the assay, i.e. simulating the parasite-host reaction *in vitro*, have since been used for several purposes and I therefore applied it to study the effect of environmental pollutants.

As with several of my *in vitro* studies, this is the first instance where such work has been carried out with *B.glabrata-S.mansoni*, in the presence of chemical pollutants. In fact, I was unable to find evidence of *in vitro* encapsulation of parasites being used in any ecotoxicology study.

My aim was firstly to assess whether *in vitro* encapsulation assays could be adapted for use in ecotoxicological assays and secondly to determine the nature/degree of any relationship between encapsulation and xenobiotic exposure.

4.2. Materials and methods

The following section describes the methods specific to the preparation and conduction of the *in vitro* encapsulation assays.

4.2.1. Husbandry of test species

Snails and parasites were maintained and prepared as outlined in Chapter 2 (Section 2.1).

4.2.2. Fixing of sporocysts

Since the parasite life cycle was not available in-house I relied on eggs harvested from mouse livers collected at LSHTM to transform the parasites. Due to this, I was limited to obtaining new eggs once every 6-8 weeks (in accordance with the parasite life cycle). For this reason, and due to the fact that I typically performed numerous assays over several days, I decided to fix sporocysts prior to use in the encapsulation assay. This was just one of several instances where decisions had to be based partly on practicality. This begin said, if using the correct type (and ratio) of fixatives, sporocysts which are fixed can induce much the same response as live parasites and may even provide advantages other than just practicality. Unlike internal features, including antigens, external features and their immunoreactivity are well preserved by fixatives (Lumsden *et al.*, 1979). Fixing parasites also prevents protein turnover and so provides a more stable target (Bayne *et al.*, 1986).

I used Karnovsky's fixative, which is the preferred choice for sporocysts destined for *in vitro* manipulation, rather than procedures such as electron microscopy. This solution is a mixture of 2.5% glutaraldehyde plus 2.5% formaldehyde in CBSS and makes use of the beneficial properties of both aldehyde fixatives (Renshaw, 2007; Nacif-Pimenta *et al.*, 2012).

After transformation the sporocysts were first washed of the culture medium. To achieve this, parasites were gently extracted from the culture dishes and added to a 15ml falcon tube then mixed with 10ml CBSS. The tube was placed on ice to reduce further development and allow the sporocysts to naturally settle to the bottom of the tube over 15 minutes. The supernatant was then extracted and replaced with the fixative solution at room temperature. The parasite 'stock' can be used after 1 hour of fixing or potentially after considerably longer periods of time.

After fixing, the number of sporocysts was determined based on counting a representative sample under the microscope. The miracidia collection device described in Chapter 2 (Section 2.3.4) made this process much easier since there were no large pieces of debris which could be mistaken for parasites.

After the assay had been performed, the hemocytes/sporocysts were also fixed with the same solution prior to quantification, in order to halt the interaction but also to preserve it so that it could be quantified at a later date if necessary.

4.2.3. Development of chamber slides

While encapsulation responses can be viewed in a well-plate (using an inverted microscope), this is not ideal as the depth and small space mean visibility is difficult and objects may overlap. For this reason, samples were transferred to a microscope slide for quantification. The difficulty I encountered was that when interactions took place in well plates, as is typically the case, the addition of fixative caused many parasites/hemocytes to adhere strongly to the bottom of the plate which therefore could not be transferred to a slide.

The solution to this problem was to use a 'chamber slide' where the interaction takes place in a chamber which is attached to a microscope slide, with the surface of the slide forming the bottom of the chamber. The chamber can then be removed, resulting in samples settled on a microscope slide without needing to be transferred. While numerous commercial chamber slides exist, I was unable to find any which suited my particular needs. Commercially available chamber slides are almost exclusively aimed at cell culture monolayers and each slide consists of a chamber separated into multiple compartments to optimize space. This is suitable when working with a monolayer, as cells with grow within the chamber boundaries and can subsequently be viewed as separate/separated replicates on a single slide. Due to the nature of my assay, in order to ensure proper quantification each sample needed to be spread across the whole of a single slide and so I could not use multiple compartments on a single slide and was unable to find any existing designs which included only a single chamber. Another downside of these slides is their high cost which, when not able to perform multiple replicates on a single slide, was prohibitively high. For the reasons described above I developed a simple chamber slide using inexpensive materials to meet my exact requirements (Figure 4.1; A).



Figure 4.1. Development process for my purpose-built chamber-slide for use in the *in vitro* encapsulation assay. *A*) *The individual components used to construct the slides; silicone putty* consisting of two parts, Vacutainer tube and glass microscope slide *B*) *The individual components* prepared for set-up; the Vacutainer tube cut to size and the appropriate amount of the two putty parts *C*) Chamber slide prepared for use, with the putty parts combined and hardened *D*) Chamber filled with hemolymph *E*) Vacutainer top added back on to the tube section to prevent desiccation/evaporation *F*) *The resulting state of the hemolymph sample after removal of the tube* chamber and putty; no residual putty left behind, the sample is now ready for application of a coverslip.

The basic principle of creating a chamber to place on the slide was extremely simple. For the chamber I used a siliconized Vacutainer tube since hemocytes do not stick to the sides of these tubes (Bezerra *et al.*, 1999). The vacutainer was cut to a size able to accommodate 1 ml of liquid (Figure 4.1; B). Much more difficult was finding an appropriate method of keeping the chamber adhered to the slide so as to be water tight during the assay, while allowing the chamber to be removed for quantification. The majority of adhesives capable of sealing the chamber to the slide leave a residue which prevents the sample being spread over the slide and also typically contain toxic chemicals. I found a non-toxic silicone putty which was ideal for my purposes (Figure 4.1; A). The putty consists of two parts which when mixed together solidify in approximately 5 minutes (Figure 4.1; B). When applied around the base of the chamber the putty keeps a watertight seal which can be easily removed without leaving any residue (Figure 4.1; C-F). During the incubation stage of the assay the

vacutainer top was replaced onto the chamber to prevent desiccation (Figure 4.1; E). After the assay was complete the majority of supernatant could be removed, followed by the chamber, leaving the settled sample in a small volume of liquid which could then be spread by a coverslip for observation of a sporocyst monolayer (Figure 4.1; F).

To sterilize the chamber slides the individual solid parts were first soaked in 70% ethanol and allowed to dry under a cell-culture hood. The components were assembled under the hood and the slide was then subject to UV for 30 minutes.

4.2.4. Surface coating

The very first experiments into the *in vitro* interactions between sporocysts and hemocytes took place on an agar surface (Bayne *et al.*, 1980). The purpose of this was to ensure a more 'natural' interaction. Hemocytes readily stick and spread to standard cell culture surfaces as well as to the parasite, coating plates in a non-adherent material such as 1% agarose ensures that hemocytes remain rounded unless in contact with the parasite, as would be the case *in vivo*.

I initially attempted to use the agar method but found certain aspects of the manipulation process to be awkward. Since agar is not transparent the interaction cannot be observed by a microscope *in situ* and sporocysts instead need to be carefully transfer to a microscope slide for observation (Bayne *et al.*, 1980; Araque *et al.* 2003).

Boehmler *et al.*, (1996) built on the original assay to allow a similarly natural interaction, but without the need for agar and thus allowing for observation to take place in the same vessel as the interaction. This was achieved by coating the plates with Poly-L-lysine which, at lower concentrations (0.1 mg/ml), prevents *B.glabrata* hemocytes from sticking to the culture surface. Interestingly this compound displays the opposite effect in cells from other species, where it is used to enhance adhesion and spreading (Boehmler *et al.*, 1996).

In my final tests I chose to use the coating method described by Boehmler *et al.*, (1996) and found that the cells responded in much the same manner they described. Other aspects of my encapsulation assay were considerably different to those previously reported and required a reasonable degree of development in order to optimize them for my specific purposes.

4.2.5. Staining parasites

After fixing, the parasites were stained with FITC (Fluorescein isothiocyanate) since it can be extremely difficult to differentiate fully encapsulated sporocysts from cell aggregates which don't contain any parasites (Dikkeboom *et al.*, 1988). Staining was adapted from the protocol used by Boswell and Bayne, (1986).

On the day of an assay, FITC was prepared at 5μ g/ml in CBSS, added to the desired number of sporocysts and incubated in the dark for 25 minutes. After the incubation period a washing step was performed whereby the sporocysts were spun at 2000rpm for 5 minutes and the supernatant removed and replaced with an equal volume of FITC-free CBSS. This process was repeated approximately 3 times until the CBSS was free of visible stain and the tube was gently vortexed to separate the sporocysts.

4.2.6. Hemolymph and incubation

Hemolymph was collected as described in Chapter 2 (Section 2.2.2). 3 separate pools were made, each containing equal amounts of hemolymph from 8 snails and placed on ice. For each separate slide/chemical dose a sample of 200µl hemolymph was taken from each pool, mixed with an equal volume of 2x (double-strength) chemical in CBSS and added to the chamber slide (n=3 for each dose). The result was 400µl of 50% hemolymph and 50% CBSS/chemical in each chamber slide, with the correct chemical concentration achieved after accounting for the dilution by hemolymph. Stained sporocysts were added to the chamber slide at a ratio of 2 per µl of hemolymph, the chamber was then sealed and incubated at 27°C for 4 hours. After the incubation period most of the liquid was removed leaving only approximately 50µl, along with the settled sporocysts and hemocytes. A cover-slip was placed over the sample and the slide then taken for counting under a fluorescence microscope.

4.2.7. Analysis; quantifying encapsulation and statistical analysis

The majority of the few studies which have investigated *in vitro* encapsulation in invertebrates typically quantify the process using a semi-quantitative 'encapsulation' or 'adhesion' index. Since it is not possible to quantify the exact percentage of a sporocyst that is encapsulated, an observer-defined value is assigned to each parasite. The values are based on either the approximate degree of encapsulation of the surface or the approximate number of cells attached (Table 4.1; Figure 4.2; Figure 4.3).

Reference	Index value	Definition of criteria for index value	
		(Percentage coverage or number of	
		cells attached)	
(Kawasaki et al., 2013)	1	0	
	2	20-40%	
	3	>40-60%	
	4	>60%	
(Martins-Souza et al., 2011)	0	0	
	1	1-10 cells	
	2	11-50 cells	
	3	>50 cells	
(Castillo and Yoshino, 2002)	1	0	
	2	Up to 10 cells	
	3	>10 cells, <50%	
	4	>50%	
(Bayne et al., 1986; Loker et	0	Single cells	
<i>al.</i> , 1989).	1	'point' contact	
	2	'extensive contact'	

Table 4.1. Some examples of semi-quantitative scoring definitions of encapsulation index from various studies.

In this study, the index used by Castillo and Yoshino (2002) was adopted. All sporocysts on the slide were counted and assigned values of 0, 1, 2 or 3. The

individual values were tallied to give a total score which was then divided by the total number of sporocysts counted, to produce the final encapsulation index value.

Assay encapsulation index value = $\frac{Mean \ score \ of \ all \ sporocysts}{Total \ sporocysts \ counted}$



Figure 4.2. Photographic examples of sporocyst encapsulation index from two different studies. *Row 1*, *A*-*D*; *encapsulation index values* 0-3 *according to Martins-Souza et al.*, (2011). *Row* 2, *A*-*D*; *encapsulation index values* 1-4 *according to Castillo and Yoshino* (2002).

Statistical analysis was performed in GraphPad Prism 6.0 for Windows (GraphPad Software Inc., La Jolla, CA) and the main principles adhere to those discussed in Chapter 2. Statistical tests were chosen with the help of the OECD Document on Current Approaches to Statistical Analysis of Ecotoxicity Data (OECD, 2009). For the purpose of analysis 'encapsulation index' was considered as a measurement value. Despite sporocysts being given a subjective rating McDonald (2014) explains that this type of data, where objective measurement using instruments is not possible, can still be classed as a measurement even though the measurement is performed by the observer, since values still fall on an interval scale.

The relationship between dose (X) and encapsulation index score (Y) was modelled by first, second or third order polynomial regression models. All values for Y were entered as three independent observations (n = 3) and values were not averaged prior to analysis, nor were they transformed. X values were log transformed.



Figure 4.3. Example of fluorescence microscopy used in the scoring index of my encapsulation assays. *A*) *Example of how fluorescent sporocysts can be identified even when encapsulating B*) Shows that adjustment of exposure and contrast allows observation of a 2D image of the sporocyst and the attached cells C) Shows the sporocysts after being masked to better distinguish the parasite from the surrounding cells. Arrows indicate attached hemocytes.

4.3. Results

When compared to images from Martins-Souza, *et a*l., (2011) and Castillo and Yoshino, (2002) (Figure 4.2; 1 and 2), my interactions appear morphologically very similar, giving confidence in the counting procedure used as it was the same as they describe and also suggests that interactions were essentially as would be expected under 'normal' circumstances.

All chemicals were best described in their relationship with the encapsulation index by a nonlinear dose-response curve. The relationship between encapsulation index and dose for BPA and the effluent extract was best modelled by a second order (quadratic) polynomial ($y=a+bx+cx^2$) curve whereas E2 was best modelled by a third order (cubic) polynomial ($Y = a + bx + cx^2 + dx^3$). The dose-response relationship for DDE was the most simplistic, being best described by a first order (straight line) polynomial model (y = b0 + b1x) (Figure 4.4; D).

All outputs for the regression models were free of error messages indicating that the fundamental parameters were appropriate i.e. the fit was not ambiguous, there were sufficient data points and confidence intervals were not excessively wide.

For all models, the D'Agostino-Pearson omnibus K2 test was not significant (p = >0.05) suggesting that the residuals were normally distributed and thus fit the requirements for regression.

In order to account for the complexity of higher-order polynomial models and the resulting potential for inflating the R^2 value, I chose to only report the adjusted R^2 as it provides a more realistic interpretation (section 3.3.3). For E2 I obtained an adjusted R^2 value of 0.225 suggesting that the majority of the variance in encapsulation index (77.5%) is not explained by E2 dose using this model. The models for the remaining chemicals displayed higher adjusted R^2 values, with dose typically explaining around 50% of the variance in encapsulation index with values of 0.5276, 0.4584 and 0.6017 for BPA, effluent and DDE respectively.

Since I collected multiple independent values for Y at each value of X I was able to run a replicates test to determine whether the average distance of the points from the curve was significantly different from the among-replicate scatter i.e. whether the curve is close enough to the mean of the replicates. This test is a good indicator of the suitability of a model and in each case I obtained a test significance level of >0.05 indicating that the chosen models are likely to be adequate.


Figure 4.4. Regression relationships between log dose (X axis) of test chemicals against encapsulation response toward *S. mansoni* sporocysts by *B. glabrata* hemocytes exposed *in vitro* (Y axis). *Hemocyte response plotted as mean encapsulation index value* \pm *SEM of 3 independent replicates. A) Hemocyte encapsulation response to E2 exposure B) Hemocyte encapsulation response to BPA exposure C) Hemocyte encapsulation response to Effluent exposure D) Hemocyte encapsulation response to DDE exposure.*

As described in Chapter 3, Section 3.3.7, I decided to further explore the data in a more 'general' manor by using Dunnett's test for multiple comparisons to look for any significant differences between the encapsulation index at an individual dose when compared to the respective control (0ng) for that chemical.



Figure 4.5. Dunnett's multiple comparisons between mean value of hemocyte encapsulation index (X) at each test chemical and dose (Y). *Hemocyte response plotted as mean encapsulation index value* \pm *SEM of 3 independent replicates for all doses of each chemical (Y). Response to doses of the same test chemical in different shades. Asterisks indicate doses which were significantly different to their respective control (p = < 0.05) according to Dunnett's test for multiple comparisons.*

The results from the multiple comparisons test showed that only the top doses of BPA (2mg/L) and DDE (5mg/L) were significantly different from their controls (Figure 4.5).

Tukeys HSD multiple comparisons test was also performed to compared all chemicals and doses with each other. Numerous significant differences between combinations of different doses/chemicals were found, with 0.1x effluent appearing in the largest number of significant combinations. Within chemicals, aside from the differences shown by Dunnett's test, a significant difference was found between 0.1x and both 1x and 10x for effluent and between 5ng and 5mg for DDE.

4.4. Discussion

The constructed chamber slides proved to be a simple and effective means of studying the interaction given the limitations of the available equipment. These chamber slides could likely be applied to various different *in vitro* cell-based assays beyond those described here, especially in situations where cost is a significant factor (individual chamber slides typically retail at between £10-£15 and are usually only available in packs of a minimum size of 16).

Only a small number of *in vitro* hemocyte encapsulation assays are reported in the literature for any species and an even smaller number concerning *B.glabrata*. I was able to qualitatively compare my assay to those studies which included images of the *in vitro* encapsulation process which they had observed (Figure 4.2) and this gave me confidence in the validity/normality of the interactions between sporocyst and hemocytes in my study.

To my knowledge there exist no other studies which have investigated *in vitro* encapsulation by invertebrate hemocytes in response to environmental contaminants. Since this area has not been investigated in a detailed fashion, I am restricted in the generalizations I can make and, unlike the basic hemocyte-sporocyst interaction, there is little against which I can compare and contrast findings in relation to chemical dose-response. Despite this, there do exist a number of studies on the effects of some of the study chemicals (primarily BPA and E2) on in vitro immune parameters in molluscs (mussels), the majority of which come from the work of Canesi et al. While their work does not address the encapsulation response, it is known that certain key intracellular immune-related and/or regulatory processes can be responsible for directly or indirectly controlling several different functions. For example, Canesi et al., (2004) showed that E2 was able to rapidly effect different immune parameters in mussel hemocytes through modulation of Mitogen-activated protein kinases (MAPK) via the activation of kinase cascades. Interestingly, but perhaps not surprisingly since such functions are often well conserved, these same signalling pathways are believed to be important in regulating cell adherence and spreading in *B.glabrata*, which are two of the fundamental stages leading to encapsulation (Humphries et al., 2001). From this we can speculate as to one possible mechanism by which E2 may influence encapsulation, however based on

the data obtained for this chemical it would be impossible to make any conclusions without performing more studies, particularly at the molecular level.

Nonlinear dose-response patterns are frequently seen in toxicology and as a result polynomial models are increasingly described in the literature (Davidson *et al.*, 2006). Models which once may have been considered 'too complex' are now often seen as being more realistic when describing the relationship between certain compounds and biological functions in a range of species including molluscs (Canesi *et al.*, 2007b; Forbes *et al.*, 2007; OECD, 2009).

Non-monotonic relationships, such as that which I found for E2, typically suggest that numerous different mechanisms are involved in the response and this may be the case for encapsulation which is thought to be under the control of several. Canesi *et al.*, (2004) found that BPA also caused significant disruption of immune parameters but did not elicit its response *via* exactly the same mechanisms as E2. In a later study involving BPA Canesi *et al.*, (2007) performed dose-response analysis against several immune parameters of mussel hemocytes and in several cases the relationship was found to be non-monotonic in nature.

While there is insufficient data in the literature to make any comparisons regarding the possible mechanisms behind the *in vitro* effects of DDE or effluent extract exposure on mollusc hemocyte immune parameters, the results for these chemicals do offer some potential, yet fairly broad, explanations as to the nature of the relationship.

DDE and the effluent extract appear to display hormesis-like trends, characterised by low-dose stimulation and high-dose suppression. This phenomenon has been reported in a wide range of animal and even plant species and is also often associated with immune function dose-response relationships (Calabrese, 2008). Tukey's HSD test was a useful means of confirming this, as for both chemicals the lowest (noncontrol) dose was associated with a significantly higher encapsulation score than the highest dose. In both cases the lowest dose can be seen to be higher than the control (Figure 4.5), although differences were not significant. The underlying cause of this type of relationship is still unclear but it is sometimes suggested that stimulation occurs as an overcompensation to a low, but non-toxic, dose which disrupts homeostasis, whereas high doses suppress activity, possibly because they simply become acutely toxic (Calabrese, 2008).

4.5: Conclusion

I was able to successfully perform *in vitro* encapsulation interactions which were comparable to those reported in previous studies and was able to do so using a lowcost, yet effective chamber-slide based on easily acquirable items. A simple technique such as this may appeal to those who wish to perform a small number of chamber-slide assays and do not wish to purchase in bulk or those who wish to perform numerous assays and cannot afford to spend hundreds, or even thousands, of pounds on disposable commercial chamber slides.

I have shown that it is feasible to perform *in vitro* encapsulation assays under the exposure of selected chemicals and to perform quantifiable dose-response assays. To my knowledge *in vitro* encapsulation has not previously been used as a means of assessing pollutant-induced impairment of immunity and so primarily I consider this work as a proof-of-principle first and foremost.

I was able to show that certain environmental pollutants do appear to exert a modest effect on *in vitro* sporocyst encapsulation, but that the relationship is relatively complex, as is often the case when dealing with endocrine disrupting chemicals. However, the aim was not to intentionally achieve a dramatic and stark response by including doses which entirely disrupt the process. The doses used in this study maintain a degree of environmental relevance (based on water concentration alone), although it is likely that concentrations of some chemicals in hemolymph, *in vivo*, could be significantly higher due to bioconcentration.

Pinpointing the exact mechanisms responsible for the observed effects was beyond the scope of this study, but I suggest that this assay could be performed with more specific end-points in mind to answer such questions, perhaps at a molecular level.

Chapter 5: Phagocytosis

5.1. Introduction

Perhaps the most important function of hemocytes and one of the key parameters of the non-specific immune response in all animals, is phagocytosis (Fournier *et al.*, 2000; Gust *et al.*, 2013). Upon encountering a potential pathogen, hemocytes attach to the object and attempt to internalize it, effectively incorporating the object into the hemocyte itself, at which point it is subject to intracellular destruction by reactive oxygen species (Lopez-Cortes *et al.*, 1999; Gust *et al.*, 2013).

In the case of larger objects which a single cell cannot internalize, hemocytes still attempt phagocytosis but this typically results in many cells spread over the surface of the object until it is entirely surrounded. This process is known as encapsulation and the result is similar to granuloma formation in vertebrates (Cheng, 1981; Galloway and Depledge, 2001). Together the mechanistically identical processes of phagocytosis and encapsulation represent the primary response of the molluscan immune system to foreign objects. For this reason, phagocytosis has become an important and well established biomarker of immune function in molluscs and other species.

Phagocytosis has been measured in bivalve and gastropod mollusc hemocytes using a variety of different methods that typically involve enumeration of ingested particles (Blaise *et al.*, 2002).

Standard bright-field microscopy has been used to study phagocytosis for over 100 years; a process that was first observed in hemocytes (Cooper *et al.*, 2006). The main draw-back of this technique is the difficulty in distinguishing between particles that have been internalized and those that are simply attached to the cell surface; something which is fundamental to accurately assessing phagocytosis (Champion, 2007). Fluorescence microscopy helps to overcome this problem based on the properties of different staining techniques and the ability to quench and exclude external particles (Lopez-Cortes *et al.*, 1999).

Microscopy can provide accurate and detailed information regarding individual cell morphology and phagocytosis but is labour intensive and time consuming, especially given the large sample sizes often required to overcome the variability between individual hemocytes (Oehlmann and Schulte-Oehlmann, 2002; Goedken *et al.*, 2004;). Furthermore, phagocytosis measurements made using standard microscopy may be prone to experimental bias due to the subjectivity of user scoring (Payés *et al.*, 2012).

In the late 1980's flow cytometry enabled substantial increases in the speed and sample size available to phagocytosis assays using mollusc hemocytes (Fisher and Ford, 1988; Alvarez *et al.*, 1989; Ashton-Alcox and Ford, 1998). Despite these advantages, flow cytometry is limited by the fact that cells are not directly visualized and quantification is based solely on fluorescence intensity. Therefore, some authors consider flow cytometry to be a 'semi-quantitative' method (Ploppa *et al.*, 2012).

Recent advances in camera, optics and computing technology have made it possible to produce commercially available imaging flow cytometers (IFC). Imaging flow cytometers combine the strengths of microscopy (including spatial, morphological and fluorescence information) with the high-throughput nature of flow cytometry and are therefore perfectly suited to perform accurate and statistically robust phagocytosis assays (Filby and Davies, 2012). As well as the increased amount of data which is taken from each cell, most imaging flow cytometers come with advanced software which can greatly improve the accuracy of gating since each individual point on a scatter graph can be directly related to the corresponding cell image for subsequent visual confirmation (Zuba-Surma *et al.*, 2007).

In this study I used hemocytes derived from two species of gastropod to developed novel quantitative methods that take advantage of IFC technology, with the aim of modernizing hemocyte phagocytosis assays. To the best of my knowledge this is the first study in which imaging flow cytometry has been applied to mollusc hemocytes and the first attempt to investigate phagocytosis, in any manner, in *Marisa cornuarietis*. Therefore, the data presented here provides new knowledge of phagocytosis in mollusc hemocytes and represents a technical advancement in the study of mollusc immune responses following exposure to chemical pollutants.

5.2. Materials and methods

The following section describes the methods specific to the preparation and conduction of the various *in vitro* phagocytosis assays.

5.2.1. Experimental species and husbandry

Biomphalaria glabrata (BBO2 strain) and *Marisa cornuarietis* were maintained under laboratory conditions as described in Chapter 2 (Section 2.1 and 2.4.5). For each different assay condition (i.e. treatment or dose, within the same experiment) cells were derived from the same pool. Independent experimental replicates were performed on different days using different pools of hemocytes.

5.2.2. Antigens

Several different objects were used as antigens to promote phagocytosis in the different studies. Each antigen had distinct advantages and disadvantages compared to the others. The use of different antigens provided greater scope to investigate hemocyte responses and also helped to determine which antigen was most suited for a particular assay/species. To illustrate, during preliminary tests optimal outcomes could not be achieved when exposing *B.glabrata* to yeast cells. In contrast, *M. cornuarietis* displayed excellent responses to yeast but not latex beads, to which *B.glabrata* responded well.

5.2.2.1. Latex beads

Latex beads are a commonly used antigen in phagocytosis studies on many species as they provide a relatively uniform size and high degree of fluorescence (Lehmann *et al.*, 2000). I used 10 μ l of a 1/10 stock of 1.0 μ m green amine-modified latex beads (Sigma, L2778). The latex beads required this significant dilution due to their extremely large numbers, which made enumeration difficult and resulted in excessive amounts of 'free' beads in the sample. Moreover, high numbers of beads resulted in excessive rates of phagocytosis which obscured the finer nature and quantification of the process (due to large numbers of beads inside the cells).

5.2.2.2. Bioparticles

Recently a new dye (pHrodoTM), has been developed by LifeTechnologies which displays increasing fluorescence with decreasing pH (Simons, 2011). Since the inside of phagosomes is typically much more acidic than the surrounding environment internalized objects that are coated in the dye (*E.coli* bacteria in the case of Bioparticles) show increased fluorescence over non-internalized objects. Thus, the degree of phagocytosis can be calculated based on fluorescence intensity against a control, without the need for extra steps to account for the exclusion of non-internalized objects, as is normally the case.

The dilution used for Bioparticles was 1ml of a stock solution of 1mg per ml CBSS per 1×10^6 cells. The Bioparticles used were green in fluorescence emission.

5.2.2.3. Yeast

Yeast was labelled according to a protocol adapted from Morris *et al.*, (2003). A solution of 13.5mg/ml live *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* (dried active yeast, Allinson) was made in distilled water and was heat-killed by boiling for 30 minutes in an Eppendorf tube. Next a carbonate-bicarbonate solution was made by combining 4ml of 0.2M sodium carbonate with 46ml of 0.2M sodium bicarbonate. The solution was then made up to 200ml with distilled water and the final pH was adjusted to 9.2. The yeast solution was then centrifuged at 300 x g for 5 minutes, the supernatant was poured off and the pellet re-suspended in equal volume of carbonate-bicarbonate solution with 500μ g/ml FITC. The yeast solution was left on a shaker overnight. The following day the solution was centrifuged for 5 minutes at 300 x g and the supernatant replaced with Chernin's buffered salt solution (CBSS PH 7.4; Chernin, 1963). This step was repeated until the supernatant appeared to contain no stain (approx. 5 times). Prior to use in an assay, the yeast solution was vortexed for 1 minute and then passed through a 40µm filter to remove any large clumps. 40µl was added to the hemocyte solution in each case.

5.2.3. Exposing hemocytes to antigens; background

The study of phagocytosis in *B.glabrata* has traditionally involved allowing cells to spread on an artificial surface, after which they are exposed to the chosen antigen. One advantage of this method is that it allows cells to be washed free of any unwanted material and/or the addition of CBSS, while the adherent cells (also the phagocytosing cells) remain attached (Fryer and Adema, 1993). This method of separating cells from hemolymph is also advantageous due to the high mortality and clumping associated with centrifugation of hemocytes. The downside of this method is that it requires cells to be assessed whilst still spread and therefore they cannot be used for analysis that requires a cell suspension e.g. flow cytometry.

In recent years increasing numbers of studies on phagocytosis in molluscan hemocytes have utilized flow cytometry, however, I was only able to find one such study concerning *Biomphalaria* and none concerning *Marisa* (Bakry *et al.*, 2012).

5.2.3.1. Exposing hemocytes to antigens; my method

To expose hemocytes to antigens, while also allowing them to be suitable for use in flow cytometry, I developed a 'hybrid' approach whereby I was able to combine the advantages of exposing to spread cells with the more advanced assaying equipment (flow cytometry) available only for use with a suspension sample.

400µl of pooled hemolymph was added to individual wells of a 24-well plate and the cells were allowed to adhere for 30 mins at 27°C. After 30 mins the supernatant (including non-attached cells) was removed and replaced with 400µl of test solution in CBSS and incubated for a further 30 mins at 27°C. After initial incubation with the test chemical, the antigens were added and the plates were incubated at 27°C on a gentle shaker for 2 hours. The supernatant was then aspirated and replaced with 200µl of α -CE. After 10 minutes in α -CE cells were transferred to an Eppendorf and kept on ice until use in the ImageStream.

5.2.4. Imaging flow cytometery

Imaging flow cytometry (IFC) was performed using the ImageStreamX system (Amnis Inc., Seattle, Washington). The 40x objective was used to acquire images in each experiment.

5.2.4.1. IFC; Pre-acquisition

ImageStream settings are controlled using the INSPIRE software interface. The size of objects recorded is determined by user defined classifiers on an arbitrary scale. Prior to running the sample, classifiers can be set to exclude debris such as large cell clumps which have failed to separate, or any other debris not of interest. For each different cell/antigen type I adjusted the classifiers to achieve optimum collection of single cells. Laser power was also adjusted according to the antigen used. As some antigens have greater fluorescence intensity than others, the laser power was adjusted to prevent over- or under-exposure of the sample.

5.2.4.2. IFC; Post-acquisition

Unlike standard flow-cytometry, IFC allows data to be significantly refined post acquisition. Regardless of how well classifiers and/or focus and laser power are set, all data sets will inevitably contain recordings for undesirable objects. Some objects can be easily excluded due to their large or small size (through a process called 'gating') but IFC enhances our ability to exclude objects which may be of similar morphology to cells since we can visualize them and make decisions in a manner otherwise impossible. Cell image data collected from the ImageStream was analysed using IDEAS 6.0. A histogram was produced based on gradient root-mean-square (RMS) and a region drawn based on visual inspection to define cells which were in acceptable focus (Figure 5.1). Based on the focused population, a scatter graph of area vs aspect ratio was produced and a region drawn to define single cells while excluding clumps, non-cellular debris and free (i.e. non-internalized) antigens (Figure 5.2).



Figure 5.1. Identifying properly focused hemocytes using a frequency histogram generated with ImageStream gradient Root Mean Squared (RMS) data. *Hemocyte images were recorded on the brightfield channel (Ch01). 'Focused' line represents a region of cells which are in acceptable focus according to user-inspection of images; only this population will be used for further analysis. Example images are of hemocytes from focused and non-focused populations*



Figure 5.2. Identifying single cells using a scatter-plot based on ImageStream aspect ratio and area data from the 'focused' hemocyte population. *Region containing single cells are gated based on visual inspection of the brightfield images, example image of single hemocyte within the gated population and of non-cellular debris and free beads which have been excluded.*

5.2.5. IFC; masking

The fluorescence of beads is difficult to quench using trypan blue, due to their extreme intensity. While the majority of non-internalized beads are removed by gating (Figure 5.2) some beads are bound to the cell surface or come through simultaneously in the flow stream with the cell. In these cases a false-positive for phagocytosis may be recorded (Lehmann *et al.*, 1998). I used IDEAS 6.0 to develop a masking strategy to help distinguish between bead-associated images representing phagocytosis and those which did not.

A histogram for channel 2 (green) fluorescence intensity was created based on the focused and single cell populations and a region was created for images which were positive for beads according to visual inspection (figure 5.3).



Figure 5.3. Identifying hemocyte images containing a fluorescent latex bead using a frequency histogram generated with fluorescent intensity data, based on the 'single cell' population. *Hemocyte images recorded on channel 1 (Ch01) and channel 2 (Ch02). Bead+ line represents a region of cell images which contain one or more beads according to user-inspection of images. Representative images from each population are included showing the brightfield channel with the cell and the fluorescent channel with or without a bead.*

To exclude cells in which the beads were not internalized, a morphology mask corresponding to the inside of the cell was created based on the bead positive population. To the brightfield image (Channel 1), an object mask was applied which is a general mask for any objects in the image, pixels were then eroded from this to restrict the mask to inside the cell and then dilated to fit the exact cell boundary (Figure 5.4). The effectiveness of the mask was tested against a 'truth population' of cells visually confirmed to contain internalized beads and those which contained non-internalized beads. To identify beads a spot mask was added on Channel 2 with a cell to background ratio of 35.75 and a radius of 1.



Figure 5.4. Example of the process of developing a custom mask in order to restrict the analysis to the cell image only and exclude external objects. *The first picture shows a composite of the brightfield and channel 2 images of a hemocyte with an external bead and no mask applied. The second image is the same as the first but with the application of an object mask to identify any items within the image. The final image of the same cell/bead shows the ability of the custom mask I developed to exclude external beads.*

After determining the bead positive population (Figure 5.3) based on Channel 2 intensity the custom mask was applied to this Bead+ population to determine the true extent of internalized beads from the cell images that are positive for beads, but in which beads are not necessarily internalized (Figure 5.5).

The mask was also able to successfully categorize images which contained both an internalized bead as well as a non-internalized bead (Figure 5.6).



Figure 5.5. Frequency histogram based on the bead+ population gated into regions of images containing internalization positive (+) and negative (-) cells, according to the custom mask. *Hemocyte images recorded on channel 1 (Ch01) and channel 2 (Ch02)*. *Internalization (+) line represents a region of cells which contain one or more beads according to the custom mask. Internalization (-) line represents a region of cells with no beads inside the cell, although they may be in the same image they have been excluded by the mask.*



Figure 5.6. Example of a situation in which the custom mask correctly identifies an internalized bead while excluding a non-internalized one. *The image on the left is a composite of brightfield and channel 2. The central image is the same but shows channel 2 only, which enhances the contrast of the beads. The image on the right is again the same but with the application of the custom mask which includes the internalized bead but not the external one.*

To quantify the number of internalized beads a spot count feature based on the internalization positive population was created using the morphology/spot count mask. This function counts objects with high Channel 2 fluorescence which fall within the mask and thus gives us information on how many beads are inside each internalization positive cell (Figure 5.7). We expect the spot count histogram to show no data for '0 beads' since the counting was only performed on the cell population that had internalized beads. Should any images fall into this category then the mask would need refining since we would expect all cells counted to contain at least one bead.



Figure 5.7. Frequency histogram based on the internalization positive population showing the quantity of hemocytes which contain specific numbers of beads. *Images show examples of cells which contained different numbers of beads*.

In order to validate the masking method, I performed a quantitative evaluation of the effectiveness of the mask by manually (visually) scoring each cell (>500) from an automated output.

5.2.6. in vitro phagocytosis assays

This section outlines the various assays that were performed to assess *in vitro* phagocytosis. Unless stated otherwise, the preparation for each of the following assays was as described in Section 5.2.

5.2.6.1. *B.glabrata*

The following sub-sections describe the preparation of the *in vitro* phagocytosis assays performed using hemocytes from the primary test species; *B.glabrata*.

5.2.6.1.1. Variation in hemocyte phagocytosis rates

Since hemocytes are known to be highly variable between individual animals and are thus often pooled, I tested the variation in phagocytosis response between technical replicates (intra-pool) and biological replicates (inter-pool). These cells were not treated with any xenobiotic or inhibitory chemicals.

5.2.6.1.2. in vitro exposure of hemocytes to study chemicals

Cells were prepared as a monolayer and were exposed to the same chemicals at the same concentrations as previously described. Latex beads were added as antigens. 3000 cells from 4 independent replicates (pools) were recorded for each dose. Classifiers were set at: 75-300, 488nm laser excitation: 20, 785nm laser excitation: 1.

5.2.6.1.3. Bioparticle; in vitro phagocytosis assay

Cells were prepared as a monolayer. 10ug/ml cytochalasin B in CBSS was used as a negative control since it has been shown to be a potent inhibitor of phagocytosis in mollusc hemocytes (Allam *et al.*, 2002). All other parameters were the same as those used for the chemical exposure study.

5.2.6.1.4. MTT; in vitro phagocytosis assay

In addition to flow cytometry I developed a different method of assessing phagocytosis in order to give a broader approach but also to potentially present a much more simplistic and cost-effective method. MTT (a tetrazolium salt) is reduced by cellular metabolic activity producing crystals of formazan (chestnut brown-bluish colour) and thus the colour intensity is proportional to the number of cells and the degree of their metabolic activity (Bezerra *et al.*, 1999). The MTT assay has routinely been used to assess viability in mammalian cells for years and can also be used to assess increased cellular activity above normal levels which occurs during high-energy processes like phagocytosis. While comparatively much less common, the MTT assay has also been successfully used for the same purposes in invertebrate cells, again demonstrating the remarkable degree of evolutionary conservation among processes. Bezerra *et al.*, (1999) developed a protocol to compare rates of phagocytosis between human granulocytes and *B. glabrata* hemocytes.

In a similar manner to the encapsulation assays, the protocol described by Bezzera *et al.*, (1999) was adapted to incorporate exposure of hemocytes to test chemicals. This study, to my knowledge, represents the first instance of the MTT assay being used to study the effects of pollutant chemicals on phagocytosis in mollusc hemocytes.

Zymosan (a yeast surface protein) was used as the antigen for this assay and prepared at 13.5mg/ml in CBSS. The solution was boiled in an Eppendorff tube for 1 hour and then stored at 4°C.

350µl hemolymph was added to the same type of Vaccutainer tube described in the encapsulation assay (but unaltered). Since this assay does not require direct visualization of cells it is not as important to obtain a single-cell suspension, such as for the flow-cytometry work. Therefore, Vaccutainers were used to allow interactions to take place in suspension and an equal volume of double-strength chemical solution in CBSS was added to the hemolymph and mixed.

For each assay two replicate tubes were prepared for each chemical/dose and $40\mu 1$ zymosan solution was added to half the tubes in order to test for possible effects of the chemicals on both viability and phagocytosis. Table 5.1 provides possible scenarios and the subsequent predicted outcome.

Table 5.1. Proposed interaction between a test chemical and hemocyte function and the expected outcome this would indicate from the MTT assay.

Impact of chemical	Expected result from MTT assay
Chemical exposure reduces phagocytosis and not viability	Reduction in difference between zymosan and none zymosan when compared with control
Chemical exposure affects viability and not phagocytosis	Both with and without zymosan are lower than control but difference between them remains similar
If chemical exposure affects both viability and phagocytosis	Reduction in level of both zymosan and non- zymosan compared to control and less of a difference between zymosan and non-zymosan

Tubes were then incubated for 30 minutes in a water bath at 27° C to allow interactions to begin, after which time 20μ l of MTT solution was added to each tube (5mg/ml in CBSS). The interaction was allowed to take place for 4 hours after the addition of MTT. It is important to keep the tubes in the dark since the solution is photo-reactive.

After 4 hours, the suspension was centrifuged for 5 minutes at 1000g, at this stage it does not matter whether the cells are damaged/clumped.

The tubes were very carefully removed from the centrifuge so as not to disturb the pellet and the supernatant was poured off. During method development it became apparent that this step is the point at which most variability can be introduced to the assay since remaining hemolymph has the potential to cause a darker sample (and thus indicate a stronger response). Initially the supernatant was aspirated off but this method proved ineffective at removing all liquid without disrupting the pellet. The solution was to simply invert the tubes, but it was important to treat all tubes in the same manner and for this reason they were all placed in a large rack (Figure 5.8; A), secured, and then the rack itself was inverted, this way the supernatant from each tube was removed in the same way.

250µl DMSO was added to each pellet to dissolve the formazan crystals and the tubes were shaken for 20 mins to aid dissolution.

The tubes were spun once more for 5 minutes at 1000g and this time 200μ l supernatant was added to wells of a 96-well plate (Figure 5.8; B) and absorbance readings were then taken at both 620 and 570nm using a plate reader.



Figure 5.8. Example images of the setup for the MTT assay, adapted for studying phagocytosis in *B.glabrata*. *A) Vaccutainer tubes containing hemolymph, yeast and MTT and secured in a tube rack before incubation B)* Samples after incubation and removal of supernatant with the DMSO-dissolved formazan crystals prepared in a 96-well plate for absorbance reading.

5.2.6.2. M.cornuarietis

The following section describes the two *in vitro* phagocytosis assays which used hemocytes from *M.cornuarietis*.

5.2.6.2.1. Inhibitor dose-response; in vitro phagocytosis

Sodium azide (NaN₃), a known inhibitor of phagocytosis in mollusc hemocytes, was used to perform a dose-response experiment (Goedken and De Guise, 2004). Cells were prepared as a monolayer and exposed to NaN₃ in CBSS at 0, 0.5, 1, 1.5, 2, 2.5 and 3% in the presence of yeast particles (prepared as described in section 5.2.2.3). 5 minutes prior to use in the ImageStream an equal volume of 0.4% trypan blue was added to the sample and gently mixed in order to quench the fluorescence of extracellular yeast particles, thereby enabling more accurate determination of internalization from surface-adherence (Rodríguez *et al.*, 2003). Three individual replicates were performed for each dose. 8000 cells were collected for each sample. Classifiers were set at: 100-500, 488: 20, 785: 1.

5.2.6.2.2. Effluent exposure assay; in vitro phagocytosis

I decided to perform a small study using the effluent extract as a means of assessing the suitability of *Marisa* in pollutant exposure assays and also as an opportunity to compare the response of *B.glabrata* hemocytes to those of another gastropod mollusc. The assay was performed in the same manner as for the *B.glabrata* hemocyte exposure to the effluent extract.

5.2.7. Statistical analysis

All dose-response data collected from the ImageStream was subsequently analysed using non-linear regression in a similar manner to that described in the previous chapter, with the exception of the *Marisa*-NaN₃ dose-response which followed a linear relationship. Number of beads per cell was treated as continuous in order to utilize the spot count data. Dichotomizing the response into positive and negative would only yield data on percentage phagocytosis and thus discard the extra information we have regarding the relative 'degree' of phagocytosis from the spotcount of each cell.

BioParticle data was analysed by t-test since the predictor was categorical with fewer than three categories (inhibitor presence/absence). Sensitivity and specificity of the masks ability to correctly identify and count internalized beads, when compared to human observation, was performed using Graphpad QuickCalcs. Intra and inter-pool variation were compared using percentage coefficient of variation. The MTT assay was analysed by multiple regression, with chemical dose and zymosan presence/absence as the continuous and categorical predictors respectively, and absorbance reading as the continuous response. Tests were performed in IBM SPSS version 22.

5.3. Results

In this chapter the results section is not only separated by individual assay but also by the two individual mollusc test species.

5.3.1. B.glabrata; in vitro phagocytosis assays

This section describes the results for *in vitro* phagocytosis assays performed with *B.glabrata* hemocytes.

5.3.1.1. Precision and accuracy

The variation in degree of phagocytosis (mean beads per cell) within replicates from the same cell pool (intra-assay precision) was calculated using equation 1 and resulted in a coefficient of variation of 6.6%.

EQUATION 1: $\frac{Mean of standard deviation of replicate}{Grand mean of replicates} x 100$

Inter-assay precision, or variation in mean beads per cell, between *different* pools, was calculated using equation 2, and was 22.3%.

EQUATION 2: Standard deviation of the mean of replicates Grand mean of replicates x 100

Table 5.2 shows the performance of the custom counting mask compared with visual observation (i.e. the gold standard), in the form of a 2x2 contingency table. Fisher's exact test gave a two-tailed *P* value of 0.8281 indicating that there is no significant difference between the results given by the automated counting mask and those obtained by manually scoring individual cells.

	Phagocytosis (-)	Phagocytosis (+)	Total cells
Custom mask	372	130	502
Visual observation	376	126	502
Total cells	748	256	1004

Table 5.2. Performance of the custom mask based on observed (result from custom mask) vs

 expected (result from visual observation) values for phagocytosis classification.

P = 0.8281 according to Fisher's exact test

5.3.1.2. Bioparticle; in vitro phagocytosis assay

The Bioparticle assay, although relatively simplistic, was needed in order to test its suitability as a primary antigen for use in the later phagocytosis assays.



Figure 5.9. Frequency histograms of fluorescent intensity from Bioparticles exposed to hemocytes and incubated with or without phagocytosis inhibitor cytochalasin B. *Inhibitor* (+) *represents hemocytes and Bioparticles incubated with cytochalasin B and inhibitor* (-) *represents those without cytochalasin B. The population right of the red line represents cells which had successfully phagocytosed Bioparticles.*



Figure 5.10. Level of phagocytosis as represented by the percentage of fluorescence positive cells from hemocytes incubated with or without the inhibitor cytochalasin B. N = 3, asterisk represents a significant ($P = \langle 0.05 \rangle$) difference when compared to control, according to one-way T-test.

The reduction in the right tail of the histogram in Figure 5.9 (inhibitor +) represents a decrease in channel 3 fluorescence intensity when compared to the inhibitor negative sample (inhibitor -). Decrease in intensity compared to control is directly related to decrease in phagocytosis. The intensity data from Figure 5.9 can be translated into a significant difference between the inhibitor and control, with greater intensity representing greater levels of phagocytosis (Figure 5.10).

5.3.1.3. in vitro exposure of hemocytes to study chemicals

Given the positive response of the assay in detecting changes in phagocytosis in response to the inhibitor, I then tested the phagocytosis response of the hemocytes with a range of environmental chemicals and a domestic effluent extract (Figure 5.11).



Figure 5.11. Regression relationships between log dose (X axis) of test chemicals against phagocytosis of latex beads by *B. glabrata* hemocytes exposed *in vitro* (Y). *Hemocyte response plotted as mean number of beads per cell* \pm *SEM of 4 independent replicates. A) Hemocyte phagocytosis response to E2 exposure B) Hemocyte phagocytosis response to BPA exposure C) Hemocyte phagocytosis response to Effluent exposure D) Hemocyte phagocytosis response to DDE exposure.*

As with the encapsulation assays, all dose-response relationships were best fit by non-linear polynomials, with BPA and effluent following a second order (quadratic) curve and E2 and DDE following a third order (cubic). DDE dose showed the strongest ability to predict the value of mean beads per cell explaining >59% of the variation (Adjusted $R^2 = 0.5943$). The next strongest relationship was for E2, where 32% of the variation in mean beads per cell was explained (Adjusted $R^2 = 0.32$), closely followed by BPA dose which explained 31% of the variation (Adjusted $R^2 =$ 0.31). Effluent concentration showed a very weak relationship with phagocytosis response, accounting for just 6.8% of the variation in the mean number of beads per cell (Adjusted $R^2 = 0.06851$). The fundamental parameters of all models were appropriate (i.e. the fit was not ambiguous), there were sufficient data points and confidence intervals were not excessively wide, the normality test was passed and in each case the D'Agostino-Pearson omnibus K2 test was not significant, nor was the replicates runs test (p = >0.05).



Figure 5.12. Multiple comparisons between mean number of beads per cell (X) at each test chemical and dose (Y). *Hemocyte phagocytosis response plotted as mean number of beads per cell* \pm *SEM of 4 independent replicates for all doses of each chemical (Y). Response to doses of the same test chemical in different shades. Asterisks indicate doses which were significantly different to their respective control (p = < 0.05) according to Dunnett's test for multiple comparisons.*

Results from the multiple comparisons test (Figure 5.12) showed no significant difference from control for E2 and the effluent extract. Indeed, variability in the level of phagocytosis in hemocyctes exposed to each dose of E2 varied widely as shown in Figure 5.11.

For both BPA and DDE the responses at the highest three doses (200ng, $20\mu g$, 2mg and 500ng, $50\mu g$ and 5mg respectively) were found to be significantly lower than their respective controls, indicating a degree of inhibition in phagocytosis response at these doses.

5.3.2. M.cornuarietis

Trypan blue proved to be extremely effective at quenching fluorescence of extracellular yeast, enabling clear visualisation (fluorescence) of cells containing internalized yeast on Channel 2 (Figure 5.13; A) and non-internalized yeast showing extremely low Channel 2 fluorescence (Figure 5.13; B). This enabled me to effectively gate phagocytosis positive cells based on Channel 2 intensity (Figure 5.13).



Figure 5.13. Scatter graph showing phagocytosis of yeast by *M.cornuarietis* hemocytes and the ability to separate out yeast clumps based on fluorescent profile. *Points plotted represent fluorescence intensity for channel 2 vs channel 5. Green gated region represents hemocytes positive for phagocytosis of yeast as shown by image A. Red gated region represents yeast clumps as shown by image B.*

An unexpected, but very beneficial, outcome was the finding that the yeast cells displayed a strong red fluorescence independent of quenching (Channel 5; Figure 5.13 A and B). This meant that the unavoidable yeasts clumps which passed through the sample could easily be gated out based on their high Channel 5/low Channel 2 intensity. The yeast clumps that came through were approximately the same size and shape as the hemocytes and therefore could not be filtered or gated out based on size alone, as would typically be the case. Their tendency toward strong C5 fluorescence meant that separation and categorization of all objects in the sample was achieved based on the criteria shown in Table 5.3.

Table 5.3. Criteria used for differentiation of objects based on their different Channel 2 and Channel5 intensities.

	Channel 2 intensity	Channel 5 intensity
Phagocytosis (+)	↑	↑ (
Phagocytosis (-)	Ļ	↑ (
Extra-cellular yeast clump	Ļ	↑
Dispersed external yeast	No signal	No signal

The green (Channel 2) signal is only observed when yeast are inside the cell, since it is quenched by trypan blue if it is not protected by a cell wall. Internalised yeast cells are therefore distinguished from external yeast clumps by a simultaneous strong Channel 2 and Channel 5 signal, whereas external yeast clumps appear on Channel 5 alone. Non-phagocytosisng cells display a channel 2 intensity lower than phagocytosis positive cells but higher than yeast clumps, possibly due to a degree of autofluorescence on channel 2. Dispersed yeast cells are effectively quenched and are not visible on either channel (Table 5.3).

What became immediately apparent when performing assays using *Marisa* hecomcytes was that they were considerably easier to work with than *B.glabrata*.

Marisa cells produced lower intra and inter pool coefficients of variation (4.2% and 9.5%, respectively) than *B.glabrata*.

Marisa cells responded more consistently in most aspects (e.g. spreading rates, phagocytosis percentages and number of objects internalized), however *Marisa* showed a very poor response to the latex beads, in much the same way that *B.gabrata* responded poorly towards the yeast. Comparatively, the *Marisa* cells ingested many more of their 'preferred antigen' than *B.glabrata* i.e. the response of *Marisa* hemocytes to yeast cells appeared to be stronger than the response of *B.glabrata* hemocytes to latex beads.

The spot count mask designed for use with *B.glabrata* hemocytes and fluorescent beads was modified slightly for Marisa, to accommodate the difference in antigen size and fluorescence intensity, and was similarly effective in its ability to correctly count intra-cellular objects (Figure 5.14). As with the *B.glabrata* mask, no zero counts were observed in the selected data set as would be expected for a precise mask applied to an entirley phagocytosis positive population.

The ability of the mask to exclude non-internalized yeast was relatively unimportant (unlike latex beads) since the yeast signal is amenable to quenching and so internalization status was based on fluorescence intensity.



Figure 5.14. Frequency histogram of the number of yeast cells inside phagocytosis positive *M.cornuarietis* hemocytes according to the spot count mask. *The image gives an example of hemocytes containing between 1 and 8 yeast cells, as seen in both the brightfield and in channel 2.*

5.3.2.1. Inhibitor dose-response; in vitro phagocytosis

While there is no information in the literature regarding the use of NaN_3 as a phagocytosis inhibitor of *Marisa* hemocytes, it was evident from the strength of the dose-response relationship that this chemical can be applied to *Marisa* hemocytes for the same purpose (Figure 5.15), thereby serving as a viable positive control.

Linear regression established that NaN₃ dose was highly statistically significantly in its ability to predict the mean number of yeast internalized per hemocyte, F(1, 12) =49.2, p = < 0.0001 and accounted for 80% of the explained variability (r² = 0.8039). The linear regression equation was: Mean number of yeast per hemocyte = -0.2735*(% NaN3) + 0.9329.



Figure 5.15. Regression relationship between phagocytosis response as measured by mean number of yeast per *Marisa* hemocyte (Y axis) and the percentage of NaN₃ to which it was exposed (X axis). *Data points represent mean number of yeast per cell* \pm *SEM of 4 independent replicates.*

5.3.2.2. Effluent exposure assay; in vitro phagocytosis

Based on the promising results obtain from the preliminary assays and the apparent reliability of the phagocytosis response in *Marisa*, I decided to test the Marisa hemocytes against the effluent extract to determine if the response was more profound, and the cells more sensitive to effluent, than with *B.glabrata* (Figure 5.16).

As with *B. glabrata* (Figure 5.11; D), the response of *Marisa* hemocytes to effluent extract was very low and effluent concentration was only able to explain 2.3% of the observed variation in the mean number of yeast per cell (Adjusted $r^2 = 0.02302$). The shape of the relationship was relatively similar to that of *B.glabrata* with the best fitting model also being a Second order polynomial but the magnitude of response was considerably greater on average.



Figure 5.16. Regression relationships between log dose (X axis) of effluent extract against phagocytosis of yeast by *Marisa* hemocytes exposed *in vitro* (Y). *Hemocyte response plotted as mean number of yeast per hemocyte* \pm *SEM of 4 independent replicates.*

5.3.2.3. MTT; in vitro phagocytosis assay

In each case, multiple regression analysis on the MTT assay data revealed that there was a statistically significant relationship between the X variables (dose or zymosan status) and the Y (absorbance) variable (P = <0.01) and that the model could explain a maximum of 28.06% of the variation in absorbance reading ($R^2 = 0.2806$). However, the outputs revealed that the vast majority of the contribution to increase in R^2 was due to the addition of zymosan and not associated with the dose of any of the test chemicals. Since the addition of zymosan is expected to cause an increase in phagocytosis, the significant contribution of Zymosan to the model is expected. The results therefore show that zymosan is effective at stimulating the phagocytosis response, but that none of the chemicals/doses had any significant influence on this response in this particular assay. This is also evidence that the test chemicals did not induce significant cell death in any of the doses, something which was previously established in preliminary tests.

5.4. Discussion

The study of phagocytosis in molluscan hemocytes is an innately challenging process. Quantitative phagocytosis assays are well known to display considerable *intra-* and *inter*-assay variation regardless of the species for which they are used (Rodríguez *et al.*, 2001). This is potentially exacerbated by the fact that biological variation in primary cell cultures is typically considerably higher than in cell lines (Molloy *et al.*, 2003). Another considerable challenge is the limitation in cell quantities that can be obtained from *in vivo* sources, thus limiting throughput. For these reasons, it is not surprising that the vast majority of phagocytosis studies in the scientific literature are performed using established cell lines with predictable properties and which can be easily cultured to yield a desired number of cells. These difficulties are apparent even without the added complications provided by molluscan hemocytes. Nevertheless, it is possible to develop assays to study the process of phagocytosis in such cells if their particular nature is taken into account and procedures adapted accordingly.

One way in which cell yields can me optimised, and high levels of variability reduced, is through pooling of material from individual animals. The precision (i.e. the closeness of agreement between replicated and independent test results) of phagocytosis response within and between hemocyte pools was measured in an attempt to understand the variation present within my test samples (Pryseley *et al.*, 2010). Such measurements are typically made using the coefficient of variation (CV) within and between the samples. Standard deviation of such assays generally increase or decrease proportionally as the mean increases or decreases and division by the mean removes this as a factor in the variability measurement. The main appeal of the CV, therefore, is that it is a normalization of the SD that enables comparisons of variability estimates regardless of the magnitude of response.

There is no set definition of an acceptable criteria for the CV, and interpretation of the results depends on the hypothesis, the type of assay, the techniques used and most importantly; the nature of the sample. Despite this, there are some broad definitions of 'acceptable' (or more accurately 'desirable') values. *Intra* assay CVs of $\leq 10\%$ and inter assay CVs of $\leq 20\%$ are desirable, but in some cases an *inter*-assay CV of up to 50% may be accepted (Murray *et al.*, 1993).

Given the nature of *B. gabrata* hemocytes, the measured *intra* and *inter*-pool CVs for phagocytosis of 6.6% and 22.3%, respectively, were considered satisfactory for my uses. *Intra*-assay values would almost always be expected to be lower than *inter*-assay values since the cells being studied were from the same population.

There is one other study in which *intra* and *inter*-pool CVs for molluscan (oyster) hemocytes had been calculated based on their ability to internalize latex beads. Hegaret *et al.*, (2003) found within- and between pool variations of 21% and 18% respectively; an interesting result since the *inter*-pool variation was lower. They concluded that pooled samples could be successfully used to represent the mean and variance of mollusc populations contributing to the pool (Hegaret *et al.*, 2003),

Another approach used to improve confidence in my assay and its results was to assess the sensitivity and specificity of the measurement; something that is often neglected in phagocytosis studies.

One of the key advantages of imaging flow cytometry is the ability to fuse the sensitivity of microscope visualisation with the high-throughput nature of standard flow cytometry *via* the collection of detailed images for every data point. There is often a tendency to apply high-tech systems for their own sake, but to truly take advantage of ImageStream flow cytometry it is important to realise that both throughput and the accuracy of counting/scoring cells is superior to traditional methods. Indeed, if the counting method is not accurate then there is little merit in obtaining very large amounts of poor quality data, in which case counting a smaller number of cells by standard microscopy would be a better option.

To date there are no published examples of imaging flow cytometry using mollusc hemocytes in any capacity. Phagocytosis in *B. glabrata* was only recently reported using standard flow cytometry by Bakry and colleagues (Bakry *et al.*, 2012b). The majority of phagocytosis studies in molluscan hemocytes have quantified effects based on visual examination of cells under light microscopy.

Visual observation of antigens (for example yeast, beads etc.) inside hemocytes is clearly a strong indicator of phagocytosis, but quantification is extremely time consuming and labour intensive. On the other hand, standard flow cytometry is capable of examining hundreds, even thousands, of cells per second, although identification of phagocytosis is less straight forward since it relies on instrumental determination based on set properties other than judgment by the human eye.

While gating of cells based on their morphological and/or fluorescent properties is generally effective, it is never possible to be certain that the gating process is entirely accurate without visual examination of the cells. As a result, many studies using standard flow cytometry rely on defining phagocytosis as 'objects with *three or more beads*' since sensitivity in detecting between cells with no beads and cells with a single bead is very difficult based on fluorescence alone, especially at the boundaries where the internalized object may be vague, for any number of reasons, and the phagocytosis negative cell may have a high degree of auto-fluoresence. It is in these situations that imaging flow cytometry offers significant advantages over traditional methods, especially since my findings, and those of others, show that the majority of phagocytosis positive cells do contain only a single bead and would therefore normally be excluded from analysis resulting in potentially inaccurate findings (Luengen, 2004; Parra *et al.*, 2012).

It is extremely important to know that automated counting methods are comparable to manual observations in order for researchers to take full advantage of these technologies whilst being reassured that they would not have been better off using standard microscopy. I observed a high level of agreement between results of manual counting (i.e. what could be considered 'correct' according to the gold-standard) and automated counting using the mask I developed (section 5.2.5). This means that of the thousands of cells measured, I would not have been significantly more accurate by counting each cell manually (P = 0.8281; Table 5.2).

In the context of automated counting methods, there are two types of antigen which can be considered: those that are most amenable to precise automated counting and those that are easier to classify as phagocytosis positive or negative. For example, Bioparticles (*E.coli* with conjugated PHrodo stain) were investigated due to their unique properties. These antigens can be used directly to determine truly phagocytosis positive cells. Normally this distinction is one of the more difficult aspects of the assay and may require a number of experimental steps during the preparation of the cells (e.g. filtering out non-internalized objects) or afterward (e.g. gating, masking out). In principle, if a Bioparticle appears fluorescent then the cell is
considered '*phagocytosis positive*' as the dye fluoresces only upon acidification of ingested particles within maturing phagosomes. In this way, fluorescence indicates that *E. coli* has been internalized rather than remaining attached to the surface of the cells (Parra *et al.*, 2012). My research showed that the Bioparticles were amenable to *B. glabrata* hemocytes and the addition of cytochalasin B (a known inhibitor of *E.coli* phagocytosis) caused a significant decrease in fluorescence intensity (Figure 5.10).

Despite this, there were some disadvantages in using Bioparticles, which meant that latex beads were generally preferred for my work. The first consideration was the high price of Bioparticles, which retail at around £120 per 2mg; an amount that would cover a relatively small number of assays. In contrast, latex beads are much cheaper, owing to their more simplistic manufacture and the fact that they are developed by, and can be purchased from, numerous different companies. From a purely scientific perspective, the main drawback of Bioparticles was the fact that less information was obtained due to their significantly lower intensity compared to latex beads, as well as their less uniform shapes (Figure 5.9); both these factors made the signal-to-noise ratio lower and development of accurate counting masks very difficult. Masks are not essential to obtain data regarding percentage phagocytosis as this can be based on fluorescence intensity of individual cells alone. However, I wished to assess the 'degree' of phagocytosis per cell rather than a simplistic 'positive or negative' count.

The phagocytosis dose-responses showed some moderate similarities to those of the encapsulation assays, possibly due to the similarities in the mechanisms that govern both responses. Phagocytosis responses following exposure to various doses of E2, BPA and the effluent extract were all best modelled by third-order polynomials, as was the case for encapsulation response. DDE was the only chemical to show a markedly different shaped dose-response between phagocytosis and encapsulation (third-order polynomial vs first-order respectively). The strength of the relationships were also relatively similar, as were the results for Dunnett's test when comparing against the control. As with the encapsulation assays, certain doses of BPA and DDE produced responses that were significantly different from the control group. For the encapsulation assays only the highest doses of BPA and DDE significantly inhibited the response compared to the control (Figure 4.5). However, all but the lowest dose

of these chemicals (200ng-2mg; BPA and 500ng - 5mg; DDE) significantly inhibited the phagocytosis response compared to the controls, suggesting that the phagocytosis assay is perhaps more sensitive than the encapsulation assay using these chemicals.

An exception to the general similarities between the encapsulation and phagocytosis responses was observed with the effluent treatment, which showed a moderate to high coefficient of determination when predicting encapsulation but a very weak one when predicting phagocytosis. One possible explanation for the observed differences between these responses may be the different antigens used i.e. latex beads rather than sporocysts which are biological and have surface antigens. It has been shown that there may be differences in the responses of cells to different phagocytosis antigens under the influence of certain stressors. For example, Parra and colleagues found that the phagocytosis response of human immune cells to *E. coli* and latex beads was altered (reduced and unchanged, respectively) following infection by rhinovirus (Parra *et al.*, 2012). Differences in reported responses of immune cells to different antigens was one of the reasons that I tested different antigens in the response to the effluent extract.

My data suggests that *Biomphalaria* hemocytes are not amenable to use with yeast in the flow cytometry assays. The hemocytes failed to behave in a manner that allowed a single-cell suspension to be obtained and instead formed clumps around the yeast – this is a phenomenon which has previously been reported when using yeast (Connors and Yoshino, 1990). Phagocytosis is occurring inside the cell clumps but the response is closer to that of encapsulation, perhaps due to the large size of the yeast cells compared to beads and bacteria (Connors and Yoshino, 1990). Since *Biomphalaria* hemocytes reacted poorly to the yeast and *Marisa* hemocytes reacted poorly to the beads, it was necessary to test the effluent extract against *Marisa*/yeast to see how the response might differ under different circumstances.

Marisa hemocytes displayed a similarly weak response to the effluent extract (Adjusted $R^2 = 0.02302$). Given that (i) the response between phagocytosis rate and effluent dose was similar in hemocytes from a different snail species using a different antigen, and (ii) that phagocytosis and encapsulation are very closely related mechanisms, it would appear that *B. glabrata* hemocytes only respond

differently to sporocysts in the presence of the effluent extract, for this was the main difference between the two assays that could not be accounted for. In other words; the effluent extract may cause a degree of modulation in the immune response of snail hemocytes to sporocysts but not necessarily to other antigens.

Aside from the response of snail hemocytes to the effluent extract (which is entirely novel) the results of dose-response assays using pure test chemicals were also relatively difficult to interpret as there are so few studies investigating mollusc immune responses to these chemicals and more specifically involving *B. glabrata*. Nevertheless, there is generally a little more information available regarding phagocytosis compared to other types of immune response.

Both E2 and BPA have generally been found to have a stimulatory effect on mollusc hemocyte phagocytosis at low (environmentally relevant) concentrations *in vitro* and inhibition at higher concentrations (Canesi *et al.*, 2006; Canesi *et al.*, 2007a). This non-monotonic dose response shape was somewhat evident in E2, with the first three doses appearing to have a higher mean response compared to the control, although the differences were not significant (Figure 5.12). It should be noted that in other reports the low dose stimulation often took longer (~6 hours) to occur than higher dose effects (Canesi *et al.*, 2006), and this time frame was longer than that used in my assays.

Comparisons with the literature are further complicated by the fact that several studies are based on hemocytes collected from animals that have been injected with test chemical, after which the cells are quickly removed for analysis. In these cases, information is given regarding the quantity of the chemical injected into the animals, but the precise level of systemic exposure to the cells is not clear (Canesi *et al.*, 2006; Canesi *et al.*, 2007a).

Canesi et al., (2006) report one possible mechanistic reason for the immune suppressive effects observed with estrogenic chemicals, something which was relatively pronounced with higher doses of BPA in my study (Figure 5.12). E2 and BPA are thought to impair the mechanism involved in controlled membrane fusion events during the phagocytic process (Canesi et al., 2006). Further evidence that lysosomal membrane destabilization assays follow the same pattern supports this contention (Canesi *et al.*, 2006). The same authors suggest that EDC-induced effects

on the mollusc ERK/p38 MAPK signalling pathways, which are of major importance in the regulation of phagocytosis, may also represent a major contributing factor (Canesi *et al.*, 2006).

After establishing the most suitable antigens for use with Marisa hemocytes, a doseresponse curve was performed against sodium azide (NaN₃); an established inhibitor of phagocytosis in hemocytes and immune cells in many species. To my knowledge, the response of *Marisa* hemocytes to NaN₃ (to establish a phagocytosis response relative to a negative control) has not been reported in the literature, so this assay represented an important first step. The *Marisa* hemocytes displayed a classic strongly negative dose-response ($r^2 = 0.8039$) to NaN3 (Figure 5.15) which is a strong indicator of their suitability for use in assays to assess effects induced by other chemicals.

Although I hoped to use exactly the same techniques with *Marisa* hemocytes as those developed for *B.glabrata* (enabling direct comparison of immune responses in two species of mollusc), the specific nature of the Marisa cells required some minor alterations, most notably the use of yeast instead of beads.

The yeast had both advantages and disadvantages when compared to the latex beads. The primary disadvantage of using yeast was its tendency to form extremely strong clumps. While these clumps could be broken apart to a considerable degree, it is not uncommon for small clumps of around 5-10 cells to remain. These clumps are approximately the same size as the hemocytes, making gating a much more difficult task compared to the far smaller latex beads (which themselves do not have a propensity toward clumping). The main advantage of using yeast cells (apart from their low cost) was the ability to quench the fluorescence of non-internalized cells using trypan blue. This is possible because the dead yeast have compromised cell walls that allow trypan blue to enter and 'turn off' the green autofluorescence of the entire cell, whereas those which have been internalized are protected from the dye by the intact cell wall of the hemocyte they reside within. The ability to quench the unwanted signal meant that a complex masking strategy (such as the one developed for the beads) was unnecessary. Additionally, not only did quenching help to differentiate between phagocytosis positive and negative cell, but it also meant that the large cell clumps could be gated out based on their differential fluorescence

165

profile when compared to all other populations of interest (Table 5.3). This represents an added advantage to the use of flow cytometry over other reported methods for investigating phagocytosis. At the time these assays were performed, the application of this masking approach in imaging flow cytometry was novel. However, since then at least one paper has been published which makes use of a similar approach (Avelar-Freitas *et al.*, 2014).

While the *Marisa* hemocytes appear to respond in a similar manner to *B. glabrata* (e.g. to the effluent extract), the average response was typically at least twice as high (Figure 5.11 D and Figure 5.16). This is supported somewhat by the findings of Yousif and Lämmler (1975) who showed that *Marisa* hemocytes display a considerably more vigorous defence response than *B. glabrata* to the parasitic nematode *A. cantonensis;* even though species both snails are effectively non-compatible with.

In general, *Marisa* appears to be an excellent candidate as a model species in the investigation of *in vitro* phagocytosis. The species displays numerous physical traits which make it superior to certain other gastropod molluscs. In particular, their large size, ease of husbandry, high hemocyte yields, light coloured hemolymph (which could, for example, aid in its use in colorimetric assays) and the ability to study the effects of EDCs on separate sexes, are obvious advantages.

While it was never intended to focus on *Marisa* in this project, my data shows that it offers considerable potential as a model species for studying the effects of environmental contaminants on gastropod molluscs. The species itself is not of particular economic or medical importance, yet it is likely that work performed on this species would be applicable to medically important gastropods which themselves are much more difficult to study.

In general, the results from the phagocytosis assays yielded responses which were reasonably consistent with the few reported examples in the literature and also with the encapsulation assays which mechanistically are likely to be very similar. While the effluent extract did not appear to have any clear relationship with phagocytosis at the tested doses, the difference in outcome with the encapsulation assay and the possible reasons for this warrant further research.

Chapter 6: Cell Motility; development

of a low-cost assay with wider applications

6.1. Introduction

Cell motility has become an integrated measure used in a variety of modern assays spanning many research disciplines. Motile cells, individually or as groups, are vital to biological processes including fertilisation, growth and differentiation, immunity and the progression of diseases, such as cancer (Meijering *et al.*, 2009; Huth *et al.*, 2010; Hulkower *et al.*, 2011). Consequently, a number of systems for studying motility are available to researchers and practitioners. For example, Trans-well assays (such as the Boyden chamber) enable measurements of cell motility in response to a chemical stimulus (chemotaxis). Chemotactic responses are quantified by the extent to which cells will migrate across a porous membrane towards a chosen test chemical (Dai *et al.*, 2005) However, despite being a relatively inexpensive means of measuring motility Trans-well assays do not permit direct observation of cells as they move (Dai *et al.*, 2005; Pujic *et al.*, 2005).

Direct visualisation is considered to be the 'gold-standard' in motility studies, enabling precise and continuous measurements of the speed, trajectory and morphology of individual cells under a microscope (Muinonen-Martin *et al.*, 2013). Cell motility is recorded by equipping the microscope with a digital camera and acquiring pictures at specific intervals over a chosen period of time (time-lapse) (Huth *et al.*, 2010). However, individual experiments often take several hours, and possibly days, to complete making these a daunting and laborious task when only a single microscope is available.

Over the last couple of decades, there have been considerable technological advancements in microscopy hardware and software to enable a large degree of automation over time-lapse studies (Zanella *et al.*, 2010; Buggenthin *et al.*, 2013). These advances include motorised stages and auto-focusing software which together allow the acquisition of images across numerous samples without the need for user intervention (Zanella *et al.*, 2010). A basic commercial setup for performing motility studies usually requires an inverted microscope, digital camera, software and an incubator/heated stage and would be expected to cost several thousand pounds (GBP) whereas many automated systems can reach several hundred thousand pounds (Gough and Johnston, 2007; Zimic *et al.*, 2010). Due to high software and hardware costs such systems are accessible only to those with large budgets, and are

168

often outside the reach of non-specialist researchers, or those in developing countries with fewer resources (Buggenthin *et al.*, 2013). Indeed, affordable solutions for the direct visualisation of cells is rapidly becoming a research area in its own right (Bishara *et al.*, 2011; Smith *et al.*, 2011; Kim *et al.*, 2012; Linder *et al.*, 2013).

The recent ability to produce low-cost imaging devices is a consequence of improvements in image sensors such as charge coupled devices (CCDs) and complementary metal oxide semiconductors (CMOS) enabling good quality imaging together with substantial decreases in size and cost (Kim *et al.*, 2012). Such devices are now produced for a range of applications from disease diagnosis to measurement of sperm motility (Su *et al.*, 2010; Bishara *et al.*, 2011; Linder *et al.*, 2013). However, although these can vastly increase the affordability of motility assays and deliver high image quality, none can match the high-throughput nature of the more expensive devices. Therefore, the next stage in low-cost imaging will be to develop solutions to increase their throughput ability.

Along with advances in hardware, recent years have also seen a significant increase in the amount of high quality open-source software (which in many cases is comparable in capability to commercial packages) written for the analysis of microscopy data (Patlak, 2010). Here I show that by combining a number of lowcost imaging devices with open-source software we are entering a stage where highthroughput digital microscopy imaging can be an affordable option for all researchers. Building on existing work in low-cost imaging, and inspired by my desire for an affordable method to study cell motility in the context of xenobiotic exposure, I hope that this system will help make motility measurements accessible to all researchers, and inspire others to continue to enhance the productivity of similar devices.

6.2. Materials and methods





Figure 6.1. Different images of the microscope system. *A*) Schematic diagram of microscope system *B*) CAD model *C*) Photograph of finished system.

6.2.1. Construction and Calibration of the microscope system

The design process (Figure 6.1A) began by creating a 3D model of the system in Trimble Sketchup 8 (Figure 6.1B). The frame was constructed using oak, the stage from acrylic and the microscope support bases were created from adjustable kitchen unit legs, which fit them well and allow the height to be adjusted so that the top of the microscope is level with the stage and secure which prevents image drift and allows for optimum magnification (Figure 6.1C). Detailed information regarding the construction process can be found in the supporting information section of the published version of this chapter: (http://journals.plos.org/plosone/article?id=10.1371/journal.pone.0103547; Protocol S1, Protocol S2, Figure S1, Figure S2 and Table S1).

6.2.1.2. Microscopes

All three microscopes used were identical models (VMS-004D, Veho, Hampshire, UK) in order to prevent any discrepancies. These microscopes use a CMOS image sensor with 1.3 mega-pixel resolution (2MP with interpolation, although interpolation was not used in my studies). Magnification has two set levels (~ 20x minimum and ~ 400x maximum) achieved using a focusing wheel. To enhance stability, magnification and to allow for observation of live samples in liquid (cells) the microscopes were inverted.

6.2.1.3. Lighting

Various lighting sources were tested, and ultimately an LED strip desk lamp was selected. The microscopes' inbuilt LEDs were turned off. LEDs were used due to their low heat emission and intensity which helps reduce stress to the cells. To further prevent the risk of phototoxicity an accurate timer plug was used to turn the light off between image capturing. It was important to have a light source which could be adjusted since different samples have different requirements (due to depth or transparency).

6.2.1.4. Heating

In order to keep samples at a constant physiological temperature, without needing to place the whole system inside an incubator, an incubation chamber was developed to fit over the top of the stage. The chamber was made from transparent acrylic to allow visualisation inside. The edges of the chamber were fitted with foam to improve insulation and the chamber was secured above the stage using metal clips. The heating element used was a 37.5w soil warming cable; this was chosen since it is economical, waterproof and highly flexible. To maintain a constant temperature, the heating cable was connected to a commercial mini thermostat of the kind typically used to heat vivariums (MicroClimate Ministat 100). The stability of the incubator temperature was measured at 27°C by placing a 'Tinytag' data logger (Gemini Data

Loggers, Chichester, West Sussex, UK) inside which was programmed to take temperature measurements every minute for 20 hours.

6.2.1.5. Resolution

The ultimate definition of resolution is described as the minimum distance two objects can be separated by and still are distinguished as separate features; this is sometimes referred to as spatial resolution. Spatial resolution is therefore the most important quantitative measurement. It is important to note that in digital systems spatial resolution is also related to, but not dependent on, pixel resolution which refers to the number of pixels utilised to create the image (width x height). In the case of digital imaging systems, it is therefore also necessary to consider pixel resolution, as this can determine the amount of information from the real object that is retained within the digital image. If the number of pixels used to create the image is too low information is lost.

Pixel resolution in Autokams was set at 640x480. Although the microscopes are capable of higher resolution, time-lapse studies typically generate a large number of files. Therefore, given the fact that three cameras were running together, a lower pixel resolution was chosen to reduce memory demand and enhance system stability. Spatial resolution was tested using 10 μ l of a 0.1% solution of latex beads with a mean particle size of 1 μ m (Sigma-Aldrich) trapped between two cover-slips.

6.2.1.6. Magnification and Horizontal field of view

The calculation of digital image magnification is dependent on a number of factors and differs to those used in optical microscopy due to the lack of eye pieces and the fact that objects are viewed on a screen. Determining the magnification of an object on a screen is dependent on knowing the PPI (pixels per inch) of the screen, the size of a single pixel on the screen, the width of the image in pixels and the actual size of the object being magnified (Figure S3). Pixel resolution is also an important factor in determining 'useful' magnification as, up to a point, more pixels mean that the image contains more information which will be observable to the eye when it is enlarged. Simply put, magnification is used to make viewing easier, but if information is not already in the image increased magnification will not show any more detail. Horizontal field of view (HFOV) and full magnification were measured using a calibration slide with a 1mm marker and 10µm subdivisions. The lower magnification and HFOV were measured with a 15cm ruler with 1mm subdivisions.

6.2.2. Software

Where the previous section described the hardware components and their construction, this section will describe the software which was developed and/or used in the conjunction with the hardware to complete the system.

6.2.2.1. Image capture

The microscopes are bundled with native image capture software, however, due to the unique requirements of this system, it was necessary to write a custom application. 'AutoKams' is a standalone application designed to capture images from USB camera devices, such as web cams and microscopes (Figure 6.2). It was developed specifically for my work with the help of Junian Triajianto, an independent software coder. The software was written in Microsoft Visual Studio 2010 with C# as the programming language. The application is powered by AForge.NET framework (http://www.aforgenet.com/). In many cases when identical USB devices (such as the three microscopes) are connected to the same PC they conflict as the computer is unable to identify them uniquely, this leads to the PC crashing, or the display of only a single camera. Although some devices are able to run in tandem, this was not the case with any of the microscope models I tested. 'Autokams' was written to allow for the simultaneous capture of multiple USB devices of the same model when running on a machine with multiple USB controllers. Images for time-lapse studies were typically captured every 60,000 milliseconds for 1 hour using the capture control box and are automatically saved to labelled folders. The software is open-source, licensed under LGPL v3, and can be downloaded at: http://lab.junian.net/AutoKams. The software was tested for stability on several Windows PCs, altered accordingly, and was shown to be compatible with three different models of USB microscope (400x maximum magnification, 8 LED, 2MP interpolated CMOS). The version described here remained stable throughout all experiments.



Figure 6.2. Screenshot of the Autokams software interface. *Three separate scratch assays of MDA-MB-231 cells displayed simultaneously on Autokams*.

6.2.2.2. Image preparation and analysis

Image preparation and analysis was performed within the open-source Java-based image processing program ImageJ (NIH, version 1.44). To set the precise scale an image of an object of known distance was uploaded, then, using the 'set scale' option the corresponding size in pixels could be set and applied to other objects. Experimental images (Figure 6.3A) were loaded as a stack and converted to 8-bit (Figure 6.3B). Uneven illumination often occurs in microscope images and is difficult to eliminate completely, for this reason the images were also subject to the 'subtract background' tool (Figure 6.3C). The stack was then thresholded to create a binary image with better contrast between cells and background (Figure 6.3D). The final stage of image preparation was to correct for any minor drift that may occur; this was achieved using the 'image stabilizer' plug-in. To analyse cell motility the plug-in 'MTrack2' by Nico Stuurman was used (Figure 6.3E). Minimum track length was set at 10 frames. Although there was no chemoattractant used I also analysed the same data using the ImageJ chemotaxis tool by Gerhard Trapp as an example of further applications (Figure 6.3F).



Figure 6.3. Raw image preparation and analysis process in ImageJ. *A) Original image B)* 8-bit black and white *C)* Background subtraction *D)* Thresholded *E)* MTrack2 cell trajectories *F)* Chemotaxis plot.

6.2.3. Assays

This section describes the procedure for the validation assays in which the finished system was tested and also the 'primary assay' involving the test chemicals.

6.2.3.1. Cell tracking

Cell tracking was performed on cells from three different species: primary hemocytes (immune cells) from *Biomphalaria glabrata*, mouse juvenile Sertoli cells (SC5) and human breast cancer epithelial cells (MDA-MB-231). *B.glabrata* handling was as described in Chapter 2 (Section 2.2). Hemocytes were diluted 50% in CBSS and allowed to settle for 30 minutes at 27°C before time-lapse began. *B.glabrata* hemocytes were prepared in two separate conditions; cells were either left to attach to the plate or were placed onto a surface of 0.01% poly-L-lysine according to Boehmler *et al.*, (1996) with some minor modifications. Both the SC5 and MDA-MB-231 cells were seeded into wells of a 96-well plate in phenol red-free DMEM medium (10% fbs, 1% Glutamax and 1% penicillinstreptomycin - Sigma Aldrich) and allowed to reach approximately 20-30% confluence. The mammalian cells were kept at 37°C during imaging. All time-lapse images were taken every minute for 1 hour.

6.2.3.2. Scratch assay

Scratch assays are a very widely used method to investigate wound healing in various cell types. I performed scratch assays using MDA-MB-231 cells seeded into 3 wells of a 6-well plate to near full confluence using the same culture media as for cell tracking. Scratches were made in each well using the tip of a sterile scalpel. Each well was positioned over a separate microscope, and the thermostat was set to 37°C. Images were captured every 4 minutes from each camera over a period of 10 hours.

6.2.3.3. Artemia development

The effectiveness of the microscope for imaging three very different samples simultaneously was tested using shrimp from the genus *Artemia*, as they are a common test organism and developmental stages are clearly distinguishable. Cysts were purchased from ZM foods (Winchester, UK) and were cultured in 20% salinity at 28°C. Samples from different life stages were pipetted into separate wells of a 6-well plate or placed on a microscope slide and imaged at the two different magnifications.

6.2.3.4. Test chemical assays

Having developed and validated the test system, tracking assays were performed on the four test chemicals. For these assays the un-spread cell technique of Boehmler *et al.*, (1996) was chosen, as this was considered most similar to the *in vivo* response and the same approach was used for the encapsulation assay (Chapter 4). For each chemical, results were collected from 4 independent assays (cell pools) on different days.

6.2.4. Statistical analysis

Analysis was performed on the MTrack2 data generated from the time-lapse files (see published paper; Movie S1, S2, S3 and S4). As the data for comparison of cell types (Figure 6.9) failed to meet all the assumptions of an ANOVA and was not amenable to transformation a Kruskal-Wallis test was performed in SPSS version 20 (IMB) to determine whether recorded velocity values differed significantly for the various cell types. As a post-hoc test pairwise comparisons were performed using Dunn's procedure with a Bonferroni correction for multiple comparisons. The doseresponse assays for the test chemicals were performed in Graphpad Prism 6.0 using linear and non-linear regression.

6.3. Results

This section describes the results for the calibration and validation of the microscope system as well as those for which the final system was originally developed.

6.3.1. Microscope Functional Parameters

This sub-section describes the outcome of experiments to test the 'functional parameters' of the microscope system i.e. the calibration, stability and accuracy of the individual components of the system on which the reliability of the final assay results depends.

6.3.1.1. Heating stability

After approximately 1 hour the desired temperature (27°C) was achieved (Figure 6.4). After the first hour the temperature did not vary by more than 0.5°C either side of this temperature for the remaining 19 hours although a gradual increase could be seen.



Figure 6.4. Incubator temperature stability over time. *Incubator temperature readings* (°*C*) *taken every minute for 20 hours.*

6.3.1.2. Field of view and magnification

Based on the calibration slide, the horizontal field of view at maximum magnification was determined to be 0.99mm (Figure 6.5 A) and 13mm for the lower magnification (Figure 6.5 C) at 640x480.



Figure 6.5. Images used for calibration of the microscopes. *A) 1 mm graticule with 10 mm subdivisions at 206.8x magnification B) 1 mm latex beads at 206.8x magnification C) 15 mm ruler at 15.76x magnification with 1 mm subdivisions.*

I estimated the maximum magnification at the pixel resolution chosen for cell tracking (640x480) to be 206.8x on a screen with a PPI of 78 and the lower magnification to be 15.7x. This calculation appears accurate when the image taken with my microscope is enlarged by 149% (the percentage difference in size between 206.8x and an image taken at the same pixel resolution on a conventional inverted microscope at 310x; Figure 6.6 A and B). The microscopes are capable of greater magnification if pixel resolution is set to the maximum of 1280x960.



Figure 6.6. Comparison of MDA-MB-231 cell images between my system and a conventional optical microscope. *A) 310x image taken at 640x480 with a conventional inverted microscope B) 206.8x image taken at 640x480 with my system and enlarged post acquisition by 149% to match the size C) 620x image taken at 1280x960 with a conventional inverted microscope, arrows show intra-cellular detail D) 1280x960 image taken with my system at full magnification (413.6x) and enlarged post-acquisition by 149% to match the size.*



Figure 6.7. Comparison of digital microscope pixel resolutions between 640x480 and 1280x960. *A*) 640x480 image at full magnification *B*) 640x480 image enlarged post-acquisition to 800% *C*) 1280x960 image at full magnification reduced in size by 50% D)1280x960 image enlarged post-acquisition to 400%.

6.3.1.3. Pixel resolution

The improvement in image quality when increasing pixel resolution from 640x480 to 1280x960 was found to be minimal at the magnification used for cell tracking (Figures 6.7; A and C) but doubles the file size (and therefore storage requirements). The impact only becomes apparent when the images are increased significantly in size post-acquisition, a noticeable increase in pixilation can be seen when enlarging an image taken at 640x480 by 800%, which is the same on-screen size as an image taken at 1280x960 enlarged by 400% (Figures 6.7; B and D), however these sizes are far in excess of what would be useful for my purposes.

6.3.1.4. Spatial resolution

At full magnification, 10μ m divisions were clearly visible and 1μ m beads were distinguishable. However, the measured diameter of the beads was larger than 1μ m suggesting that the microscope was picking up the reflected light (Figure 6.5; B). Spatial resolution was therefore determined to be at least 10μ m. Crucially I was able to clearly resolve all cell types tested (size ranges 24-58µm) and could distinguish individual cells from one another and from the background.

6.3.1.5. Comparison with a conventional microscope

The imaging capability of my system was compared to a conventional inverted microscope (GX XDS-3) fitted with a 1.3 mega-pixel camera. The highest magnification on the conventional microscope (620x) was greater than my system (413.6x), maximum pixel resolution of images was the same (1280x960). Spatial resolution on the conventional microscope was higher and intra-cellular detail could be seen at the highest magnification that could not be distinguished in my system when images were enlarged to match the size (Figure 6.6; C and D). Images can be enlarged post-acquisition, or by using interpolation, to increase on-screen size but this results in 'empty magnification' and it resolves no more detail than the original image while resulting in substantial loss of quality (Figure 6.7; A and B). When comparing the two systems using lower magnification and pixel resolution (as was used for cell tracking assays) there appears little difference in the quality of the images and both would be equally suitable for motility work (Figure 6.6; A and B). Finally, the cost of assembling my system was approximately £161, whereas a conventional inverted microscope (with camera) retails for approximately £3,250.

6.3.1.6. Lighting

In order to achieve optimum resolution and improve signal-to-noise ratio (SNR) the in-built LED lights were turned off. It was found that for most cell samples optimum SNR was achieved from an external overhead light source (Figure 6.8).



Figure 6.8. Screenshot of the Autokams interface showing the result of illumination from the in-built LEDs alone.

6.3.2. Assays and applications

This section describes the results of the validation and test chemical assays in which the microscope system, having been satisfactorily calibrated in the previous section, was employed. Also described is an experiment designed to highlight wider capabilities and applications of the system.

6.3.2.1. Cell velocity

According to visual inspection, the Kruskal-Wallis test distributions of velocity scores were not similar for all groups, and velocity values differed significantly between cell types, χ^2 (3) = 106.531, p = >.001. Pairwise comparisons showed significantly lower velocity of spread *B.glabrata* cells (0.81 ± 0.01 µm/min; Figure 6.9) compared to all other cell types, including *B.glabrata* on PLL (2.21 ± 0.01 µm/min; Figure 6.9). There were significant differences in velocity between MDA-MB-231 cells (1.17 ± 0.004 µm/min; Figure 6.9) and both *Biomphalaria* cell culture methods, but not to SC5 (1.24 ± 0.006 µm/min; Figure 6.9). Likewise, the velocity of SC5 cells differed significantly from both *Biomphlaria* cell culture methods but not from MDA-MB-231 cells (Figure 6.9). Assumptions of the ANOVA test were most likely not met since I chose to accept results from cells of differing track length (between 10-60





Figure 6.9. Mean velocity (\pm SE) in μ m/min of the 4 cell types. Shared letters indicate no significant difference between cell types according to K-W test pairwise comparisons.

6.3.2.2. Scratch Assay

The system was tested for use in performing scratch assays. Not only were the microscopes able to detect cells and scratches sufficient for use in the assay, but it was also found to be relatively simple to align three separate scratches/wells simultaneously (Figure 6.10). More difficult was keeping each scratch oriented in the same way, but this has no impact on the validity of the assay and can easily be altered post-acquisition.



Figure 6.10. Screenshot of Autokams interface showing individual scratch assays simultaneously recorded on each camera. *A*) *cells at 0 hr B*) *cells after 10 hrs; Arrows show the scratch channels.*

6.3.2.3 Artemia development

I was able to demonstrate the ability of the system to simultaneously image three distinct specimens (Figure 6.11). Furthermore, it was possible to independently alter the magnification of a chosen sample separately. In the case of *Artemia* development, the smaller life stages (cyst, nauplii) can be viewed in detail by higher magnification while leaving the much larger adult stage at a lower magnification (Figure 6.11; B).



Figure 6.11. Screenshot of Autokams which demonstrates the ability of the microscope system to image distinct samples in different manners simultaneously. *A*) *Cyst, nauplii and adult Artemia at 15.76x magnification B*) *Cyst and nauplii at 206.86x, adult at 15.76x C*) *All three stages at 206.86x magnification.*

6.3.2.4. Study chemical testing

With the exception of E2 (which was best modelled by a 2nd order polynomial), all chemicals followed a negative linear relationship (Figure 6.12). All relationships were relatively strong and suggested that the majority of variation in cell velocity was explainable by chemical dose. Effluent displayed the strongest relationship (Y = -0.6705*X + 2.359) with a very high r² value of 0.9754 followed by DDE (r² = 0.8483, Y = -0.1046*X + 2.290) and E2 (Adjusted R² of 0.8155). The relationship with BPA was somewhat weaker, but exposure still explained a considerable degree of the variation in cell velocity (r² = 0.5122, Y = -0.1749*X + 2.572). BPA appeared to induce a degree of stimulation, relative to control, at the lowest dose but overall

followed a negative linear relationship with increasing dose. In each case, diagnostic tests were satisfactory (i.e. normality, insignificant deviations from linearity in the case of BPA, effluent and DDE).



Figure 6.12. Regression relationships between log dose (X axis) of test chemicals against *B. glabrata* hemocyte motility in vitro (Y). Data points for hemocyte motility plotted as mean velocity $(\mu m/min) \pm$ SEM of 3 independent replicates. A) Hemocyte motility response to E2 exposure B) Hemocyte motility response to BPA exposure C) Hemocyte motility response to Effluent exposure D) Hemocyte motility response to DDE exposure.

6.4. Discussion

This study began solely as a means to investigate motility of *B.glabrata* hemocytes in the presence of xenobiotics, due to a lack of existing methods that were time and cost-effective, within the scope of the project as a whole. However, I soon realized its potential for broader applications and the work eventually centred around the development of the system.

Here I demonstrate the development and application of a low-cost microscope system for multiple time-lapse imaging as well as its application toward my project hypothesis. By inverting commercially available digital microscopes and employing an external light source the stability, working distance and signal-to-noise ratio are improved considerably, and images were comparable to a much more expensive standard inverted microscope/camera system. I also show that the system can support a number of microscopes simultaneously, hence increasing the throughput capability of time-lapse studies captured onto a single PC. Parallel cell tracking and scratch assays were carried out on independent samples with relative simplicity, and the ability of the system to image samples of different sizes simultaneously is demonstrated. There was very little difference in the images taken using my system (at maximum magnification with a pixel resolution of 640x480) compared to a conventional inverted microscope at a similar magnification (Figure 6.6; A and B). Differences in resolution between the two types of microscope only become apparent when attempting to use higher magnifications (Figure 6.6; C and D). To achieve the highest useful magnification of the digital microscope (413.6x) the pixel resolution can be set to 1280x960. The maximum magnification of the commercial microscope was 620x (although higher objective lenses can be purchased). Figure 6.6; C shows an image taken on the conventional microscope at its maximum magnification. As the maximum magnification is higher on the conventional microscope I needed to enlarge my images post-acquisition in order to make a comparison at the same size. Since the limits of the lens and sensor have already been reached for my system this kind of post-acquisition manipulation is an example of empty magnification (Figure 6.6; D). There is considerably greater detail in the image taken with the conventional microscope due to its greater spatial resolution. Clearly my system would not be suitable for investigating intracellular events, but is perfectly adequate, even at a lower pixel resolution (640x480), for cell tracking. Indeed, greater magnification is not required for this purpose, especially when factoring the increased cost (Yarrow et al., 2004).

A number of published studies now demonstrate the rapidly improving capabilities of digital imaging sensors compared to the existing standards in microscopy or explore their potential applications (Tseng *et al.*, 2010; Zimic *et al.*, 2010; Smith *et al.*, 2011, Linder *et al.*, 2013). Despite this, one of the main limitations to many of the lower-cost time-lapse systems is the rate of data collection or 'throughput'. Here I demonstrate the impressive capability of CMOS sensors to image cells in tandem as an alternative to the expensive systems on a cost-performance basis. As the sensors used are small and light weight, it is possible to decrease the size and cost of my system substantially by sourcing sensors directly from the manufacturer (rather than buying a

commercial system sold as a microscope) as these can cost as little as \$1.50 a unit (Zheng et al., 2010). Stripped back sensors would allow more microscopes to fit into a smaller space (for example in a 3x3 grid pattern) and at much lower-cost. The actual number of microscopes that could be run simultaneously on one PC would depend on the processor speed, memory (RAM/cache) and the number of available USB ports/controllers. However, given the low frame rate required for time-lapse studies it is likely that a larger number could be supported. Indeed, by sourcing components directly, I believe that the three camera system described here could be reproduced for as little as 20 GBP. The ability to run three identical microscopes in tandem actually proved to be one of the biggest challenges in developing this system. The microscopes' native software did not support multiple models and I was unable to find any thirdparty software that met the criteria. Therefore, a new software platform was written specifically for my requirements, demonstrating the importance of collaboration between scientists and programmers; a point that has been stressed by others (Meijering et al., 2009; Cardona and Tomancak et al., 2012). I hope that the opensource nature of the software will allow it to be more widely adopted and adapted for use with other platforms and in communities such as ImageJ and Micro manager.

When performing cell tracking or wound healing assays it is common to render the images post-acquisition to enhance the signal (cells) to noise (background and artefact) ratio (SNR), especially when using automated analysis programs. This demonstrates that, beyond a certain point, the overall resolution of the original image has little bearing on the quality of the data (Frigault *et al.*, 2009). In many cases, it may be unnecessary to invest significant sums of money for high resolution images or high magnification when the same data can be obtained using a less expensive microscope. In the case of cell tracking, high magnification results in a reduced field of view and, consequently, lower sample size and statistical power. Obviously there are conditions where it is crucial to obtain as much information from the image as possible and there is also a minimum level needed to perform tracking assays, especially for slow moving objects. However, in situations where robust motility data is prized above all (attractive images being a secondary consideration) there may be little merit in investing large sums of money.

Four different cell types were used to test the ability of the system to measure cell velocity. While *B.glabrata* hemocytes were the main species of interest in this study I

decided to test how applicable it would be to more widely used cell types. *B. glabrata* haemocyte cells moved at a velocity of 0.81μ m/min ± 0.01 on an untreated surface, compared to 2.21μ m/min ± 0.01 on a poly-L-lysine treated surface (Figure 6.9). This is consistent with previous reports of an increase in velocity from 0.99μ m/min ± 0.72 (untreated) to 5.13μ m/min ± 2.02 on poly-L-lysine coated surfaces using *B. glabrata* haemocytes (Boehmler *et al.*, 1996), albeit from a different strain. For SC5 cells an average velocity of 1.24μ m/min ± 0.01 was recorded but I was unable to find sufficient data in the literature for comparison. For MDA-MB-231 cells I found an average cell velocity of 1.17μ m/min ± 0.004 . There are several existing studies which have investigated motility in MDA-MB-231 cells which vary from $0.4-2.5\mu$ m/min (Wang *et al.*, 2004; Onuki-Nagasaki *et al.*, 2008; Irimia and Toner, 2009; Mak *et al.*, 2011; Zheng *et al.*, 2013), likely due to the variation in experimental techniques. My results are in the middle of this reported range, demonstrating that this system is capable of generating quantitative data comparable to those reported in other studies using more expensive equipment.

To my knowledge only one other study exists which has looked at the motility of molluscan hemocytes in relation to xenobiotics. Rioult et al., (2014) measured the in vitro motility of mussel hemocytes collected at polluted and non-polluted sites. They found that mussels collected from the polluted site displayed significantly reduced motility when compared to those from the clean site, giving the first evidence of alterations in hemocyte motility in xenobiotic-exposed molluscs. Direct comparison is not possible due to the difference in study designs (in the present study hemocytes were exposed in vitro) but we have also shown considerable reductions in motility with increasing doses of our test chemicals (Figure 6.12). One exception to this was for E2, which showed a non-monotonic response in the middle of the dose range. In terms of mechanisms for the observed response, as with phagocytosis (Chapter 5; Section 5.4) the ERK signalling pathway would again appear to represent a potential candidate since it is key in regulating cell motility and has also been shown to be negatively impacted in mollusc hemocytes by *in vitro* exposure to environmentally relevant doses of xenobiotics, including E2 and BPA (Canesi et al., 2004; Porte et al., 2006; Zelck et al., 2007).

While the system I have described cannot match the impressive capabilities of the high-end devices needed for large throughput tasks, such as drug discovery, I believe

that my system would appeal to researchers with limited budgets. In these circumstances the system could be applied to life science education including demonstrations of different stages of development and the effect of exposure conditions in various macro and microscopic organisms (Figure 6.11). This system produces results comparable to standard inverted microscopes, whilst generating three times the data in a single run. The low memory demands of the system mean that it is likely to be compatible with older machines; for example, I was able to run experiments successfully using a 10-year-old PC (IBM ThinkCentre 9210). The system is also portable, enabling experiments to be carried out directly in the field.

There are still many areas in which the system could be improved given more time. While the current manual focusing system works well I believe that this process could be automated by the software in order to reduce the likelihood of accidentally moving the field of view while touching the microscope. An important feature which the system currently lacks, but is commonly required for cell culture, is a CO₂ pump. The lack of a CO₂ pump is not believed to have affected the cell tracking experiments shown here, as the DMEM media contains CO₂, which would not have depleted in the course of 1 hour (Coutu and Schroeder, 2013). The absence of a CO₂ pump may, however, affect longer-term experiments (such as the scratch assay), and this could be addressed by placing the entire system inside a CO₂ incubator or finding ways to miniaturize the CO₂ supply system. One such design, with the inclusion of a miniaturized CO₂ delivery system, is described by Chung-Liang *et al.*, (2005).

In conclusion, I demonstrate the ability of a novel cell tracking system to perform multiple simultaneous time-lapse studies on various cell types. Due to its low-cost, portability and commercially available components I believe that this system has the potential to enable time-lapse studies by non-specialist departments and schools, and may be a practical solution for researchers with limited financial resources. Since this project was first made public in August 2014 it has received a significant amount of media exposure in several countries and as a result I am pleased to have been contacted by numerous researchers in the fields of cancer, neurobiology and geology. Furthermore, one of these systems has been taken to Tanzania for field work use by the Natural History Museum, this is something which could potentially see it being applied to schistosomiasis research within transmission countries which are in need of low-cost alternatives to commercially available scientific equipment.

Chapter 7: *In vivo* Effluent Exposure Study

7.1. Introduction

In vitro testing is an integral part of the biological investigation process, in which its advantages are most pronounced when considering scale, statistical variability and time.

Since *in vitro* tests typically involve small organisms and/or small parts of larger organisms (i.e. cells) the number of animals used, space, volumes of reagents required and waste produced are all considerably lower than *in vivo* (whole animal) tests (Baksi and Frazier, 1990; Ankley, 2008). The smaller scale means that more samples can be screened (and more quickly) which yields faster and more numerous results. Screening multiple samples, as well as the ability to include internal controls and stabilise the environment, means that variability is typically considerably lower for *in vitro* tests (Mothersill and Austin, 2011).

Results from *in vitro* tests are often used to extrapolate and form conclusions at larger levels of biological organisation, which is both a great strength and key disadvantage of *in vitro* tests (Mothersill and Austin, 2011).

It is clear that no matter how carefully or how faithfully represented *in vitro* conditions are, they provide us with only potential mechanistic explanations of processes that occur in the higher animal (in the absence of whole animal pharmacology and pharmacokinetics) and are therefore best used to guide and inform subsequent investigation on whole animals. The limitations of *in vitro* assays can be highlighted using various examples, but ultimately all stem from the problem of reductionism.

When cells are collected for *in vitro* use they are first removed from the threedimensional geometry in which they naturally exist and are then usually propagated into a two-dimensional environment (Freshney, 2000). While methods in threedimensional culture exist, they are far from the standard approach and even these are not truly representative of the *in vivo* process as they require various treatments before use (Haycock, 2011). When 3D cell cultures are used they still rarely consist of primary cells and instead involve the use of established cell lines which are often cultured over decades until they eventually represent markedly different phenotypes and lose many properties of the progenitor (Mothersill and Austin, 2011). When system they can lose their ability to interact with other cell types and often are no longer under the overall control of the complex factors which form the endocrine or nervous system (Mothersill and Austin, 2011). The ability of cells to interact and form organs also alters the concentration and physical property of the xenobiotic chemical itself. For example, liver metabolism and excretion may rapidly eliminate compounds and can also transform them into more or less active metabolites and these may target the same or different cell types and processes within the intact animal. Not all cell types within an animal will be equally effected by a given compound and the overall toxicity will be disproportionately contributed to by certain cell-types. Experiments in fish, for example, have shown that the toxic impact of metals is primarily as a result of accumulation in gill tissue and the associated damage this causes. Consequently, the impact of metals on other fish cell types in an *in vitro* system would likely underestimate the potential harm to the whole animal (Mothersill and Austin, 2011).

Given the numerous different ways in which a compound can change and interact with cells in an *in vivo* system it is often the case that the absolute sensitivity in whole animals is greater than in cell cultures (Segner and Lenz, 1993; Kilemade *et al.*, 2002). This is particularly likely if an animal is developmentally exposed i.e. as it grows and matures, since compounds would have the potential to disrupt physiological processes as they are forming, something which can result in more profound outcomes than if development is already complete.

Since the ultimate goal of *in vivo* testing in ecotoxicology is to achieve a greater degree of environmental relevance it seems equally desirable that not only the animal but also the test compounds are of a 'real-world' origin.

Historically the majority of ecotoxicology studies have focused on responses of cells or tissues of intact organisms to various doses of a single chemical. However, in the environment many different compounds exist together in what are referred to as 'mixtures' (Gagnaire *et al.*, 2006). Even when individual concentrations of similarly acting xenobiotics in natural waters are very low (sub ng/L) the combined concentrations from the mixture can prove toxicologically significant with respect to aquatic organisms (Brian *et al.*, 2004). As a result, the field of mixture-toxicology emerged in order to provide a more environmentally relevant model for laboratory tests.

Municipal effluents are recognized as a major source of many environmental contaminants, including polyaromatic hydrocarbons, pesticides, surfactants, steroids, and metals (Gagné *et al.*, 2006). Effluents are known to contain many chemicals with different mechanisms of action which can result in many different effects on an exposed organism. Therefore, while many mixture studies will combine several different chemicals in the laboratory, exposure to real sewage effluent is the gold-standard in environmental relevance as it represents a 'real-world' mixture (Ankley, 2008).

7.1.1. Aims

The aim of this study was to broaden and strengthen the testing of the central hypothesis, that pollution affects the parasite-host relationship, by including a more environmentally relevant *in vivo* approach to supplement the previous *in vitro* work.

I investigated the *in vivo* parasite-host interaction in the presence and absence of different concentrations of an effluent extract in order to simulate, within a controlled environment, the chemical composition of polluted urban environments where *B.glabrata* and *S.mansoni* might naturally reside.

Whereas previous chapters have been concerned with understanding if/how certain chemicals elicit an effect on key aspects of the snail immune response in isolation (*in vitro*), this chapter proceeds to investigate whether it is possible to relate such effects on these immune parameters to alterations in the parasite-host relationship *in vivo*, after snails have been developmentally exposed. Such alterations might include differences in snail infection rates, disease progression in the snail following infection with miracidia, and transmission potential (cercarial shedding).

This study also provided an opportunity for *in vitro* methods developed/used in previous chapters to be applied to cell samples taken from snails which had been exposed *in vivo*. In previous chapters' primary cells were taken from snails unexposed to chemicals or parasites and then incubated in the presence of chemicals *in vitro*. The fundamental difference between the *in vitro* tests used in this chapter and the same tests used in previous chapters is that the cells need not be incubated in the presence of chemicals since this has already occurred when they were inside the animal.

7.2. Materials and Methods

In this section I describe the materials and methods specific to the *in vivo* study. As with the other experimental chapters, what are referred to as the 'general' methods (those that are used throughout the thesis) are contained in Chapter 2.

7.2.1. Exposure Methods

When exposing whole animals to a test chemical there are four main systems which are used: static, static-renewal, recirculation and flow-through (Landis *et al.*, 2011). With static systems, the water is not changed for the duration of the test, the main advantage here being simplicity i.e. the amount of chemical required is relatively small as is the amount of effort and also the amount of waste for disposal. The main limitation with this type of assay is that for longer exposure it allows considerable build-up of waste products that promote bacterial growth which may, in turn, degrade the test compounds (Landis *et al.*, 2011). Rapid bacterial growth is also associated with greater oxygen depletion, although this can be offset with the addition of an air pump.

Static renewal involves exposing the test animal to the required chemical in static waster (as above), but this is partially or fully renewed at certain intervals during the study. The advantage of this system is that it effectively lessens the negative consequences of static exposure by refreshing the test chemical and removing harmful waste and bacteria. The downside with this method is that it is typically the most labour intensive as it is hard to automate and also requires more of the test chemical than a standard static system.

Recirculation systems involve using the same exposure water throughout the study, but it is effectively cleaned by passing it through a filter before returning it to the exposure tank and re-exposing the organisms to it again. While this system is automated and can maintain the quality of the water, a major shortcoming is the potential effect of filtering on the maintenance of correct test chemical concentrations in the water (Landis *et al.*, 2011).

The final system is 'flow-through' which is the preferred approach, but also the most complex and expensive to setup and maintain. In these systems fresh water is continually passed through the exposure vessels (tanks) from a header tank and out
into waste, ensuring a continually renewed supply. Test chemicals are typically added continually *via* peristaltic pump at rates calculated to maintain a consistent exposure concentration (Walker, 2012).

Static-type systems are usually employed when the test material is difficult to obtain in large quantities and/or stored easily e.g. effluent samples. Static methods are also commonly used when test organisms are small in size, since the cost and effort involved in using flow-through systems is rarely justified in species which require much less space (Hoffman, 2003; Lammer *et al.*, 2009). If space/expense is a significant limiting factor then static methods are preferred, but attempts should be made to compensate for some of the disadvantages by using a static-renewal approach where possible.

The majority of studies on snail species use static or static-renewal tests as snails are generally well adapted to low oxygen environments in ways that fish are not. In this study I report the findings of a developmental exposure of *B.glabrata* (from newly laid egg masses to adults) to effluent extract in a static-renewal system followed by subsequent infection of some snails with *S. mansoni*.

7.2.2. Pilot Study to Determine Optimal Exposure Conditions

A pilot study was performed in order to assess the optimal density and water-change parameters for the snails. Since I decided to use an effluent extract in the *in vivo* exposure, the volume of available effluent that could be feasibly extracted in order to conduct the exposure study needed to be determined. Table 7.1 shows calculations for the volume of effluent required in order to prepare stock doses given certain values for the doses, number of replicates, exposure length and the frequency of water renewal. Alterations to any of these parameters have a significant impact on the final volume of effluent required to extract due primarily to the highest, 10x, dose (which requires 10 times the volume of original effluent). For example, if the values for Table 7.1 were altered to account for changing the water daily (rather than every third day) the final volume of final effluent needed would increase from 99 litres to 298 litres. I therefore needed to determine the optimum exposure conditions within a feasible range of effluent volume.

Dose of	Replicate no.	Vol (L)	Exposure	Proportion of	Effluent
effluent			duration (d)	water changed	required (L)
				per day	
0.1 x	6	0.16	28	0.333	0.895104
1 x	6	0.16	28	0.333	8.95104
10 x	6	0.16	28	0.333	89.5104
				Total volume of	
				effluent Needed	99.356544
				(L):	

Table 7.1. Example of the calculations for the total volume of final effluent required in order to obtain the desired volume of extract for use in the *in vivo* study.

For the pilot study, snails were kept in freshwater throughout. Individual egg masses were hatched together in the same container and then 5 juvenile snails were transferred to each of 27 glass beakers (3 beakers per treatment) to begin the experiment. The groups were maintained identically, with the exception of the density (by adjusting the water volume) and water change frequency (Table 7.2). Results were taken after an exposure length of 21 then 28 days. 21 days was chosen as the minimum time, since in the final study adult snails would be required and 28 days was chosen as the upper limit to yield snails larger but which would still be within optimum susceptiblity to infection.

Table 7.3 lists studies from the literature that were used as a reference point to inform certain decisions prior to the pilot study.

Table 7.2. Experimental groups for the pilot study based on density and water change frequency. (n

 = 3 replicate beakers for each condition)

		Density			
		1 per 100ml (5 in	3 per 100ml (5 in	5 per 100ml	
		500ml)	166ml)		
Water change	Daily (1 per	n=3	n=3	n=3	
frequency	day)				
	2 nd day (0.5	n= 3	n=3	n=3	
	per day)				
	3^{rd} day (0.333	n=3	n=3	n=3	
	per day)				

A constant temperature of 27°C was maintained by immersing the glass beakers into thermostatically controlled water trays (Figure 7.1).

Snails were fed equal amounts of food (replaced daily) and any waste food and faeces was removed by aspiration using a p20 pipette tip attached to a 5ml glass pipette tip (to ensure young snails would not pass through) and a vacuum aspirator.



Figure 7.1. Photograph of pilot experiment setup with beakers grouped according to volume (but not water change frequency). *Temperature stability was maintained by standing the beakers in tanks of heated water*

Study	Density	Size (mm), age,	Chemical	Exposure length	Species	Water change
_	(snails per	or stage			-	frequency
	100ml)					
Allah et al.,	2	12	Heavy metals	6 week	B.g	-
(1997)						
Bakry et al.,	1	-	Azadirachta	24hr	B.a	-
(2012)			indica plant			
Iqbal and	1.3	-	BPA	10 days	B.g	None
Sinha, (2011)						
Mohamed,	0.5	8-10mm	Roundup	7 days	B.a	-
(2011a)						
Oliveira-Filho	3.3	3 month old	nonylphenol	8 weeks	B.t	twice a week
et al., (2009)						
Russo et al.,	-	25	fomesafen	21 days	Lymnea	every 3 days
(2008)						
Salice and	-	egg	Cadmium	2 weeks	B.g	-
Roesijadi,						
(2002)						
Salice and	10	6 week old	-	2 weeks	-	-
Roesijadi,						
(2002)						
Salice and	2	-	-	2 weeks	-	-
Roesijadi,						
(2002)						
Serrano et al.,	4	7-8mm	hydrocortisone	4 days	B.g	every 24hrs
(2002)						
Toledo and	5	adult	-		B.g	-
Fried, (2010)						
Thomas and	4-0.25	-	none	3 week	B.g	every 3 days
Benjamin,						
(1974)						
Gust et al.,	0.2	40mm	pharmaceutical	3 days	Lymnea	daily
(2013a)			mixture			
Gust et al.,	0.6	35mm	effluent	7 days	Lymnea	daily

Table 7.3. Examples of different variables from studies which have exposed *B. glabrata in vivo* under both static and static-renewal conditions. *Variables not reported marked with a dash*.

7.2.3. Primary Study

(2013b)

The major difference between this study and previous reports of effluent exposures in molluscs is that the effluent was used in the form of a concentrated extract (in ethanol) rather than the original raw water. Primary effluent was obtained from a large London sewage treatment works (I am unable to disclose precise details due to a confidentiality agreement). There were two main reasons I chose to use an extract. Firstly, the extract process also removes possible confounding factors such as large quantities of bacteria or other microbes. While a reasonable degree of bacterial contamination would be expected in a natural system, the length of my exposure period, the time between water changes and the tropical temperatures required to maintain *B. glabrata*, meant that a typical effluent is likely to have quickly become acutely toxic. Indeed, there are no previously reported studies in which tropical molluscs have been exposed to effluent, possibly for this very reason. Secondly, use of an extract enabled me to concentrate the sample above its normal level. River water measurements from transmission areas show contaminant levels that are considerably higher than in the UK, even though the actual chemical composition, especially in urban areas of more developed transmission countries like Brazil, is likely to be fairly similar. It is not unusual for levels of the same chemical to be found 10 times higher, or more, in transmission countries such as Brazil (Sodré, *et al.*, 2010; Moreira, *et al.*, 2011).

7.2.3.1. Exposure of *B. glabrata* to an effluent extract

Based on the results gained from the pilot study, I was able to begin the main study knowing the amount of effluent that would be required. For the final study, snail density was 5 per 166ml with water changes every third day.

7.2.3.1.1. Effluent Collection and Stock Preparation

Final effluent was collected from the sewage treatment works as composites in \sim 33L volumes on three separate days. Effluent was stored in 2.5L glass brown Winchester bottles and kept in a cold room at 4°C. The day following collection effluent bottles were taken individually from the cold room and the contents pre-filtered through 100µm silicon mesh into a clean glass bottle of equal volume (Figure 7.4 A) while kept on ice.

7.2.3.1.2. Solid phase extraction; disk conditioning and effluent extraction

47mm Octadecyl C18 extraction disks (EmporeTM) were secured into the manifold and carefully layered with 1cm of Filteraid glass beads (~50µm, Empore; Figure 7.2 A). To prime the new disk, 10ml of absolute methanol was added and allowed to run through the disk under vacuum pressure until dry (Figure 7.2 B-C). After ~5 minutes the vacuum pump was turned off, a further 10ml methanol was added, of which 1ml was allowed to gently run through the disk before closing the valve and letting the disk soak in the remaining 9ml for ~30 seconds (Figure 7.2 D-E). After soaking, the valve was again opened and all but the last 1ml methanol was allowed to run through before closing the valve (Figure 7.2 F). ddH₂O was added to the 1ml of remaining methanol to make a final volume of 10ml and the valve was quickly reopened allowing the methanol and all but 1ml of the diluted methanol to pass through (Figure 7.2 G-H). This stage of conditioning requires careful attention to avoid the disk drying out. The disk must remain immersed in liquid at all times while attempting to substitute the methanol for water. For the final stage of the filtration process, effluent was poured on top of the water layer to a final volume of 250ml (Figure 7.2 I) and the valve and vacuum pump were turned on to draw the effluent through the conditioned disk. This process was performed simultaneously for each of the six extraction ports (Figure 7.2 B). When effluent levels were running low they were replenished before the disk dried, until all of the effluent had passed through. Typically, the disks required changing after every 1-3L due to gradual blocking which causes a substantial decrease in filtering rate.



Figure 7.2. The process of priming and conditioning a C18 disk and extracting an effluent sample through it. *A*) *Glass funnel containing filteraid beads and C18 disk B*) *Addition of methanol to the funnel C*) *Methanol has been extracted through the disk D*) *More methanol added to the funnel E*) *Iml of methanol has been allowed to pass through the disk F*) *All but ~1ml of methanol has been allowed to run through the disk G*) *Double-distilled water is added over the methanol H*) *Methanol and majority of the water are allowed to pass through the disk I*) *Effluent sample is added over the remaining water and extraction of sample is ready to begin.*

7.2.3.1.3. Solid phase extraction; disk elution and stock creation

Following extraction, the used disks were left to air dry under vacuum for ~30 minutes (Figure 7.3 A). The pump was turned off and the glass apparatus (as well as the disk) was removed from the manifold in one piece with the clamp in place. The outlet of the metal manifold was placed inside a glass collection tube (15ml) placed in such a way as to not obstruct the air flow. The glass apparatus was then reattached so that the outflow would run into the glass collection tube (Figure 7.3 B). With the valve closed, 10ml of methanol was added to the disk and 5ml allowed to run slowly through into the collection tube, followed shortly by the remaining volume of methanol to ensure maximum recovery of compounds from the disk (Figure 7.3 C-

E). At this point the glass collection tubes were sealed with screw-tops and Parafilm and stored at 4°C and the eluted disks discarded.



Figure 7.3. The process of eluting the bound effluent chemicals from the C18 SPE disk. *A*) *After the effluent sample has passed through the C18 disk is allowed to dry B*) Glass tube placed beneath the funnel to collect the eluted sample C) Methanol is added to the disk D) Half of the methanol is allowed to pass through the disk and enter into the collection tube with the eluted chemicals E) The remaining methanol is allowed to pass through and all of the eluted effluent extract is now contained in the glass tube.

Completion of the extraction process yielded a concentrated effluent extract in 100% methanol. The collection tubes were added to a TurboVap for drying at 50°C under nitrogen (~15 bar). Samples were periodically checked until they reached 'incipient dryness'; the point at which the methanol had essentially evaporated with only enough remaining to leave a viscous residue (rather than a completely dry sample) that could be more easily dissolved in ethanol (Figure 7.4 C). Finally, 1ml of ethanol was added to each centrifuge tube, the tubes were mixed vigorously until no obvious residue remained and the concentrated extracts then pooled together to form the final stock of known concentration relative to the original sample (Figure 7.4 D).



Figure 7.4. Photographs of the effluent extraction process. *A) Pre-filtration; the effluent is contained* in a 2.5*L* brown glass bottle and will be poured through a pre-filter funnel which is placed on top of a clear bottle in an ice container *B*) The multi-port manifold is under a fume-hood and connected to a pump ready for extraction *C*) The methanol has been evaporated leaving behind a residue containing the effluent extract *D*) The final composite effluent stock in ethanol.

7.2.3.1.4. Chemical Composition of Samples

Since we were unaffiliated with the STW from which we collected the effluent, it was not possible to disclose the known chemical composition of the samples based on the operators own monitoring data or undertake independent measurements ourselves. However, as effluent is a complex mixture, with a typical effluent containing in excess of 80,000 chemicals and their biotransformation products, the analytical chemistry data would only be of limited value in identifying the possible cause of any observed effects on immune suppression, infection and transmission.

7.2.4. Exposure Setup

To avoid the use of solvents within the exposure system, a method similar to that described by (Filby *et al.*, 2007) was adopted whereby an appropriate volume of effluent extract (in ethanol) was added directly to glass beakers and allowed to air dry before being re-suspended in 166ml fresh, filtered water of the kind our stock adult snails are kept in.

To ensure a complete developmental exposure, egg masses of approximately equal size were collected as soon after laying as possible and were subsequently ethanol rinsed. The eggs masses were placed in small glass tubes (10ml) and were exposed to the different effluent concentrations. To ensure sufficient numbers of snails for the experiment, I used two egg masses per tube. After hatching, snails from each dose were transferred with a paint brush to 6 replicate beakers (Figure 7.5). During the entire exposure in the beakers, the snails were fed and temperature maintained in the same way used for the pilot study and exposure water was changed every third day in the same manner.



Figure 7.5. Photograph of the main study setup for adult snail exposure to the effluent extract. *The red lines indicate the grouping of the beakers within each tray; a row of 6 represents beakers all from the same effluent treatment and the 3 on the left of the vertical line are due for infection with S.mansoni while those to the right will remain uninfected.*

After the effluent exposure period was complete, half of the snails from each treatment were taken for infection at the London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine. To account for uneven mortality in the beakers, numbers were reduced to three snails per replicate 'group' and therefore 9 snails/treatment were designated for infection. For practicality and health and safety reasons I was unable to infect snails

at Brunel and was unable to continue the effluent exposure at LSHTM. As a result, I chose to end effluent exposure at this stage and infected and uninfected snails were maintained in freshwater for the final duration of the infection study. Since effluent volume was no longer a factor, snails were transferred to tubs and the water volume was increased (Figure 7.6). Snails remained in the same groups as from when they were exposed in the beakers and were separated within the tub by stainless steel gauze.

Conditions for infected and uninfected snails were kept as close to identical as possible, within the limitations of the experiment. Due to the stress of infection, oxygen lines were added to reduce mortality at LSHTM, and consequently the same was done to the non-infected group at Brunel. Both groups were kept in the dark as this is necessary to prevent pre-mature shedding in the infected group.

The infection process was as described in Chapter 2.

Figure 7.6. Experimental setup for infected (and uninfected) snails after the period of effluent exposure. *A*) *Each tub represents snails which were previously exposed to a particular effluent concentration B*) *Each pen represents an experimental unit.*

7.2.5. Experimental Endpoints

After the infections had been allowed to mature, the infected and uninfected snails were allocated to various endpoint categories. Of the remaining snails, one quarter (twelve) snails (one from each pen) were used for either shedding, histology, MTT assay or motility assay.

Details of the shedding process can be found in Chapter 2 (Section 2.3.6.4). The MTT and motility assays were performed essentially as described in their respective chapters, except for alterations in handling due to the infection status of one half. To maintain consistency between samples infected and uninfected, all snails (regardless of treatment and location) were treated in the same way. Infected snails could not be taken back to our laboratory and so hemolymph was quickly drawn at LSHTM from snails maintained in the dark and the filtering process previously described ensured that no cercariae could contaminate the hemolymph. Samples were kept on ice during transport to the Brunel laboratory for processing and all assays commenced approximately one hour after hemolymph extraction. For the MTT assay, zymosan was added to all samples (rather than half the samples as was the case during method development).

7.2.5.1. Histology

12 of the *S.mansoni*-exposed snails were used for histology. Snails were euthanized in magnesium chloride and then placed (still in their shells) into individual tubes containing pre-prepared Bouin's fixative solution (5% acetic acid, 9% formaldehyde, 9%, 0.9% picric acid in dH₂O; Sigma). This process took place before snails had the opportunity to shed cercarie (a process which would significantly disrupt their tissue). After 24 hours in Bouin's the snails were transferred to 70% IMS and sealed for transportation. Histology was performed by Dr. Burkard Watermann (LimnoMar, Hamburg, Germany).

Dehydration and embedding in paraffin was performed automatically (Hypercenter, Shandon). Sections of 2µm were prepared from the paraffin blocks and these sections were taken at a minimum of two levels or more, with a distance of 200µm. Histological evaluation was performed on hematoxylin-eosin-stained slides (Zeiss Ultraphot) and photographs were taken with a digital camera (Olympus C5050).

Of each snail, 12–15 sections were taken and parasitic stages were counted. Histologically, the basis for evaluation of parasite stages was determined according to the following criteria:

- Mother sporocyst: round or oval cell mass with numerous daughter sporocysts, composed of undifferentiated basophilic cells
- **Daughter sporocysts**: undifferentiated basophilic cells in mother sporocyst with differentiation into cercariae
- **Cercariae**: proliferating cell masses in daughter sporocysts, differentiating into tissues of cercariae, muscles, nervous tissue etc.

7.2.6. Statistical Analysis

Due to the number of variables under consideration and the absence of a clear hypothesis, the pilot study was initially analysed by principle components analysis for data reduction. The remaining variables from the PCA which proved to be correlated were further analysed by linear regression.

Shedding and internal parasite quantity were analysed by linear regression, where counts were treated as continuous due to the large size of the count scale and the absence of zero values.

MTT was analysed as previously described (Chapter 5, Section 5.2.7), but infection status replaces zymosan +/- as a binary predictor variable. Motility was analysed by multiple regression due to the inclusion of infection status as a variable as was snail mortality.

Linear regression was performed in Graphpad Prism 6.0 and PCA and multiple regression were performed in IBM SPSS 22.0.

7.3. Results

The following section describes results from both the density experiment (pilot study) and the main study (snail size, mortality, cercarial shedding, hemocyte motility, hemocyte viability *via* MTT and infected snail histology).

7.3.1. Pilot Study

Following principle components analysis, with all variables included, the Kaiser-Meyer-Olkin (KMO) measure of sampling adequacy gave a value of 0.494. According to Kaiser (1974) values below 0.5 are unacceptable. 'Water change frequency' was removed as a factor since it had no acceptable correlation with any of the other variables r = <0.3. After removing 'water change frequency' the KMO value increased to 0.592 and Bartlett's test of sphericity was significant (p = <0.001). After viewing the anti-image correlation, I ultimately found that only two variables remained with KMO >0.5, these were Volume (0.544) and Size (0.7). Linear regression was performed on the remaining variables and predictably a strong negative correlation coefficient was found between density and snail size ($r^2 = 0.6358$, Y = -722.8*X + 2414; Figure 7.7).



Figure 7.7. Linear regression model of the relationship between snail density and size. *Density is* reported as the number of snails per 100ml water and size is reported as the length of the snail shell in mm.

These results suggest that the studied water change frequencies did not significantly correlate with the other factors and that density was of most concern to the final study. In order to determine whether statistically significant results existed between the three different densities and their associated mean sizes Tukey's HSD was

performed. The multiple comparison test showed that both 166ml and 500ml volumes produced snails significantly larger than 100ml, but not from each other.

Table 7.4. Summary of mean size (mm), weight (g) and % mortality according to snail density (water volume in ml) and water change frequency. n = 5 snails per beaker. Volumes adjusted according to desired density (100ml equivalent to 5 snails per 100ml; 166ml equivalent to 3 snails per 100ml; 500ml equivalent to 1 snail per 100ml).

Beaker	Density (snails	Water change	Mean Size	Mean Weight (g)	% Mortality
	per 100ml)	freq.	(mm)		(count)
1_3	5 per 100ml	daily (1)	12.042	0.386	13% (2)
4_6	5 per 100ml	every other (0.5)	12.935	0.438	7% (1)
7_9	5 per 100ml	third day (0.333)	12.771	0.427	20% (3)
10_12	3 per 100ml	daily (1)	13.052	0.481	27% (4)
13_15	3 per 100ml	every other (0.5)	14.051	0.568	33% (5)
16_18	3 per 100ml	third day (0.333)	13.722	0.486	27% (4)
19_21	1 per 100ml	daily (1)	14.123	0.577	20% (3)
22_24	1 per 100ml	every other (0.5)	13.438	0.507	7% (1)
25_27	1 per 100ml	third day (0.333)	14.306	0.570	27% (4)

7.3.2. Primary Study

Based on the results of the pilot study I chose to perform water changes on every third day, as performing changes more frequently did not appear to have any significant benefits regarding snail size or mortality rates. Density, however, was associated with size. Since there was a significant difference between 100ml volume and both 166ml and 500ml (but not between 166ml and 500ml) I selected a volume of 166ml (or density of 3 snails per 100ml) for the final study, especially as using 500ml would not have any significant impact on size, but would greatly increase the amount of effluent required to extract.

7.3.2.1. Size; post-exposure, pre-infection

After the exposure period of 4 weeks, and prior to infection of snails, measurements were taken for shell length. The results of a linear regression analysis between shell length (mm) and effluent concentration showed a strong negative relationship which suggests that snail shell length decreases with increasing effluent concentration ($r^2 = 0.6264$, Y = -1.359*X + 7.262).



Figure 7.8. Linear regression analysis of the relationship between log effluent extract concentration and snail shell length (mm). *Data points are plotted as the mean of 6 independent replicates* \pm *SEM*.

7.3.2.2. Mortality

Multiple regression was performed on mortality data, with infection status and dose as independent variables and percentage mortality as the dependent. Test assumptions were met, including a collinearity tolerance value well within the acceptable range (1.0). The model showed a strong and significant result (Adjusted $R^2 = 0.774$. p = >0.001), however 'infection status' explained the majority of the variance in mortality and the coefficient statistics showed that only 'infection status' was contributing significantly to the model. These results (Table 7.5) suggest that infection status, but not effluent dose, was positively related to increased mortality. **Table 7.5.** Summary statistics from multiple regression analysis model built to predict mortality, based on the snails' *S.mansoni* infection status (positive or negative) and the concentration of effluent extract $(0, 0.1, 1, 10x - \log_{10})$ to which it was exposed *in vivo*.

Variable	В	SEB	β
Intercept	-11.876	4.999	
Dose	0.451	0.369	0.121
Infection status	27.550	3.094	0.883*

*p < .05; B = unstandardized regression coefficient; $SE_B =$ standard error of the coefficient; $\beta =$ standardized coefficient

7.3.2.3. Shedding

All the assumptions of linear regression were met and the analysis established that mean number of cercariae shed had a strong positive relationship with increasing effluent concentration, the former explaining 68% of the variance ($r^2 = 0.6819$, Y = 4092*X + 4793).



Figure 7.9. Linear regression model of the relationship between log effluent concentration and the mean number of cercariae shed per snail.

7.3.2.4. Motility

Multiple regression assumptions were met and the results showed a moderate statistically significant relationship between the independent variables of effluent dose and infection status and the dependent variable of cell velocity (μ m/min) (Adjusted R² 0.466; p < .05).

Table 7.6. Summary statistics from multiple regression analysis model built to predict motility (measured as mean velocity μ m/min) of hemocyte cells taken from *B.glabrata*, based on the snails' *S.mansoni* infection status (positive or negative) and the concentration of effluent extract (0, 0.1, 1, 10x - log₁₀) to which it was exposed *in vivo*.

Variable	В	SE _B	β	р
Intercept	3.308	0.338		0.000*
Infection status	-0.798	0.209	-0.581	0.001*
Dose	-0.068	0.025	-0.418	0.012*

B = unstandardized regression coefficient; SE_B = standard error of the coefficient; β = standardized coefficient; p = significance of contribution to model; * = statistically significant (p-value < .05).



Figure 7.10. Visual representation of the multiple regression model built to predict *B.glabrata* hemocyte motility (mean velocity μ m/min) based on the snails' *S.mansoni* infection status (positive or negative) and effluent concentration (0, 0.1, 1, 10x - log₁₀). Data points for mean hemocyte motility from uninfected snails are represented by circles and the regression line for these points is represented by a dashed line. Mean motility data points for hemocytes from infected snails are represented by squares and the corresponding regression line is solid.

The results displayed in Table 7.6 suggest that *S.mansoni* infection of *B.glabrata* and exposure to increasing effluent concentration significantly reduce the motility of its hemocytes to a greater extent than either variable alone. Figure 7.10 shows that the regression lines for both infected and uninfected snails has the same gradient but with a different intercept, suggesting that the pattern of motility response to effluent dose was similar, but that the overall degree of mean motility was significantly less for hemocytes from infected snails i.e. increasing effluent dose reduces motility in snails, regardless of infection status, but infected snails have reduced motility to begin with.

7.3.2.5. MTT

Multiple regression was performed on the MTT assay data (Table 7.7) with infection status (binary) and dose (continuous) as predictor variables for absorbance reading (i.e. cellular/phagocytic activity). The relationship between the predictors/independent variables and the outcome/dependent was of moderate strength and indicated that positive infection status and increasing dose led to a reduction in cellular/phagocytic activity as displayed by MTT conversion and associated absorbance (Adjusted $R^2 0.402$; p < .05).

Table 7.7. Summary statistics from multiple regression analysis model built to predict phagocytosis (measured as mean absorbance) ability of hemocyte cells taken from *B.glabrata*, based on the snails' *S.mansoni* infection status (positive or negative) and the concentration of effluent extract (0, 0.1, 1, 10x - log₁₀) to which it was exposed *in vivo*.

Variable	В	SE _B	β
Intercept	0.317	0.087	
Infection status	-0.128	0.054	-0.385*
Dose	-0.22	0.006	-0.553*

*p < .05; B = unstandardized regression coefficient; $SE_B =$ standard error of the coefficient; $\beta =$ standardized coefficient



Figure 7.11. Visual representation of the multiple regression model built to predict *B.glabrata* hemocyte phagocytosis ability (measured as mean absorbance at 570nm) based on the snails' *S.mansoni* infection status (positive or negative) and effluent concentration (0, 0.1, 1, 10x - log₁₀). Data points for mean hemocyte phagocytosis from uninfected snails are represented by circles and the regression line for these points is represented by a dashed line. Mean phagocytosis data points for hemocytes from infected snails are represented by squares and the corresponding regression line is solid.

7.3.2.6. Histology

Quantifying the number of mother sporocysts proved extremely difficult due to their similarity in appearance to daughter sporocysts and their scarcity in number (the number of mother sporocysts would be proportional to the maximum number of miracidia that infected the snail, so in my experiments this would be less than or equal to 7. As a result, we report daughter sporocysts (which would vastly outnumber mother sporocysts) and cercariae, which are easily distinguished from sporocysts and are also present in large numbers.

The number of parasites in infected snails was reported as being generally rather high across all doses. The numbers of miracidia in the mantle and tentacle tissue (their preferred penetration sites) were between 1- 5 suggesting that not all of the miracidia penetrated any snail, as is typical.

The numerical distribution of parasite stages within each snail is listed in Table 7.8.



Figure 7.12. Histology images from snail 1, 0x; A) Digestive gland B) Gonad. Daughter sporocysts (DS), cercariae (CC), OVT = ovotestis, bar = 50μ m.

Snail 1 contained numerous parasites at different stages within both the digestive gland (Figure 7.12 A) and the gonad (Figure 7.12 B). No host immune-reaction was apparent toward the parasites in either organ.



Figure 7.13. Histology images from snail 2, 0.1x; A) Digestive gland B) Gonad C) Albumen gland. Daughter sporocysts (DS), cercariae (CC) and ovotestis (OVT) connective tissue (CTS) albumen gland cells (ABG), bar = 50µm

Snail 2 contained numerous parasites with no observable host reaction in the digestive gland (Figure 7.13 A). There was evidence of slight infiltration of hemocytes in the connective tissue of the gonad (Figure 7.13 B). No host-response was apparent toward the daughter sporocysts and cercariae found in the albumen gland (Figure 7.13 C).



Figure 7.14. Histology images from snail 3, 1x; A) Digestive gland B) Gonad. Daughter sporocysts (DS), cercariae (CC), tubule of digestive gland (TDG), infiltration of hemocytes (INF), bar = $50\mu m$.

Snail 3 contained numerous shrunken parasite stages in both the digestive gland and the gonad (Figure 7.14 A and B). The deformed parasites were likely related to a degree of host response shown by infiltrating hemocytes in the gonad (Figure 7.14 B).



Figure 7.15. Histology images from snail 4, 10x; A) Digestive gland B) Digestive gland C) Gonad. Daughter sporocysts (DS), cercariae (CC), degenerated cercariae (DCC), granuloma (GRN), tubule of digestive gland (TDG), ovotestis (OVT), bar = $50\mu m$.

Snail 4 exhibited multiple granulomas in the digestive gland (Figure 7.15 A and B) inside which were cercariae displaying degenerated features. Parasites were also present in the gonad tissue but with significantly less host reaction (Figure 7.15 C).



Figure 7.16. Histology images from snail 5, 0x; A) Digestive gland B) Gonad. Daughter sporocysts (DS), cercariae (CC), oocytes (OOC), tubule of digestive gland (TDG), bar = 50μ m.

Snail 5 contained numerous parasites of healthy appearance in both the digestive gland and gonad and without evidence of host reaction (Figure 7.16; A and B).



Figure 7.17. Histology images from snail 6, 0.1x; A) Digestive gland B) Gonad. Daughter sporocysts (DS), cercariae (CC), infiltration of hemocytes (INF), tubule of digestive gland (TDG), bar = 50μ m.

Snail 6 displayed an immune reaction toward the parasites in both the digestive gland (Figure 7.17 A) and the gonad (Figure 7.17 B) as shown by infiltrating hemocytes in the interstitial tissue.



Figure 7.18. Histology images from snail 7, 1x; A) Digestive gland B) Gonad. Daughter sporocysts (DS), cercariae (CC), tubule of digestive gland (TDG), ovotestis (OVT), bar = 50μ m.

No host reaction was apparent toward the parasites embedded in the digestive gland (Figure 7.18; A) or gonad (Figure 7.18; B) of snail 7.



Figure 7.19. Histology images from snail 8, 10x; A) Digestive gland B) Gonad. Ovotestis (OVT), oocytes (OOC), tubule of digestive gland (TDG), mature sperm (SPM), bar = $50\mu m$.

Snail 8 contained no parasites in the observed sections. The digestive gland of snail 8 was substantially distorted and the tubules were enlarged, extremely dilated and their epithelial cells flattened, all of which is indicative of toxic damage (Figure 17.19 A). When compared with the digestive gland of snail 5, a control snail, the extent of the difference in appearance is apparent (Figure 17.20 A and B). The difference in dilation of tubules is indicated by the comparative size of the lumen which is shown circled in Figure 17.20 (A and B) and accompanied by an anatomical diagram of the molluscan digestive tubule (Figure 17.20; C).



Figure 7.20. Comparison of digestive gland sections from snail 5 (0x) and snail 8 (10x) showing the extent of toxic damage. *A*) *Digestive gland of snail 5, cross-section of tubule circled in red B*) *Digestive gland of snail 8, cross-section of tubule circled in red C*) Cross-sectional diagram of a molluscan digestive tubule, re-drawn and adapted from Hamed et al., (2007). Daughter sporocysts (DS), cercariae (CC), tubule of digestive gland (TDG), mature sperm (SPM), nucleus (N), excretory granule (EG), excretory cell (E), digestive cell (D), muscle fibers (MF), hemocyte (H), microvilli (MV), bar = 50µm.

The gonad of snail 8 was active, with spermatogenesis and oogenesis apparent, but the organ was reduced in size (Figure 7.19 B).



Figure 7.21. Histology images from snail 9, 0x; *A*) *Digestive gland B*) *Gonad C*) *Kidney. Daughter* sporocysts (DS), cercariae (CC), Ovotestis (OVT), oocytes (OOC), tubule of digestive gland (TDG), mature sperm (SPM), kidney (KTB), bar = $50\mu m$.

Snail 9 showed large numbers of parasites in the digestive gland, gonad and kidney (Figure 7.21; A, B and C) but without any visible host reaction. The gonad displayed signs of proper function with spermatogenesis and oogenesis observable (Figure 7.21; B).



Figure 7.22. Histology images from snail 10, 0.1x; *A) Digestive gland B) Gonad. Daughter sporocysts (DS), cercariae (CC), tubule of digestive gland (TDG), interstitial tissue (ICT), bar = 50µm.*

In snail 10 cercariae were found in the digestive gland in relatively normal condition (Figure 7.22 A). In the gonad cercariae were quite small and displayed a shrunken body shape indicative of a host response (Figure 7.22 B).



Figure 7.23. Histology images from snail 11, 1x; *A*) *Digestive gland B*) *Gonad C*) *Gonad. Daughter sporocysts (DS), cercariae (CC), infiltration of hemocytes (INF), tubule of digestive gland (TDG), granuloma formation (GRN), bar = 50µm.*

Snail 11 contained numerous parasites. The digestive gland and gonad contained shrunken cercariae (Figure 7.23 A, B and C). Multiple granulomas with capsule formation were present in the gonad, in association with high hemocyte infiltration, which is a result of an active host response (Figure 7.23 B and C).



Figure 7.24. Histology images from snail 12, 10x; A) Digestive gland B) Gonad C) Gonad. Daughter sporocysts (DS), cercariae (CC), infiltration of hemocytes (INF), tubule of digestive gland (TDG), ovotestis (OVT), oocytes (OOC), mature sperm (SPM), bar = 50µm.

Snail 12 contained numerous cercariae inside the digestive gland without evidence of immune reaction (Figure 7.24 A). In parts of the gonad infiltration of hemocytes was present and associated with this immune-response were shrunken cercariae (Figure 7.24 B). In the other section of the gonad daughter sporocysts were present without apparent immune-response (Figure 7.24 C).

Snail	dose	Figure	Histology notes
1	0x	7.12	Numerous parasites in digestive gland (A) and gonad (B) with no host reaction.
2	0.1x	7.13	Numerous parasites in digestive gland (A) and albumen gland (C) with no host reaction. Slight hemocyte infiltration in the gonad (B).
3	1x	7.14	Shrunken/damaged parasites of various stages in the digestive gland (A) and gonad (B). Evidence of hemocyte infiltration in the gonad (B).
4	10x	7.15	Multiple granulomas surrounding degenerated cercariae were present in the digestive gland (A and B). Considerably less reaction was present toward parasites in the gonad (C).
5	0x	7.16	Parasites present in the digestive gland (A) and gonad (B) with no host reaction.
6	0.1x	7.17	Infiltrating hemocytes and shrunken cercariae in both the digestive gland (A) and gonad (B).
7	1x	7.18	Parasites present in digestive gland (A) and gonad (B) with no apparent host reaction.
8	10x	7.19	No parasites were present in the observed sections. The digestive gland displayed signs of considerable toxic damage (A). The gonad was active, showing spermatogenesis and oogenesis, but reduced in size (B).
9	0x	7.21	Large numbers of parasites in the digestive gland (A), gonad (B) and kidney (C) but without any visible host reaction. Gonad was functional (C).
10	0.1x	7.22	Cercariae were found in the digestive gland (A) in a healthy condition but were found in a shrunken state, indicative of host response, inside the gonad (B).
11	1x	7.23	Shrunken cercariae were found in the digestive gland (A) and gonad (B and C). Multiple granulomas were present in the gonad in association with high hemocyte infiltration (B and C).
12	10x	7.24	Cercariae were present in the digestive gland without evidence of host- response (A). In parts of the gonad hemocyte infiltration and associated damaged parasites were found (B), while in other sections of the same organ parasites were present without host response (C).

Table 7.8. Summary notes for each sectioned snail based on histological evaluation

It was not possible to include all the variables (dose vs number of daughter sporocysts and number of cercariae) in a single model without substantially violating assumptions of traditional statistical approches. Instead the total number of counted internal parasites was treated as continuous and used in a linear regression (as were the different stages separately). According to the replicate runs tests none of the regression models showed relationships which differed significantly from a straight line (p = > 0.5). Effluent dose was able to explain only 0.05% of the variation in the total number of internal parasites in a snail (r² = 0.05074; Table 7.9). A similarly weak relationship was found between effluent concentration and the number of cercariae (r² = 0.006380; Y = -116.9*X + 856.5) whereas the number of daughter sporocyst showed a stronger, but still relatively weak, negative relationship to increasing dose (r² = 0.1087; Y = -605.9*X + 1558).

Snail	Dose	Daughter	Cercariae	Total
1	0	1339	243	1582
5	0	3186	2507	5693
9	0	1002	600	1602
2	0.1	1613	817	2430
6	0.1	694	348	1042
10	0.1	1679	707	2386
3	1	1649	926	2575
7	1	1340	684	2024
11	1	765	678	1443
4	10	2046	1361	3407
8	10	0	0	0
12	10	867	921	1788

Table 7.9. Number of daughter sporocysts, cercariae and a combined total number of parasites for each snail/dose.

7.4. Discussion

Results from the pilot study suggested snail density to be the most important factor in subsequent snail size (shell length in mm). Density-dependent growth is a well know phenomena in many species and is known to be the case in *B.glabrata*. The aim of the pilot study was to provide information on the minimum requirements for the snails in-terms of water change frequency and volume; the two factors that affect the final volume of effluent required for extraction (a significant limiting factor). These two variables were prioritised not only due to their relation to effluent volume, but also because (i) density is a known factor in snail size, which in turn is a factor in survival and infectivity (endpoints in the main study) and (ii) water change frequency is related to other potentially important factors such as waste accumulation, oxygen level and pH. Based on the results from the pilot study a volume of 166ml (3 snails per 100ml) was chosen for the final study. While density showed a positive linear relationship with size (Figure 7.7), there was no significant difference between the top two densities (166ml and 500ml), so the lower of the two was chosen in order to reduce the amount of effluent needed. The density range only extended to 500ml (1 snail per 100ml) and it is possible that size would continue to increase with higher volumes/lower densities. However, lowering the density further would have required unfeasibly large volumes of effluent to extract. Thomas and Benjamin, (1974) suggested 1 snail per 100 ml (10 per litre) as the maximum density to support optimal growth, given that density related positive feedback does occur so large volumes are not necessarily always better. Their suggestion for optimal density is the same as the maximum in my pilot (10 per litre/5 per 500ml) and since this volume did not differ significantly from 166ml, it was decided that this density (3 snails/100ml) would be appropriate. Volumes for the final study were increased immediately after the effluent exposure during the infection phase since infected snails are known to benefit from lower densities (Tucker et al., 2013).

Water change frequency was not found to be a significant factor in determining snail growth, at least within the range selected here. This is also not surprising since the accumulation of a certain amount of excretory material is believed to be beneficial, coupled with the fact that *B.glabrata* is well adapted to anoxic and DOM-rich water, being a pulmonate snail (Thomas and Benjamin, 1974; Moeller *et al.*, 2011).

In the main study, eggs were exposed within hours of being laid to ensure early developmental exposure because the early life stages of many species, including *B. glabrata*, are several orders of magnitude more sensitive to xenobiotics than adult stages (Oehlmann & Schulte-Oehlmann, 2002; Tallarico *et al.*, 2014). Developmental exposure therefore ensures greater potential for xenobiotic-induced effects and it is also more representative of field conditions where eggs would develop and hatch and the juvenile snails develop towards maturity in the same water conditions as adults.

Developmental exposure to certain xenobiotics has previously been reported to cause retardation of growth in other freshwater pulmonates (Khangarot and Das, 2010). This correlates with my findings of a general reduction in size based on measurements of shell length (a standard assessment of 'size') taken on all the study snails immediately post-effluent exposure. The impact of a reduction on size could have direct implications to transmission since Niemann and Lewis (1990) found that the percentage of snails which developed patent infections was higher in snails with smaller shell sizes.

Cercariae are usually located in the digestive tract which also appears to be the most prominent site of studied xenobiotic accumulation in molluscs (Couch and Fournie, 1993; Domouhtsidou and Dimitriadis, 2001; Oehlmann and Schulte-Oehlmann, 2002).

Damage to the digestive gland is typically indicative of chronic, rather than acute, exposure to environmental stressors due to its prominent involvement in bioaccumulation and excretion (Costa *et al.*, 2013). More specifically, within the digestive gland the digestive tubules have been highlighted in several studies as sites displaying the most profound damage (Thompson *et al.*, 1974; Moore *et al.*, 1978; Couch 1984; Axiak *et al.*, 1988, Recio *et al.*, 1988), including molluscs exposed to effluents (Domouhtsidou and Dimitriadis, 2001), and have therefore been proposed as suitable biomarkers (Costa *et al.*, 2013). The tubules have a similar function and appearance to the vertebrate intestine in that they are luminal and formed by a single layer of ciliated epithelial cells (Le Pennec and Le Pennec, 2001; Costa *et al.*, 2013; Figure 17.20, C).

In my study, significant damage to the digestive tubules was found in the snails exposed to the highest (10x) effluent concentration. This type of damage was indicative of toxicity and not parasitism (Dr. Burkard Watermann, LimnoMar; personal communication), indeed the snail showing the greatest degree of toxic damage (snail 8, Figure 17.19 and Figure 17.20) was exposed but apparently never infected. The underlying mechanistic cause of the observed toxic damage to the digestive gland is difficult to determine due to the number of potential factors and their interplay, as well as the fact that the exact composition of the effluent was unknown. The fact that *B. glabrata* has been shown to be capable of absorbing

chemical mutagens from the aquatic environment suggests the interesting possibility that the digestive gland was improperly formed during growth and development and not simply damaged due to accumulation, although we cannot say what chemicals were present in my effluent extract, it is likely that there were mutagens due to their widespread use and pervasive nature (Canesi *et al.*, 2007a; Tallarico *et al.*, 2014)

In both infected and uninfected snails, multiple regression analysis of the MTT data revealed a moderate decrease in phagocytic activity with increasing dose, indicating that phagocytosis was being reduced as a results of effluent exposure in vivo (Table 7.7 and Figure 7.11). This is an interesting and informative result for two reasons. Firstly, the dose-dependent reduction in phagocytosis suggests an immunosuppressant effect of the effluent extract on the snails, something which pertains strongly to, but in itself doesn't fully answer, the central question of the thesis (i.e. it provides evidence of pollutant induced suppression of a component of the snail immune system). Secondly, since the same method was not able to detect any significant response to chemicals, including the effluent extract, exposed to hemocytes in vitro (Chapter 5; Section 5.3.1.3), we are perhaps offered evidence as to the importance of bioaccumulation. However, it is possible to suggest an alternative explanation in place of the second point. This result could instead be indicating a lower sensitivity to *in vitro* phagocytosis detection by the MTT assay compared with the Imagestream, since the latter did display a relationship between effluent exposure and phagocytosis *in vitro*, however this relationship was extremely weak (Adjusted R2 = 0.06851; (Chapter 5; Section 5.3.1.3) and the two assays were also analysed differently due to their respective study design.

Also apparent, but perhaps less surprising, was the significant overall reduction in phagocytosis rates among hemocytes from infected snails when compared to those from snails which were uninfected (Figure 7.11). Infection with *S.mansoni* has long been known to directly and specifically impair elements of the immune function of *B.glabrata*, including phagocytosis (Abdul-Salam and Michelson, 1980; Connors and Yoshino, 1990).

A final point of interest shown by Figure 7.7 is the convergence in phagocytosis rates between infected and uninfected snails at the highest effluent dose. This would perhaps suggest that phagocytosis is reaching its lowest possible functional level for

survival, but also again raises the possibility of indication of the lower level of detection for the assay.

Reduced phagocytic activity on its own does not necessarily directly cause damage to digestive gland cells, but it has been shown to be indicative of damage, particularly to digestive cell lysosomal membranes, since the process of phagocytosis is dependent on functioning cell membranes and lysosomes play a central role in the degradation of phagocytosed materials (Coles *et al.*, 1995 and Grundy *et al.*, 1996). In a study which exposed mussels to an artificial mixture of EDCs, designed to be representative of environmental levels, even a 0.1x concentration was able to induce a 55% decrease in lysosomal membrane stability, albeit in hemocytes rather than digestive gland cells (Canesi *et al.*, 2007b).

Therefore, in terms of a mechanistic cause, it seems feasible that the significant toxic damage seen in the digestive gland of snail 8 (Figure 17.19) was possibly as a result of irregular gene expression during developmental exposure or accumulation of xenobiotics and direct toxicity to digestive gland cells or possibly even both these factors together.

While the average number of parasites within snails remained relatively constant along the effluent exposure range, it was interesting to note that snails in higher effluent concentrations shed more parasites; a finding that may clearly have implications with respect to transmission of disease to humans. Increased shedding of cercariae from snails exposed to xenobiotics has previously been shown (Soliman, 2009; Kelly *et al.*, 2010), as has the opposite (Allah *et al.*, 1997; Morley *et al.*, 2003), however it is important to note that these studies investigated single chemicals from different classes (herbicides and heavy metals). Therefore, I can only state that chemicals typically contained in treated domestic effluent, such as that extracted for use in this study have, at environmentally relevant doses, previously been shown to affect cercarial shedding.

The mechanisms for xenobiotically-induced alterations in shedding are poorly understood, as are the mechanisms controlling cercarial emergence from snail tissue. The few studies which have almost exclusively only considered herbicides.

Hock and Poulin, (2012) found that *Potamopyrgus* snails infected with three different species of trematode shed between 1.5 and 3 times as many cercariae per

day when exposed to the herbicide glyphosate at levels considered to be sub-toxic to most aquatic organisms. Since a similar pattern of increased shedding was seen for all three species of trematode, and has also been observed previously in the same snail species exposed to the same chemical (Kelly *et al.*, 2010) as well as different species exposed to the herbicide atrazine (Rohr *et al.*, 2008), the authors suggest a 'general' weakening of the snail, and subsequent indirect benefit to the parasite, by herbicides as the cause, rather than something specific to a particular trematode or snail species (Hock and Poulin, 2012).

An important difference between my study and others is the fact that snails were infected after developmental exposure and were not exposed during infection. This was due to limitations in obtaining permission to use potentially human-infective snails in our laboratory or to take effluent to LSHTM. This fact warrants the consideration of other potential explanations for my findings.

Effectively this suggests a situation where none effluent-exposed parasites are presented to previously effluent-exposed, and potentially compromised, hosts. Since the snails were developmentally exposed (but not the parasites) we may hypothesise that the effluent-induced damage somehow enhanced the ability of cercariae to emerge without any direct and deleterious effects of effluent on the parasite associated with their accumulating xenobiotics. However, since the parasites are known to acquire resources from locations where xenobiotics are most heavily bioaccumulated, it is still quite possible that the parasites were indirectly exposed, although no supporting evidence could be found for this.

Equally, it may not matter whether the parasites are exposed or not, as in the studies performed by Rohr *et al.*, (2008), Kelly *et al.*, (2010) and Hock and Poulin, (2012), both parasite and host were exposed simultaneously yet the situation was apparently still more beneficial to the parasites as evidenced by their increased shedding rates. It is important to note that an increase in cercarial shedding is not necessarily indicative of increased transmission potential in the field, as others have shown reduced infectivity of cercariae from xenobiotic-exposed snails (Morley *et al.*, 2003).

Both infection and increasing effluent concentration significantly contributed to a reduction in cell velocity/motility. *S.mansoni* is known to release excretory-secretory products which reduce *B.glabrata* hemocyte motility, although to my knowledge
these studies have previously only taken place on hemocytes exposed to ESPs in vitro (Lodes and Yoshino, 1990; Zelck et al., 2007). Reduced motility in hemocytes of mussels collected from contaminated sites has also recently been reported for the first time (Rioult et al., 2014). Here I have shown that the combination of infection and exposure to effluent decreases motility more than either factor alone. The ability to phagocytose and encapsulate are clearly dependent on motility. Zelck *et al.*, (2007) showed that the ERK (extracellular signal-regulated kinase) signal transduction pathway in particular was crucial to all of these processes. The infection-induced reduction in phagocytosis which has been observed previously is associated with reduction in ERK phosphorylation (Zelck et al., 2007). Interestingly Canesi et al., (2006) and Porte et al., (2006) have both shown that ERK phosphorylation can be reduced by exposure to certain xenobiotics. Taken together these results suggest a synergistic or additive effect of infection and effluent exposure toward a reduction in cell motility (Table 7.6 and Figure 7.10) and subsequently phagocytosis (Table 7.7 and Figure 7.11), possibly induced by reduced ERK phosphorylation.

Infection was positively related with increased mortality, a phenomenon which is well documented in infected snails due to the associated physical trauma and reduction in nutrients (Eveland and Haseeb, 2011). Dose, however was not significantly associated with mortality.

Given my other conclusions this may suggest a scenario where physically/immunologically impaired snails are able to remain alive, possibly long enough to transmit more cercariae into their environment than if the combined burden of infection and exposure to effluent was more acutely fatal.

Chapter 8: General Discussion

The purpose of this research was to explore the broad question 'does pollution affect parasite-host interactions?' by considering the relationship between the freshwater snail *Biomphalaria glabrata* and its obligate parasite *Schistosoma mansoni*. Given the medical importance of this parasite-host relationship, and its tendency to occur in relatively polluted environments, it is surprising that of the numerous studies on immunotoxicology in aquatic molluscs, the vast majority have focused on commercial species only. Therefore, this project represents one of very few to explore the *B.glabrata* – *S.manosni* relationship in the context of ecotoxicology. Of the few studies that have investigated this particular hypothesis most, if not all, have focussed on single chemicals or chemical classes (heavy metals in particular) and single endpoints.

Given the rapid increase in urbanization of transmission countries like Brazil, their sewage effluents are becoming increasingly similar to those of western countries. However, while the effluent compositions are becoming more similar (pharmaceuticals, personal care products), the treatment levels still severely lag behind, often resulting in concentrations of as much as 10 fold higher than those reported in the UK. For these reasons, I decided to investigate the activity of a number of known immune/endocrine-modulators on key components of the *B.glabrata-S.mansoni* interaction.

There is a spectrum of investigatory models ranging from *in vitro* studies on cell lines to field studies and epidemiology (Krysko and Vandenabeele, 2009). Each approach has advantages and disadvantages, and in general, as the precision of measurement and control of variables reduces the environmental relevance increases and *visa versa*. Within the context of a laboratory-based project, a degree of environmental relevance was maintained through the use of primary cells and the inclusion of a static-renewal *in vivo* exposure.

In general, regression analysis was used to describe dose-response relationships rather than forcing the data into an ANOVA-type model which is a common procedure (Chapter 3, Section 3.3.7). While the latter approach can yield useful information, and has been used in this study in places, it violates the assumptions made by this kind of experimental design and appears to be mainly used to search for 'P-values' with respect to a black and white significant/not significant result.

Therefore, ANOVA-type analysis should be reserved for additional investigation and regression models adopted as the preferred first option in dose-response assays (Cottingham *et al.*, 2005; Royston *et al.*, 2006).

Given the difficult nature of primary molluscan hemocytes, and a relatively small body of work to build on, it was necessary to develop novel investigative approaches as well as make adaptations to existence techniques to address the research question. As a result, a significant proportion of this thesis involves method development and validation, rather than purely data generation.

For the study of the encapsulation interaction, a simple and inexpensive version of an established assay was adapted to accommodate xenobiotic exposure; the first attempt to do such an assay to my knowledge. Observations of the interactions obtained in my experiments compared favourably to those from previous *in vitro* assays with the same cell type (Castillo and Yoshino, 2002; Martins-Souza *et al.*, 2011). Non-linear dose-response relationships were observed for all chemicals when applied to the encapsulation assay (Figure 4.4). The results of this assay indicates that the encapsulation response may be altered in the presence of acute exposure to the studied chemicals, although significant differences to the control (according to Dunnett's test) were only evident in the highest doses of BPA and DDE (2mg/L and 5mg/L respectively) (Figure 4.5). These are values which likely exceed environmentally 'realistic' levels in river water, although little is known about the concentrations of these chemicals in rivers that are needed to reach equivalent internal concentrations within the snail.

For the study of phagocytosis I investigated two approaches. One approach was relatively 'low-tech' but high-throughput (MTT assay) based on an adaptation of work by Bezerra *et al.*, (1997). The second approach was essentially the opposite (high-tech, low-throughput) and is, to my knowledge, the first application of imaging flow-cytometry to molluscan cells. This approach was also supplemented by the development of a highly accurate counting mask for quantification purposes.

The relationships between the study chemicals and phagocytosis (measured as the mean number of beads within the cell) were similar to those from the encapsulation assay (Figure 5.11). This result was not unexpected due to the similarity of the mechanisms involved in encapsulation and phagocytosis. Indeed, the main difference

between these two approaches is size of the target and not the cell response (Bayne and Fryer, 1994). For this reason, the ERK pathway could be a potential target for future investigation of the studied chemicals. Indeed, ERK is a key pathway for these processes and has previously been shown to be affected by xenobiotic chemicals, at environmentally relevant concentrations in molluscan *in vitro* tests (Canesi *et al.*, 2004). ERK (Extracellular-signal-regulated kinase) is a serine/threonine protein kinase and member of the mitogen- activated protein kinase (MAPK) family found in both vertebrates and invertebrates (Walker, 2006).

The imaging flow-cytometry assay was also applied, for the first time, to another mollusc species - *M. cornuarietis* (Chapter 5, Section 5.2.6.2). Although I did not investigate this snail species to the same level of detail as *B. glabrata*, I would strongly encourage further consideration of this species as a potential model for mollusc immunology studies based on the nature of the hemocytes (lack of clumping) and other advantageous physical attributes (size/hemolymph volume).

Of the *in vitro* assays, motility stood out as the endpoint most sensitive to the test chemicals, with strong negative relationships induced by most study chemicals (Figure 6.12). Interestingly, as for encapsulation and phagocytosis, ERK is also known to strongly regulate *B. glabrata* hemocyte motility (Zelck, 2007). Preliminary work would suggest that hemocytes remained viable over the dose-range of all the tested chemicals, so cell death was not believed to represent a significant factor.

The cell motility work was performed using a system which I developed in an attempt to merge low-cost and high-throughput data acquisition (Chapter 6, Section 6.2). While the microscope system was originally developed to aide my work on *B. glabrata* hemocyte motility, its potential for wider applications became quickly apparent. The system performed well with other, much more widely used cell types (mouse Sertoli cells and human breast cancer cells), and as a result it gained attention from numerous national and international media outlets, but more importantly from researchers in diverse fields from neurobiology to geology.

As with all immunotoxicological studies, alterations in the response of selected immune parameters may not have a direct bearing on immune competence or increased probability of infection or proliferation (Hoeger *et al.*, 2004). For this reason, an *in vivo* assay was conducted in order to establish whether the *in vitro*

responses observed using the methods developed here could be observed in the intact snail. A UK effluent extract was used as the test chemical since this represented the most environmental relevant approach available.

After developmental exposure to effluent, snails were measured prior to infection. A negative linear relationship was evident suggesting decreasing size with increasing effluent concentration (Figure 7.8). While it is known that smaller snails are more susceptible to infection, internal parasite numbers were consistent among treatments (Table 7.9). Despite this, there was a strong tendency toward increased cercarial shedding with increasing effluent concentration (Figure 7.9), as well as increased evidence of toxic damage to the digestive tissue of the snail (Figure 7.20). These results seem to suggest an effect of effluent which enhances the ability of the cercariae to emerge. This effect is likely due to a direct effect on the snail rather than an enhancement of the parasite since parasites were not directly exposed to effluent, although I cannot rule out the possibility of parasites accumulating toxins stored in host tissue.

Having established methods during *the in vitro* phase of the project, I was able to employ the most cost/time-effective approaches to hemocytes derived from intact snails used in the *in vivo* assay. It appears that effluent exposure when coupled with infection had a synergistic effect toward lowering both phagocytosis and motility more than either factor alone. What is interesting to note is that one of the survival mechanisms used by *S.mansoni* whilst developing inside the snail is to secrete proteins that are known to disrupt ERK signalling (Bayne, 2009; Negrão-Corrêa *et al.*, 2012) thereby effectively suppressing the immune response.

Given all the above, it is apparent that the pollutants used in this project can affect the interaction between *B. glabrata* and *S. mansoni* through possible suppression of immune responses. While this is an important conclusion, it leaves many questions. When we bring together all of the findings and put them into context with the literature, they do point to a possible explanation for the observed relationship between pollution levels and disease transmission.

In molluscan hemocytes ERK has previously been shown to be affected by xenobiotics, including those used in my studies (Canesi *et al.*, 2004). ERK is known to be important in the processes of phagocytosis, encapsulation and motility in *B*.

glabrata hemocytes (Zelck, 2007; Toldedo and Fried, 2011). *S. mansoni* utilizes disruption of ERK to suppress the snail immune response and enhance its survival prospects (Bayne, 2009; Negrão-Corrêa et al., 2012). Reduction in phagocytosis is correlated with increased cercarial shedding (Connors *et al.*, 1995).

In many ways the observations would appear to represent an amalgamation of these previous findings, suggesting that down-regulation of hemocyte ERK as a result of combined pollution and infection results in decreased immune function and increased cercarial shedding.

Motility may be the most important factor under consideration since both the rate of encapsulation and phagocytosis is dependent on motility, but motility is not dependent on phagocytosis or encapsulation. The finding that motility was generally the most sensitive endpoint could be explained by the nature of the responses. While motility is an important factor in the other processes, even cells with reduced motility will likely be able to undergo a degree of phagocytosis/encapsulation due to the fact that some cells will be closer to the foreign object (sporocyst, bead) than others and thus have to travel less distance. It may be that the effects I have observed are occurring on the motility process only and that this has a subsequent impact on the associated endpoints. Alternatively, it may be that a common mechanism affecting all measured endpoints, such as ERK, is affected. It is difficult to distinguish between these various possibilities due to the interactions between these endpoints which (in reality) could be seen as one continuous process but are typically studied in isolation.

It is important to note that outside of a laboratory setting, the parasite-host relationship is subject to many more variables, and with a much greater degree of variation, than chemical exposure alone. It is therefore not possible to make extensive conclusions regarding possible human health issues based on the nature of this kind of work and the literature, especially given its scarcity (Lefcort *et al.*, 2002).

In general, this project represents a broad approach to a complex subject. The scarcity of existing research on this topic has meant that the project was less able to take advantage of well-established existing hypothesises and explore them in great detail, but instead it can be seen as a starting point for future investigations.

The nature of the project provided scope to explore some creative and novel approaches to the hypothesis, as opposed to saturated research fields where new experimental methods are developed by companies to enable researchers to produce more results. Consequently, much time was spent preparing the technical platforms needed to generate results and establish the theoretical basis for my hypothesis, which left little time to explore the mechanisms responsible in as much detail as I would have liked. For example, in order to answer some of the questions which have arisen from our results, it would have been extremely beneficial to investigate the parasite-host/effluent relationship at a molecular level. Molecular work focusing around signalling pathways, in particular effects on ERK signalling, would help to prove or disprove one of the main hypothesises to come from this project. Performing this kind of molecular work would be a logical progression to this research and would bring ecotoxicology and parasitology even closer together in a mechanistic sense.

Some of the main limitations with this project have been due to the logistical difficulties associated with handling hazardous effluent and potentially humaninfective parasites. In general, ecotoxicology laboratories are set-up to deal with hazardous chemicals and parasitology laboratories are set-up to accommodate infectious samples. Since these two requirements are very different, I had to balance certain trade-offs in order to undertake these studies. For example, I would have liked to expose snails from eggs right through the infection process in a manner more representative of field conditions. Instead I had to settle for a developmental exposure in effluent, followed by infection of snails under clean water conditions. The consequence of this 'choice' on the research findings and their interpretations is presently unclear. However, it suggests that the parasites may have had a substantially reduced exposure to xenobiotics than the snails; something which perhaps would favour parasite proliferation/shedding as was observed. And so while we were able to provide answers to the main hypothesis (i.e. dose pollution affect parasite-host interactions?) the precise environmental relevance remains to be established. For this reason, another necessary extension of this work would be to perform the whole in vivo exposure again in the presence of xenobiotics. This would both repeat aspects of the *in vivo* exposure, and take the research forward.

Nevertheless, the *in vivo* study design was appropriate given the difficulties and risks posed by, for example, a flow-through system.

Due to the time constraints imposed by having to establish many of the assays form the beginning, or for their first use with hemocytes, as well as the difficult nature of *B.glabrata* hemocytes (clumping, low cell volume), I was unable to explore the responses of resistant snail strains. I would have liked to explore the question of whether resistant strains become *less resistant* when exposed to xenobiotics, and perhaps run parallel experiments against resistant and susceptible strains. Resistant strains (BS90) were extremely difficult to work with due to their smaller size, this was most apparent when large volumes of hemolymph were required for assays. Much work on resistant snails is of a molecular nature for which smaller volumes of hemolymph are likely to be sufficient, however they were much less suitable than susceptible snails for my work. The resistant snails also appeared far less hardy than their BBO2 counterparts, indeed we frequently lost snails and found it difficult to maintain a population. Superficially it appears as if resistance to *S.mansoni* imposes a cost on the general longevity of the snail, this is something which has previously been reported (Blair and Webster, 2007; Humphries 2010).

A further, and extremely important, extension would be to perform field work and/or epidemiological studies. For example, studies could be conducted which integrate information regarding human and snail parasite burdens along a transmission foci, with data regarding the composition and type of chemicals present in the water. Similar studies are already fairly routine for disease mapping purposes and I expect it would be relatively straightforward to marry this data with chemical analysis of water samples collected at the same time. Therefore, to summarise, my recommendations for future work would take two, almost opposite, paths. One would involve delving into greater detail in specific parts of the relationship i.e. molecular work, whereas the other would involve moving from the laboratory and attempting to understand the process at the highest and most environmentally relevant levels i.e. field studies and epidemiology.

8.1. Conclusion

In this project I have developed and adapted techniques to combine observations on the immune response and relationship between *B. glabrata* and *S. mansoni* before and after exposure to various xenobiotics and an effluent extract. The work described here represents a timely investigation into a potentially very important, yet understudied, area. My results suggest that globally distributed aquatic xenobiotics may act, in combination with *S. mansoni* infection, as immunosupressors, resulting in increased parasite shedding. I believe that my broad approach to investigate the effect of chemicals on immune parameters in *B. glabrata* could form the basis for more specific mechanistic investigations and to test my conclusions in real-world settings.

REFERENCES

Abdul-Salam, J. M., & Michelson, E. H. (1980). Biomphalaria glabrata amoebocytes: Effect of Schistosoma mansoni infection on in vitro phagocytosis. *Journal of Invertebrate Pathology*, *35*(3), 241-248.

Abdel-Wahab, M. F., Yosery, A., Narooz, S., Esmat, G., El Hak, S., Nasif, S., & Strickland, G. T. (1993). Is Schistosoma mansoni replacing Schistosoma haematobium in the Fayoum?. *The American journal of tropical medicine and hygiene*,49(6), 697-700.

Abou-El-Naga, I. F. (2013). Biomphalaria alexandrina in Egypt: Past, present and future. *Journal of biosciences*, *38*(3), 665-672.

Adema, C. M., Luo, M. Z., Hanelt, B., Hertel, L. A., Marshall, J. J., Zhang, S. M & Loker, E. S. (2006). A bacterial artificial chromosome library for Biomphalaria glabrata, intermediate snail host of Schistosoma mansoni. *Memorias do Instituto Oswaldo Cruz, 101*(Suppl 1), 167–177. http://dx.doi.org/10.1590/S0074-02762006000900027

Adema, C. M., & Loker, E. S. (2015). Digenean-gastropod host associations inform on aspects of specific immunity in snails. *Developmental & Comparative Immunology*, 48(2), 275-283.

Adewunmi, C. O., Becker, W., Kuehnast, O., Oluwole, F., & Dörfler, G. (1996). Accumulation of copper, lead and cadmium in freshwater snails in southwestern Nigeria. *The Science of the Total Environment*, *193*(1), 69–73. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0048-9697(96)05315-6</u>

Åkerlund, G. (1969). Oxygen consumption of the ampullariid snail Marisa cornuarietis L. in relation to body weight and temperature. *Oikos, 20*(2), 529–533. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.2307/3543214</u>

Albert, A., Drouillard, K., Haffner, G. D., & Dixon, B. (2007). Dietary exposure to low pesticide doses causes long-term immunosuppression in the leopard frog (Rana pipiens). *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry*, 26(6), 1179–1185. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1897/05-622R.1</u>

Ali, S. M., Yousef, N. M., & Nafady, N. A. (2015). Application of Biosynthesized Silver Nanoparticles for the Control of Land Snail Eobania vermiculata and Some Plant Pathogenic Fungi. *Journal of Nanomaterials*, *501*, 218904.

Allah, A. A., Wanas, M. Q. S., & Thompson, S. N. (1997). Effects of heavy metals on survival and growth of Biomphalaria glabrata Say (Gastropoda: Pulmonata) and interaction with Schistosome infection. *The Journal of Molluscan Studies*, *63*(1), 79–86. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/mollus/63.1.79</u>

Allam, B., Ashton-Alcox, K. A., & Ford, S. E. (2002). Flow cytometric measurement of hemocyte viability and phagocytic activity in the clam, Ruditapes philippinarum. *Journal of Shellfish Research*, 21(1), 13–20.

Allan, F., Rollinson, D., Smith, J. E., & Dunn, A. M. (2009). Host choice and penetration by Schistosoma haematobium miracidia. *Journal of Helminthology*, *83*(1), 33–38. http://dx.doi.org/10.1017/S0022149X08073628

Allison, P., & Allison, P. (2012). Logistic regression using SAS. Cary, NC: SAS Institute.

Altshuler, B. (1981). Modeling of dose-response relationships. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, 42, 23–27. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1289/ehp.814223</u>

Alvarez, M. R., Friedl, F. E., Johnson, J. S., & Hinsch, G. W. (1989). Factors affecting in vitro phagocytosis by oyster hemocytes. *Journal of Invertebrate Pathology*, *54*(2), 233–241. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/0022-2011(89)90033-5 Amen, R. I., Baggen, J. M. C., Bezemer, P. D., & De Jong-Brink, M. (1992). Modulation of the activity of the internal defence system of the pond snail Lymnaea stagnalis by the avian schistosome Trichobilharzia ocellata. *Parasitology*, *104*(Pt 1), 33–40. http://dx.doi.org/10.1017/S0031182000060777

Ankley, G. (2008). Genomics in regulatory ecotoxicology. Boca Raton: CRC Press.

Ansaldo, M., Nahabedian, D. E., Di Fonzo, C., & Wider, E. A. (2009). Effect of cadmium, lead and arsenic on the oviposition, hatching and embryonic survival of Biomphalaria glabrata. *The Science of the Total Environment*, 407(6), 1923–1928. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2008.12.001</u>

Araque, W., Barrios, E. E., Rodríguez, P., Delgado, V. S., & Finol, H. J. (2003). Ultrastructural study of the in vitro interaction between Biomphalaria glabrata hemocytes and Schistosoma mansoni miracidia. *Memorias do Instituto Oswaldo Cruz, 98*(7), 905–908. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1590/S0074-02762003000700008</u>

Arias, A., & Burrial, A. T. (2014). First European record of the giant ramshorn snail Marisa cornuarietis (Linnaeus, 1758)(Gastropoda: Ampullariidae). *Limnetica*, 33(1), 65–72.

Arnold, K. E., Boxall, A. B., Brown, A. R., Cuthbert, R. J., Gaw, S., Hutchinson, T. H & Thompson, H. M. (2013, June 26). Assessing the exposure risk and impacts of pharmaceuticals in the environment on individuals and ecosystems. *Biology Letters*, *9*(4), 20130492. http://dx.doi.org/10.1098/rsbl.2013.0492

Arrebola, J. P., Fernández, M. F., Olea, N., Ramos, R., & Martin-Olmedo, P. (2013). Human exposure to p, p'-dichlorodiphenyldichloroethylene (p, p'-DDE) in urban and semi-rural areas in southeast Spain: a gender perspective. *Science of the total environment*, *458*, 209-216.

Arukwe, A., Eggen, T., & Möder, M. (2012). Solid waste deposits as a significant source of contaminants of emerging concern to the aquatic and terrestrial environments - a developing country case study from Owerri, Nigeria. *The Science of the Total Environment, 438*, 94–102. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2012.08.039

Ashton-Alcox, K. A., & Ford, S. E. (1998). Variability in molluscan hemocytes: A flow cytometric study. *Tissue & Cell*, 30(2), 195–204. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0040-8166(98)80068-2</u>

Ataev, G. L., & Coustau, C. (1999). Cellular response to Echinostoma caproni infection in Biomphalaria glabrata strains selected for susceptibility/resistance. *Developmental and Comparative Immunology*, 23(3), 187–198. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0145-305X(99)00023-3</u>

Aufderheide, J., Warbritton, R., Pounds, N., File-Emperador, S., Staples, C., Caspers, N., & Forbes, V. (2006). Effects of husbandry parameters on the life-history traits of the apple snail, Marisa cornuarietis: Effects of temperature, photoperiod, and population density. *Invertebrate Biology*, *125*(1), 9–20. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1744-7410.2006.00035.x</u>

Auffret, M., & Oubella, R. (1997). Hemocyte aggregation in the oyster Crassostrea gigas: In vitro measurement and experimental modulation by xenobiotics. *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology. Part A, Physiology, 118*(3), 705–712. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0300-9629(97)00017-0</u>

Auffret, M., Mujdzic, N., Corporeau, C., & Moraga, D. (2002). Xenobiotic-induced immunomodulation in the European flat oyster, Ostrea edulis. *Marine Environmental Research*, 54(3-5), 585–589. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0141-1136(02)00120-4</u>

Avelar-Freitas, B. A., Almeida, V. G., Pinto, M. C. X., Mourão, F. A. G., Massensini, A. R., Martins-Filho, O. A & Brito-Melo, G. E. A. (2014). Trypan blue exclusion assay by flow cytometry. *Brazilian Journal of Medical and Biological Research*, 47(4), 307–315. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1590/1414-</u> 431X20143437 Axiak, V., George, J. J., & Moore, M. N. (1988). Petroleum hydrocarbons in the marine bivalve Venus verrucosa: Accumulation and cellular responses. *Marine Biology*, 97(2), 225–230. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/BF00391306

Azzi, A., Cosseau, C., & Grunau, C. (2009). Schistosoma mansoni: Developmental arrest of miracidia treated with histone deacetylase inhibitors. *Experimental Parasitology*, *121*(3), 288–291. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.exppara.2008.11.010

Babyak, M. A. (2004). What you see may not be what you get: A brief, nontechnical introduction to overfitting in regression-type models. *Psychosomatic Medicine*, *66*(3), 411–421.

Baeza Garcia, A., Pierce, R. J., Gourbal, B., Werkmeister, E., Colinet, D., Reichhart, J. M & Coustau, C. (2010). Involvement of the cytokine MIF in the snail host immune response to the parasite Schistosoma mansoni. *PLoS Pathogens*, 6(9), e1001115. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1371/journal.ppat.1001115</u>

Bahnson, A., Athanassiou, C., Koebler, D., Qian, L., Shun, T., Shields, D & Cowsert, L. (2005). Automated measurement of cell motility and proliferation. *BMC Cell Biology*, *6*(1), 19. http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/1471-2121-6-19

Bai, G., Li, J., Christensen, B. M., & Yoshino, T. P. (1996). Phenoloxidase activity in the reproductive system and egg masses of the pulmonate gastropod, Biomphalaria glabrata. *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology. Part B, Biochemistry & Molecular Biology, 114*(4), 353–359. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/0305-0491(96)00045-4

Baker, M. E. (2011). Insights from the structure of estrogen receptor into the evolution of estrogens: Implications for endocrine disruption. *Biochemical Pharmacology*, 82(1), 1–8. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.bcp.2011.03.008

Bakry, F. A. (2009). Effect of infection with Shistosoma mansoni on some biological parameters in Biomphalaria alexandrina snails. *American-Eurasian Journal of Scientific Research*, 4(3), 180–190.

Bakry, F. A., Abdelsalam, H. A., Mahmoud, M. B., & Hamdi, S. A. (2012). Influence of Atrazine and Roundup pesticides on biochemical and molecular aspects of Biomphalaria alexandrina snails. *Pesticide Biochemistry and Physiology*, *104*(1), 9–18. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.pestbp.2012.05.012</u>

Bakry, F. A., El-Hommossany, K., & Mossalem, H. S. (2012b). Immunological and physiological parameters of Biomphalaria alexandrina snails exposed to Azadirachta indica plant. *European Review* for Medical and Pharmacological Sciences, 16(Suppl 3), 133–143.

Baksi, S. M., & Frazier, J. M. (1990). Isolated fish hepatocytes—model systems for toxicology research. *Aquatic Toxicology (Amsterdam, Netherlands), 16*(4), 229–256. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/0166-445X(90)90039-R

Bannister, R., Beresford, N., Granger, D. W., Pounds, N. A., Rand-Weaver, M., White, R & Routledge, E. J. (2013). No substantial changes in estrogen receptor and estrogen-related receptor orthologue gene transcription in Marisa cornuarietis exposed to estrogenic chemicals. *Aquatic Toxicology (Amsterdam, Netherlands), 140-141, 19–26.* http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.aquatox.2013.05.002

Barbosa, F. S., Sanches, O., Barbosa, C. S., & Arruda, F. (1992). Dynamics of snail populations of Biomphalaria glabrata and B. straminea under semi-natural conditions. *Cadernos de Saude Publica*, 8(2), 157–167. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1590/S0102-311X1992000200007</u>

Barbosa, L., Silva, L. M., Coelho, P. M. Z., Santos, S. R., & Fortes-Dias, C. L. (2006). Primary culture of the region of the amebocyte-producing organ of the snail Biomphalaria glabrata, the

intermediate host of Schistosoma mansoni. *Memorias do Instituto Oswaldo Cruz, 101*(6), 639–643. http://dx.doi.org/10.1590/S0074-02762006000600010

Barboza, D. M., Zhang, C., Santos, N. C., Silva, M. M. B. L., Rollemberg, C. V. V., de Amorim, F. J. R & de Jesus, A. R. (2012). Biomphalaria species distribution and its effect on human Schistosoma mansoni infection in an irrigated area used for rice cultivation in northeast Brazil. *Geospatial Health*, *6*(3), S103–S109. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.4081/gh.2012.128</u>

Barçante, T. A., Barçante, J. M., Fujiwara, R. T., & Lima, W. S. (2012). Analysis of circulating haemocytes from Biomphalaria glabrata following Angiostrongylus vasorum infection using flow cytometry. *Journal of Parasitology Research*, 2012, 314723. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1155/2012/314723</u>

Barracco, M. A., Steil, A. A., & Gargioni, R. (1993). Morphological characterization of the hemocytes of the pulmonate snail Biomphalaria tenagophila. *Memorias do Instituto Oswaldo Cruz,* 88(1), 73–83. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1590/S0074-02761993000100012</u>

Basch, P. F. (1975). An interpretation of snail-trematode infection rates: specificity based on concordance of compatible phenotypes. *International journal for parasitology*, *5*(4), 449-452.

Bayne, C. J., Buckley, P. M., & DeWan, P. C. (1980). Macrophagelike hemocytes of resistant Biomphalaria glabrata are cytotoxic for sporocysts of Schistosoma mansoni in vitro. *The Journal of Parasitology*, *66*(3), 413–419. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.2307/3280740</u>

Bayne, C. J., Loker, E. S., & Yui, M. A. (1986). Interactions between the plasma proteins of Biomphalaria glabrata (Gastropoda) and the sporocyst tegument of Schistosoma mansoni (Trematoda). *Parasitology*, *92*(Pt 3), 653–664. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1017/S0031182000065513</u>

Bayne, C. J., & Fryer, S. E. (1994). Phagocytosis and invertebrate opsonins in relation to parasitism. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences,* 712(1), 162–177. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1749-6632.1994.tb33571.x</u>

Bayne, C. J., Hahn, U. K., & Bender, R. C. (2001). Mechanisms of molluscan host resistance and of parasite strategies for survival. *Parasitology*, *123*(07, Suppl), S159–S167. http://dx.doi.org/10.1017/S0031182001008137

Bayne, C. J. (2009). Successful parasitism of vector snail Biomphalaria glabrata by the human blood fluke (trematode) Schistosoma mansoni: A 2009 assessment. *Molecular and Biochemical Parasitology*, *165*(1), 8–18. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.molbiopara.2009.01.005

Becker, M. I., Arancibia, S., Salazar, F., Del Campo, M., & De Ioannes, A. (2014). Mollusk hemocyanins as natural immunostimulants in biomedical applications. Immune Response Activation, HT Duc (InTech). <u>http://www.intechopen.com/books/immune-response-activation/mollusk-hemocyaninsas-natural-immunostimulants-in-biomedical-applications</u> 10.5772/57552

Beckon, W. N., Parkins, C., Maximovich, A., & Beckon, A. V. (2008). A general approach to modeling biphasic relationships. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 42(4), 1308–1314. http://dx.doi.org/10.1021/es071148m

Beer, S. A., Voronin, M. V., Zazornova, O. P., Khrisanfova, G. G., & Semenova, S. K. (2010). Phylogenetic relationships among schistosomatidae. *Meditsinskaia Parazitologiia i Parazitarnye Bolezni*, (2): 53–59.

Bender, R. C., Broderick, E. J., Goodall, C. P., & Bayne, C. J. (2005). Respiratory burst of Biomphalaria glabrata hemocytes: Schistosoma mansoni-resistant snails produce more extracellular H2O2 than susceptible snails. *Journal of Parasitology*, *91*(2), 275-279.

Benstead, R. S., Baynes, A., Casey, D., Routledge, E. J., & Jobling, S. (2011). 17β-Oestradiol may prolong reproduction in seasonally breeding freshwater gastropod molluscs. *Aquatic Toxicology* (*Amsterdam, Netherlands*), 101(2), 326–334. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.aquatox.2010.11.005</u>

Berger, J. (2010). Alternative haematotoxicological testing. *Journal of Applied Biomedicine*, 8(1), 19–22. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.2478/v10136-009-0003-y</u>

Berger, R. G., Foster, W. G., & deCatanzaro, D. (2010). Bisphenol-A exposure during the period of blastocyst implantation alters uterine morphology and perturbs measures of estrogen and progesterone receptor expression in mice. *Reproductive Toxicology (Elmsford, N.Y.), 30*(3), 393–400. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.reprotox.2010.06.006

Beyer, J., Petersen, K., Song, Y., Ruus, A., Grung, M., Bakke, T., & Tollefsen, K. E. (2014). Environmental risk assessment of combined effects in aquatic ecotoxicology: A discussion paper. *Marine environmental research*, *96*, 81-91.

Bezerra, F. S., Nogueira-Machado, J. A., Chaves, M. M., Martins, R. L., & Coelho, P. M. Z. (1997). Quantification of the population and phagocytary activity of hemocytes of resistant and susceptible strains of Biomphalaria glabrata and Biomphalaria tenagophila infected with Schistosoma mansoni. *Revista do Instituto de Medicina Tropical de Sao Paulo*, *39*(4), 197–201. http://dx.doi.org/10.1590/S0036-46651997000400003

Bezerra, F. S. M., Coelho, P. M. Z., Chaves, M. M., Martins, R. L., & Nogueira-Machado, J. A. (1999). Comparative study on the effect of cyclic nucleotides related to the function of Biomphalaria glabrata hemocytes and human granulocytes. *Acta Tropica*, *72*(3), 275–280. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0001-706X(99)00004-2

Bezerra, F. S. D. M., Nogueira-Machado, J. A., Martins-Souza, R. L., Chaves, M. M., Correa, R. F., & Coelho, P. M. Z. (2003). Effect of gamma radiation on the activity of hemocytes and on the course of Schistosoma mansoni infection in resistant Biomphalaria tenagophila snails. *Memorias do Instituto Oswaldo Cruz*, 98(1), 73–75. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1590/S0074-02762003000100010</u>

Bhujel, R. (2008). Statistics for aquaculture. Ames, Iowa: Wiley-Blackwell.

Bickle, Q. D., Solum, J., & Helmby, H. (2008). Chronic intestinal nematode infection exacerbates experimental Schistosoma mansoni infection. *Infection and Immunity*, 76(12), 5802–5809. http://dx.doi.org/10.1128/IAI.00827-08

Bielefeld, U., & Becker, W. (1991). Embryonic development of the shell in biomphalaria glabrata (Say). *The International Journal of Developmental Biology*, *35*(2), 121–131.

Binelli, A., Riva, C., Cogni, D., & Provini, A. (2008). Genotoxic effects of p, p'-DDT (1, 1, 1-trichloro-2, 2-bis-(chlorophenyl) ethane) and its metabolites in Zebra mussel (D. polymorpha) by SCGE assay and micronucleus test. *Environmental and molecular mutagenesis*, 49(5), 406-415.

Bishara, W., Sikora, U., Mudanyali, O., Su, T. W., Yaglidere, O., Luckhart, S., & Ozcan, A. (2011). Biomedical Optics & Medical Imaging Handheld, lensless microscope identifies malaria parasites. *SPIE Newsroom*. DOI: 10.1117/2.1201107.003812

Blair, L., & Webster, J. P. (2007). Dose-dependent schistosome-induced mortality and morbidity risk elevates host reproductive effort. *Journal of Evolutionary Biology*, 20(1), 54–61. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1420-9101.2006.01230.x

Blaise, C., Trottier, S., Gagné, F., Lallement, C., & Hansen, P. D. (2002). Immunocompetence of bivalve hemocytes as evaluated by a miniaturized phagocytosis assay. *Environmental Toxicology*, *17*(3), 160–169. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/tox.10047</u>

Blanar, C. A., Munkittrick, K. R., Houlahan, J., Maclatchy, D. L., & Marcogliese, D. J. (2009). Pollution and parasitism in aquatic animals: A meta-analysis of effect size. *Aquatic Toxicology* (*Amsterdam, Netherlands*), *93*(1), 18–28. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.aquatox.2009.03.002</u>

Boehmler, A. M., Fryer, S. E., & Bayne, C. J. (1996). Killing of Schistosoma mansoni sporocysts by Biomphalaria glabrata hemolymph in vitro: Alteration of hemocyte behavior after poly-L-lysine treatment of plastic, and the kinetics of killing by different host strains. *The Journal of Parasitology*, 82(2), 332–335. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.2307/3284173</u>

Bögi, C., Schwaiger, J., Ferling, H., Mallow, U., Steineck, C., Sinowatz, F & Kloas, W. (2003). Endocrine effects of environmental pollution on Xenopus laevis and Rana temporaria. *Environmental Research*, *93*(2), 195–201. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0013-9351(03)00082-3</u>

Borges, C. M. C., de Souza, C. P., & Andrade, Z. A. (1998). Histopathologic features associated with susceptibility and resistance of Biomphalaria snails to infection with Schistosoma mansoni. *Memorias do Instituto Oswaldo Cruz, 93*(Suppl 1), 117–121. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1590/S0074-02761998000700016</u>

Borges, C. M. D. C., & Andrade, Z. A. (2003). Extra-cellular matrix changes in Schistosoma mansoni-infected Biomphalaria glabrata. *Memorias do Instituto Oswaldo Cruz, 98*(1), 135–139. http://dx.doi.org/10.1590/S0074-02762003000100017

Borges, C. M. D. C., Azevedo, C. M., & Andrade, Z. A. (2006). A contribution to the pathobiology of Biomphalaria glabrata hemocytes. *Memorias do Instituto Oswaldo Cruz, 101*(Suppl 1), 193–198. http://dx.doi.org/10.1590/S0074-02762006000900030

Boswell, C. A., & Bayne, C. J. (1986). Lectin-dependent cell-mediated cytotoxicity in an invertebrate model: Con A does not act as a bridge. *Immunology*, 57(2), 261–264.

Bouchard, B., Gagné, F., Fortier, M., & Fournier, M. (2009). An in-situ study of the impacts of urban wastewater on the immune and reproductive systems of the freshwater mussel Elliptio complanata. *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part C Toxicology & Pharmacology*, *150*(2), 132–140. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.cbpc.2009.04.002

Boudou, A., & Ribeyre, F. (1997). Aquatic ecotoxicology: From the ecosystem to the cellular and molecular levels. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, *105*(Suppl 1), 21–35. http://dx.doi.org/10.1289/ehp.97105s121

Boulo, V., Hervio, D., Morvan, A., Bachere, E., & Mialhe, E. (1991). In vitro culture of mollusc hemocytes. Functional study of burst respiratory activity and analysis of interactions with protozoan and procaryotic pathogens. In International conference on Invertebrate and Fish Culture.

Boyle, J. P., & Yoshino, T. P. (2002). Monoamines in the albumen gland, plasma, and central nervous system of the snail Biomphalaria glabrata during egg-laying. *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology. Part A, Molecular & Integrative Physiology, 132*(2), 411–422. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S1095-6433(02)00091-0

Boyle, J. P., Zaide, J. V., & Yoshino, T. P. (2000). Schistosoma mansoni: Effects of serotonin and serotonin receptor antagonists on motility and length of primary sporocysts in vitro. *Experimental Parasitology*, 94(4), 217–226. http://dx.doi.org/10.1006/expr.2000.4500

Brain, R. A., Johnson, D. J., Richards, S. M., Sanderson, H., Sibley, P. K., & Solomon, K. R. (2004). Effects of 25 pharmaceutical compounds to Lemna gibba using a seven-day static-renewal test. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry*, 23(2), 371–382. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1897/02-576</u>

Braunbeck, T., Hinton, D. E., & Streit, B. (Eds.). (1998). *Fish ecotoxicology* (Vol. 86). Springer Science & Business Media. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/978-3-0348-8853-0</u>

Brossa, L., Marcé, R. M., Borrull, F., & Pocurull, E. (2003). Determination of endocrine-disrupting compounds in water samples by on-line solid-phase extraction-programmed-temperature vaporisation-gas chromatography-mass spectrometry. *Journal of Chromatography. A*, *998*(1-2), 41–50. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0021-9673(03)00649-6

Brousseau, P., Pellerin, J., Morin, Y., Cyr, D., Blakley, B., Boermans, H., & Fournier, M. (2000). Flow cytometry as a tool to monitor the disturbance of phagocytosis in the clam Mya arenaria hemocytes following in vitro exposure to heavy metals. *Toxicology*, *142*(2), 145–156. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0300-483X(99)00165-1

Brown L (2009) Imaging Particle Analysis: Resolution and Sampling Considerations. Fluid Imaging Technologies, Inc. Available: <u>http://info.fluidimaging.com/resolution-and-sampling-wp</u>. Accessed 8th June 2014.

Brown, L. (2011). Imaging particle analysis: resolution and sampling considerations.

Budria, A., & Candolin, U. (2014). How does human-induced environmental change influence hostparasite interactions? *Parasitology*, 141(4), 462–474. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1017/S0031182013001881</u>

Buggenthin, F., Marr, C., Schwarzfischer, M., Hoppe, P. S., Hilsenbeck, O., Schroeder, T., & Theis, F. J. (2013). An automatic method for robust and fast cell detection in bright field images from high-throughput microscopy. *BMC Bioinformatics*, *14*(1), 297. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/1471-2105-14-297</u>

Butler, G. C. (Ed.). (1978). Principles of ecotoxicology. Wiley.

Butler, R. A., & Roesijadi, G. (2000). Metallothionein (MT) gene expression and cadmium-induced immunotoxicity in hemocytes of the eastern oyster Crassostrea virginica. *Marine Environmental Research*, *50*(1), 470.

Cabrera, P. V., Blanco, G., Ernst, G., Alvarez, E., Cooper, E. L., & Hajos, S. (2002). Coelomocyte locomotion in the sipunculan Themiste petricola induced by exogenous and endogenous chemoattractants: Role of a CD44-like antigen—HA interaction. *Journal of Invertebrate Pathology*, *79*(2), 111–119. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0022-2011(02)00022-8</u>

Cailleau, R., Young, R., Olivé, M., & Reeves, W. J., Jr. (1974). Breast tumor cell lines from pleural effusions. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute*, *53*(3), 661–674.

Calabrese, E. J. (2008). Hormesis: Why it is important to toxicology and toxicologists. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry*, 27(7), 1451–1474. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1897/07-541.1</u>

Calabrese, E. J., & Baldwin, L. A. (1999). Reevaluation of the Fundamental Dose–Response Relationship A new database suggests that the U-shaped, rather than the sigmoidal, curve predominates. *Bioscience*, 49(9), 725–732. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.2307/1313596</u>

Camey, T., & Verdonk, N. H. (1969). The early development of the snail Biomphalaria glabrata (Say) and the origin of the head organs. *Netherlands Journal of Zoology*, 20(1), 93–121. http://dx.doi.org/10.1163/002829670X00097

Canesi, L., Gallo, G., Gavioli, M., & Pruzzo, C. (2002). Bacteria-hemocyte interactions and phagocytosis in marine bivalves. *Microscopy Research and Technique*, *57*(6), 469–476. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/jemt.10100</u>

Canesi, L., Lorusso, L. C., Ciacci, C., Betti, M., Zampini, M., & Gallo, G. (2004). Environmental estrogens can affect the function of mussel hemocytes through rapid modulation of kinase pathways. *General and Comparative Endocrinology*, *138*(1), 58–69. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ygcen.2004.05.004 Canesi, L., Betti, M., Lorusso, L. C., Ciacci, C., & Gallo, G. (2005). 'In vivo' effects of Bisphenol A in Mytilus hemocytes: Modulation of kinase-mediated signalling pathways. *Aquatic Toxicology* (*Amsterdam, Netherlands*), 71(1), 73–84. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.aquatox.2004.10.011</u>

Canesi, L., Ciacci, C., Lorusso, L. C., Betti, M., Guarnieri, T., Tavolari, S., & Gallo, G. (2006). Immunomodulation by 17β-estradiol in bivalve hemocytes. *American Journal of Physiology. Regulatory, Integrative and Comparative Physiology, 291*(3), R664–R673. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1152/ajpregu.00139.2006</u>

Canesi, L., Borghi, C., Ciacci, C., Fabbri, R., Vergani, L., & Gallo, G. (2007a). Bisphenol-A alters gene expression and functional parameters in molluscan hepatopancreas. *Molecular and Cellular Endocrinology*, 276(1-2), 36–44. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.mce.2007.06.002</u>

Canesi, L., Lorusso, L. C., Ciacci, C., Betti, M., Rocchi, M., Pojana, G., & Marcomini, A. (2007b). Immunomodulation of Mytilus hemocytes by individual estrogenic chemicals and environmentally relevant mixtures of estrogens: In vitro and in vivo studies. *Aquatic Toxicology (Amsterdam, Netherlands)*, 81(1), 36–44. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.aquatox.2006.10.010</u>

Canesi, L., & Fabbri, E. (2015). Environmental Effects of BPA Focus on Aquatic Species. *Dose-Response*, *13*(3), 1559325815598304.

Cardona, A., & Tomancak, P. (2012). Current challenges in open-source bioimage informatics. *Nature Methods*, 9(7), 661–665. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/nmeth.2082</u>

Casella, G. (2008). Statistical design. New York: Springer. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/978-0-387-75965-4

Castillo, M. G., & Yoshino, T. P. (2002). Carbohydrate inhibition of Biomphalaria glabrata embryonic (Bge) cell adhesion to primary sporocysts of Schistosoma mansoni. *Parasitology*, *125*(Pt 6), 513–525.

Cavalcanti, M. G. S., Filho, F. C., Mendonça, A. M., Duarte, G. R., Barbosa, C. C., De Castro, C. M & Brayner, F. A. (2012). Morphological characterization of hemocytes from Biomphalaria glabrata and Biomphalaria straminea. *Micron (Oxford, England), 43*(2-3), 285–291. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.micron.2011.09.002

Champion, J. A. (2007). Engineering of Polymeric Particle Morphology for Applications in Drug Delivery. ProQuest.

Chen, J. H., & Bayne, C. J. (1995). Bivalve mollusc hemocyte behaviors: Characterization of hemocyte aggregation and adhesion and their inhibition in the California mussel (Mytilus californianus). *The Biological Bulletin*, *188*(3), 255–266. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.2307/1542303</u>

Cheng, T. C. (1981). Bivalves. In N. A. Ratcliffe & A. F. Rowley (Eds.), *Invertebrate blood cells* (Vol. 2, pp. 233–300). New York: Academic Press.

Chernin, E., & Schork, A. R. (1959). Growth in axenic culture of the snail, Australorbis glabratus. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, 69(2), 146–160.

Chernin, E. (1963). Observations on hearts explanted in vitro from the snail Australorbis glabratus. *The Journal of Parasitology*, 49(3), 353–364. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.2307/3275797</u>

Ho, C. L., Mou, T. Y., Chiang, P. S., Weng, C. L., & Chow, N. H. (2005). Mini chamber system for long-term maintenance and observation of cultured cells. *BioTechniques*, *38*(2), 267–273. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.2144/05382RR03</u> Cima, F., Bragadin, M., & Ballarin, L. (2008). Toxic effects of new antifouling compounds on tunicate haemocytes I. Sea-nine 211 and chlorothalonil. *Aquatic Toxicology (Amsterdam, Netherlands)*, 86(2), 299–312. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.aquatox.2007.11.010</u>

Civitello, D. J., Forys, P., Johnson, A. P., & Hall, S. R. (2012). Chronic contamination decreases disease spread: a Daphnia–fungus–copper case study. Proceedings of the Royal Society of London B: Biological Sciences,279(1741), 3146-3153. <u>10.1098/rspb.2012.0684</u>

Cohen, J. (1988). Statistical power analysis for the behavioral sciences. Academic press.

Cohen, J., & Cohen, P. (1975). *Applied multiple regression/correlation analysis for the behavioral sciences*. Hillsdale, N.J.: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.

Colas, C., Menezes, S., Gutiérrez-Martínez, E., Péan, C. B., Dionne, M. S., & Guermonprez, P. (2014). An improved flow cytometry assay to monitor phagosome acidification. *Journal of Immunological Methods*, *412*, 1–13. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jim.2014.06.008</u>

Colborn, T., Dumanoski, D., Myers, J. P., & Murden, M. (1997). *Our stolen future: are we threatening our fertility, intelligence, and survival?: a scientific detective story* (p. 306). New York: Dutton.

Coles, J. A., Farley, S. R., & Pipe, R. K. (1995). Alteration of the immune response of the common marine mussel Mytilus edulis resulting from exposure to cadmium. *Diseases of Aquatic Organisms*, 22(1), 59-65.

Colley, D. G., Bustinduy, A. L., Secor, W. E., & King, C. H. (2014). Human schistosomiasis. *Lancet*, 383(9936), 2253–2264. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(13)61949-2</u>

Connon, R. E., Geist, J., & Werner, I. (2012). Effect-based tools for monitoring and predicting the ecotoxicological effects of chemicals in the aquatic environment. *Sensors (Basel, Switzerland), 12*(9), 12741–12771. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.3390/s120912741</u>

Connors, V. A., & Yoshino, T. P. (1990). In vitro effect of larval Schistosoma mansoni excretorysecretory products on phagocytosis-stimulated superoxide production in hemocytes from Biomphalaria glabrata. *The Journal of Parasitology*, *76*(6), 895–902. http://dx.doi.org/10.2307/3282811

Connors, V. A., Lodes, M. J., & Yoshino, T. P. (1991). Identification of a Schistosoma mansoni sporocyst excretory-secretory antioxidant molecule and its effect on superoxide production by Biomphalaria glabrata hemocytes. *Journal of Invertebrate Pathology*, *58*(3), 387–395. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/0022-2011(91)90185-S

Connors, V. A., de Buron, I., & Granath, W. O., Jr. (1995). Schistosoma mansoni: Interleukin-1 increases phagocytosis and superoxide production by hemocytes and decreases output of cercariae in schistosome-susceptible Biomphalaria glabrata. *Experimental Parasitology*, 80(1), 139–148. http://dx.doi.org/10.1006/expr.1995.1016

Cook, G. C., & Zumla, A. (2009). Manson's tropical diseases. Elsevier Health Sciences.

Cooper, E. L. (2006). Comparative immunology. *Integrative and Comparative Biology*, 43(2), 278–280. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/icb/43.2.278</u>

Coors, A., Decaestecker, E., Jansen, M., & De Meester, L. (2008). Pesticide exposure strongly enhances parasite virulence in an invertebrate host model. *Oikos*, *117*(12), 1840–1846. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0706.2008.17028.x Corcoran, E. (Ed.). (2010). Sick Water?: The Central Role of Wastewater Management in Sustainable Development: a Rapid Response Assessment. UNEP/Earthprint.

Costa, P. M., Carreira, S., Costa, M. H., & Caeiro, S. (2013). Development of histopathological indices in a commercial marine bivalve (Ruditapes decussatus) to determine environmental quality. *Aquatic toxicology*, *126*, 442-454.

Cottingham, K. L., Lennon, J. T., & Brown, B. L. (2005). Knowing when to draw the line: Designing more informative ecological experiments. *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment*, *3*(3), 145–152. http://dx.doi.org/10.1890/1540-9295(2005)003[0145:KWTDTL]2.0.CO;2

Couch, J. A. (1984). Atrophy of diverticular epithelium as an indicator of environmental irritants in the oyster, Crassostrea virginica. Mar. envirl Res. 14:525-526

Couch, J., & Fournie, J. (1993). *Pathobiology of marine and estuarine organisms*. Boca Raton: CRC Press.

Coustau, C., Gourbal, B., Duval, D., Yoshino, T. P., Adema, C. M., & Mitta, G. (2015). Advances in gastropod immunity from the study of the interaction between the snail Biomphalaria glabrata and its parasites: A review of research progress over the last decade. *Fish & shellfish immunology*,46(1), 5-16.

Coustau, C., Kurtz, J., & Moret, Y. (2016). A Novel Mechanism of Immune Memory Unveiled at the Invertebrate–Parasite Interface. *Trends in Parasitology*. pii: S1471-4922(16)00038-6. doi: 10.1016/j.pt.2016.02.005.

Coutu, D. L., & Schroeder, T. (2013). Probing cellular processes by long-term live imaging—historic problems and current solutions. *Journal of Cell Science*, *126*(Pt 17), 3805–3815. http://dx.doi.org/10.1242/jcs.118349

Cox, D. R., & Reid, N. (2000). *The theory of the design of experiments*. Boca Raton, Florida: Chapman and Hall/CRC Press.

Crawley, M. (2005). *Statistics*. Chichester, West Sussex, England: J. Wiley. http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/9781119941750

Cuénot, L. (1914). Les organes phagocytaires des mollusques. Arch. Zool. exp. gén, 54, 267-305.

Cuthbert, R. J., Taggart, M. A., Prakash, V., Chakraborty, S. S., Deori, P., Galligan, T & Green, R. E. (2014). Avian scavengers and the threat from veterinary pharmaceuticals. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London. Series B, Biological Sciences, 369*(1656), 20130574. http://dx.doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2013.0574

Dai, L., Alt, W., Schilling, K., Retzlik, J., Gieselmann, V., Magin, T. M., & Kappler, J. (2005). A fast and robust quantitative time-lapse assay for cell migration. *Experimental Cell Research*, *311*(2), 272–280. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.yexcr.2005.09.013</u>

Davidson, P. W., Myers, G. J., & Weiss, B. (Eds.). (2006). *Neurotoxicity and developmental disabilities* (Vol. 30). Gulf Professional Publishing.

Davis, G. M., Bruce, J. I., & Sornmani, S. (1980). Snail hosts of Asian Schistosoma infecting man: Evolution and coevolution. The Mekong schistosome.(Malacological Review, Supplement 2.), 195-238.

Tallarico, L. F., Borrely, S. I., Hamada, N., Grazeffe, V. S., Ohlweiler, F. P., Okazaki, K & Nakano, E. (2014). Developmental toxicity, acute toxicity and mutagenicity testing in freshwater snails Biomphalaria glabrata (Mollusca: Gastropoda) exposed to chromium and water samples.

Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety, 110, 208–215. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoenv.2014.09.005

DeJong, R. J., Morgan, J. A., Paraense, W. L., Pointier, J. P., Amarista, M., Ayeh-Kumi, P. F & Loker, E. S. (2001a). Evolutionary relationships and biogeography of Biomphalaria (Gastropoda: Planorbidae) with implications regarding its role as host of the human bloodfluke, Schistosoma mansoni. *Molecular Biology and Evolution*, *18*(12), 2225–2239. http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/oxfordjournals.molbev.a003769

De Jong-Brink, M., Bergamin-Sassen, M., & Solis Soto, M. (2001b). Multiple strategies of schistosomes to meet their requirements in the intermediate snail host. *Parasitology*, *123*(07, Suppl), S129–S141. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1017/S0031182001008149</u>

DeJong, R. J., Morgan, J. A. T., Wilson, W. D., Al-Jaser, M. H., Appleton, C. C., Coulibaly, G., & Magalhães, L. A. (2003). Phylogeography of Biomphalaria glabrata and B. pfeifferi, important intermediate hosts of Schistosoma mansoni in the New and Old World tropics. *Molecular Ecology*, *12*(11), 3041-3056.

De Vico, G., & Carella, F. (2012). Morphological features of the inflammatory response in molluscs. *Research in Veterinary Science*, *93*(3), 1109–1115. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.rvsc.2012.03.014</u>

Decker, H., & Van Holde, K. E. (2011). Oxygen and the Evolution of Life. Springer Science & Business Media. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-13179-0</u>

Delgado, V., Barrios, E. E., Bujanda, A., & Araque, W. (2001). Surface morphology and characteristics of hemocytes of Biomphalaria glabrata (Pulmonata: Planorbidae) from two geographic sources. *Revista Latinoamericana de Microbiologia, 43*(3), 114–118.

Delgado, N., Vallejo, D., & Miller, M. W. (2012). Localization of serotonin in the nervous system of Biomphalaria glabrata, an intermediate host for schistosomiasis. *The Journal of Comparative Neurology*, 520(14), 3236–3255. http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/cne.23095

Dietrich, D. R., O'Brien, E., Hoffmann, S., Balaguer, P., Nicolas, J. C., Seinen, W., & Depledge, M. (2006). Effects of BPA in snails. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, *114*(6), A340–A341. http://dx.doi.org/10.1289/ehp.114-a340

Dikkeboom, R., Bayne, C. J., van der Knaap, W. P., & Tijnagel, J. M. (1988). Possible role of reactive forms of oxygen in in vitro killing of Schistosoma mansoni sporocysts by hemocytes of Lymnaea stagnalis. *Parasitology Research*, *75*(2), 148–154. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/BF00932715</u>

Dinguirard, N., & Yoshino, T. P. (2006). Potential role of a CD36-like class B scavenger receptor in the binding of modified low-density lipoprotein (acLDL) to the tegumental surface of Schistosoma mansoni sporocysts. *Molecular and Biochemical Parasitology, 146*(2), 219–230. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.molbiopara.2005.12.010

Domouhtsidou, G. P., & Dimitriadis, V. K. (2001). Lysosomal and lipid alterations in the digestive gland of mussels, Mytilus galloprovincialis (L.) as biomarkers of environmental stress. *Environmental Pollution*, *115*(1), 123–137. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0269-7491(00)00233-5</u>

Donaghy, L., & Volety, A. K. (2011). Functional and metabolic characterization of hemocytes of the green mussel, Perna viridis: In vitro impacts of temperature. *Fish & Shellfish Immunology*, *31*(6), 808–814.

Donaghy, L., Kim, B. K., Hong, H. K., Park, H. S., & Choi, K. S. (2009). Flow cytometry studies on the populations and immune parameters of the hemocytes of the Suminoe oyster, Crassostrea ariakensis. *Fish & Shellfish Immunology*, 27(2), 296–301. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.fsi.2009.05.010</u>

Drummond, G. B., & Vowler, S. L. (2012). Analysis of variance: Variably complex. *Clinical and Experimental Pharmacology & Physiology*, *39*(4), 321–324. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1440-1681.2012.05686.x</u>

Dubin-Thaler, B. J., Giannone, G., Döbereiner, H. G., & Sheetz, M. P. (2004). Nanometer analysis of cell spreading on matrix-coated surfaces reveals two distinct cell states and STEPs. *Biophysical Journal*, *86*(3), 1794–1806. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0006-3495(04)74246-0</u>

Eissa, S. H., Salem, H. K., Omran, N. E., & Kandeil, M. A. Fertilized egg of Biomphalaria as a bioindicator for teratogenic potency of some drugs.

El-Saeid, M. H., Al-Turki, A. M., Al-Wable, M. I., & Abdel-Nasser, G. (2011). Evaluation of pesticide residues in Saudi Arabia ground water. *Research Journal of Environmental Sciences*, 5(2), 171–178. http://dx.doi.org/10.3923/rjes.2011.171.178

Esch, G. W., Curtis, L. A., & Barger, M. A. (2001). A perspective on the ecology of trematode communities in snails. *Parasitology*, *123*(07, Suppl), S57–S75. http://dx.doi.org/10.1017/S0031182001007697

Esteban, J. G., Muñoz-Antoli, C., Trelis, M., & Toledo, R. (2011). Effects of nonschistosome larval trematodes on Biomphalaria snails. In *Biomphalaria Snails and Larval Trematodes* (pp. 127–157). Springer New York. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4419-7028-2_6</u>

Etges, F. J., Carter, O. S., & Webbe, G. (1975). Behavioral and developmental physiology of schistosome larvae as related to their molluscan hosts. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, 266(1), 480–496. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1749-6632.1975.tb35125.x</u>

Eveland, L. K., & Haseeb, M. A. (2011). *Laboratory rearing of Biomphalaria glabrata snails and maintenance of larval schistosomes in vivo and in vitro. InBiomphalaria snails and larval trematodes* (pp. 33–55). Springer New York.

Fang, H., Tong, W., Shi, L. M., Blair, R., Perkins, R., Branham, W & Sheehan, D. M. (2001). Structure-activity relationships for a large diverse set of natural, synthetic, and environmental estrogens. *Chemical research in toxicology*, *14*(3), 280-294.

FAO (2009). The state of world fisheries and aquaculture 2008. *Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations*. Rome.

Farrar, J., Hotez, P., Junghanss, T., Kang, G., Lalloo, D., & White, N. J. (2014). *Manson's Tropical Diseases: Expert Consult-Online*. Elsevier Health Sciences.

Feise, R. J. (2002). Do multiple outcome measures require p-value adjustment? *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, 2(1), 8. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/1471-2288-2-8</u>

Field, A. (2013). Discovering statistics using IBM SPSS statistics. Sage.

Filby, A. L., Thorpe, K. L., Maack, G., & Tyler, C. R. (2007). Gene expression profiles revealing the mechanisms of anti-androgen- and estrogen-induced feminization in fish. *Aquatic Toxicology* (*Amsterdam, Netherlands*), 81(2), 219–231. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.aquatox.2006.12.003</u>

Filby, A., & Davies, D. (2012). Reporting imaging flow cytometry data for publication: Why mask the detail? *Cytometry. Part A, 81*(8), 637–642. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/cyto.a.22091</u>

Fisher, R. (1925). Statistical methods for research workers. Edinburgh: Oliver and Boyd.

Fisher, W. S., & Ford, S. E. (1988). Flow cytometry: a tool for cell research in bivalve pathology. *American Fisheries Society Special Publication*, *18*, 286-292.

Florschüctz, A., & Becker, W. (1999). Gastrointestinal transit and digestive rhythm in Biomphalaria glabrata (Say). *The Journal of Molluscan Studies*, 65(2), 163–170. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/mollus/65.2.163</u>

Forbes, V. E., Aufderheide, J., Warbritton, R., van der Hoeven, N., & Caspers, N. (2007). Does bisphenol A induce superfeminization in Marisa cornuarietis? Part II: Toxicity test results and requirements for statistical power analyses. *Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety*, *66*(3), 319–325. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoenv.2006.09.001

Forbes, V. E., Warbritton, R., Aufderheide, J., Van Der Hoeven, N., & Caspers, N. (2008). Effects of bisphenol a on fecundity, egg hatchability, and juvenile growth of Marisa cornuarietis. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry*, 27(11), 2332–2340. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1897/07-622.1</u>

Ford, S. E., & Paillard, C. (2007). Repeated sampling of individual bivalve mollusks I: Intraindividual variability and consequences for haemolymph constituents of the Manila clam, Ruditapes philippinarum. *Fish & Shellfish Immunology*, 23(2), 280–291. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.fsi.2006.10.013

Foster, R. (1964). The effect of temperature on the development of Schistosoma mansoni Sambon 1907 in the intermediate host. *The Journal of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene*, 67, 289–292.

Fournier, M., Cyr, D., Blakley, B., Boermans, H., & Brousseau, P. (2000). Phagocytosis as a biomarker of immunotoxicity in wildlife species exposed to environmental xenobiotics. *American Zoologist*, *40*(3), 412–420.

Freitas, J. R. (1976). Ecologia de vetores de doenças. O habitat primitivo da Biomphalaria glabrata. *Ciencia e Cultura*, 28(2), 212–217.

Freshney, R. I. (2000). Culture of Animal Cells. A Manual of Basic Technique; 4th edn, 486pp

Frigault, M. M., Lacoste, J., Swift, J. L., & Brown, C. M. (2009). Live-cell microscopy - tips and tools. *Journal of Cell Science*, 122(Pt 6), 753–767. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1242/jcs.033837</u>

Fryer, S. E., & Adema, C. M. (1993). Manipulation of Biomphalaria glabrata (Say)(Gastropoda: Planorbidae) haemocytes in vitro. *The Journal of Molluscan Studies*, *59*(4), 371–379. http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/mollus/59.4.371

Fryer, S. E., & Bayne, C. J. (1995). Cell mediated killing of metazoan parasites by molluscan hemolymph. In J. S. Stolen, T. C. Fletcher, S. A. Smith, J. T. Zelikoff, R. S. Anderson, (Eds.), *Techniques In Fish Immunology* (4th ed., pp. 123–131). Fair Haven, NJ: SOS Publications.

Fryer, S. E., & Bayne, C. J. (1996). Phagocytosis of latex beads by Biomphalaria glabrata hemocytes is modulated in a strain-specific manner by adsorbed plasma components. *Developmental and Comparative Immunology*, 20(1), 23–37. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/0145-305X(95)00039-V</u>

Gadd, G. M. (2000). Microbial interactions with tributyltin compounds: detoxification, accumulation, and environmental fate. *Science of the total environment*, 258(1), 119-127.

Gagnaire, B., Renault, T., Bouilly, K., Lapegue, S., & Thomas-Guyon, H. (2003). Study of atrazine effects on Pacific oyster, Crassostrea gigas, haemocytes. *Current Pharmaceutical Design*, 9(2), 193–199. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.2174/1381612033392305</u>

Gagnaire, B., Thomas-Guyon, H., & Renault, T. (2004). In vitro effects of cadmium and mercury on Pacific oyster, Crassostrea gigas (Thunberg), haemocytes. *Fish & Shellfish Immunology*, *16*(4), 501–512. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.fsi.2003.08.007</u>

Gagnaire, B., Thomas-Guyon, H., Burgeot, T., & Renault, T. (2006). Pollutant effects on Pacific oyster, Crassostrea gigas (Thunberg), hemocytes: Screening of 23 molecules using flow cytometry. *Cell Biology and Toxicology*, 22(1), 1–14. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10565-006-0011-6</u>

Gagnaire, B., Gay, M., Huvet, A., Daniel, J. Y., Saulnier, D., & Renault, T. (2007). Combination of a pesticide exposure and a bacterial challenge: In vivo effects on immune response of Pacific oyster, Crassostrea gigas (Thunberg). *Aquatic Toxicology (Amsterdam, Netherlands), 84*(1), 92–102. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.aquatox.2007.06.002

Gagné, F., Blaise, C., & André, C. (2006). Occurrence of pharmaceutical products in a municipal effluent and toxicity to rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss) hepatocytes. *Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety*, 64(3), 329–336. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoenv.2005.04.004</u>

Gagné, F., André, C., Cejka, P., Hausler, R., Fournier, M., & Blaise, C. (2008). Immunotoxic effects on freshwater mussels of a primary-treated wastewater before and after ozonation: A pilot plant study. *Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety*, 69(3), 366–373. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoenv.2007.10.027

Gagne, F. (2014). Biochemical ecotoxicology. Amsterdam: Academic Press.

Galloway, T. S., & Depledge, M. H. (2001). Immunotoxicity in invertebrates: Measurement and ecotoxicological relevance. *Ecotoxicology (London, England), 10*(1), 5–23. http://dx.doi.org/10.1023/A:1008939520263

Gerić, M., Ceraj-Cerić, N., Gajski, G., Vasilić, Ž., Capuder, Ž., & Garaj-Vrhovac, V. (2012). Cytogenetic status of human lymphocytes after exposure to low concentrations of p, p'-DDT, and its metabolites (p, p'-DDE, and p, p'-DDD) in vitro. *Chemosphere*, 87(11), 1288-1294.

Giannelli, A., Cantacessi, C., Colella, V., Dantas-Torres, F., & Otranto, D. (2015). Gastropod-Borne Helminths: A Look at the Snail–Parasite Interplay.*Trends in parasitology*. 32(3):255-64. doi: 10.1016/j.pt.2015.12.002.

Girón-Pérez, M. I. (2010). Relationships between innate immunity in bivalve molluscs and environmental pollution. *ISJ*, 7, 149–156.

Goedken, M., & De Guise, S. (2004). Flow cytometry as a tool to quantify oyster defence mechanisms. *Fish & Shellfish Immunology*, *16*(4), 539–552. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.fsi.2003.09.009

Gómez-Mendikute, A., & Cajaraville, M. P. (2003). Comparative effects of cadmium, copper, paraquat and benzo[a]pyrene on the actin cytoskeleton and production of reactive oxygen species (ROS) in mussel haemocytes. *Toxicology In Vitro*, *17*(5-6), 539–546. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0887-2333(03)00093-6

Goodall, C. P., Bender, R. C., Broderick, E. J., & Bayne, C. J. (2004). Constitutive differences in Cu/Zn superoxide dismutase mRNA levels and activity in hemocytes of Biomphalaria glabrata (Mollusca) that are either susceptible or resistant to Schistosoma mansoni (Trematoda). *Molecular and Biochemical Parasitology*, *137*(2), 321–328. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.molbiopara.2004.06.011</u>

Gopalakrishnan, S., Huang, W. B., Wang, Q. W., Wu, M. L., Liu, J., & Wang, K. J. (2011). Effects of tributyltin and benzo [a] pyrene on the immune-associated activities of hemocytes and recovery responses in the gastropod abalone, Haliotis diversicolor. *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part C: Toxicology & Pharmacology*,154(2), 120-128.

Gordon, A., Colman-Lerner, A., Chin, T. E., Benjamin, K. R., Yu, R. C., & Brent, R. (2007). Singlecell quantification of molecules and rates using open-source microscope-based cytometry. *Nature Methods*, 4(2), 175–181. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/nmeth1008</u> Gotelli, N., & Ellison, A. (2004). *A primer of ecological statistics*. Sunderland, Mass.: Sinauer Associates Publishers.

Gough, A. H., & Johnston, P. A. (2007). Requirements, features, and performance of high content screening platforms. *Methods in Molecular Biology (Clifton, N.J.), 356*, 41–61.

Graney, R. L. (1994). Aquatic mesocosm studies in ecological risk assessment. CRC Press.

Grassi, L., es Jordá, M. T., Andrade, Z., & Cappa, S. G. (2001). Short report: Schistosoma mansoni miracidia are killed by the defense system of an Argentine strain of Biomphalaria straminea. *The American journal of tropical medicine and hygiene*, 65(4), 290-292.

Griggs, J. L., & Belden, L. K. (2008). Effects of atrazine and metolachlor on the survivorship and infectivity of Echinostoma trivolvis trematode cercariae. *Archives of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology*, *54*(2), 195–202. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s00244-007-9029-x</u>

Groothuis, F. A., Heringa, M. B., Nicol, B., Hermens, J. L., Blaauboer, B. J., & Kramer, N. I. (2015). Dose metric considerations in in vitro assays to improve quantitative in vitro–in vivo dose extrapolations. *Toxicology*, *332*, 30-40.

Grundy, M. M., Ratcliffe, N. A., & Moore, M. N. (1996). Immune inhibition in marine mussels by polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons. *Marine Environmental Research*, 42(1), 187-190.

Gruner, H.-E. (1993). Lehrbuch der Speziellen Zoologie. Vol. 1: Wirbellose Tiere. Part 3: Mollusca, Sipunculida, Echgiurida, Annelida, Onychophora, Tardigrada, Pentastomida, 5th edn. Gustav Fischer Verlag, Jena, Stuttgart, New York.

Gruner, H.-E., Hannemann, H.-J., Hartwich, G & Kilias, R (1993). Urania-Tierreich. Wirbellose Tiere. Urania-Verlag, Leipzig, Jena, Berl

Gryseels, B. (1994). Human resistance to Schistosoma infections: age or experience?. *Parasitology Today*, *10*(10), 380-384.

Gryseels B, Polman K, Clerinx J & Kestens L. (2006). Human schistosomiasis. *Lancet*, 23;368(9541):1106-18.

Guilhermino, L., Diamantino, T., Silva, M. C., & Soares, A. M. V. M. (2000). Acute toxicity test with Daphnia magna: An alternative to mammals in the prescreening of chemical toxicity? *Ecotoxicology* and Environmental Safety, 46(3), 357–362. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1006/eesa.2000.1916</u>

Guillou, F., Mitta, G., Galinier, R., & Coustau, C. (2007). Identification and expression of gene transcripts generated during an anti-parasitic response in Biomphalaria glabrata. *Developmental and Comparative Immunology*, *31*(7), 657–671. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.dci.2006.10.001</u>

Gust, M., Fortier, M., Garric, J., Fournier, M., & Gagné, F. (2013a). Effects of short-term exposure to environmentally relevant concentrations of different pharmaceutical mixtures on the immune response of the pond snail Lymnaea stagnalis. *The Science of the Total Environment, 445-446*, 210–218. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2012.12.057

Gust, M., Fortier, M., Garric, J., Fournier, M., & Gagné, F. (2013b). Immunotoxicity of surface waters contaminated by municipal effluents to the snail Lymnaea stagnalis. *Aquatic Toxicology* (*Amsterdam, Netherlands*), *126*, 393–403. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.aquatox.2012.09.001</u>

Haas, W., Grabe, K., Geis, C., Päch, T., Stoll, K., Fuchs, M & Loy, C. (2002). Recognition and invasion of human skin by Schistosoma mansoni cercariae: The key-role of L-arginine. *Parasitology*, *124*(Pt 2), 153–167. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1017/S0031182001001032</u>

Haberl, B., Kalbe, M., Fuchs, H., Ströbel, M., Schmalfuss, G., & Haas, W. (1995). Schistosoma mansoni and S. haematobium: miracidial host-finding behaviour is stimulated by macromolecules. *International journal for parasitology*, *25*(5), 551-560.

Haberl, B., Körner, M., Spengler, Y., Hertel, J., Kalbe, M., & Haas, W. (2000). Host-finding in Echinostoma caproni: Miracidia and cercariae use different signals to identify the same snail species. *Parasitology*, *120*(Pt 5), 479–486. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1017/S0031182099005697</u>

Hackett, F. (1993). The culture of Schistosoma mansoni and production of life cycle stages. In *Protocols in Molecular Parasitology* (pp. 89–99). Humana Press. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1385/0-89603-239-6:89</u>

Hahn, U. K., Bender, R. C., & Bayne, C. J. (2001). Killing of Schistosoma mansoni sporocysts by hemocytes from resistant Biomphalaria glabrata: Role of reactive oxygen species. *The Journal of Parasitology*, *87*(2), 292–299. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1645/0022-</u>3395(2001)087[0292:KOSMSB]2.0.CO;2

Hamed, S. S., Abdelmeguied, N. E., Essawy, A. E., Radwan, M. A., & Hegazy, A. E. (2007). Histological and ultrastructural changes induced by two carbamate molluscicides on the digestive gland of Eobania vermiculata. *J Biol Sci*, *7*, 1017-1037.

Hanisch, K., Küster, E., Altenburger, R., & Gündel, U. (2010). Proteomic signatures of the zebrafish (Danio rerio) embryo: Sensitivity and specificity in toxicity assessment of chemicals. *International Journal of Proteomics*, 2010, 630134. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1155/2010/630134</u>

Hannam, M. L., Bamber, S. D., Galloway, T. S., Moody, A. J., & Jones, M. B. (2010). Effects of the model PAH phenanthrene on immune function and oxidative stress in the haemolymph of the temperate scallop Pecten maximus. *Chemosphere*, 78(7), 779-784.

Hansen, E. L. (1975). Secondary daughter sporocysts of Schistosoma mansoni: Their occurrence and cultivation. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, 266(1), 426–436. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1749-6632.1975.tb35120.x

Hansen, E. (1976). A cell line from embryos of Biomphalaria glabrata (Pulmonata): establishment and characteristics. *In Invertebrate Tissue Culture: Applications in Medicine, Biology, and Agriculture (ed. Maramorosch, K.*), pp. 75–97. New York, Academic Press.

Hansen, M. H., & Yu, B. (2001). Model selection and the principle of minimum description length. *Journal of the American Statistical Association*, *96*(454), 746–774. http://dx.doi.org/10.1198/016214501753168398

Harris, K. R., & Cheng, T. C. (1975). The encapsulation process in Biomphalaria glabrata experimentally infected with the metastrongylid Angiostrongylus cantonensis: Light microscopy. *International Journal for Parasitology*, *5*(5), 521–528. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/0020-7519(75)90044-2</u>

Harrison, F. W., & Corliss, J. O. (1991). Microscopic anatomy of invertebrates: Volume I. Protozoa. Wiley-Liss Inc.

Harvell, C. D., Kim, K., Burkholder, J. M., Colwell, R. R., Epstein, P. R., Grimes, D. J & Porter, J. W. (1999). Emerging marine diseases--climate links and anthropogenic factors. *Science*,285(5433), 1505-1510.

Hassan, M. F., Zhang, Y., Engwerda, C. R., Kaye, P. M., Sharp, H., & Bickle, Q. D. (2006). The Schistosoma mansoni hepatic egg granuloma provides a favorable microenvironment for sustained growth of Leishmania donovani. *American Journal of Pathology*, *169*(3), 943–953. http://dx.doi.org/10.2353/ajpath.2006.051319 Hau, J., & Schapiro, S. J. (Eds.). (2003). Handbook of laboratory animal science: essential principles and practices (Vol. 1). CRC press.

Haycock, J. W. (2011). 3D cell culture: a review of current approaches and techniques. In 3D Cell Culture (pp. 1–15). Humana Press. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/978-1-60761-984-0_1</u>

Hayes, T. B., Collins, A., Lee, M., Mendoza, M., Noriega, N., Stuart, A. A., & Vonk, A. (2002). Hermaphroditic, demasculinized frogs after exposure to the herbicide atrazine at low ecologically relevant doses. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 99(8), 5476–5480. http://dx.doi.org/10.1073/pnas.082121499

Healy, G. R. (1970). Trematodes transmitted to man by fish, frogs, and crustacea. *Journal of Wildlife Diseases*, 6(4), 255–261. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.7589/0090-3558-6.4.255</u>

Hégaret, H., Wikfors, G. H., & Soudant, P. (2003). Flow cytometric analysis of haemocytes from eastern oysters, Crassostrea virginica, subjected to a sudden temperature elevation: II. Haemocyte functions: aggregation, viability, phagocytosis, and respiratory burst. *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology*, 293(2), 249–265. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0022-0981(03)00235-1</u>

Heinzelmann, M., Gardner, S. A., Mercer-Jones, M., Roll, A. J., & Polk, H. C., Jr. (1999). Quantification of phagocytosis in human neutrophils by flow cytometry. *Microbiology and Immunology*, *43*(6), 505–512. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1348-0421.1999.tb02435.x</u>

Heyers, O., Walduck, A. K., Brindley, P. J., Bleiss, W., Lucius, R., Dorbic, T & Kalinna, B. H. (2003). Schistosoma mansoni miracidia transformed by particle bombardment infect Biomphalaria glabrata snails and develop into transgenic sporocysts. *Experimental Parasitology*, *105*(2), 174–178. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.exppara.2003.11.001

Heyneman, D. (1979). Dams and Disease. Human Nature. 50-57.

Ho, C. L., Mou, T. Y., Chiang, P. S., Weng, C. L., & Chow, N. H. (2005). Mini chamber system for long-term maintenance and observation of cultured cells. *Biotechniques*, *38*(2), 267-73.

Hock, S. D., & Poulin, R. (2012). Exposure of the snail Potamopyrgus antipodarum to herbicide boosts output and survival of parasite infective stages. *International Journal for Parasitology: Parasites and Wildlife*, *1*, 13-18.

Hoeger, B., van den Heuvel, M. R., Hitzfeld, B. C., & Dietrich, D. R. (2004). Effects of treated sewage effluent on immune function in rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss). *Aquatic Toxicology* (*Amsterdam, Netherlands*), 70(4), 345–355. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.aquatox.2004.10.010</u>

Hoffman, D. (2003). Handbook of ecotoxicology. Boca Raton: Lewis Publishers.

Hofkin, B. V., Stryker, G. A., Koech, D. K., & Loker, E. S. (1991). Consumption of Biomphalaria glabrata egg masses and juveniles by the ampullariid snails Pila ovata, Lanistes carinatus and Marisa cornuarietis. *Acta Tropica*, 49(1), 37–44. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/0001-706X(91)90028-I</u>

Hofmann, M. C., Narisawa, S., Hess, R. A., & Millán, J. L. (1992). Immortalization of germ cells and somatic testicular cells using the SV40 large T antigen. *Experimental Cell Biology*, 201(2), 417–435. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/0014-4827(92)90291-F

Hothorn, L. A. (2014). Statistical evaluation of toxicological bioassays–a review. *Toxicology Research*, *3*(6), 418–432. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1039/C4TX00047A</u>

Hulkower, K. I., & Herber, R. L. (2011). Cell migration and invasion assays as tools for drug discovery. *Pharmaceutics*, *3*(1), 107–124. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.3390/pharmaceutics3010107</u>

Humbert, E., & Coustau, C. (2001). Refractoriness of host haemocytes to parasite immunosuppressive factors as a putative resistance mechanism in the Biomphalaria glabrata-Echinostoma caproni system. *Parasitology*, *122*(Pt 6), 651–660. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1017/S003118200100782X</u>

Humphries, J. E., & Yoshino, T. P. (2003). Cellular receptors and signal transduction in molluscan hemocytes: Connections with the innate immune system of vertebrates. *Integrative and Comparative Biology*, *43*(2), 305–312. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/icb/43.2.305</u>

Humphries, J. E., & Yoshino, T. P. (2006). Schistosoma mansoni excretory-secretory products stimulate a p38 signalling pathway in Biomphalaria glabrata embryonic cells. *International Journal for Parasitology*, *36*(1), 37–46. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpara.2005.08.009</u>

Humphries, J. E., & Yoshino, T. P. (2008). Regulation of hydrogen peroxide release in circulating hemocytes of the planorbid snail Biomphalaria glabrata. *Developmental & Comparative Immunology*, *32*(5), 554-562.

Humphries, J. (2011). Effects of larval schistosomes on Biomphalaria snails. InBiomphalaria Snails and Larval Trematodes (pp. 103–125). Springer New York. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4419-7028-2_5

Huth, J., Buchholz, M., Kraus, J. M., Schmucker, M., von Wichert, G., Krndija, D & Kestler, H. A. (2010). Significantly improved precision of cell migration analysis in time-lapse video microscopy through use of a fully automated tracking system. *BMC Cell Biology*, *11*(1), 24–24. http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/1471-2121-11-24

Ibrahim, M. M. (2006). Energy allocation patterns in Biomphalaria alexandrina snails in response to cadmium exposure and Schistosoma mansoni infection. *Experimental Parasitology*, *112*(1), 31–36. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.exppara.2005.08.012

Ingram-Sieber, K., Cowan, N., Panic, G., Vargas, M., Mansour, N. R., Bickle, Q. D & Keiser, J. (2014). Orally active antischistosomal early leads identified from the open access malaria box. *PLoS Neglected Tropical Diseases*, 8(1), e2610. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1371/journal.pntd.0002610</u>

Ioannidis, J. P. (2005). Why most published research findings are false. *PLoS Medicine*, 2(8), e124. http://dx.doi.org/10.1371/journal.pmed.0020124

Iqbal, M. T., & Sinha, S. (2011). Environmental endocrine disruptors and their effects on Biomphalaria glabrata oviposition. *Journal of Vector Borne Diseases*, 48(3), 174–176.

Irimia, D., & Toner, M. (2009). Spontaneous migration of cancer cells under conditions of mechanical confinement. *Integr Biol (Camb)*, 1(8-9), 506–512. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1039/b908595e</u>

Ismail, N. M., Sedek, M. N., & Marei, A. M. (2014). Effect of lining Water Bodies on the Infection of Biomphalaria alexandrina Snails by Schistosoma mansoni Miracidia. *International Conference on Chemical, Environment & Biological Sciences* (CEBS-2014) Sept. 17-18, 2014 Kuala Lumpur (Malaysia)

Isnard, P., Flammarion, P., Roman, G., Babut, M., Bastien, P., Bintein, S & Vindimian, E. (2001). Statistical analysis of regulatory ecotoxicity tests. *Chemosphere*, *45*(4-5), 659–669. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0045-6535(00)00600-7

Ittiprasert, W., & Knight, M. (2012). Reversing the resistance phenotype of the Biomphalaria glabrata snail host Schistosoma mansoni infection by temperature modulation. *PLoS Pathog*, 8(4), e1002677.

Ivanchenko, M. G., Lerner, J. P., McCormick, R. S., Toumadje, A., Allen, B., Fischer, K & Bayne, C. J. (1999). Continuous in vitro propagation and differentiation of cultures of the intramolluscan stages

of the human parasite Schistosoma mansoni. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 96(9), 4965–4970. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1073/pnas.96.9.4965</u>

Janer, G., Lyssimachou, A., Bachmann, J., Oehlmann, J., Schulte-Oehlmann, U., & Porte, C. (2006). Sexual dimorphism in esterified steroid levels in the gastropod Marisa cornuarietis: The effect of xenoandrogenic compounds. *Steroids*, *71*(6), 435–444. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.steroids.2006.01.012

Janeway, C. A. (1989). Approaching the asymptote? Evolution and revolution in immunology. In *Cold Spring Harbor symposia on quantitative biology* (Vol. 54, pp. 1-13). Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press.

Janeway Jr, C. A., & Medzhitov, R. (2002). Innate immune recognition. *Annual review of immunology*, 20(1), 197-216.

Jarne, P., Pointier, J. P., & David, P. (2011). Biosystematics of Biomphalaria spp. with an Emphasis on Biomphalaria glabrata. In *Biomphalaria Snails and Larval Trematodes* (pp. 1–32). Springer New York. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4419-7028-2_1</u>

Jobin, W. R. (1970). Population dynamics of aquatic snails in three farm ponds of Puerto Rico. *The American Journal of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene*, 19(6), 1038–1048.

Jobling, S., & Tyler, C. R. (2003). Endocrine disruption, parasites and pollutants in wild freshwater fish. *Parasitology*, *126*(07, Suppl), S103–S108. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1017/S0031182003003652</u>

Johnson, P. T., Chase, J. M., Dosch, K. L., Hartson, R. B., Gross, J. A., Larson, D. J & Carpenter, S. R. (2007). Aquatic eutrophication promotes pathogenic infection in amphibians. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, *104*(40), 15781–15786. http://dx.doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0707763104

Johnston, L. A., & Yoshino, T. P. (1996). Analysis of lectin- and snail plasma-binding glycopeptides associated with the tegumental surface of the primary sporocysts of Schistosoma mansoni. *Parasitology*, *112*(Pt 5), 469–479. http://dx.doi.org/10.1017/S0031182000076939

Jones, J. B. (2011). *Current trends in the study of molluscan diseases.Diseases in Asian Aquaculture VII. Fish Health Section.* Manila, Philippines: Asian Fisheries Society.

Jourdane, J., Théron, A., & Combes, C. (1980). Demonstration of several sporocysts generations as a normal pattern of reproduction of Schistosoma mansoni. *Acta Tropica*, *37*(2), 177–182.

Jourdane, J., & Cheng, T. C. (1987). The two-phase recognition process of allografts in a Brazilian strain of Biomphalaria glabrata. *Journal of invertebrate pathology*, *49*(2), 145-158.

Jurberg, P. (1992). Alguns aspectos do comportamento de Biomphalaria glabrata (Say, 1818), com ênfase na atividade respiratória. Instituto de Biofísica da Universidade Federal do Rio de Janeiro, Rio de Janeiro, xxv + 460 pp.

Jurberg, P., Sarquis, O., dos Santos, J. A., & Ferreira, R. C. (1995). Effect of Niclosamide (Bayluscide WP 70), Anacardium occidentale hexane extract and Euphorbia splendens latex on behavior of Biomphalaria glabrata (Say, 1818), under laboratory conditions. *Memorias do Instituto Oswaldo Cruz, 90*(2), 191–194. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1590/S0074-02761995000200011</u>

Jurberg, P., Cunha, R. A., & Rodrigues, M. L. (1997). Behavior of Biomphalaria glabrata Say, 1818 (Gastropoda: Planorbidae) - 1. Morphophysiology of the mantle cavity. *Memorias do Instituto Oswaldo Cruz, 92*(2), 287–295. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1590/S0074-02761997000200026</u>

Jurberg, A. D., Oliveira, A. A., Lenzi, H. L., & Coelho, P. M. Z. (2008). A new miracidia hatching device for diagnosing schistosomiasis. *Memorias do Instituto Oswaldo Cruz, 103*(1), 112–114. http://dx.doi.org/10.1590/S0074-02762008005000005

Kaiser, H. F. (1974). An index of factorial simplicity. Psy-chometrika, 39, 31-36.

Kalbe, M., Haberl, B., Hertel, J., & Haas, W. (2004). Heredity of specific host-finding behaviour in Schistosoma mansoni miracidia. *Parasitology*, *128*(Pt 6), 635–643. http://dx.doi.org/10.1017/S0031182004005037

Kang, J. H., Aasi, D., & Katayama, Y. (2007). Bisphenol A in the aquatic environment and its endocrine-disruptive effects on aquatic organisms. *Critical reviews in toxicology*, *37*(7), 607-625.

Karetin, Y. A. (2010). Comparative morphological analysis of in vitro cultured hemocytes from two species of bivalve mollusks. *Russian Journal of Marine Biology*, *36*(5), 367–372. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1134/S1063074010050068</u>

Kawanaka, M., Hayashi, S., & Ohtomo, H. (1983). A minimum essential medium for cultivation of Schistosoma japonicum eggs. *The Journal of Parasitology*, 69(5), 991–992. http://dx.doi.org/10.2307/3281071

Kawasaki, M., Delamare-Deboutteville, J., Dang, C., & Barnes, A. C. (2013). Hemiuroid trematode sporocysts are undetected by hemocytes of their intermediate host, the ark cockle Anadara trapezia: Potential role of surface carbohydrates in successful parasitism. *Fish & Shellfish Immunology*, *35*(6), 1937–1947. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.fsi.2013.09.040</u>

Keay, J., & Thornton, J. W. (2009). Hormone-activated estrogen receptors in annelid invertebrates: Implications for evolution and endocrine disruption. *Endocrinology*, *150*(4), 1731–1738. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1210/en.2008-1338</u>

Kelly, D. W., Poulin, R., Tompkins, D. M., & Townsend, C. R. (2010). Synergistic effects of glyphosate formulation and parasite infection on fish malformations and survival. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 47(2), 498-504.

Kendziorski, C., Irizarry, R. A., Chen, K. S., Haag, J. D., & Gould, M. N. (2005). On the utility of pooling biological samples in microarray experiments. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, *102*(12), 4252–4257. http://dx.doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0500607102

Ketata, I., Denier, X., Hamza-Chaffai, A., & Minier, C. (2008). Endocrine-related reproductive effects in molluscs. *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part C: Toxicology & Pharmacology*,147(3), 261-270.

Khan, R. A. (1990). Parasitism in marine fish after chronic exposure to petroleum hydrocarbons in the laboratory and to the Exxon Valdez oil spill.*Bulletin of environmental contamination and toxicology*, *44*(5), 759-763.

Khangarot, B. S., & Das, S. (2010). Effects of copper on the egg development and hatching of a freshwater pulmonate snail Lymnaea luteola L. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, *179*(1-3), 665–675. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2010.03.054

Kiesecker, J. M. (2002). Synergism between trematode infection and pesticide exposure: a link to amphibian limb deformities in nature?. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 99(15), 9900-9904.

Kilemade, M., Lyons-Alcantara, M., Rose, T., Fitzgerald, R., & Mothersill, C. (2002). Rainbow trout primary epidermal cell proliferation as an indicator of aquatic toxicity: An in vitro/in vivo exposure

comparison. *Aquatic Toxicology (Amsterdam, Netherlands), 60*(1-2), 43–59. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0166-445X(01)00269-7

Kim, S. B., Koo, K. I., Bae, H., Dokmeci, M. R., Hamilton, G. A., Bahinski, A & Khademhosseini, A. (2012). A mini-microscope for in situ monitoring of cells. *Lab on a Chip*, *12*(20), 3976–3982. http://dx.doi.org/10.1039/c21c40345e

Kinoti, G. K. (1971). The attachment and penetration apparatus of the miracidium of Schistosoma. *Journal of Helminthology*, 45(2), 229–235.

Kloos, H., Correa-Oliveira, R., dos Reis, D. C., Rodrigues, E. W., Monteiro, L. A. S., & Gazzinelli, A. (2010). The role of population movement in the epidemiology and control of schistosomiasis in Brazil: A preliminary typology of population movement. *Memorias do Instituto Oswaldo Cruz, 105*(4), 578–586. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1590/S0074-02762010000400038</u>

Knight, M., Adema, C. M., Raghavan, N., Loker, E. S., Lewis, F. A., & Tettelin, H. (2002). Obtaining the genome sequence of the mollusc Biomphalaria glabrata: a major intermediate host for the parasite causing human schistosomiasis. *Biomedical research institute (BRI)*.

Knight, M., Adema, C. M., Raghavan, N., Loker, E. S., Lewis, F. A., & Tettelin, H. (2009). Obtaining the genome sequence of the mollusc Biomphalaria glabrata: a major intermediate host for the parasite causing human schistosomiasis.

Knight, M., Arican-Goktas, H. D., Ittiprasert, W., Odoemelam, E. C., Miller, A. N., & Bridger, J. M. (2014). Schistosomes and snails: a molecular encounter. *Frontiers in genetics*, 5:230. doi: 10.3389/fgene.2014.00230

Knight, M., Elhelu, O., Smith, M., Haugen, B., Miller, A., Raghavan, N., & Rinaldi, G. (2015). Susceptibility of snails to infection with schistosomes is influenced by temperature and expression of heat shock proteins. *Epidemiology (Sunnyvale, Calif.)*, *5*(2).

Knopp, S., Mohammed, K. A., Ali, S. M., Khamis, I. S., Ame, S. M., Albonico, M., Rollinson, D. (2012). Study and implementation of urogenital schistosomiasis elimination in Zanzibar (Unguja and Pemba islands) using an integrated multidisciplinary approach. *BMC Public Health*, *12*(1), 930. http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/1471-2458-12-930

Kokkinopoulou, M., Güler, M. A., Lieb, B., Barbeck, M., Ghanaati, S., & Markl, J. (2014). 3Dultrastructure, functions and stress responses of gastropod (Biomphalaria glabrata) rhogocytes. *PLoS One*, *9*(6), e101078. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0101078</u>

Koutsogiannaki, S., & Kaloyianni, M. (2011). Effect of 17β -estradiol on adhesion of Mytilus galloprovincialis hemocytes to selected substrates. Role of alpha2 integrin subunit. *Fish & Shellfish Immunology*, *31*(1), 73–80. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.fsi.2011.04.003</u>

Kozlov, M. V., & Hurlbert, S. H. (2006). [Pseudoreplication, chatter, and the international nature of science: A response to D.V. Tatarnikov]. *Zhurnal Obshchei Biologii*, 67(2), 145–152.

Kreutz, C., & Timmer, J. (2009). Systems biology: Experimental design. *The FEBS Journal*, 276(4), 923–942. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1742-4658.2008.06843.x</u>

Kristensen, T. K., Yousif, F., & Raahauge, P. (1999). Molecular characterisation of Biomphalaria spp in Egypt. *Journal of molluscan studies*, 65(1), 133-136.

Krull, M., & Barros, F. (2012). Key issues in aquatic ecotoxicology in Brazil: a critical review. Ecotoxicology and Environmental Contamination, 7(2). <u>10.5132/jbse.2012.02.009</u>

Krysko, D., & Vandenabeele, P. (2009). *Phagocytosis of dying cells: from molucar mechanisms to human diseases* [Dordrecht]. Springer. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4020-9293-0</u>

Kwok, K. W., Leung, K. M., Lui, G. S., Chu, V. K., Lam, P. K., Morritt, D & Crane, M. (2007). Comparison of tropical and temperate freshwater animal species' acute sensitivities to chemicals: Implications for deriving safe extrapolation factors.*Integrated Environmental Assessment and Management*, *3*(1), 49-67.

Labreuche, Y., Lambert, C., Soudant, P., Boulo, V., Huvet, A., & Nicolas, J. L. (2006). Cellular and molecular hemocyte responses of the Pacific oyster, Crassostrea gigas, following bacterial infection with Vibrio aestuarianus strain 01/32. *Microbes and Infection*, 8(12-13), 2715–2724. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.micinf.2006.07.020

Lacoste, A., Malham, S. K., Gélébart, F., Cueff, A., & Poulet, S. A. (2002). Stress-induced immune changes in the oyster Crassostrea gigas. *Developmental & Comparative Immunology*, 26(1), 1-9.

Lafferty, K. D. (1997). Environmental parasitology: what can parasites tell us about human impacts on the environment?. *Parasitology Today*, *13*(7), 251-255.

Lafferty, K. D., & Kuris, A. M. (1999). How environmental stress affects the impacts of parasites. *Limnology and Oceanography*,44(3part2), 925-931.

Lafferty, K. D., & Kuris, A. M. (2005). Parasitism and environmental disturbances. Parasitism and ecosystems, 113-123. <u>10.1093/acprof:oso/9780198529873.003.0008</u>

Lagarde, F., Beausoleil, C., Belcher, S. M., Belzunces, L. P., Emond, C., Guerbet, M., & Rousselle, C. (2015). Non-monotonic dose-response relationships and endocrine disruptors: a qualitative method of assessment. *Environmental Health*, *14*(1), 1.

Lalli, C., Guidi, A., Gennari, N., Altamura, S., Bresciani, A., & Ruberti, G. (2015). Development and validation of a luminescence-based, medium-throughput assay for drug screening in Schistosoma mansoni. *PLoS Neglected Tropical Diseases*, *9*(1), e0003484–e0003484. http://dx.doi.org/10.1371/journal.pntd.0003484

Lambert, C., Soudant, P., Choquet, G., & Paillard, C. (2003). Measurement of Crassostrea gigas hemocyte oxidative metabolism by flow cytometry and the inhibiting capacity of pathogenic vibrios. *Fish & Shellfish Immunology*, *15*(3), 225–240. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S1050-4648(02)00160-2</u>

Lammer, E., Carr, G. J., Wendler, K., Rawlings, J. M., Belanger, S. E., & Braunbeck, T. (2009). Is the fish embryo toxicity test (FET) with the zebrafish (Danio rerio) a potential alternative for the fish acute toxicity test? *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part C Toxicology & Pharmacology*, 149(2), 196–209. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.cbpc.2008.11.006</u>

Lammie, P. J., Lindo, J. F., Secor, W. E., Vasquez, J., Ault, S. K., & Eberhard, M. L. (2007). Eliminating lymphatic filariasis, onchocerciasis, and schistosomiasis from the americas: Breaking a historical legacy of slavery. *PLoS Neglected Tropical Diseases, 1*(2), e71. http://dx.doi.org/10.1371/journal.pntd.0000071

Landis, W., Sofield, R., & Yu, M. (2011). *Introduction to environmental toxicology*. Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press.

Langton, P. (2012). Research techniques for biomedical scientists. Oxford: Wiley-Blackwell.

Lazic, S. E. (2008). Why we should use simpler models if the data allow this: Relevance for ANOVA designs in experimental biology. *BMC Physiology*, 8(1), 16. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/1472-6793-8-16</u>

Lazic, S. E. (2010). The problem of pseudoreplication in neuroscientific studies: Is it affecting your analysis? *BMC Neuroscience*, 11(1), 5. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/1471-2202-11-5</u>

Le Foll, F., Rioult, D., Boussa, S., Pasquier, J., Dagher, Z., & Leboulenger, F. (2010). Characterisation of Mytilus edulis hemocyte subpopulations by single cell time-lapse motility imaging. *Fish & Shellfish Immunology*, 28(2), 372–386. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.fsi.2009.11.011</u>

Lee, J. K. (2008). *Statistical bioinformatics: for biomedical and life science researchers*. John Wiley & Sons.

Lefcort, H., Aguon, M. Q., Bond, K. A., Chapman, K. R., Chaquette, R., Clark, J & Martin, J. C. (2002). Indirect effects of heavy metals on parasites may cause shifts in snail species compositions. *Archives of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology*, *43*(1), 34–41. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s00244-002-1173-8

Lehmann, A. K., Halstensen, A., & Bassøe, C. F. (1998). Flow cytometric quantitation of human opsonin-dependent phagocytosis and oxidative burst responses to meningococcal antigens. *Cytometry*, *33*(4), 406–413. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1097-0320(19981201)33:43.0.CO;2-L</u>

Lehmann, A. K., Sørnes, S., & Halstensen, A. (2000). Phagocytosis: Measurement by flow cytometry. *Journal of Immunological Methods*, 243(1-2), 229–242. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0022-1759(00)00237-4</u>

Lemos, Q. T. (1999). Contribution to the histology of Biomphalaria glabrata. *Revista da Sociedade Brasileira de Medicina Tropical*, *32*(4), 343–347. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1590/S0037-86821999000400002</u>

Lemos, Q. T., & Andrade, Z. A. (2001). Sequential histological changes in Biomphalaria glabrata during the course of Schistosoma mansoni infection. *Memorias do Instituto Oswaldo Cruz*, 96(5), 719–721. http://dx.doi.org/10.1590/S0074-02762001000500025

Le Pennec, G., Le Pennec, M., & Beninger, G. (2001). Seasonal digestive gland dynamics of the scallop Pecten maximus in the Bay of Brest (France). *Journal of the Marine Biological Association of the UK*, 81(04), 663-671.

Lévêque, C., & Pointier, J. P. (1976). Study of growth of Biomphalaria glabrata Say and other Planorbidae in Guadeloupe West Indies. *Annals of Tropical Medicine and Parasitology*, 70(2), 199–204.

Lewis, F. A., Stirewalt, M. A., Souza, C. P., & Gazzinelli, G. (1986). Large-scale laboratory maintenance of Schistosoma mansoni, with observations on three schistosome/snail host combinations. *The Journal of Parasitology*, *72*(6), 813–829. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.2307/3281829</u>

Li K (2008) The image stabilizer plugin for ImageJ. Available: http

Lieb, B., Dimitrova, K., Kang, H. S., Braun, S., Gebauer, W., Martin, A & Markl, J. (2006). Red blood with blue-blood ancestry: Intriguing structure of a snail hemoglobin. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 103(32), 12011–12016. http://dx.doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0601861103

Limpiyakorn, T., Homklin, S., & Ong, S. K. (2011). Fate of estrogens and estrogenic potentials in sewerage systems. *Critical reviews in environmental science and technology*, *41*(13), 1231-1270.

Linder, E., Grote, A., Varjo, S., Linder, N., Lebbad, M., Lundin, M & Lundin, J. (2013). On-chip imaging of Schistosoma haematobium eggs in urine for diagnosis by computer vision. *PLoS Neglected Tropical Diseases*, 7(12), e2547–e2547. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1371/journal.pntd.0002547</u>

Litwin, V., & Marder, P. (2011). Flow cytometry in drug discovery and development. Hoboken, N.J.: Wiley.

Livingstone, D. R., Chipman, J. K., Lowe, D. M., Minier, C., & Pipe, R. K. (2000). Development of biomarkers to detect the effects of organic pollution on aquatic invertebrates: Recent molecular, genotoxic, cellular and immunological studies on the common mussel (Mytilus edulis L.) and other mytilids. *International Journal of Environment and Pollution*, *13*(1), 56–91. http://dx.doi.org/10.1504/IJEP.2000.002311

Lockyer, A. E., Spinks, J. N., Walker, A. J., Kane, R. A., Noble, L. R., Rollinson, D & Jones, C. S. (2007). Biomphalaria glabrata transcriptome: identification of cell-signalling, transcriptional control and immune-related genes from open reading frame expressed sequence tags (ORESTES). *Developmental & Comparative Immunology*, *31*(8), 763-782.

Lodes, M. J., & Yoshino, T. P. (1990). The effect of schistosome excretory-secretory products on Biomphalaria glabrata hemocyte motility. *Journal of Invertebrate Pathology*, *56*(1), 75–85. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/0022-2011(90)90147-X</u>

Loker, E. S. & Bayne, C. J. (1986). Immunity to trematode larvae in the snail Biomphalaria. In Immune Mechanisms in Invertebrate Vectors (ed. Lackie, A. M.), Symposium of the Zoological Society of London 56, pp. 199-220. Oxford: Clarendon Press.

Loker, E. S., Bayne, C. J. & Yui, M. A. (1986). Echinostoma

Loker, E. S., Boston, M. E., & Bayne, C. J. (1989). Differential adherence of M line Biomphalaria glabrata hemocytes to Schistosoma mansoni and Echinostoma paraensei larvae, and experimental manipulation of hemocyte binding. *Journal of Invertebrate Pathology*, *54*(2), 260–268. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/0022-2011(89)90036-0

Loker, E. S., Cimino, D. F., & Hertel, L. A. (1992). Excretory-secretory products of Echinostoma paraensei sporocysts mediate interference with Biomphalaria glabrata hemocyte functions. *The Journal of Parasitology*, 78(1), 104–115. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.2307/3283696</u>

Loker, E. S., Adema, C. M., Zhang, S. M., & Kepler, T. B. (2004). Invertebrate immune systems not homogeneous, not simple, not well understood. *Immunological Reviews*, *198*(1), 10–24. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.0105-2896.2004.0117.x</u>

Loker, E.S. (2005). Research on the molluscan intermediate hosts of schistosomiasis: What are the priorities? Working Paper #13. Report of the Scientific Working Group Meeting in Schistosomiasis, World Health Organization, Geneva, 14-16 November, 2005, p. 95-104.

Loker, E. S. (2010). Gastropod immunobiology. In Invertebrate Immunity (pp. 17-43). Springer US. 10.1007/978-1-4419-8059-5_2

Lopez-Cortes, L., Castro, D., Navas, J. I., & Borrego, J. J. (1999). Phagocytic and chemotactic responses of manila and carpet shell clam haemocytes against Vibrio tapetis, the causative agent of brown ring disease. *Fish & Shellfish Immunology*, *9*(7), 543–555. http://dx.doi.org/10.1006/fsim.1999.0211

Lowe, D. M., Fossato, V. U., & Depledge, M. H. (1995). Contaminant-induced lysosomal membrane damage in blood cells of mussels Mytilus galloprovincialis from the Venice Lagoon: An in vitro study. *Marine Ecology Progress Series, 129*(1), 189–196. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.3354/meps129189</u>

Luengen, A. C., Friedman, C. S., Raimondi, P. T., & Flegal, A. R. (2004). Evaluation of mussel immune responses as indicators of contamination in San Francisco Bay. *Marine Environmental Research*, *57*(3), 197–212. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0141-1136(03)00070-9</u>

Lumsden, W., Müller, R., & Baker, J. (1979). Advances in parasitology. London: Academic Press.

Lyssimachou, A., Bachmann, J., & Porte, C. (2008). Short-term exposure to the organotin compound triphenyltin modulates esterified steroid levels in females of Marisa cornuarietis. *Aquatic Toxicology* (*Amsterdam, Netherlands*), 89(2), 129–135. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.aquatox.2008.06.009</u>

Lyssimachou, A., Navarro, J. C., Bachmann, J., & Porte, C. (2009). Triphenyltin alters lipid homeostasis in females of the ramshorn snail Marisa cornuarietis. *Environmental Pollution*, 157(5), 1714–1720. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2008.12.013</u>

MacCallum, R. C., Zhang, S., Preacher, K. J., & Rucker, D. D. (2002). On the practice of dichotomization of quantitative variables. *Psychological Methods*, 7(1), 19–40. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/1082-989X.7.1.19</u>

Madanire-Moyo, G., & Barson, M. (2010). Diversity of metazoan parasites of the African catfish Clarias gariepinus (Burchell, 1822) as indicators of pollution in a subtropical African river system. *Journal of Helminthology*, 84(2), 216–227. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1017/S0022149X09990563</u>

Magdeburg, A., Stalter, D., & Oehlmann, J. (2012). Whole effluent toxicity assessment at a wastewater treatment plant upgraded with a full-scale post-ozonation using aquatic key species. *Chemosphere*, *88*(8), 1008–1014. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2012.04.017</u>

Mahmood, K., Jadoon, S., Mahmood, Q., Irshad, M., & Hussain, J. (2014). Synergistic effects of toxic elements on heat shock proteins. *BioMed research international*, 2014.

Mak, M., Reinhart-King, C. A., & Erickson, D. (2011). Microfabricated physical spatial gradients for investigating cell migration and invasion dynamics. *PLoS One*, *6*(6), e20825–e20825. http://dx.doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0020825

Makanga, B. (1981). The effect of varying the number of Schistosoma mansoni miracidia on the reproduction and survival of Biomphalaria pfeifferi. *Journal of Invertebrate Pathology*, *37*(1), 7–10. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/0022-2011(81)90047-1</u>

Malek, E. A. (1985). Snail hosts of schistosomiasis continued (No. 478).

Manger, P., Li, J., Christensen, B. M., & Yoshino, T. P. (1996). Biogenic monoamines in the freshwater snail, Biomphalaria glabrata: Influence of infection by the human blood fluke, Schistosoma mansoni. *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology. Part A, Physiology, 114*(3), 227–234. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/0300-9629(95)02131-0</u>

Mann, V. H., Morales, M. E., Rinaldi, G., & Brindley, P. J. (2010). Culture for genetic manipulation of developmental stages of Schistosoma mansoni. *Parasitology*, *137*(3), 451–462. http://dx.doi.org/10.1017/S0031182009991211

Markert, B. A., Breure, A. M., & Zechmeister, H. G. (Eds.). (2003). *Bioindicators and biomonitors* (Vol. 6). Gulf Professional Publishing.

Martens, W. J., Jetten, T. H., & Focks, D. A. (1997). Sensitivity of malaria, schistosomiasis and dengue to global warming. *Climatic change*, *35*(2), 145-156.

Martin, L. B., Hopkins, W. A., Mydlarz, L. D., & Rohr, J. R. (2010). The effects of anthropogenic global changes on immune functions and disease resistance. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, *1195*(1), 129–148. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1749-6632.2010.05454.x</u>

Martins-Souza, R. L., Pereira, C. A. J., Coelho, P. M. Z., & Negrão-Corrêa, D. (2003). Silica treatment increases the susceptibility of the Cabo Frio strain of Biomphalaria tenagophila to

Schistosoma mansoni infection but does not alter the natural resistance of the Taim strain. *Parasitology Research*, 91(6), 500–507. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s00436-003-0985-4</u>

Martins-Souza, R. L., Pereira, C. A. J., Coelho, P. M. Z., Martins-Filho, O. A., & Negrão-Corrêa, D. (2009). Flow cytometry analysis of the circulating haemocytes from Biomphalaria glabrata and Biomphalaria tenagophila following Schistosoma mansoni infection. *Parasitology*, *136*(1), 67–76. http://dx.doi.org/10.1017/S0031182008005155

Martins-Souza, R. L., Pereira, C. A. J., Rodrigues, L., Araújo, E. S., Coelho, P. M. Z., Corrêa, A., Jr & Negrão-Corrêa, D. (2011). Participation of N-acetyl-D-glucosamine carbohydrate moieties in the recognition of Schistosoma mansoni sporocysts by haemocytes of Biomphalaria tenagophila. *Memorias do Instituto Oswaldo Cruz, 106*(7), 884–891. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1590/S0074-02762011000700015</u>

Marty, M. S., Carney, E. W., & Rowlands, J. C. (2011). Endocrine disruption: Historical perspectives and its impact on the future of toxicology testing. *Toxicological Sciences*, *120*(Suppl 1), S93–S108. http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/toxsci/kfq329

Marxen, J. C., & Becker, W. (1997). The organic shell matrix of the freshwater snail Biomphalaria glabrata. *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology. Part B, Biochemistry & Molecular Biology,* 118(1), 23–33. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0305-0491(97)00010-2

Matozzo, V., & Ballarin, L. (2011). In vitro effects of nonylphenol on functional responses of haemocytes of the colonial ascidian Botryllus schlosseri. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 62(10), 2042–2046. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2011.07.025

Matricon-Gondran, M., & Letocart, M. (1999). Internal defenses of the snail Biomphalaria glabrata. *Journal of Invertebrate Pathology*, 74(3), 248–254. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1006/jipa.1999.4878</u>

Mavárez, J., Steiner, C., Pointier, J. P., & Jarne, P. (2002). Evolutionary history and phylogeography of the schistosome-vector freshwater snail Biomphalaria glabrata based on nuclear and mitochondrial DNA sequences. *Heredity*, 89(4), 266–272. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/sj.hdy.6800128</u>

May, S., & Bigelow, C. (2006). Modeling nonlinear dose-response relationships in epidemiologic studies: Statistical approaches and practical challenges. *Dose-Response*, *3*(4), 474–490. http://dx.doi.org/10.2203/dose-response.003.04.004

McDonald, J. H. (2014). *Handbook of Biological Statistics* (3rd ed., pp. 293–296). Baltimore, Maryland: Sparky House Publishing.

McFarlin, B. K., Williams, R. R., Venable, A. S., Dwyer, K. C., & Haviland, D. L. (2013). Imagebased cytometry reveals three distinct subsets of activated granulocytes based on phagocytosis and oxidative burst. *Cytometry. Part A*, 83(8), 745–751. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/cyto.a.22330</u>

McMahon, T. A., Halstead, N. T., Johnson, S., Raffel, T. R., Romansic, J. M., Crumrine, P. W & Rohr, J. R. (2011). The fungicide chlorothalonil is nonlinearly associated with corticosterone levels, immunity, and mortality in amphibians. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, *119*(8), 1098–1103. http://dx.doi.org/10.1289/ehp.1002956

Mechoulam, R., Brueggemeier, R. W., & Denlinger, D. L. (1984). Estrogens in insects. *Experientia*,40(9), 942-944.

Meier, M., & Meier-Brook, C. (1981). Schistosoma mansoni: Effect on growth, fertility, and development of distal male organs in Biomphalaria glabrata exposed to miracidia at different ages. *Zeitschrift für Parasitenkunde*, 66(2), 121–131. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/BF00925719</u>
Meijering, E., Dzyubachyk, O., Smal, I., & van Cappellen, W. A. (2009). Tracking in cell and developmental biology. *Seminars in Cell & Developmental Biology*, 20(8), 894–902. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.semcdb.2009.07.004

Melegy, A. A., Cvečková, V., Krčmová, K., & Rapant, S. (2010). Environmental risk assessment of some potentially toxic elements in El-Tabbin region (Cairo, Egypt). *Environmental Earth Sciences*, *61*(2), 429–439. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s12665-009-0355-3</u>

Melo, S. M., & Brito, N. M. (2014). Analysis and occurrence of endocrine disruptors in Brazilian water by HPLC-fluorescence detection. *Water, Air, & Soil Pollution, 225*(1), 1-7.

Meuleman, E. A., & Holzmann, P. J. (1975). The development of the primitive epithelium and true tegument in the cercaria of Schistosoma mansoni. *Zeitschrift für Parasitenkunde*, 45(4), 307–318. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/BF00329820

Meuleman, E. A., Lyaruu, D. M., Khan, M. A., Holzmann, P. J., & Sminia, T. (1978). Ultrastructural changes in the body wall of Schistosoma mansoni during the transformation of the miracidium into the mother sporocyst in the snail host Biomphalaria pfeifferi. *Zeitschrift für Parasitenkunde*, 56(3), 227–242. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/BF00931716</u>

Meuleman, E. A., Holzmann, P. J., & Peet, R. C. (1980). The development of daughter sporocysts inside the mother sporocyst of Schistosoma mansoni with special reference to the ultrastructure of the body wall. *Zeitschrift für Parasitenkunde*, *61*(3), 201–212. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/BF00925512</u>

Meuleman, E. A., Bayne, M. E., & van der Knaap, W. P. W. (1987). Developmental and Comparative Immunology (Cooper, EL Langlet, C. and Bierene, J., eds), 116–127. Alan Liss.

Mickum, M. L., Prasanphanich, N. S., Heimburg-Molinaro, J., Leon, K. E., & Cummings, R. D. (2014). Deciphering the glycogenome of schistosomes. *Frontiers in genetics*, 5;5:262. doi: 10.3389/fgene.2014.00262.

Minguez, L., Meyer, A., Molloy, D. P., & Giambérini, L. (2009). Interactions between parasitism and biological responses in zebra mussels (Dreissena polymorpha): Importance in ecotoxicological studies. *Environmental Research*, *109*(7), 843–850. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2009.07.012

Mitta, G., Adema, C. M., Gourbal, B., Loker, E. S., & Theron, A. (2012). Compatibility polymorphism in snail/schistosome interactions: From field to theory to molecular mechanisms. *Developmental and Comparative Immunology*, *37*(1), 1–8. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.dci.2011.09.002

Mitta, G., Galinier, R., Tisseyre, P., Allienne, J. F., Girerd-Chambaz, Y., Guillou, F & Coustau, C. (2005). Gene discovery and expression analysis of immune-relevant genes from Biomphalaria glabrata hemocytes. *Developmental and Comparative Immunology*, *29*(5), 393–407. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.dci.2004.10.002

Monde, C., Syampungani, S., & Van den Brink, P. J. (2015). Exploring the potential of hostenvironment relationships in the control of schistosomiasis in Africa. *African Journal of Aquatic Science*, 40(1), 47-55.

Moeller, V., Dürr, R., Sarraf-Zadeh, L., Keller, S., Heinz, S., Hellmann, N & Markl, J. (2011). Recombinant functional multidomain hemoglobin from the gastropod Biomphalaria glabrata. *IUBMB Life*, *63*(5), 323–328. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/iub.453</u>

Moffett, S. B. (1995). Neural regeneration in gastropod molluscs. *Progress in Neurobiology*, 46(2-3), 289–330. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/0301-0082(95)80014-Y</u>

Mohamed, A. H. (2011a). Sublethal toxicity of Roundup to immunological and molecular aspects of Biomphalaria alexandrina to Schistosoma mansoni infection. *Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety*, 74(4), 754–760. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoenv.2010.10.037</u>

Mohamed, A. H., Sharaf El-Din, A. T., Mohamed, A. M., & Habib, M. R. (2011b). Tissue responses exhibited by Biomphalaria alexandrina snails from different Egyptian localities following Schistosoma mansoni exposure. *Experimental Parasitology*, *127*(4), 789–794. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.exppara.2011.01.020

Mohamed, A. M., El-Emam, M. A., Osman, G. Y., Abdel-Hamid, H., & Ali, R. E. (2012). Effect of Basudin, Selecron and the phytoalkaloid Colchicine (pesticides) on biological and molecular parameters of Biomphalaria alexandrina snails. *Pesticide Biochemistry and Physiology*, *102*(1), 68–78. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.pestbp.2011.10.013</u>

Moles, A., & Hale, N. (2003). Use of physiological responses in Mytilus trossulus as integrative bioindicators of sewage pollution. *Marine pollution bulletin*, 46(8), 954-958.

Møller, P., & Loft, S. (2014). Statistical analysis of comet assay results. Frontiers in Genetics, 5, 292.

Molloy, M. P., Brzezinski, E. E., Hang, J., McDowell, M. T., & VanBogelen, R. A. (2003). Overcoming technical variation and biological variation in quantitative proteomics. *Proteomics*, *3*(10), 1912-1919.

Moore, M. N., Lowe, D. M., & Fieth, P. E. M. (1978). Lysosomal responses to experimentally injected anthracene in digestive cells of Mytilus edulis. *Marine Biology*, *48*(4), 297–302. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/BF00391632</u>

Morales, M., Martínez-Paz, P., Martín, R., Planelló, R., Urien, J., Martínez-Guitarte, J. L., & Morcillo, G. (2014). Transcriptional changes induced by in vivo exposure to pentachlorophenol (PCP) in Chironomus riparius (Diptera) aquatic larvae. *Aquatic Toxicology (Amsterdam, Netherlands), 157*, 1–9. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.aquatox.2014.09.009</u>

Moreira, M., Aquino, S., Coutrim, M., Silva, J., & Afonso, R. (2011). Determination of endocrinedisrupting compounds in waters from Rio das Velhas, Brazil, by liquid chromatography/high resolution mass spectrometry (ESI-LC-IT-TOF/MS). *Environmental technology*, *32*(12), 1409-1417.

Morgan, J. A. T., Dejong, R. J., Snyder, S. D., Mkoji, G. M., & Loker, E. S. (2001). Schistosoma mansoni and Biomphalaria: Past history and future trends. *Parasitology*, *123*(07, Suppl), S211–S228. http://dx.doi.org/10.1017/S0031182001007703

Morgan, J. A., Dejong, R. J., Adeoye, G. O., Ansa, E., Barbosa, C. S., Bremond, P & D'andrea, P. S. (2005). Origin and diversification of the human parasite Schistosoma mansoni.*Molecular* ecology, 14(12), 3889-3902.

Morley, N. J., Crane, M., & Lewis, J. W. (2001). Toxicity of cadmium and zinc to miracidia of Schistosoma mansoni. *Parasitology*, *122*(Pt 1), 81–85. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1017/S0031182000007083</u>

Morley, N. J., Irwin, S. W. B., & Lewis, J. W. (2003). Pollution toxicity to the transmission of larval digeneans through their molluscan hosts. *Parasitology*, *126*(07, Suppl), S5–S26. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1017/S0031182003003755</u>

Morley, N. J., Crane, M., & Lewis, J. W. (2005). Changes in survival characteristics of Diplostomum spathaceum cercariae emerged from cadmium-exposed Lymnaea stagnalis. *Journal of Helminthology*, 79(1), 55–59. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1079/JOH2004271</u>

Morley, N. J. (2006). Parasitism as a source of potential distortion in studies on endocrine disrupting chemicals in molluscs. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 52(11), 1330–1332. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2006.08.025

Morley, N. J. (2009). Environmental risk and toxicology of human and veterinary waste pharmaceutical exposure to wild aquatic host-parasite relationships. *Environmental Toxicology and Pharmacology*, 27(2), 161–175. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.etap.2008.11.004</u>

Morley, N. J. (2010). Interactive effects of infectious diseases and pollution in aquatic molluscs. *Aquatic Toxicology (Amsterdam, Netherlands), 96*(1), 27–36. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.aquatox.2009.09.017

Morris, M. R., Dewitt, S., Laffafian, I., & Hallett, M. B. (2003). Phagocytosis by Inflammatory Phagocytes. *Inflammation Protocols*, 35-46.

Mosconi, G., Di Rosa, I., Bucci, S., Morosi, L., Franzoni, M. F., Polzonetti-Magni, A. M., & Pascolini, R. (2005). Plasma sex steroid and thyroid hormones profile in male water frogs of the Rana esculenta complex from agricultural and pristine areas. *General and Comparative Endocrinology*, *142*(3), 318–324. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ygcen.2005.02.005</u>

Mossalem, H. S., & Mossa, A. H. (2014). Effect of rice bran extract on immunological and physiological parameters of Biomphalaria alexandrina snails infected with Schistosoma mansoni. *African Journal of Pharmacy and Pharmacology*, 8(22), 621–628.

Mothersill, C., & Austin, B. (Eds.). (2003). *In Vitro Methods in Aquatic Ecotoxicology*. Springer Science & Business Media.

Mottin, E., Caplat, C., Mahaut, M. L., Costil, K., Barillier, D., Lebel, J. M., & Serpentini, A. (2010). Effect of in vitro exposure to zinc on immunological parameters of haemocytes from the marine gastropod Haliotis tuberculata. *Fish & Shellfish Immunology*, 29(5), 846–853. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.fsi.2010.07.022

Motulsky, H., & Christopoulos, A. (2004). *Fitting models to biological data using linear and nonlinear regression: a practical guide to curve fitting*. Oxford University Press.

Muinonen-Martin, A. J., Knecht, D. A., Veltman, D. M., Thomason, P. A., Kalna, G., & Insall, R. H. (2013). Measuring chemotaxis using direct visualization microscope chambers. *Methods in Molecular Biology (Clifton, N.J.), 1046*, 307–321. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/978-1-62703-538-5_18</u>

Murray, W., Peter, A. T., & Teclaw, R. F. (1993). The clinical relevance of assay validation. The Compendium on continuing education for the practicing veterinarian (USA).

Mutuku, M. W., Dweni, C. K., Mwangi, M., Kinuthia, J. M., Mwangi, I. N., Maina, G. M & Mkoji, G. M. (2014). Field-derived Schistosoma mansoni and Biomphalaria pfeifferi in Kenya: A compatible association characterized by lack of strong local adaptation, and presence of some snails able to persistently produce cercariae for over a year. *Parasites & Vectors*, 7(1), 533. http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/s13071-014-0533-3

Mydlarz, L. D., Jones, L. E., & Harvell, C. D. (2006). Innate immunity, environmental drivers, and disease ecology of marine and freshwater invertebrates. *Annual Review of Ecology Evolution and Systematics*, *37*(1), 251–288. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1146/annurev.ecolsys.37.091305.110103</u>

Myers, J. P., Zoeller, R. T., & vom Saal, F. S. (2009). A clash of old and new scientific concepts in toxicity, with important implications for public health. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, *117*(11), 1652–1655. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1289/ehp.0900887</u>

Nacif-Pimenta, R., de Mattos, A. C. A., Orfanó, A. S., Barbosa, L., Pimenta, P. F. P., & Coelho, P. M. Z. (2012). Schistosoma mansoni in susceptible and resistant snail strains Biomphalaria tenagophila: In vivo tissue response and in vitro hemocyte interactions. *PLoS One*, *7*(9), e45637. http://dx.doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0045637

Nakayama, A., Segner, H., & Kawai, S. I. (2009). Immunotoxic effects of organotin compounds in teleost fish. In *Ecotoxicology of Antifouling Biocides* (pp. 207–218). Springer Japan. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/978-4-431-85709-9_12

Nalini, M., & Kim, Y. (2007). A putative protein translation inhibitory factor encoded by Cotesia plutellae bracovirus suppresses host hemocyte-spreading behavior. *Journal of Insect Physiology*, 53(12), 1283–1292. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jinsphys.2007.07.004</u>

Negrão-Corrêa, D., Mattos, A. C. A., Pereira, C. A. J., Martins-Souza, R. L., & Coelho, P. M. Z. (2012). Interaction of Schistosoma mansoni sporocysts and hemocytes of Biomphalaria. *Journal of Parasitology Research*, 2012, 743920. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1155/2012/743920</u>

Nentwig, W. (2013). Spider ecophysiology. Berlin: Springer. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-33989-9

Niemann, G. M., & Lewis, F. A. (1990). Schistosoma mansoni: influence of Biomphalaria glabrata size on susceptibility to infection and resultant cercarial production. *Experimental parasitology*, 70(3), 286-292.

Noda, S., & Loker, E. S. (1989). Effects of infection with Echinostoma paraensei on the circulating haemocyte population of the host snail Biomphalaria glabrata. *Parasitology*, *98*(01), 35-41.

Núñez, P. E., Adema, C. M., & de Jong-Brink, M. (1994). Modulation of the bacterial clearance activity of haemocytes from the freshwater mollusc, Lymnaea stagnalis, by the avian schistosome, Trichobilharzia ocellata. *Parasitology*, *109*(Pt 3), 299–310. http://dx.doi.org/10.1017/S0031182000078331

Nunez, P. E., Molenaar, M. J., Lageweg, W., Li, K. W., & De Jong-Brink, M. (1997). Excretory–secretory products of Trichobilharzia ocellata and their modulating effects on the internal defence system of Lymnaea stagnalis. *Parasitology*, *114*(02), 135-144.

OECD. (2009). Test No. 229: Fish Short Term Reproduction Assay, OECD Guidelines for the Testing of Chemicals. Paris: OECD Publishing; <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/9789264076211-en</u>

OECD. (2010). Guidance Document 116 on the Conduct and Design of Chronic Toxicity and Carcinogenicity Studies, Supporting Test Guidelines 451, 452 and 453, Section 4: Statistical and Dose Response Analysis, Including Benchmark Dose and Linear Extrapolation, NOAELS and NOELS, LOAELS and LOELS. OECD Series on Testing and Assessment, No. 116, OECD Publishing, Paris.

OECD. (2013). Draft report on statistical issues related to OECD in vitro genotoxicity. Test.

Oehlmann, J., & Schulte-Oehlmann, U. (2002). Molluscs as bioindicators. Trace Metals and other Contaminants in the Environment, 6, 577-635.

Oehlmann, J., Schulte-Oehlmann, U., Bachmann, J., Oetken, M., Lutz, I., Kloas, W., & Ternes, T. A. (2006). Bisphenol A induces superfeminization in the ramshorn snail Marisa cornuarietis(Gastropoda: Prosobranchia) at environmentally relevant concentrations. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, *114*(Suppl 1), 127–133. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1289/ehp.8065</u>

Oehlmann, J., Schulte-Oehlmann, U., Tillmann, M., & Markert, B. (2000). Effects of endocrine disruptors on prosobranch snails (Mollusca: Gastropoda) in the laboratory. Part I: Bisphenol A and

octylphenol as xeno-estrogens. *Ecotoxicology (London, England), 9*(6), 383–397. http://dx.doi.org/10.1023/A:1008972518019

Oliver, B. G., Lim, S., Wark, P., Laza-Stanca, V., King, N., Black, J. L & Johnston, S. L. (2008). Rhinovirus exposure impairs immune responses to bacterial products in human alveolar macrophages. *Thorax*, *63*(6), 519–525. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1136/thx.2007.081752</u>

Oliveira-Filho, E. C., Grisolia, C. K., & Paumgartten, F. J. R. (2009). Trans-generation study of the effects of nonylphenol ethoxylate on the reproduction of the snail Biomphalaria tenagophila. *Ecotoxicology and environmental safety*, 72(2), 458-465.

Onuki-Nagasaki, R., Nagasaki, A., Hakamada, K., Uyeda, T. Q. P., Fujita, S., Miyake, M., & Miyake, J. (2008). On-chip screening method for cell migration genes based on a transfection microarray. *Lab* on a Chip, 8(9), 1502–1506. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1039/b803879a</u>

Osterauer, R., Haus, N., Sures, B., & Köhler, H. R. (2009). Uptake of platinum by zebrafish (Danio rerio) and ramshorn snail (Marisa cornuarietis) and resulting effects on early embryogenesis. *Chemosphere*, *77*(7), 975–982. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2009.08.033</u>

Ottaviani, E. (2004). The mollusc as a suitable model for mammalian immuno-neuroendocrine investigations. *Inv. Surv. J*, *1*, 2–4.

Ottaviani, E. (2006). Molluscan immunorecognition. Inv Surv J, 3, 50-63.

Ottaviani, E. (2011). Immunocyte: The invertebrate counterpart of the vertebrate macrophage. *Inv Surv J*, 8, 1–4.

Pan, S. C. (1996). Schistosoma mansoni: The ultrastructure of larval morphogenesis in Biomphalaria glabrata and of associated host-parasite interactions. *Japanese Journal of Medical Science & Biology*, 49(4), 129–149. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.7883/yoken1952.49.129</u>

Paraense, W., Lacaz, C. D. S., Baruzzi, R. G., & Siqueira Jr, W. (1972). Fauna planorbídica do Brasil. Introdução à geografia médica do Brasil, 213-239.

Paraense, W. L. (2001). The schistosome vectors in the Americas. *Memorias do Instituto Oswaldo Cruz, 96*(Suppl), 7–16. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1590/S0074-02762001000900002</u>

Parra, D., Rieger, A. M., Li, J., Zhang, Y. A., Randall, L. M., Hunter, C. A & Sunyer, J. O. (2012). Pivotal advance: Peritoneal cavity B-1 B cells have phagocytic and microbicidal capacities and present phagocytosed antigen to CD4+ T cells. *Journal of Leukocyte Biology*, *91*(4), 525–536. http://dx.doi.org/10.1189/jlb.0711372

Parry, H. E., & Pipe, R. K. (2004). Interactive effects of temperature and copper on immunocompetence and disease susceptibility in mussels (Mytilus edulis). *Aquatic toxicology*,69(4), 311-325.

Pastorino, G. & Darrigan, G. (2011). Marisa cornuarietis. The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species. Version 2014.3. <<u>www.iucnredlist.org</u>>. Downloaded on 03 February 2015.

Patlak, M. (2010). Open-source science makes headway. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute*, 102(16), 1221–1223. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/jnci/djq321</u>

Paveley, R. A., Mansour, N. R., Hallyburton, I., Bleicher, L. S., Benn, A. E., Mikic, I. & Bickle, Q. D. (2012). Whole organism high-content screening by label-free, image-based Bayesian classification for parasitic diseases. PLoS neglected tropical diseases, 6(7), e1762.

Payés, C., Helguera, G., Rodríguez, J. A., & Friend, S. (2012). Cell Interaction Analysis by Imaging Flow Cytometry. INTECH Open Access Publisher. Fisher, W. S., & Ford, S. E. (1988). Flow cytometry: A tool for cell research in bivalve pathology. *American Fisheries Society Special Publication, 18,* 286–292.

Pech, L. L., Trudeau, D., & Strand, M. R. (1994). Separation and behavior in vitro of hemocytes from the moth, Pseudoplusia includens. *Cell and Tissue Research*, 277(1), 159–167. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/BF00303092

Pech, L. L., Trudeau, D., & Strand, M. R. (1995). Effects of basement membranes on the behavior of hemocytes from Pseudoplusia includens (Lepidoptera; Noctuidae): Development of an in vitro encapsulation assay. *Journal of Insect Physiology*, 41(9), 801–807. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/0022-1910(95)00023-N</u>

Pech, L. L., & Strand, M. R. (1996). Granular cells are required for encapsulation of foreign targets by insect haemocytes. *Journal of Cell Science*, 109(Pt 8), 2053–2060.

Pereira, C. A. J., Martins-Souza, R. L., Coelho, P. M. Z., Lima, W. S., & Negrão-Corrêa, D. (2006). Effect of Angiostrongylus vasorum infection on Biomphalaria tenagophila susceptibility to Schistosoma mansoni. *Acta Tropica*, *98*(3), 224–233. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.actatropica.2006.05.002

Perkins, E. J., Ankley, G. T., Crofton, K. M., Garcia-Reyero, N., LaLone, C. A., Johnson, M. S., ... Villeneuve, D. L. (2013). Current perspectives on the use of alternative species in human health and ecological hazard assessments. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, *121*(9), 1002–1010.

Peterson, R. T., Nass, R., Boyd, W. A., Freedman, J. H., Dong, K., & Narahashi, T. (2008). Use of non-mammalian alternative models for neurotoxicological study. *Neurotoxicology*, 29(3), 546–555. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.neuro.2008.04.006

Peterson, N. A., Hokke, C. H., Deelder, A. M., & Yoshino, T. P. (2009). Glycotope analysis in miracidia and primary sporocysts of Schistosoma mansoni: Differential expression during the miracidium-to-sporocyst transformation. *International Journal for Parasitology*, *39*(12), 1331–1344. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpara.2009.06.002

Picquet, M., Ernould J.C., Vercruysse, J., Southgate, V.R., Mbaye, A., Sambou, B. (1996) The epidemiology of human schistosomiasis in the Senegal river basin. *Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg*, 90: 340–346. doi: 10.1016/s0035-9203(96)90501-5

Pietrock, M., & Marcogliese, D. J. (2003). Free-living endohelminth stages: At the mercy of environmental conditions. *Trends in Parasitology*, *19*(7), 293–299. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S1471-4922(03)00117-X</u>

Pimentel, D. (1957). Life history of Australorbis glabratus, the intermediate snail host of Schistosoma mansoni in Puerto Rico. *Ecology*, *38*(4), 576–580. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.2307/1943122</u>

Pinaud, S., Portela, J., Duval, D., Nowacki, F. C., Olive, M. A., Allienne, J. F & Théron, A. (2016). A Shift from Cellular to Humoral Responses Contributes to Innate Immune Memory in the Vector Snail Biomphalaria glabrata. *PLoS Pathog*, *12*(1), e1005361. DOI: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1005361

Pinder, L. C. V., Pottinger, T. G., Billinghurst, Z., & Depledge, M. H. (1999). *Endocrine function in aquatic invertebrates and evidence for disruption by environmental pollutants*. Environment Agency.

Ploppa, A., George, T. C., Unertl, K. E., Nohe, B., & Durieux, M. E. (2011). ImageStream cytometry extends the analysis of phagocytosis and oxidative burst. *Scandinavian Journal of Clinical and Laboratory Investigation*, *71*(5), 362–369. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.3109/00365513.2011.572182</u>

Plows, L. D., Cook, R. T., Davies, A. J., & Walker, A. J. (2006). Integrin engagement modulates the phosphorylation of focal adhesion kinase, phagocytosis, and cell spreading in molluscan defence cells. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-. *Molecular Cell Research*, *1763*(8), 779–786.

Pointier, J. P., David, P., & Jarne, P. (2005). Biological invasions: The case of planorbid snails. *Journal of Helminthology*, 79(3), 249–256. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1079/JOH2005292</u>

Ponder, W. F., & Lindberg, D. R. (Eds.). (2008). *Phylogeny and Evolution of the Mollusca*. Univ of California Press. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1525/california/9780520250925.001.0001</u>

Porte, C., Janer, G., Lorusso, L. C., Ortiz-Zarragoitia, M., Cajaraville, M. P., Fossi, M. C., & Canesi, L. (2006). Endocrine disruptors in marine organisms: approaches and perspectives. *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part C: Toxicology & Pharmacology*, *143*(3), 303-315.

Prasanphanich, N.S., Mickum, M.L., Heimburg-Molinaro, J., Cummings, R.D. (2013). Glycoconjugates in host-helminth interactions. *Frontiers in immunology*. 2013 Aug 28;4:240. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2013.00240

Preston, B. L. (2002). Indirect effects in aquatic ecotoxicology: Implications for ecological risk assessment. *Environmental Management*, 29(3), 311–323. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s00267-001-0023-1</u>

Pritchard, J. B. (1993). Aquatic toxicology: Past, present, and prospects. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, *100*, 249–257. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1289/ehp.93100249</u>

Pryseley, A., Mintiens, K., Knapen, K., Van der Stede, Y., & Molenberghs, G. (2010). Estimating precision, repeatability, and reproducibility from Gaussian and non-Gaussian data: A mixed models approach. *Journal of Applied Statistics*, *37*(10), 1729–1747. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/02664760903150706

Pujic, Z., Mortimer, D., Feldner, J., & Goodhill, G. J. (2009). Assays for eukaryotic cell chemotaxis. *Combinatorial Chemistry & High Throughput Screening*, *12*(6), 580–588. http://dx.doi.org/10.2174/138620709788681952

Raftos, D. A., Stillman, D. L., & Cooper, E. L. (1998). Chemotactic responses of tunicate (Urochordata, Ascidiacea) hemocytes in vitro. *Journal of Invertebrate Pathology*, 72(1), 44–49. http://dx.doi.org/10.1006/jipa.1998.4760

Rand, G M.; Petrocelli, Sam R. (1985). Fundamentals of aquatic toxicology: Methods and applications. Washington: Hemisphere Publishing.

Rawlings, T. A., Hayes, K. A., Cowie, R. H., & Collins, T. M. (2007). The identity, distribution, and impacts of non-native apple snails in the continental United States. *BMC Evolutionary Biology*, 7(1), 97. http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/1471-2148-7-97

Recio, A., Marig6mez, J. A., Angulo, E., Moya, J. (1988). Zinc treatment of the digestive gland of the slug Arion ater L. 2. Sublethal effects at the histological level. Bull envir. Contain Toxic. 41:965 871

Relyea, R., & Hoverman, J. (2006). Assessing the ecology in ecotoxicology: A review and synthesis in freshwater systems. *Ecology Letters*, 9(10), 1157–1171. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1461-0248.2006.00966.x</u>

Renshaw, S. (Ed.). (2007). *Immunohistochemistry: methods express*. Royal College of General Practitioners.

Rickwood, C. J., & Galloway, T. S. (2004). Acetylcholinesterase inhibition as a biomarker of adverse effect. A study of Mytilus edulis exposed to the priority pollutant chlorfenvinphos. *Aquatic Toxicology (Amsterdam, Netherlands)*, 67(1), 45–56. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.aquatox.2003.11.004</u>

Rinkevich, B. (1999). Invertebrates versus vertebrates innate immunity: In the light of evolution. *Scandinavian Journal of Immunology*, *50*(5), 456–460. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-3083.1999.00626.x</u>

Rioult, D., Cheikh, Y. B., Péden, R., Bultelle, F., Betoulle, S., Lebel, J. M., & Le Foll, F. (2014). Motility of adherent hemocytes as a potential marker of immunocompetence and immunotoxic effects in bivalves. *Journal of Xenobiotics*, 4(2). <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.4081/xeno.2014.4899</u>

Rizk, M. Z., Ahmed, M. B., Elfayoumy, H. M., Khalil, W. K., & Kamel, N. N. (2011). Response of two vector snail species to infectivity with compatible and incompatible Schistosoma parasites. *European Journal of Experimental Biology*, *1*(1), 190–202.

Robins, C. H. (1971). Ecology of the introduced snail, Marisa cornuarietis (Ampullariidae) in Dade County, Florida. *Biologist (Columbus, Ohio), 53*(3), 136–152.

Robinson, P. H., Wiseman, J., Udén, P., & Mateos, G. (2006). Some experimental design and statistical criteria for analysis of studies in manuscripts submitted for consideration for publication. *Animal Feed Science and Technology*, *129*(1), 1–11. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.anifeedsci.2006.05.011

Rocke, T. E., Yuill, T. M., & Hinsdill, R. D. (1984). Oil and related toxicant effects on mallard immune defenses. *Environmental Research*, 33(2), 343–352. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/0013-9351(84)90032-X</u>

Rodríguez, M. E., Van der Pol, W. L., & Van de Winkel, J. G. (2001). Flow cytometry-based phagocytosis assay for sensitive detection of opsonic activity of pneumococcal capsular polysaccharide antibodies in human sera. *Journal of Immunological Methods*, 252(1-2), 33–44. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0022-1759(01)00329-5

Rodríguez, A., Esteban, M. A., & Meseguer, J. (2003). Phagocytosis and peroxidase release by seabream (Sparus aurata L.) leucocytes in response to yeast cells. *The Anatomical Record. Part A, Discoveries in Molecular, Cellular, and Evolutionary Biology*, 272(1), 415–423. http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/ar.a.10048

Rohr, J. R., Schotthoefer, A. M., Raffel, T. R., Carrick, H. J., Halstead, N., Hoverman, J. T & Schoff, P. K. (2008). Agrochemicals increase trematode infections in a declining amphibian species. *Nature*, *455*(7217), 1235-1239.

Rollinson, D. (2011). Biomphalaria: Natural history, ecology and schistosome transmission. In Biomphalaria Snails and Larval Trematodes (pp. 57-79). Springer New York.

Rosenbaum, P. R. (2003). Does a dose-response relationship reduce sensitivity to hidden bias? *Biostatistics (Oxford, England), 4*(1), 1–10. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/biostatistics/4.1.1</u>

Rowley, A. F., & Powell, A. (2007). Invertebrate immune systems specific, quasi-specific, or nonspecific? *Journal of Immunology (Baltimore, Md.: 1950), 179*(11), 7209–7214. http://dx.doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.179.11.7209

Royston, P., Altman, D. G., & Sauerbrei, W. (2006). Dichotomizing continuous predictors in multiple regression: A bad idea. *Statistics in Medicine*, 25(1), 127–141. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/sim.2331</u>

Ruan, T., Song, S., Wang, T., Liu, R., Lin, Y., & Jiang, G. (2014). Identification and composition of emerging quaternary ammonium compounds in municipal sewage sludge in China. *Environmental science & technology*, *48*(8), 4289-4297.

Ruberg, S. J. (1995). Dose response studies. II. Analysis and interpretation. *Journal of Biopharmaceutical Statistics*, 5(1), 15–42. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/10543409508835097</u>

Rubin, B. S. (2011). Bisphenol A: an endocrine disruptor with widespread exposure and multiple effects. *The Journal of steroid biochemistry and molecular biology*, *127*(1), 27-34.

Ruelas, D. S., Karentz, D., & Sullivan, J. T. (2007). Sublethal effects of ultraviolet b radiation on miracidia and sporocysts of Schistosoma mansoni: Intramolluscan development, infectivity, and photoreactivation. *The Journal of Parasitology*, *93*(6), 1303–1310. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1645/GE-1227.1</u>

Ruiz-Tiben, E., Palmer, J. R., & Ferguson, F. (1969). Biological control of Biomphalaria glabrata by Marisa cornuarietis in irrigation ponds in Puerto Rico. *Bulletin of the World Health Organization*,41(2), 329.

Rumsey, D. (2007). Intermediate statistics for dummies. Indianapolis, IN: Wiley Pub., Inc.

Russo, J., & Lagadic, L. (2000). Effects of parasitism and pesticide exposure on characteristics and functions of hemocyte populations in the freshwater snail Lymnaea palustris (Gastropoda, Pulmonata). *Cell Biology and Toxicology*, *16*(1), 15–30. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1023/A:1007640519746</u>

Russo, J., & Lagadic, L. (2004). Effects of environmental concentrations of atrazine on hemocyte density and phagocytic activity in the pond snail Lymnaea stagnalis (Gastropoda, Pulmonata). *Environmental Pollution, 127*(2), 303–311. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0269-7491(03)00269-0</u>

Russo, J., Lefeuvre-Orfila, L., & Lagadic, L. (2007). Hemocyte-specific responses to the peroxidizing herbicide fomesafen in the pond snail Lymnaea stagnalis (Gastropoda, Pulmonata). *Environmental Pollution*, 146(2), 420–427. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2006.06.032</u>

Russo, J., Madec, L., & Brehélin, M. (2008). Effect of a toxicant on phagocytosis pathways in the freshwater snail Lymnaea stagnalis. *Cell and tissue research*, 333(1), 147-158.

Rutherford, P. (2000). The Diagnosis of Schistosomiasis in Modern and Ancient Tissues by Means of Immunocytochemistry. *Chungara (Arica)*, *32*(1), 127–131.

Ruxton, G., & Colegrave, N. (2011). *Experimental design for the life sciences*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Salice, C. J., & Roesijadi, G. (2002). Resistance to cadmium and parasite infection are inversely related in two strains of a freshwater gastropod. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry*, 21(7), 1398–1403. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/etc.5620210710</u>

Santos, D. V. V., Santos, M. A. V., & Rodrigues, I. R. D. C. (2011). Hemocyte production in Biomphalaria glabrata snails after exposure to different Schistosoma mansoni infection protocols. *Revista Pan-Amazônica de Saúde*, 2(2), 33–38. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.5123/S2176-62232011000200005</u>

Sauerbrei, W., & Royston, P. (2010). Continuous variables: To categorize or to model?. In *Data and context in statistics education: Towards an evidence-based society. Proceedings of the Eighth International Conference on Teaching Statistics. Voorburg: International Statistical Institute.*

Sauvé, S., Brousseau, P., Pellerin, J., Morin, Y., Senécal, L., Goudreau, P., & Fournier, M. (2002). Phagocytic activity of marine and freshwater bivalves: In vitro exposure of hemocytes to metals (Ag, Cd, Hg and Zn). *Aquatic Toxicology (Amsterdam, Netherlands), 58*(3-4), 189–200. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0166-445X(01)00232-6</u>

Sawasdee, B., & Köhler, H. R. (2009). Embryo toxicity of pesticides and heavy metals to the ramshorn snail, Marisa cornuarietis (Prosobranchia). *Chemosphere*, *75*(11), 1539–1547. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2009.01.085

Sawasdee, B., & Köhler, H. R. (2010). Metal sensitivity of the embryonic development of the ramshorn snail Marisa cornuarietis (Prosobranchia). *Ecotoxicology (London, England), 19*(8), 1487–1495. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10646-010-0534-8

Sawasdee, B., Köhler, H. R., & Triebskorn, R. (2011). Histopathological effects of copper and lithium in the ramshorn snail, Marisa cornuarietis (Gastropoda, Prosobranchia). *Chemosphere*, 85(6), 1033–1039. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2011.07.030

Say, T. (1818). Account of two new genera, and several new species, of fresh water and land shells. *Journal of the Academy of Natural Sciences of Philadelphia, 1,* 276–284.

Schirling, M., Bohlen, A., Triebskorn, R., & Köhler, H. R. (2006). An invertebrate embryo test with the apple snail Marisa cornuarietis to assess effects of potential developmental and endocrine disruptors. *Chemosphere*, 64(10), 1730–1738. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2006.01.015</u>

Schmid-Hempel. (2007). Dialogue on defenses: Report from the workshop on "the impact of the environment on innate immunity: At the defence frontier", 22–27 April 2007. *Developmental and Comparative Immunology*, *32*, 307–309.

Schug, T. T., Janesick, A., Blumberg, B., & Heindel, J. J. (2011). Endocrine disrupting chemicals and disease susceptibility. *The Journal of Steroid Biochemistry and Molecular Biology*, *127*(3-5), 204–215. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jsbmb.2011.08.007</u>

Schulte-Oehlmann, U., Bettin, C., Fioroni, P., Oehlmann, J., & Stroben, E. (1995). Marisa cornuarietis (Gastropoda, Prosobranchia): a potential TBT bioindicator for freshwater environments. *Ecotoxicology*, *4*(6), 372-384.

Schulte-Oehlmann, U., Tillmann, M., Casey, D., Duft, M., Markert, B., & Oehlmann, J. (2001). Östrogenartige wirkungen von bisphenol a auf vorderkiemenschnecken (Mollusca: Gastropoda: Prosobranchia). *Umweltwissenschaften und Schadstoff-Forschung*, *13*(6), 319–333. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1065/uwsf2001.10.070</u>

Scott, A. P. (2013). Do mollusks use vertebrate sex steroids as reproductive hormones? II. Critical review of the evidence that steroids have biological effects. *Steroids*, 78(2), 268–281. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.steroids.2012.11.006

Segner, H., & Lenz, D. (1993). Cytotoxicity assays with the rainbow trout R1 cell line. *Toxicology in Vitro*, 7(4), 537-540.

Selck, H., Aufderheide, J., Pounds, N., Staples, C., Caspers, N., & Forbes, V. (2006). Effects of food type, feeding frequency, and temperature on juvenile survival and growth of Marisa cornuarietis (Mollusca: Gastropoda). *Invertebrate Biology*, *125*(2), 106–116. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1744-7410.2006.00045.x</u>

Sellaro, T. L., Filkins, R., Hoffman, C., Fine, J. L., Ho, J., Parwani, A. V & Montalto, M. (2013). Relationship between magnification and resolution in digital pathology systems. *Journal of Pathology Informatics*, *4*(1), 21. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.4103/2153-3539.116866</u>

Serrano, D. R., Zanotti-Magalhães, E. M., Magalhães, L. A., & Carvalho, J. F. D. (2002). The influence of hydrocortisone on cellular defence mechanisms of Biomphalaria glabrata. *Memórias do Instituto Oswaldo Cruz*, 97(6), 881-885.

Sharma, V. K., Anquandah, G. A., Yngard, R. A., Kim, H., Fekete, J., Bouzek, K & Golovko, D. (2009). Nonylphenol, octylphenol, and bisphenol-A in the aquatic environment: a review on occurrence, fate, and treatment. *Journal of Environmental Science and Health Part A*, 44(5), 423-442.

Shanbhag, D., & Rao, C. (2003). Stochastic processes. Amsterdam: Elsevier.

Shore, R. F., Taggart, M. A., Smits, J., Mateo, R., Richards, N. L., & Fryday, S. (2014). Detection and drivers of exposure and effects of pharmaceuticals in higher vertebrates. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London. Series B, Biological Sciences, 369*(1656), 20130570. http://dx.doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2013.0570

Siddall, R., Pike, A. W., & McVicar, A. H. (1993). Parasites of Buccinum undatum (Mollusca: Prosobranchia) as biological indicators of sewage-sludge dispersal. *Journal of the Marine Biological Association of the United Kingdom*, 73(04), 931–948. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1017/S0025315400034810</u>

Simons, E. R. (2011). Measurement of phagocytosis and of the phagosomal environment in polymorphonuclear phagocytes by flow cytometry. *Current Protocols in Cytometry*, 9–31.

Smith, Z. J., Chu, K., Espenson, A. R., Rahimzadeh, M., Gryshuk, A., Molinaro, M & Wachsmann-Hogiu, S. (2011). Cell-phone-based platform for biomedical device development and education applications. *PLoS One*, *6*(3), e17150–e17150. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0017150</u>

Smyth, G. K. (2002). Nonlinear regression. Encyclopedia of environmetrics.

Snape, J. R., Maund, S. J., Pickford, D. B., & Hutchinson, T. H. (2004). Ecotoxicogenomics: the challenge of integrating genomics into aquatic and terrestrial ecotoxicology. *Aquatic toxicology*, *67*(2), 143-154.

Sodré, F. F., Locatelli, M. A. F., & Jardim, W. F. (2010). Occurrence of emerging contaminants in Brazilian drinking waters: a sewage-to-tap issue. *Water, Air, and Soil Pollution, 206*(1-4), 57-67.

Soliman, M. F. (2009). Fasciola gigantica: Cercarial shedding pattern from Lymnaea natalensis after long-term exposure to cadmium at different temperatures. *Experimental Parasitology*, *121*(4), 307–311. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.exppara.2008.12.001</u>

Song, J. Y., Nakayama, K., Murakami, Y., & Kitamura, S. (2011). Heavy oil exposure induces high moralities in virus carrier Japanese flounder Paralichthys olivaceus. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 63(5-12), 362–365. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2011.01.020</u>

Soomro, N. M., Arijo, A. G., Qureshi, T. A., Runham, N. W., & Doenhoff, M. J. (2005). Pathology of schistosome infection on host tissue during developmental stages of parasite in vector snails. *International Journal of Agriculture and Biology*, *7*, 133–141.

Souba, W., & Wilmore, D. (2001). Surgical research. San Diego, CA: Academic Press.

Souza, S. S., & Andrade, Z. A. (2006). On the origin of the Biomphalaria glabrata hemocytes. *Memorias do Instituto Oswaldo Cruz, 101*(Suppl 1), 213–218. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1590/S0074-02762006000900033</u>

Souza, S. S., Barbosa, L. M., Guimarães, I. C., Blank, W. A., Reis, R. B., Reis, M. G & Andrade, Z. A. (2012). Genetic population structure of cercariae from an urban foci of Schistosoma mansoni, Brazil. *The American Journal of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene*, *87*(5), 843–849. http://dx.doi.org/10.4269/ajtmh.2012.11-0641 Spehar, R. L., Anderson, R. L., & Fiandt, J. T. (1978). Toxicity and bioaccumulation of cadmium and lead in aquatic invertebrates. Environmental Pollution (1970), 15(3), 195-208. <u>10.1016/0013-9327(78)90065-4</u>

Stibbs, H. H., Owczarzak, A., Bayne, C. J., & DeWan, P. (1979). Schistosome sporocyst-killing Amoebae isolated from Biomphalaria glabrata. *Journal of Invertebrate Pathology*, *33*(2), 159–170. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/0022-2011(79)90149-6

Stirewalt, M. A. (1954). Effect of snail maintenance temperatures on development of Schistosoma mansoni. *Experimental Parasitology*, *3*(6), 504–516. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/0014-4894(54)90046-6</u>

Stirewalt, M., & Lewis, F. A. (1981). Schistosoma mansoni: Effect of rotifers on cercarial output, motility and infectivity. *International Journal for Parasitology*, *11*(4), 301–308. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/0020-7519(81)90040-0

Stoddart, M. J., Richards, R. G., & Alini, M. (2012). In vitro experiments with primary mammalian cells: To pool or not to pool? *European Cells & Materials*, 24, i–ii.

Streiner, D. L. (2002). Breaking up is hard to do: the heartbreak of dichotomizing continuous data. *The Canadian Journal of Psychiatry*, 47(3), 262-266.

Sturrock, R. F. (1966). The influence of temperature on the biology of Biomphalaria pfeifferi (Krauss), an intermediate host of Schistosoma mansoni. *Annals of Tropical Medicine and Parasitology*, *60*(1), 100–105.

Sturrock, R. F., & Sturrock, B. M. (1970). Observations on some factors affecting the growth rate and fecundity of Biomphalaria glabrata (Say). *Annals of Tropical Medicine and Parasitology*, *64*(3), 349–355.

Sturrock, R. F., & Sturrock, B. M. (1972). The influence of temperature on the biology of Biomphalaria glabrata (Say), intermediate host of Schistosoma mansoni on St. Lucia, West Indies.*Ann. trop. Med. Parasit.*, *66*(3), 385-90.

Su, T. W., Erlinger, A., Tseng, D., & Ozcan, A. (2010). Compact and light-weight automated semen analysis platform using lensfree on-chip microscopy. *Analytical Chemistry*, 82(19), 8307–8312. http://dx.doi.org/10.1021/ac101845q

Sun, L., Xiao, L., Nie, J., Liu, F. Y., Ling, G. H., Zhu, X. J & Ma, M. M. (2010). p66Shc mediates high-glucose and angiotensin II-induced oxidative stress renal tubular injury via mitochondrial-dependent apoptotic pathway. *American Journal of Physiology-Renal Physiology*, 299(5), F1014-F1025.

Sures, B. (2006). How parasitism and pollution affect the physiological homeostasis of aquatic hosts. *Journal of Helminthology*, 80(2), 151–157. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1079/JOH2006346</u>

Sutherst, R. W. (2004). Global change and human vulnerability to vector-borne diseases. *Clinical microbiology reviews*, *17*(1), 136-173.

Swart, N., & Pool, E. (2007). Rapid detection of selected steroid hormones from sewage effluents using an ELISA in the Kuils River water catchment area, South Africa. *Journal of Immunoassay & Immunochemistry*, 28(4), 395–408. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/15321810701603799</u>

Taft, A. S., Vermeire, J. J., Bernier, J., Birkeland, S. R., Cipriano, M. J., Papa, A. R & Yoshino, T. P. (2009). Transcriptome analysis of Schistosoma mansoni larval development using serial analysis of gene expression (SAGE). *Parasitology*, *136*(5), 469–485. http://dx.doi.org/10.1017/S0031182009005733 Théron, A., & Coustau, C. (2005). Are Biomphalaria snails resistant to Schistosoma mansoni? *Journal of Helminthology*, 79(3), 187–191. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1079/JOH2005299</u>

Thieltges, D. W., Jensen, K. T., & Poulin, R. (2008). The role of biotic factors in the transmission of free-living endohelminth stages. *Parasitology*, *135*(4), 407–426. http://dx.doi.org/10.1017/S0031182007000248

Thomas, J. D., & Benjamin, M. (1974). The effects of population density on growth and reproduction of Biomphalaria glabrata (Say)(Gasteropoda: Pulmonata). *Journal of Animal Ecology*, *43*(1), 31–50. http://dx.doi.org/10.2307/3156

Thomas, J. D., Goldsworthy, G. J., & Benjamin, M. (1975). Studies on the chemical ecology of Biomphalaria glabrata: The effects of chemical conditioning by the snails kept at various densities on their growth and metabolism. *Journal of Zoology*, *175*(3), 421–437. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-7998.1975.tb01409.x</u>

Thomas, P. T., Ballantyne, J. S., & Woo, P. T. (1992). In vitro oxygen consumption and motility of Cryptobia salmositica, Cryptobia bullocki, and Cryptobia catostomi (Sarcomastigophora: Kinetoplastida). *The Journal of parasitology*, 747-749.

Thompson, R. J., Ratcliffe, N. A., & Bayne, B. L. (1974). Effects of starvation on structure and function in the digestive gland of the mussel (Mytilus edulis L.). J. mar. biol. *Ass. U.K.*, 54(03), 699–712. http://dx.doi.org/10.1017/S0025315400022864

Toledo & Fried. (2014). Digenetic Trematodes. *Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology*, 766.

Toledo, R., & Fried, B. (2010). *Biomphalaria snails and larval trematodes*. Springer Science & Business Media.

Travers, M. A., Mirella da Silva, P., Le Goïc, N., Marie, D., Donval, A., Huchette, S & Paillard, C. (2008). Morphologic, cytometric and functional characterisation of abalone (Haliotis tuberculata) haemocytes. *Fish & Shellfish Immunology*, *24*(4), 400–411. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.fsi.2007.10.001

Tseng, D., Mudanyali, O., Oztoprak, C., Isikman, S. O., Sencan, I., Yaglidere, O., & Ozcan, A. (2010). Lensfree microscopy on a cellphone. *Lab on a Chip*, *10*(14), 1787–1792. http://dx.doi.org/10.1039/c003477k

Tucker, M. S., Lewis, F. A., Driver, J. D., & Granath, W. O., Jr. (2014). Determination and quantification of Schistosoma mansoni cercarial emergence from Biomphalaria glabrata snails. *The Journal of Parasitology*, *100*(6), 778–783. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1645/14-531.1</u>

Ulmer, M.J. (1970). Notes on rearing of snails in the laboratory. In: MacInnis AJ, Voge M (eds) Experiments and techniques in parasitology. W.H. Freeman, San Francisco, pp 143–144

Vach, W. (2012). Regression Models as a Tool in Medical Research. CRC Press.

Vallejo, D., Habib, M. R., Delgado, N., Vaasjo, L. O., Croll, R. P., & Miller, M. W. (2014). Localization of tyrosine hydroxylase-like immunoreactivity in the nervous systems of Biomphalaria glabrata and Biomphalaria alexandrina, intermediate hosts for schistosomiasis. *The Journal of Comparative Neurology*, *522*(11), 2532–2552. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/cne.23548</u>

Van den Broeck F, Maes GE, Larmuseau MHD, Rollinson D & Sy I. (2015) Correction: Reconstructing Colonization Dynamics of the Human ParasiteSchistosoma mansoni following Anthropogenic Environmental Changes in Northwest Senegal. PLoS Negl Trop Dis 9(9): e0004090. doi: 10.1371/journal.pntd.0004090 Van der Knaap, W. P. W., Adema, C. M., & Sminia, T. (1993). Invertebrate blood cells: Morphological and functional aspects of the haemocytes in the pond snail Lymnaea stagnalis. *Comparative Haematology International*, *3*(1), 20–26. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/BF00394923</u>

Van Horn, D. J., Garcia, J. R., Loker, E. S., Mitchell, K. R., Mkoji, G. M., Adema, C. M., & Takacs-Vesbach, C. D. (2011). Complex intestinal bacterial communities in three species of planorbid snails. *The Journal of Molluscan Studies*, •••, eyr038.

Vandenberg, L. N., Colborn, T., Hayes, T. B., Heindel, J. J., Jacobs, D. R., Jr., Lee, D. H & Myers, J. P. (2012). Hormones and endocrine-disrupting chemicals: Low-dose effects and nonmonotonic dose responses. *Endocrine Reviews*, *33*(3), 378–455. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1210/er.2011-1050</u>

Vermeire, J. J., Taft, A. S., Hoffmann, K. F., Fitzpatrick, J. M., & Yoshino, T. P. (2006). Schistosoma mansoni: DNA microarray gene expression profiling during the miracidium-to-mother sporocyst transformation. *Molecular and Biochemical Parasitology*, *147*(1), 39–47. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.molbiopara.2006.01.006

Vernon, J. G., & Taylor, J. K. (1996). Patterns of sexual roles adopted by the schistosome-vector snail Biomphalaria glabrata (Planorbidae). *The Journal of Molluscan Studies*, 62(2), 235–241. http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/mollus/62.2.235

Verrengia Guerrero, N. R., Mozzarelli, M. N., Giancarlo, H., Nahabedian, D., & Wider, E. (1997). Biomphalaria glabrata: Relevance of albino organisms as a useful tool for environmental lead monitoring. *Bulletin of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology*, *59*(5), 822–827. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s001289900555

Wajdi, N. (1966). Penetration by the miracidia of S. mansoni into the snail host. *Journal of Helminthology*, 40(1), 235–244. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1017/S0022149X00034222</u>

Wakelin, D. (1996). *Immunity to parasites: how parasitic infections are controlled*. Cambridge University Press.

Walker, A. J. (2006). Do trematode parasites disrupt defence-cell signalling in their snail hosts? *Trends in Parasitology*, 22(4), 154–159. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.pt.2006.02.003</u>

Walker, A. J., & Rollinson, D. (2008). Specific tyrosine phosphorylation induced in Schistosoma mansoni miracidia by haemolymph from schistosome susceptible, but not resistant, Biomphalaria glabrata. *Parasitology*, *135*(03), 337-345.

Walker, C. H., Sibly, R. M., Hopkin, S. P., & Peakall, D. B. (2012). *Principles of ecotoxicology*. CRC Press.

Wallace, C. S., Strike, S. A., & Truskey, G. A. (2007). Smooth muscle cell rigidity and extracellular matrix organization influence endothelial cell spreading and adhesion formation in coculture. *American Journal of Physiology. Heart and Circulatory Physiology, 293*(3), H1978–H1986. http://dx.doi.org/10.1152/ajpheart.00618.2007

Wang, S. J., Saadi, W., Lin, F., Minh-Canh Nguyen, C., & Li Jeon, N. (2004). Differential effects of EGF gradient profiles on MDA-MB-231 breast cancer cell chemotaxis. *Experimental Cell Research*, 300(1), 180–189. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.yexcr.2004.06.030</u>

Wang, M., & Qiu, J. W. (2014). Complete mitochondrial genome of the giant ramshorn snail Marisa cornuarietis (Gastropoda: Ampullariidae). *Mitochondrial DNA*, (0): 1–2.

Webbe, G., & James, C. (1971). The importation and maintenance of schistosomes of human and veterinary importance. In Isolation and maintenance of parasites in vivo, Symposium of the British Society for Parasitology, AER Taylor and R. Muller (eds.). Blackwell, Oxford, UK (pp. 77-107).

Welshons, W. V., Thayer, K. A., Judy, B. M., Taylor, J. A., Curran, E. M., & vom Saal, F. S. (2003). Large effects from small exposures. I. Mechanisms for endocrine-disrupting chemicals with estrogenic activity. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, *111*(8), 994–1006. http://dx.doi.org/10.1289/ehp.5494

WHO. (1995). Control of food borne trematode lutecium. Report of a WHO Study Group. Genera, *World Health Organization*, (WHO Technical Report Series, No. 849).

Who.int, (2015). WHO | Schistosomiasis. [online] Available at: http://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs115/en/

Wiley, J. (1992). Echinostomes and Snails : Comparative Immunobiology. In Vitro, I(3).

Wilson, E. A., Powell, E. N., Wade, T. L., Taylor, R. J., Presley, B. J., & Brooks, J. M. (1992). Spatial and temporal distributions of contaminant body burden and disease in Gulf of Mexico oyster populations: the role of local and large-scale climatic controls. *Helgoländer Meeresuntersuchungen*, *46*(2), 201-235.

Wu, X. J., Sabat, G., Brown, J. F., Zhang, M., Taft, A., Peterson, N & Yoshino, T. P. (2009). Proteomic analysis of Schistosoma mansoni proteins released during in vitro miracidium-to-sporocyst transformation. *Molecular and Biochemical Parasitology*, *164*(1), 32–44. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.molbiopara.2008.11.005</u>

Yarrow, J. C., Perlman, Z. E., Westwood, N. J., & Mitchison, T. J. (2004). A high-throughput cell migration assay using scratch wound healing, a comparison of image-based readout methods. *BMC Biotechnology*, *4*(1), 21–21. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/1472-6750-4-21</u>

Yoshino, T. P., & Granath, W. O., Jr. (1983). Identification of antigenically distinct hemocyte subpopulations in Biomphalaria glabrata (Gastropoda) using monoclonal antibodies to surface membrane markers. *Cell and Tissue Research*, 232(3), 553–564. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/BF00216428

Yoshino, T. P., & Coustau, C. (2011). Immunobiology of Biomphalaria–trematode interactions. In *Biomphalaria snails and larval trematodes* (pp. 159–189). Springer New York. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4419-7028-2_7

Yoshino, T. P., Bickham, U., & Bayne, C. J. (2013). Molluscan cells in culture: Primary cell cultures and cell lines. *Canadian Journal of Zoology*, 91(6), 391–404. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1139/cjz-2012-0258</u>

Yousif, F., & Lämmler, G. (1975). The suitability of several aquatic snails as intermediate hosts for Angiostrongylus cantonensis. *Zeitschrift für Parasitenkunde*, 47(3), 203–210. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/BF00418203

Yousif, F., Blähser, S., & Lämmler, G. (1980). The cellular responses in Marisa cornaurietis experimentally infected with Angiostrongylus cantonensis. *Zeitschrift für Parasitenkunde*, 62(2), 179–190. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/BF00927863</u>

Yu, J. H., Song, J. H., Choi, M. C., & Park, S. W. (2009). Effects of water temperature change on immune function in surf clams, Mactra veneriformis (Bivalvia: Mactridae). *Journal of invertebrate pathology*, *102*(1), 30-35.

Zahoor, Z., Davies, A. J., Kirk, R. S., Rollinson, D., & Walker, A. J. (2010). Larval excretorysecretory products from the parasite Schistosoma mansoni modulate HSP70 protein expression in defence cells of its snail host, Biomphalaria glabrata. *Cell Stress & Chaperones*, *15*(5), 639–650. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s12192-010-0176-z Zanella, F., Lorens, J. B., & Link, W. (2010). High content screening: Seeing is believing. *Trends in Biotechnology*, 28(5), 237–245. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.tibtech.2010.02.005</u>

Zelck, U. E., & Von Janowsky, B. (2004). Antioxidant enzymes in intramolluscan Schistosoma mansoni and ROS-induced changes in expression. *Parasitology*, *128*(Pt 5), 493–501. http://dx.doi.org/10.1017/S0031182004004895

Zelck, U. E., Gege, B. E., & Schmid, S. (2007). Specific inhibitors of mitogen-activated protein kinase and PI3-K pathways impair immune responses by hemocytes of trematode intermediate host snails. *Developmental & Comparative Immunology*, *31*(4), 321-331.

Zhang, S. D., & Gant, T. W. (2005). Effect of pooling samples on the efficiency of comparative studies using microarrays. *Bioinformatics (Oxford, England)*, 21(24), 4378–4383. http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/bioinformatics/bti717

Zheng, G., Lee, S. A., Yang, S., & Yang, C. (2010). Sub-pixel resolving optofluidic microscope for on-chip cell imaging. *Lab on a Chip*, *10*(22), 3125–3129. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1039/c0lc00213e</u>

Zheng, Q., Li, X., Sunkara, M., Morris, A. J., Wu, W. (2013). Leptin up-regulates HECTD1 to promote phosphoinositide metabolism and cell migration and invasion in breast cancer cells. *Journal of Pharmacology & Clinical Toxicology*, *1*, 1001.

Zhu, Y., Wessel, M. R., Liu, T., & Moser, V. C. (2005). Analyses of neurobehavioral screening data: Dose-time-response modeling of continuous outcomes. *Regulatory Toxicology and Pharmacology*, *41*(3), 240–255. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.yrtph.2004.12.005</u>

Zimic, M., Velazco, A., Comina, G., Coronel, J., Fuentes, P., Luna, C. G & Moore, D. A. (2010). Development of low-cost inverted microscope to detect early growth of Mycobacterium tuberculosis in MODS culture. *PLoS One*, *5*(3), e9577–e9577. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0009577</u>

Zuba-Surma, E. K., Kucia, M., Abdel-Latif, A., Lillard, J. W., Jr., & Ratajczak, M. Z. (2007). The ImageStream System: A key step to a new era in imaging. *Folia Histochemica et Cytobiologica*, 45(4), 279–290.